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ACCOMPLICE 
 

When a ñcorrupt and polluted sourceò instruction would contradict or be in 
derogation of the theory of defense, then there exists a reasonable basis for trial counselôs 
decision not to request the instruction. See Commonwealth v. Williams, 557 Pa. 207, 732 
A.2d 1167, 1182 (6/4/99); Commonwealth v. Karabin, 493 Pa. 249, 426 A.2d 91, 93 
(2/4/81). In the instant case, Corley's defense was that he did not have sexual intercourse 
with DeWalt. He testified so at trial. An accomplice instruction regarding the testimony of 
Foulds would, therefore, have derogated Corley's defense because it would have 
implicated defendant in a crime against DeWalt.  Accordingly, defendant's trial counsel 
had a reasonable basis for not requesting the instruction. 
 

Corley, 816 A.2d 1109 (Pa. Super. 1/27/03)    
 Lawrence, 165 A.3d 34 (Pa. Super. 5/30/17) (defendant denied being accomplice) 
 
 
APPEAL: INTERLOCUTORY 
 
 Denial of pretrial motion in limine for the production of the child complainant's 
medical, psychological, psychiatric, and therapy records was not appealable prior to trial. 
 
 Parker, 173 A.3d 294 (Pa. Super. 10/24/17) 
 
 
APPEAL: MOOTNESS 
 
 This Court and our Supreme Court have occasionally addressed the merits of a 
defendantôs appeal following his or her death when the interests of justice so require. See 
Commonwealth v. Walker, 447 Pa. 146, 147, 288 A.2d 741, 742 (3/21/72) (affirming 
judgment of sentence where parties disagreed about proper resolution, stating in a 
footnote ñthat it is in the interest of both a defendantôs estate and society that any 
challenge initiated by a defendant to the regularity or constitutionality of a criminal 
proceeding be fully reviewed and decided by the appellate process.ò); Commonwealth v. 
Bizzaro, 535 A.2d 1130, 1132 (Pa. Super. 12/31/87) (holding ñthat the death of an 
appellant pending appeal does not moot the appeal[,]ò addressing merits, and vacating 
judgment of sentence where appellantôs counsel specifically requested a ruling on the 
merits at oral argument notwithstanding appellantôs death); Commonwealth v. Sargent, 
253 Pa. Super. 556, 568 n.1, 385 A.2d 484, 484 n.1 (4/13/78) (granting a new trial to a 
defendant that had died); Commonwealth v. Culpepper, 221 Pa. Super. 472, 477 n.3, 293 
A.2d 122, 124 n.3 (6/16/72) (en banc) (addressing merits of appeal and vacating 
judgment of sentence despite appellantôs death pending appeal where appellantôs 
counsel requested that the court decide the appeal in the interest of justice). But see 
Commonwealth v. Crowley, 28 Pa. Super. 618 (10/9/05) (abating appeal where defendant 
died pending appeal); Commonwealth v. Dunn, 57 Pa. Super. 162 (5/6/14) (same, 
collecting cases). 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J141-98mo.pdf?cb=1
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=14917305025393044571&q=426+a2d+91&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/S17015_02.PDF?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S04033-17o%20-%2010311732717587950.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/25764920.pdf?cb=1
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=16855507451240759991&q=288+a2d+741&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=5264343867955644575&q=535+a2d+1130&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=5264343867955644575&q=535+a2d+1130&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=16316381526347561368&q=385+a2d+484&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39#r[1]
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=14880350477714579708&q=293+a2d+122&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39#r[3]


2 
 

 Unlike the unique circumstances presented in the above cases, we are not 
compelled or required to reach the merits of this appeal because (1) the interests of justice 
are not markedly implicated in this matter; (2) Appellantôs appeal does not present any 
novel legal issues of import to society generally; and (3) no party has asked this Court to 
decide the appeal notwithstanding appellantôs death. This conclusion is consistent with 
the ample discretion afforded this Court under Pa.R.A.P. 502(a). See Bizzaro, supra at 
1132 (ñThe open-endedness of this Rule is evident.ò). 

As no one on behalf of either party seeks to pursue this appeal, and in the interest 
of judicial economy, we dismiss this appeal pursuant to Rule 502(a). 
 
 Beaudoin, ___ A.3d ___ (Pa. Super. 3/23/18) 
 
 
ARREST: PURSUIT 
 
 On September 29, 2013, police officers from the West Hills DUI Task Force 
conducted a sobriety checkpoint on Steubenville Pike in Robinson Township, 
Pennsylvania. The Task Force is comprised of municipal police officers from fifteen 
jurisdictions in the western portion of Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, including 
Robinson Township and Moon Township.  Sergeant Douglas Ogden, who is a Patrol 
Sergeant with the Moon Township Police Department, arrested defendant for DUI based 
upon his observations of her during a stop, in Robinson Township, pursuant to the 
checkpoint. 
 The Commonwealth concedes, and we agree, that this DUI checkpoint did not 
comply with the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act where the 15 municipalities 
comprising the Task Force did not jointly cooperate by each adopting an ordinance in 
compliance with that statute. See 53 Pa.C.S. § 2315 (joint cooperation agreement 
deemed in force when it has been adopted by ordinance by cooperating local 
governments). 
 Section 8953(a) of the Municipal Police Jurisdiction Act delineates six specific 
situations wherein an officer can go outside of his or her primary jurisdiction to make 
arrests, serve warrants and perform other official functions. See 42 Pa.C.S. § 8953(a)(1)-
(6). Pursuant to Section 8953(a) of the MPJA: 

(a) General rule. ð Any duly employed municipal police officer who 
is within this Commonwealth, but beyond the territorial limits of his 
primary jurisdiction, shall have the 
power and authority to enforce the laws of this Commonwealth or 
otherwise perform the functions of that office as if enforcing those 
laws or performing those functions within the territorial limits of his 
primary jurisdiction in the following cases: 

* * * 
(3) Where the officer has been requested to aid or assist any 
local, State or Federal law enforcement officer or park police 
officer or otherwise has probable cause to believe that the 
other officer is in need of aid or assistance. 

https://www.pacode.com/secure/data/210/chapter5/s502.html
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=5264343867955644575&q=535+a2d+1130&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
https://www.pacode.com/secure/data/210/chapter5/s502.html
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Opinion%20%20Appeal%20Dismissed%20%2010347734134474010.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=53&div=0&chpt=23&sctn=15&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=89&sctn=53&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=89&sctn=53&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=89&sctn=53&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=89&sctn=53&subsctn=0
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(4) Where the officer has obtained the prior consent of the 
chief law enforcement officer, or a person authorized by him 
to give consent, of the organized law enforcement agency 
which provides primary police services to a political 
subdivision which is beyond that officerôs primary jurisdiction 
to enter the other jurisdiction for the purpose of conducting 
official duties which arise from official matters within his 
primary jurisdiction 

42 Pa.C.S. § 8953(a)(3), (4).  
 Sergeant Ogden testified that there were established program policies and 
procedural guidelines associated with the Task Force that were sent to every member 
department. In this particular case, the sobriety checkpoint was headed by Sergeant 
Hamilton; more than 25 officers were authorized to man the checkpoint. Sergeant Ogden 
sent Sergeant Hamilton a sobriety checkpoint authorization form, requesting that he have 
the Robinson Township police chief sign the form to authorize Ogden to be out in the road 
conducting the checkpoint. Robinson Township Police Chief Dale Vietmeier returned the 
signed form five days before the checkpoint took place. Information regarding the exact 
location, time, officer in charge and the logistics of the checkpoint is also included in the 
form. An email press release about the checkpoint was sent in advance to local television, 
radio, and print news outlets, as well as a designated mailing list.  
 Based upon this testimony, we affirm the trial court's conclusion that the instant 
checkpoint was valid under Subsection 8953(a)(3) of the MPJA. There is no statutory 
language in the MPJA, specifically Section 8953(a)(3), that would impose a 
ñcontemporaneousò requirement upon an officer's request for aid or assistance. 
 
 Hlubin, 165 A.3d 1 (Pa. Super. 5/23/17) (en banc) 
appeal granted, No. 56 WAP 2017 (granted 11/21/17) 
 
 
 Detective Al Diaz was a Lycoming County detective for seven years. He was the 
coordinator of the Lycoming County Narcotics Enforcement Unit (NEU). The NEU's 
function is to arrest people for drug violations in Lycoming County. There are full-time and 
part-time members of the unit. Part-time members help when the NEU requests. 
Municipal police officers are part-time members of the NEU. Each police officer submits 
an application to the NEU. Each application is signed by the chief of police in the officer's 
jurisdiction. Municipal police officers are paid by their municipalities for their work in the 
NEU. The municipalities are reimbursed by the District Attorney's Office, who receives 
money from the Pennsylvania Attorney General's Office. 
 On June 3, 2015, the NEU conducted an interdiction roving patrol. In order to 
conduct the patrol, Diaz requested the aid of law enforcement officers in other 
departments. Sergeant Chris Kriner of the Old Lycoming Township Police Department 
was among those requested to aid in the patrol.  Kriner was assigned to the patrol through 
the Old Lycoming Township Police Department. He was made aware of the date and time 
of the patrol and the location of the briefing.  
 Kriner ñwent outò immediately after the briefing. He was in full uniform in an 
unmarked police vehicle with Chief William Solomon of the Old Lycoming Township 

http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=89&sctn=53&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=89&sctn=53&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=89&sctn=53&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-E01005-17o%20-%2010311054517492805.pdf?cb=1
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Police Department. As part of the interdiction, Kriner is given general police powers 
throughout Lycoming County. He was patrolling the Interstate 180 corridor, and he was 
looking for indications of drug use, buying, and dealing. Kriner's duties took him outside 
of his jurisdiction.  While outside of his jurisdiction Kriner made an otherwise lawful vehicle 
stop. The driver and passenger in the vehicle were lawfully searched and drugs were 
found. 
 The trial court found a violation of the Municipal Police Jurisdiction Act (MPJA) 
solely based on the fact that the Municipal Drug Task Force Agreement was not officially 
ratified by ordinance in Lycoming County. 
 Here, a drug task force agreement existed between the Pennsylvania Attorney 
General and the Lycoming County District Attorney. The agreement made explicit that the 
Pennsylvania Attorney General ñrequests the aid and assistance of the municipal police 
departments to implement the municipal drug task force activities in compliance with the 
[MPJA]ò and that the District Attorney of Lycoming County would be in charge of 
coordinating that effort. Municipal Drug Task Force Agreement. Sergeant Kriner acted in 
compliance with specific orders from Detective Simpler of the Lycoming County District 
Attorney's Office and Detective Diaz, the coordinator of the Lycoming County NEU. On 
June 3, 2015, as a member of the NEU and importantly, acting within that duty, Sergeant 
Kriner was given general police power within the entirety of Lycoming County, Detective 
Diaz's jurisdiction. 
 The MPJA must be construed liberally to achieve one of its purposes, which is to 
provide police with the authority to act outside their jurisdictions under the circumstances 
enumerated in that Act. We have found no case law that requires that an agreement under 
the MPJA be ratified by a county ordinance in the way required of an agreement pursuant 
to the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act. Rather, this is exactly the type of police activity 
contemplated under the MPJA ï a county law enforcement agent properly requested the 
aid of its individual police municipalities in a countywide police effort. Based upon the 
required liberal reading of the MPJA and the existence of the Municipal Drug Task Force 
Agreement, as well as the specific request for assistance made by Detective Diaz, we 
find that Sergeant Kriner's actions did not violate the MPJA. 
 
 Forsythe, 164 A.3d 1283 (Pa. Super. 6/1/17) 
appeal pending, No. 444 MAL 2017 (filed 6/30/17) 
Petition held pending disposition of Hlubin, No. 56 WAP 2017  
 
 
ARREST: STOP 
 
Legal standards 
 

In fixing the moment at which a detention has occurred, the pivotal inquiry is 
whether, considering all the facts and circumstances evidencing the exercise of force, a 
reasonable person would have thought he was being restrained.ò Commonwealth v. 
Mendenhall, 552 Pa. 484, 489, 715 A.2d 1117, 1120 (7/29/98) (citing Commonwealth v. 
Jones, 474 Pa. 364, 373, 378 A.2d 835, 840 (10/7/77)); see also United States v. 
Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 554, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 1877, 64 L.Ed.2d 497, ___ (5/27/80) 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A03008-17o%20-%2010312070117628873.pdf?cb=1
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=11285531137300268671&q=715+a2d+1117&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=11285531137300268671&q=715+a2d+1117&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=12089028265980989247&q=378+a2d+835&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=12089028265980989247&q=378+a2d+835&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=17693639495652176381&q=446+us+544&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=17693639495652176381&q=446+us+544&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
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(ñ[A] person has been óseizedô ... only if, in view of all of the circumstances surrounding 
the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave.ò). In 
Commonwealth v. Strickler, 563 Pa. 47, 757 A.2d 884 (8/24/00), the Court set forth a non-
exhaustive list of factors deemed relevant in assessing whether a seizure has occurred: 
the presence of police excesses; physical contact with the suspect; police direction of the 
subject's movements; the demeanor of the officer; the location of the confrontation; the 
manner of expression directed to the citizen; and the content of statements or 
interrogatories. Strickler cautioned, though, that no single factor dictates the ultimate 
conclusion as to whether a detention occurred, and this Court has recognized that the 
line between a mere encounter, which requires no suspicion, and an investigative 
detention, ñcannot be precisely defined because of the myriad of daily situations in which 
police and citizens confront each other on the street. Ultimately, it is the nature of the 
confrontation that informs the assessment of the totality of the circumstances. 

All interactions with law enforcement may be viewed, to some degree, as a show 
of authority to which people usually accede. However, the free-to-leave test is not to be 
employed in such a literal manner so as to require application of Fourth Amendment 
exclusionary remedies to all police encounters. As one commentator explains, 

Implicit in the introduction of the [officer] and the initial questioning is 
a show of authority to which the average person encountered will feel 
obliged to stop and respond. Few will feel that they can walk away or 
refuse to answer. . . Thus, if the ultimate issue is perceived as being 
whether the suspect would feel free to walk away, then virtually all 
police-citizen encounters must in fact be deemed to involve a Fourth 
Amendment seizure. The [legal]standard should not be given such a 
literal reading as to produce such a result. . . Rather, the 
confrontation is a seizure only if the officer adds to those inherent 
pressures by engaging in conduct significantly beyond that accepted 
in social intercourse. 

See Wayne R. LaFave, 4 SEARCH AND SEIZURE: A TREATISE ON THE FOURTH 
AMENDMENT § 9.4(a) (5th ed. 2016) (citations, quotation marks and footnotes omitted). 
 
 Mathis, ___ Pa. ___, 173 A.3d 699 (11/22/17) 
  Link to: Dougherty, J. dissenting   

Link to: Wecht, J. dissenting 
 
 
Is it a stop/seizure or only a mere encounter? 
 
 On June 24, Officer James Hagy observed defendant engage in conduct which he 
believed to be a drug sale. Defendant remained an investigatory target, but no arrest was 
made on June 24. 
 On August 1, Officer Hagy observed a person he believed to be the same individual 
he had observed on June 24. Officer James Boas was notified of the defendantôs location 
by Officer Hagy.  Officer Boas followed this individual for a short time and then he and 
Officer Mease both stationed their bicycles in front of the defendant at a street corner. As 
a pretext for the confrontation, Officer Boas testified that he told the defendant ñthere was 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-256(b)-99mo.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Majority%20Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010332877527765663.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Dissenting%20Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010332877527765682.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Dissenting%20Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010332877527765688.pdf?cb=1
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a disturbance at McDonaldôs and he was a part of the disturbance.ò Officer Boas asked 
for the defendantôs name, date of birth, address, telephone number and Social Security 
number because he did not have any identification on him at the time. After his identity 
was confirmed, he was released. At all times, the defendant was cooperative and 
provided the information requested of him. The confrontation lasted no longer than five 
minutes. Officer Boas conceded on cross-examination that his sole purpose was to 
identify the suspect for purposes of their drug investigation. 
 Defendant sought to suppress the information obtained by the police during the 
August 1 confrontation, including his phone number which was used as evidence 
connecting the defendant to other drug transactions. 
 Officers Boas and Mease confronted defendant on the street at night. Officer Boas 
falsely stated to defendant that he was part of a disturbance at a McDonaldôs and 
requested information pertaining to defendantôs identity. The presence of two officers, 
along with Officer Boasô suggestion that defendant was suspected of criminal activity, 
gave rise to an investigative detention, because a reasonable person in defendantôs 
position would not have felt free to leave.  
 We recognize that multiple recent decisions have held that police officers do not 
need reasonable suspicion to ask individuals for identification, including Au, 615 Pa. 330, 
42 A.3d 1002 (4/26/12), and Baldwin, 147 A.3d 1200 (Pa. Super. 9/1/16). These decisions 
are distinguishable from the present case for a simple reason: the investigating officers 
in these cases did not suggest that the defendants were suspected of criminal 
wrongdoing, and therefore the encounters did not transform into investigatory detentions. 
In contrast, Officer Boas insinuated that defendant was involved in a criminal disturbance 
at McDonaldôs, and therefore a reasonable person in defendantôs position would not have 
felt free to leave. 
 Moreover, the officers did not have reasonable suspicion to stop defendant. 
Although Officer Hagy observed defendant engage in a drug transaction on June 24, 
2014, over one month earlier, there was no criminal activity afoot on the evening of August 
1, 2014. Defendant was simply walking down the street. Indeed, his lack of criminal 
activity prompted Officer Boas to invent the pretext that defendant had been part of a 
recent disturbance at a McDonaldôs. 
 
 Parker, 161 A.3d 357 (Pa. Super. 5/1/17) 
 
 
 On January 24, 2014, Officer Kelly Robbins was the recorder in the vehicle being 
operated by her partner, Officer Donald Vandermay, on Rosehill Street. They noticed 
McCoy, who appeared to come onto the street via an alley.  Officer Robbins and Officer 
Vandermay were travelling in the opposite direction of McCoy. Officer Vandermay 
stopped the police vehicle ñafter about a car length.ò Officer Robbins' door was closest to 
the east side, and McCoy was also on the east side of the street. Officer Robbins stated 
McCoy ñcame out of the alleyway, started to walk southbound, made eye contact, stopped 
walking, continued walking, and when he got just past my door is when I went to open it.ò 
She testified, ñAs soon as I open my doorðactually as soon as I pull the handle and it 
makes a popping sound, that's when he started to run.ò  Officer Robbins followed McCoy. 

http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-23-2011mo.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S55005-16o%20-%201027950878789535.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S94041-16o.pdf?cb=3
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She saw McCoy, on Somerset Street; throw a gun into a Mazda pickup truck. McCoy was 
subsequently apprehended. 
 A seizure does not occur where the police officers merely approach a person in 
public and question the individual or request to see identification. Here, the officers' initial 
action wasðif anythingða mere encounter, which does not need to be supported by any 
level of suspicion and requires no obligation to stop or respond. 
 
 McCoy, 154 A.3d 813 (Pa. Super. 1/27/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 169 A.3d 1036 (7/6/17) 
 
 
 The police wished to speak with defendant regarding a kidnapping and murder.  
The officers that defendant was at the Valley Forge Casino and made contact with him 
by asking casino security to escort him from the casino floor to a hallway where the 
detectives were waiting. The detectives, dressed in plain clothing, asked defendant if he 
would accompany them to the Upper Merion Police Station to help with the investigation 
to find the missing baby. Without hesitation, defendant voluntarily agreed and travelled to 
the station in Detective Bradbury's unmarked vehicle. The detectives informed defendant 
that, after the questioning, they would return him to the casino to retrieve his car. 
 Defendant agreed, without hesitation, to accompany the detectives to the police 
station to assist in the investigation of the kidnapping, and none of the officers told 
defendant that he was required to speak with them, none of the officers were in uniform, 
and no badges or weapons were displayed. The fact that casino security personnel and 
the plainclothes state trooper initially asked defendant to come to the hallway where the 
detectives were located did not impede defendant's freedom of movement or suggest that 
he was required to comply with the detectives' request. Similarly, that the detectives drove 
defendant to the police station in an unmarked vehicle, briefly held his cell phone during 
the ride to the station, and possessed his casino player's card, did not individually, or in 
the aggregate, suggest that defendant was under formal compulsion to respond. 
Accordingly, the trial court's conclusion that defendant was not in custody or arrested at 
the casino was correct. 
 
 Yandamuri, ___ Pa. ___, 159 A.3d 503 (4/26/17) 
 
 
 Philadelphia Police Officer, Antonio Nieves, assigned to the 39th District, testified 
that on October 2, 2015, at approximately 9:00 p.m., he performed his tour of duty at 1413 
West Erie Avenue in the city of Philadelphia. Officer Nieves stated that he, along with his 
partners, Officers Bradley and Mertha, were patrolling this location because 1413 Erie 
Avenue is a known location for narcotics sales. He further noted that he receives constant 
complaints for narcotics sales and has made numerous arrests at the location. It was at 
this location that Officer Nieves, while driving in a patrol car, first came into contact with 
defendant. He observed defendant standing in front of a Chinese store in the rain at 1413 
Erie Avenue from his vehicle and identified defendant in court. Officer Nieves testified 
that he was patrolling the area and looking at the front of the store to see who was there. 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S74019-16o%20-%2010297055215873596.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-115-2016mo%20-%2010307848517101950.pdf?cb=1
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After Officer Nieves drove by a few times, he noticed defendant was still standing in the 
rain. 
 Approximately an hour passed before Officer Nieves and his two partners returned, 
got out of the unmarked patrol car, and identified themselves as police officers to 
defendant since they were not wearing their uniforms. After Officer Nieves approached 
defendant, Officer Nieves asked defendant what he was doing. Defendant replied that he 
was waiting for a bus. Officer Nieves stated to the court that he saw buses come and 
leave at this location when he went by a few times. Officer Nieves then asked defendant 
if he had anything on his person that could harm himself or his partners. Defendant 
responded by saying, ñNo. . . . All I have is two bags of weed.ò 
 After asking defendant what he was doing there, Officer Nieves asked if he had 
anything on his person that could hurt Officer Nieves or his partners. Officer Nieves 
explained that he asked this question for officer safety. Defendant then responded by 
saying that he had two bags of weed and then started to reach for his pocket. Officer 
Nieves testified that he then told defendant not to reach towards his pocket and 
proceeded to reach into defendant's pocket himself. When Officer Nieves reached into 
defendant's right coat pocket to retrieve the marijuana, he recovered a black Ruger .380 
handgun. 
 Before officers either commanded defendant to stop reaching for his pocket or 
searched his pockets, defendant voluntarily told officers that he had marijuana on his 
person. As soon as defendant volunteered that information, police had probable cause to 
arrest him for possession of a controlled substance.  The question is, therefore, whether 
the interaction that occurred before defendant admitted possession of marijuana 
constituted a mere encounter or rose to the level of an investigative detention. 
 Officer Nieves and his two partners exited an unmarked patrol car and approached 
defendant on a public sidewalk. The three officers were not in uniform, so they identified 
themselves to defendant as police officers. The three officers did not surround defendant, 
but instead all three stood in front of him. They then asked him two questions: first, Officer 
Nieves asked defendant ñwhat he was doing.ò Next, concerned for his safety, Officer 
Nieves asked defendant ñif he had anything on his person that could harm [Officer 
Nieves] . . .ò At that point, defendant stated no, but that he was in possession of ñtwo bags 
of weed.ò 
 Officer Nieves and his partners were free to approach defendant on a public street 
and ask him questions. The two brief questions that Officer Nieves asked constituted a 
mere encounter, and neither the presence of other officers nor his question about 
defendant having anything that could harm the officers turned this mere encounter into 
an investigatory detention. Nor did the trial court find that any other circumstances prior 
to defendant's admission constituted a restraint of liberty, physical force, show of 
authority, or some level of coercion beyond the officer's mere employment, conveying a 
demand for compliance. 
 
 Young, 162 A.3d 524 (Pa. Super. 5/11/17) 
 
 
 Officer Joseph Hogan and Officer Sean Parker were on patrol in Philadelphia in 
their police uniforms and marked patrol car. At approximately 8:25 p.m., the officers 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S15023-17o%20-%2010309683717329184.pdf?cb=1
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received a radio call from an unknown source about a robbery with a firearm of a store at 
1700 Susquehanna Avenue in Philadelphia. The perpetrators were described as two 
black males wearing black hoodies, blue jeans, and masks. Approximately five minutes 
later, the officers saw defendant and another male walking along the 1700 block of West 
Lehigh Avenue, which is about five blocks away from where the robbery occurred. 
Defendant was wearing a black hoodie and gray sweatpants.  There were no other 
individuals or parked vehicles on the block. 
 Officer Hogan was slowly driving the patrol car as he and Officer Parker surveyed 
defendant and the other male. Officer Hogan then stopped the patrol car about five feet 
away from the two males. Officer Parker got out of the patrol car and told the two males 
to stop. The other male stopped walking while defendant, who appeared nervous, turned 
his back towards the patrol car and started slowly walking away from the officers. 
 Officer Hogan exited the patrol car and also told defendant to stop. Defendant 
complied and Officer Hogan approached defendant and told him to remove his hands 
from his pockets. Defendant initially complied but put his hands back in his pockets while 
speaking to Officer Hogan. Officer Hogan noticed that defendantôs pocket was weighed 
down and saw the handle of a black handgun protruding from his pocket. Officer Hogan 
seized the firearm and arrested defendant. 
 When the officers twice ordered defendant to stop he was immediately subjected 
to an investigative detention. Thus, a reasonable person in defendantôs situation would 
not have felt free to terminate the encounter and leave the scene. 
 
 Morrison, 166 A.3d 357 (Pa. Super. 6/21/17) 
 
 

Pursuant to Brendlin v. California, 551 U.S. 249, 127 S.Ct. 2400, 168 L.Ed.2d 132 
(6/18/07), Shabezz was seized when the vehicle in which he was a passenger was 
surrounded by police cruisers. We accept here that the seizure was without the requisite 
level of suspicion. The Commonwealth nonetheless maintains that the illegal seizure does 
not lead automatically to suppression. The Commonwealth argues that Shabezz must 
also demonstrate a reasonable expectation of privacy in the areas within which 
incriminating evidence was found. The flaw in the Commonwealth's argument is that it 
assigns no constitutional significance to the illegal seizure, ignoring the fact that the 
seizure itself was a constitutional violation. The Commonwealth would require Shabezz 
to prove two constitutional violations before being entitled to suppression on one. The 
United States Supreme Court has never endorsed this additional layer of proof as a 
constitutional prerequisite to relief following an illegal seizure. Nor are we prepared to do 
so. 

All that remains is the application of the fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine. 
Evidence constitutes fruit of the poisonous tree, and must be suppressed, if it was 
obtained by exploitation of the illegality, and so long as the taint of that illegality has not 
been purged. The exploitation inquiry is readily satisfied. Shabezz was a passenger in a 
vehicle that was blocked in by numerous police vehicles. The police seized the vehicle, 
proceeded to search it, and uncovered contraband. The search occurred very shortly after 
the police prevented the vehicle from leaving the lot and arrested the four individuals. The 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A31036-16o%20-%2010314461219701383.pdf?cb=1
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=8605561828750110049&q=551+us+249&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
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discovery of contraband was a direct and immediate consequence of the seizure, and, 
thus, was an exploitation of the constitutional violation. 

Consequently, all of the evidence found in the vehicle, and the evidence found on 
Shabezz' person, was a direct product, and, hence, an exploitation, of the initial illegality. 
The trial court and the Superior Court correctly concluded that the entire bounty of 
evidence had to be suppressed, and that no independent assessment of Shabezz' 
expectation of privacy was necessary before reaching this conclusion. 

 
Shabezz, ___ Pa. ___, 166 A.3d 278 (7/19/17) 
 Link to: Mundy, J. concurring 

 
 
 On September 19, 2013, at approximately 12:25 a.m., Philadelphia Police Officers 
Laseter and Corn were patrolling the area of 1500 Arott Street in Philadelphia, which is 
near a major train terminal and is known for a high level of narcotic activity. Officer Laseter 
was also aware that there had been several armed robberies in this area. 
 While on patrol, the officers noticed defendant, who was wearing a hooded 
sweatshirt, had his hand in the pocket and appeared to be carrying a heavy object in that 
pocket. Out of concern that defendant had a weapon, the officers approached defendant, 
who had sat down on a ledge. After defendant observed the officers coming toward him, 
he pulled a black bag from his sweatshirt and placed it behind him. The bag appeared to 
contain a heavy object that the officers believed was a weapon. 
 When the officers asked defendant about the contents of the bag, he gave no 
response and simply stared at them. Although defendant refused to speak with the 
officers, Officer Laseter was able to look behind defendant and see through the side of 
the bag that it contained jars with red syrup. Officer Laseter immediately recognized that 
the use of small, non-prescription jars was a common narcotics packaging of codeine 
syrup. The officers arrested defendant for suspicion of PWID. Upon a search incident to 
arrest, the officers discovered Defendant was in possession of thirty-six bags of heroin 
and twenty-nine bags of marijuana. 
 The officers did not subject defendant to a seizure when they approached him in 
a public place and asked him what was inside his bag. The interaction remained a mere 
encounter as the officers were free to ask defendant questions without implicating the 
Fourth Amendment as long as they did not convey a message that defendant was 
required to comply with their request. Our review of the case does not reveal any 
circumstances that showed the officersô request for information was accompanied by a 
mandate to comply, physical restraint, or any show of authority. The officers merely asked 
defendant about the contents of his bag. The interaction remained a mere encounter.  
 Defendantôs argument that the interaction escalated from a mere encounter to an 
investigative detention was partially based on the subjective beliefs of the officers on 
whether defendant was free to leave. We note that in conducting an objective review of 
the totality of the circumstances, an ñofficer's subjective beliefs are largely immaterial to 
the consideration of whether a reasonable person would feel free to leave absent some 
objective manifestation or demonstration of that belief during the encounter.ò 
Commonwealth v. Lyles, 54 A.3d 76, 83 (Pa. Super. 9/10/12), [affôd, 626 Pa. 343, 97 A.3d 
298 (7/21/14)]. See also Commonwealth v. Sherwood, 603 Pa. 92, 118, 982 A.2d 483, 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-16B-2017mo%20-%2010317645621312549.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-16B-2017co%20-%2010317645621312548.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/s28013_12.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-9-2014mo%20-%201018814002430745.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-51-2009mo.pdf
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499 (11/6/09) (using an objective standard in reviewing the totality of the circumstances 
to determine whether the defendant was subjected to a custodial interrogation, giving 
ñdue consideration given to the reasonable impression conveyed to the person 
interrogated rather than the strictly subjective view of the troopers or the person being 
seizedò), cert. denied, 559 U.S. 1111, 130 S.Ct. 2415, 176 L.Ed.2d 932 (5/3/10). 
 Officer Laseter was able to look behind Defendant and see the contents of the bag 
through an opening in the side of the bag. Officer Laseter testified that she could see 
small, nonprescription jars filled with red syrup, which she immediately recognized as a 
common narcotics packaging of codeine syrup. When directly asked about how exactly 
she investigated Defendantôs bag, Officer Laseter testified that ñit was behind him, so I 
looked at it and you could see, like, in the side. Like, as soon as I went to touch it, I could 
see the jars with the red syrup inside.ò Officer Laseter did not have to manipulate or open 
the bag to see inside. 
 
 Singleton, 169 A.3d 79 (Pa. Super. 8/17/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, ___ A.3d ___ (2/14/18) 
 
 
 On the evening of September 22, 2015, Lieutenant Robert Brockenbrough, a 23ï
year veteran of the Philadelphia Police Department, responded to an anonymous radio 
call that a group of five to seven males was gathered outside the 2000 block of Croskey 
Street in Philadelphia and passing around a gun. When Lieutenant Brockenbrough 
arrived at the scene, he observed a group of men huddled together and two of the 
individuals leave the group and walk to the other side of the street. One of the men, who 
was later identified as defendant, began to walk southbound down Croskey Street. 
Lieutenant Brockenbrough exited his marked police vehicle and asked defendant ñto 
come hereò so he could talk to him, but defendant refused and continued walking down 
Croskey Street. At that point, Lieutenant Brockenbrough was in the process of radioing 
officers in an approaching police wagon to stop defendant, when he observed defendant 
reach into his waistband, remove an object that looked like a handgun, and place it in a 
nearby flowerpot. Lieutenant Brockenbrough testified that he was approximately 8 to 10 
feet away from defendant at this point. One of the officers in the police wagon 
subsequently recovered the firearm. 
 The Commonwealth argues that the trial court improperly suppressed the firearm 
in question based on the erroneous assumption that Lieutenant Brockenbrough ñseizedò 
defendant when he approached him and asked him to stop and talk. 
 Lieutenant Brockenbrough's initial interaction with defendant was a mere 
encounter that developed into a lawful investigative detention only after he observed 
defendant discard the firearm at issue. On the evening in question, Lieutenant 
Brockenbrough responded to an anonymous radio call that several individuals were 
passing around a firearm in an area in Philadelphia known for shootings. Upon arriving at 
the scene, Lieutenant Brockenbrough exited his police vehicle and ñaskedò defendant ñto 
come hereò so he could talk to him, but defendant refused and continued walking down 
the street. Lieutenant Brockenbrough testified that he approached defendant to both 
investigate the radio call and because he believed defendant to be in violation of 
Philadelphia's curfew.  

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Opinion%20-%20Affirmed%20-%2010321247722866380.pdf?cb=1
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Although Lieutenant Brockenbrough was in full uniform at the time of this 
encounter and arrived to the scene in a marked police vehicle, he did not engage the 
vehicle's siren or lights. Additionally, there was no evidence suggesting Lieutenant 
Brockenbrough brandished his weapon or engaged in an overwhelming show of force. 
Lieutenant Brockenbrough did not tell defendant that he was not free to leave, nor was 
there any evidence presented that he positioned himself in a manner that obstructed 
defendant's ability to continue walking down Croskey Street. Although Lieutenant 
Brockenbrough acknowledged on cross-examination that he ñasked [defendant] to stopò 
two or three times, there was no evidence that Lieutenant Brockenbrough threatened any 
consequences for non-compliance or used an authoritative tone. Moreover, defendant 
felt no compulsion to stop and told Lieutenant Brockenbrough as much as he continued 
to walk away. Only thereafter did Lieutenant Brockenbrough make an arrest after 
observing defendant voluntarily discard a firearm as he continued walking down the 
street. (Id. at 9ï10.) 

Based on the foregoing, the totality of the circumstances presented in this case 
fails to support a conclusion that defendant had been seized during his initial encounter 
with Lieutenant Brockenbrough. Although it is well settled in this Commonwealth that an 
anonymous call by itself does not provide reasonable suspicion or probable cause 
sufficient to support a seizure, it would amount to a dereliction of a police officer's duties 
if he failed to investigate a report of individuals passing around a firearm in an area known 
for shootings. Clearly, Lieutenant Brockenbrough's request of defendant that he ñcome 
hereò so he could talk to him was not a substantial impairment on defendant's liberty of 
movement, particularly considering Lieutenant Brockenbrough's legitimate concerns for 
the safety of the community and his sound belief that defendant may have been in 
violation of Philadelphia's curfew. 

 
Newsome, 170 A.3d 1151 (Pa. Super. 9/7/17) 

 
 
 On December 2, 2013, Pennsylvania Parole Agents Michael Welsh and Gregory 
Bruner conducted a routine home visit to the residence of parolee Gary Waters. Agent 
Welsh characterized the neighborhood as a ñhigh crimeò area. Waters invited the agents 
into the home, where they immediately recognized the strong odor of marijuana, which 
increased as they continued through the home. The agents and Waters proceeded 
through the front room and dining room to the kitchen, where defendant, Mathis, was 
seated in a chair, near the rear door of the home, in the midst of receiving a hair cut from 
Waters. Agent Welsh detained Waters in the front room, questioning him regarding the 
marijuana odor. Agent Welsh also noticed at this time an ashtray full of marijuana 
ñroachesò sitting on a table in the front room. However, neither agent witnessed anyone 
actually smoking, nor was there any particular indication that marijuana had been smoked 
in the kitchen. 
 Agent Welsh told defendant, ñI want to get you out of here as soon as I possibly 
can. Could you do me a favor, grab your personal belongings and come to the front 
room?ò Defendant was cooperative with all of the agent's requests. Agent Welsh testified 
that the encounter, to that point, remained relaxed and conversational, but that defendant 
appeared uneasy, and displayed broken eye contact. As defendant collected his 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Opinion%20-%20Reversed-Remanded%20-%2010323583923743698.pdf?cb=1
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belongings in the kitchen, Agent Welsh noticed that he picked up his jacket by gently 
placing a hand underneath the jacket and over top of the jacket and kind of holding it up 
to his body ñlike it was a football [or] a baby.ò  
 When defendant began walking to the other room, he continued to hold the jacket 
to his side in a ñprotecting type of gripò while also turning away from the agent, which 
revealed a bulge in the jacket. These observations caused Agent Welsh to have concerns 
regarding the agents' safety. He then asked defendant if he could pat him down for safety 
reasons, because he intended defendant not to leave the residence with a gun or drugs. 
Defendant refused, at which time Agent Welsh again noticed the bulge, described as the 
size of a cigarette pack or wallet, which further raised Agent Welsh's suspicions that 
defendant was secreting contraband or a weapon. Agent Welsh reached out to the bulge 
and felt what he believed was the handle of a firearm. He seized the jacket and pulled it 
forcefully from defendant, throwing it to the ground. Defendant was then handcuffed and 
patted down. Thereafter, Agent Welsh noticed a bag of marijuana on the floor between 
defendant's feet, while Agent Bruner recovered a handgun from the jacket. 
 A reasonable person in defendant's situation would not feel that he was restrained 
from leaving throughout the initial encounter. Defendant was left alone in the kitchen with 
clear access to an exit while the agents focused their attention on the parolee in another 
room. When Agent Welsh spoke with defendant, it was in a conversational tone, and he 
made polite requests explained in terms of ensuring safety. Further, at no time did either 
agent give the impression that defendant was suspected of any wrongdoing, despite the 
smell of marijuana permeating throughout the home. 
 Agent Welsh's statement that he sought to get defendant out of the house ñas soon 
as I possibly canò and his request that defendant move to the front room, might reasonably 
be construed as implying that the agent was not yet permitting defendant to leave. 
Nevertheless, given the context and nature of the limited, non-confrontational interaction 
to that point, that sole potential inference does not transform the encounter into a seizure, 
particularly as defendant noted that Agent Welsh was merely communicating urgency for 
him to leave.  See Commonwealth v. Mendenhall, 552 Pa. 484, 489-90, 715 A.2d 1117, 
1120 (7/29/98) (reasoning that the officer's instruction to the driver to ñstick around,ò while 
evidencing a demonstration of authority, did not result in a detention, since the motorist 
was otherwise permitted to freely move around and in and out of the vehicle); 
Commonwealth v. Martin, 705 A.2d 887, 891 (12/8/97) (explaining that a police officer's 
request to a suspected drug dealer to move outside of a restaurant for questioning, 
performed in a ñnon-threatening mannerò and in the absence of coercion or intimidation, 
did not constitute a seizure), appeal denied, 555 Pa. 741, 725 A.2d 1219 (8/7/98). 
 Defendant was not detained until Agent Welsh reached out and seized the jacket. 
 
 Mathis, ___ Pa. ___, 173 A.3d 699 (11/22/17) 
  Link to: Dougherty, J. dissenting 
  Link to: Wecht, J. dissenting 
 
 
 
 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=11285531137300268671&q=715+a2d+1117&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=12430066879748700648&q=705+a2d+887&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Majority%20Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010332877527765663.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Dissenting%20Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010332877527765682.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Dissenting%20Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010332877527765688.pdf?cb=1
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Approaching an already stopped vehicle 
 
 On June 14, 2013, at approximately 9:30 p.m., Pennsylvania State Trooper Jeremy 
Frantz was traveling northbound on Interstate 79 in his marked police cruiser when he 
observed a vehicle pulled over onto the right shoulder of the road; the engine was running, 
but the hazard lights were not activated. Trooper Frantz activated his emergency lights 
and, with his passenger window down, pulled alongside the stopped vehicle. Defendant, 
the sole occupant of the vehicle, was sitting in the driver's seat and appeared to be 
entering an address into her vehicle's navigation system. According to Trooper Frantz's 
testimony at the suppression hearing, when he first made eye contact with defendant, 
she gave him a ñhundred mile stare,ò which Trooper Frantz described as ñglossy eyesò 
and ñlooking through [him].ò  Upon additional investigation and observations, the trooper 
concluded that defendant had been driving while under the influence, and she was 
arrested. 
 It is undeniable that emergency lights on police vehicles in this Commonwealth 
serve important safety purposes, including ensuring that the police vehicle is visible to 
traffic, and signaling to a stopped motorist that it is a police officer, as opposed to a 
potentially dangerous stranger, who is approaching. Moreover, we do not doubt that a 
reasonable person may recognize that a police officer might activate his vehicle's 
emergency lights for safety purposes, as opposed to a command to stop. Nevertheless, 
upon consideration of the realities of everyday life, particularly the relationship between 
ordinary citizens and law enforcement, we simply cannot pretend that a reasonable 
person, innocent of any crime, would not interpret the activation of emergency lights on a 
police vehicle as a signal that he or she is not free to leave. 
 Indeed, the Pennsylvania Driver's Manual (ñPDMò) instructs drivers how to proceed 
ñif [they] are stopped by police.ò The PDM first provides: ñYou will know a police officer 
wants you to pull over when he or she activates the flashing red and blue lights on top of 
the police vehicle.ò Pa. Driver's Manual at 78, available at 
http://www.dot.state.pa.us/Public/DVSPubsForms/BDL/BDLManuals The PDM further 
ñrecommendsò that drivers follow certain procedures ñ[a]nytime a police vehicle stops 
behind you.ò Id. Those procedures include turning off the engine and radio, rolling down 
a window to enable communication with the officer, limiting their movements and the 
movements of passengers; placing their hands on the steering wheel; keeping the vehicle 
doors closed and remaining inside the vehicle; and keeping their seatbelt fastened. Id. If 
these instructions do not explicitly instruct motorists who are already stopped on the side 
of the road that they are not free to leave when a police vehicle, with its emergency lights 
activated, pulls alongside their vehicle, we conclude that it is eminently reasonable that a 
motorist would believe he or she is not free to leave under these circumstances. 
 Moreover, pursuant to Pennsylvania's Motor Vehicle Code, a driver of a motor 
vehicle ñwho willfully fails or refuses to bring his vehicle to a stop, or who otherwise flees 
or attempts to elude a pursuing police officer, when given a visual and audible signal to 
bring the vehicle to a stop,ò may be convicted of a second-degree misdemeanor. 75 
Pa.C.S. § 3733(a), (a.2). A police officer's signal may be ñby hand, voice, emergency 
lights or siren.ò Id. § 3733(b). Section 3325(a) of the Motor Vehicle Code, titled ñDuty of 
driver on approach of emergency vehicle,ò similarly provides: 

http://www.dot.state.pa.us/Public/DVSPubsForms/BDL/BDLManuals
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=37&sctn=33&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=37&sctn=33&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=37&sctn=33&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=33&sctn=25&subsctn=0
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(a) General rule.ðUpon the immediate approach of an emergency 
vehicle making use of an audible signal and visual signals meeting 
the requirements and standards set forth in regulations adopted by 
the department, the driver of every other vehicle shall yield the right-
of-way and shall immediately drive to a position parallel to, and as 
close as possible to, the right-hand edge or curb of the roadway clear 
of any intersection and shall stop and remain in that position until 
the emergency vehicle has passed, except when otherwise 
directed by a police officer or an appropriately attired person 
authorized to direct, control or regulate traffic. 

Id. § 3325(a) (emphasis added). 
The fact that motorists risk being charged with violations of the Motor Vehicle Code 

if they incorrectly assume they are free to leave after a patrol car, with its emergency 
lights activated, has pulled behind or alongside of them further supports our conclusion 
that a reasonable person in defendant's shoes would not have felt free to leave. 

As we conclude that a reasonable person in defendant's shoes would not have felt 
free to leave after Trooper Frantz pulled his patrol car, with its emergency lights activated, 
alongside her vehicle, we are constrained to hold that defendant was seized and 
subjected to an investigative detention. Given that it is undisputed that the seizure was 
not supported by any degree of suspicion of criminal activity, we will proceed to determine 
whether it was otherwise justified under the Fourth Amendment. 

The Commonwealth maintains that, even if defendant was subjected to a seizure, 
that seizure was reasonable under the community caretaking ñexceptionò to the Fourth 
Amendment's warrant requirement.11 Defendant, conversely, argues that application of 
the doctrine is not supported under the facts of this case. The United States Supreme 
Court first recognized a community caretaking exception to the warrant requirement in 
Cady v. Dombrowski, 413 U.S. 433, 93 S.Ct. 2523, 37 L.Ed.2d 706 (6/21/73). Therein, 
the Court considered whether police officers violated a vehicle owner's Fourth 
Amendment rights when, without obtaining a warrant, they searched the trunk of a parked 
vehicle because they reasonably believed that the trunk contained a loaded service 
revolver that could endanger the public if left unsecured. The vehicle owner had been 
arrested one day earlier for drunk driving and identified himself as a police officer. In 
determining that the search of the trunk was reasonable, the Court observed that police 
officers frequently investigate vehicle accidents in which there is no claim of criminal 
liability and engage in what, for want of a better term, may be described as community 
caretaking functions, totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of 
evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute. The high Court further opined that, 
the fact that the protection of the public might, in the abstract, have been accomplished 
by less intrusive means does not, by itself, render the search unreasonable. 

11In referring to circumstances in which a warrantless search will be 
deemed reasonable absent probable cause, courts often use the 
phrase ñexception to the warrant requirement.ò In our view, this is 
somewhat of a misnomer, as use of the phrase ñexception to the 
warrant requirementò suggests that a warrant generally would be 
required; yet, as we discuss below, a search conducted under the 
community caretaking doctrine, when viewed objectively, must be 

http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=33&sctn=25&subsctn=0
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=12390494794924900335&q=413+us+433&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
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independent from the investigation of criminal activity, and thus, in 
such circumstances, there would be no basis upon which to obtain a 
warrant in the first instance. Nevertheless, as most courts 
characterize the community caretaking doctrine as an ñexceptionò to 
the warrant requirement, we will occasionally employ that language 
as well. 

 The community caretaking doctrine has been characterized as encompassing 
three specific exceptions: the emergency aid exception; the automobile 
impoundment/inventory exception; and the public servant exception, also sometimes 
referred to as the public safety exception.  Each of the exceptions contemplates that the 
police officer's actions be motivated by a desire to render aid or assistance, rather than 
the investigation of criminal activity. 
 This Court recognizes that the role of police is not limited to the detection, 
investigation, and prevention of criminal activity. Rather, police officers engage in a 
myriad of activities that ensure the safety and welfare of our Commonwealth's citizens. 
Indeed, we want to encourage such laudable activity. However, even community 
caretaking activity must be performed in accordance with Fourth Amendment protections. 
Ultimately, we agree that the public servant exception may be employed consistent with 
these protections. 
 We first hold that, in order for the public servant exception of the community 
caretaking doctrine to apply, police officers must be able to point to specific, objective, 
and articulable facts that would reasonably suggest to an experienced officer that a citizen 
is in need of assistance. 
 As defendant suggests, there are many reasons why a driver might pull to the side 
of a highway: the driver may need to look at a map, answer or make a telephone call, 
send a text message,13 pick something up off the floor, clean up a spill, locate something 
in her purse or in his wallet, retrieve something from the glove compartment, attend to 
someone in the back seat, or, as in the instant case, enter an address into the vehicle's 
navigation system. Pulling to the side of the road to perform any of these activities is 
encouraged, as a momentary distraction while driving may result in catastrophic 
consequences. 

13Indeed, 75 Pa.C.S. § 3316(a) prohibits the operation of a vehicle 
ñwhile using an interactive wireless communications device to send, 
read or write a text-based communication while the vehicle is 
motion.ò 

 Second, we hold that, in order for the public servant exception of the community 
caretaking doctrine to apply, the police caretaking action must be independent from the 
detection, investigation, and acquisition of criminal evidence. As noted above, this is a 
common requirement to warrantless searches under all three exceptions of the 
community caretaking doctrine, including the emergency aid exception and the 
automobile impoundment/inventory exceptions. To describe this requirement, courts 
have utilized various terminology.  Regardless of the language used, a critical component 
of the community caretaking doctrine is that the police officer's action be based on specific 
and articulable facts which, viewed objectively and independent of any law enforcement 
concerns, would suggest to a reasonable officer that assistance is needed. 

http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=33&sctn=16&subsctn=0
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 We are not suggesting, however, that an officer's contemporaneous subjective 
concerns regarding criminal activity will preclude a finding that a seizure is valid under the 
community caretaking function.  The nature of a police officer's work is multifaceted. An 
officer is charged with enforcing the law, but he or she also serves as a necessary 
community caretaker when the officer discovers a member of the public who is in need of 
assistance. As an officer goes about his or her duties, an officer cannot always ascertain 
which hat the officer will wearīhis law enforcement hat or her community caretaker hat. 
For example, an officer may come upon what appears to be a stalled vehicle and decide 
to investigate to determine if assistance is needed; however, the investigation may show 
that a crime is being committed within the vehicle. Therefore, from the point of view of the 
officer, he or she must be prepared for either eventuality as the vehicle is approached. 
Accordingly, the officer may have law enforcement concerns, even when the officer has 
an objectively reasonable basis for performing a community caretaker function.   
 It is not realistic or wise to expect an officer to ignore the nature of his or her role 
in law enforcementðor its inherent dangersðin order for the public servant exception of 
the community caretaking doctrine to apply. Thus, so long as a police officer is able to 
point to specific, objective, and articulable facts which, standing alone, reasonably would 
suggest that his assistance is necessary, a coinciding subjective law enforcement 
concern by the officer will not negate the validity of that search under the public servant 
exception to the community caretaking doctrine. We caution, however, that when the 
community caretaking exception is involved to validate a search or seizure, courts must 
meticulously consider the facts and carefully apply the exception in a manner that 
mitigates the risk of abuse. 
 Finally, we hold that, in order for the public servant exception to apply the level of 
intrusion must be commensurate with the perceived need for assistance. Once the officer 
is assured that the citizen is not in peril or is no longer in need of assistance or that the 
peril has been mitigated, then any actions beyond that constitute a seizure implicating the 
protections provided by the Fourth Amendment. Such a determination requires an 
assessment of the circumstances surrounding the seizure, including, but not necessarily 
limited to, the degree of authority or force displayed, the length of the seizure, and the 
availability of alternative means of assistance. 
 To summarize, in order for a seizure to be justified under the public servant 
exception to the warrant requirement under the community caretaking doctrine, the officer 
must point to specific, objective, and articulable facts which would reasonably suggest to 
an experienced officer that assistance was needed; the police action must be 
independent from the detection, investigation, and acquisition of criminal evidence; and, 
based on a consideration of the surrounding circumstances, the action taken by police 
must be tailored to rendering assistance or mitigating the peril. Once assistance has been 
provided or the peril mitigated, further police action will be evaluated under traditional 
Fourth Amendment jurisprudence. 

Applying the standard we have adopted today, we must now determine whether 
the seizure of defendant was justified under the public servant exception. A review of the 
record reveals that Trooper Frantz was on routine patrol on Interstate 79 at approximately 
9:30 p.m. on June 14, 2013 when he observed defendant's vehicle on the right shoulder 
of the road. At the suppression hearing, Trooper Frantz testified: 
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I pulled beside her with my window already down, just, number one, 
to make sure, see if anybody was in this vehicle, and then, if there 
was, to make contact with her and then see if she needed any 
assistance. Nine out of ten times usually they're on their cell phone, 
I just give them a quick wave and I'm on my way. 

We have no reason to doubt Trooper Frantz's statement that he pulled alongside 
defendant's vehicle simply to check to see whether she needed assistance. However, 
regardless of his intentions, based on our review of the record, Trooper Frantz was unable 
to articulate any specific and objective facts that would reasonably suggest that defendant 
needed assistance. Indeed, Trooper Frantz conceded that he had not received a report 
of a motorist in need of assistance, and did not observe anything that outwardly suggested 
a problem with defendant's vehicle. Moreover, although it was dark, the weather was not 
inclement. Finally, defendant, who was inside her vehicle, did not have her hazard lights 
on. 

Thus, we are constrained to hold that Trooper Frantz's seizure of defendant was 
not justified under the public servant exception, and, therefore, that the evidence obtained 
as a result of that seizure should have been suppressed at trial. 

 
Livingstone, ___ Pa. ___, 174 A.3d 609 (11/27/17) 
 Link to: Donohue, J. concurring and dissenting 
 Link to: Baer, J. concurring and dissenting 
 Link to: Mundy, J. dissenting 

 
 
Vehicle offenses 
 
 On October 3, 2015, Pennsylvania State Police Trooper Mason was working the 
midnight shift. Trooper, Yurna was in the vehicle with him. Sometime around 4:00 a.m., 
Trooper Mason received a dispatch of a possible accident on North Cottage Road in 
Jackson Township, Mercer County, Pennsylvania. The caller did not see the accident, 
nor could the caller identify anyone in the accident. The caller simply reported that he 
heard what sounded like an accident. 
 Within three to four minutes Trooper Mason arrived at the scene. At some point a 
second marked cruiser also arrived at the scene. Upon arrival, the troopers discovered a 
2012 black Jeep Grand Cherokee that had gone off the road and had skidded into a small 
wooded area causing moderate damage to the vehicle. Various windows in the vehicle 
were broken but still intact such that a person could not have been thrown through the 
window, and several airbags had deployed. The troopers approached the vehicle to 
determine if someone was hurt or worse. They found no one in the Jeep or in the 
immediate area.  When the troopers investigated the Jeep itself, they saw no signs of 
blood and could make no determination as to whether or not someone was injured in that 
accident.  Trooper Mason ran the Jeep's registration plate, and it came back to Douglas 
Nelson Haines of Grove City. Trooper Mason also obtained Haines' driver's license 
information, which included his physical description and a driver's license photograph. 
 The area of the accident was a dark, rural area with no street lights. Rain was 
moderate to heavy. The blacktop road was wet. There was very little traffic on this 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Majority%20Opinion%20%20ReversedVacatedRemanded%20%2010333104129113102.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/ConcurringDissenting%20Opinion%20%20ReversedVacatedRemanded%20%2010333104129113438.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/ConcurringDissenting%20Opinion%20%20ReversedVacatedRemanded%20%2010333104129113424.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Dissenting%20Opinion%20%20ReversedVacatedRemanded%20%2010333104129113513.pdf?cb=1
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secondary road at the time of Trooper Mason's investigation.  At the scene, Trooper 
Mason called for a tow truck. The troopers in the second car drove around the surrounding 
area looking for pedestrians, but no one was located.  Trooper Mason waited in his car 
for a tow truck, sitting in the south bound lane facing north toward the accident, with 
headlights and emergency lights on. 
 Approximately ten minutes after Trooper Mason arrived at the scene while he was 
parked in the driveway awaiting the tow truck, he saw in his rearview mirror a vehicle 
approach. This vehicle was travelling north in the northbound lane. Trooper Mason 
observed the vehicle stop about a half a mile behind (to the south) of where the Trooper's 
vehicle was located. The vehicle stopped on the roadway and remained stopped for 
approximately 10 to 15 seconds.  This vehicle then continued driving in a northerly 
direction and ultimately passed Trooper Mason. Because it was dark and raining, the 
Trooper could not determine who or how many people were in the vehicle. The car was 
travelling at an appropriate speed and as it travelled it was not violating the Pennsylvania 
Motor Vehicle Code. 
 As this vehicle passed Trooper Mason's position, he observed the car's registration 
plate and ran the same. The registration came back to a Samuel Haines, showing the 
owner's address as Latonka Drive in Mercer, Pennsylvania. The last name ñHainesò was 
spelled the same way as the last name on the owner of the crashed vehicle. It was 
Trooper Mason's impression that the second vehicle had pulled up possibly to pick up the 
operator of the first vehicle.  Once Trooper Mason discovered the name of the registered 
owner of the vehicle, he effectuated a stop of that vehicle, which took place approximately 
one half mile north of the accident scene. The vehicle stopped appropriately.  Trooper 
Mason observed a female driving the vehicle and an individual in the front passenger seat 
who he identified as Haines based upon the driver's license picture obtained from running 
the crashed vehicle's plates. 
 Trooper Mason believed he had reasonable suspicion to stop the second car given 
its proximity to the accident scene, the fact that the car had stopped on the roadway for 
10 to 15 seconds, and because the registered owner's last name was the same last name 
as that of Haines.  The distance between Grove City and Mercer is approximately nine 
miles. The distance between Mercer and the Pennsylvania State Police barracks is an 
additional five miles.  North Cottage Road provides access to the Lake Latonka area. 
 Trooper Mason detected an odor of alcohol emanating from the vehicle and asked 
Haines to exit. Haines lost his balance on the roadway and smelled of alcohol, so Trooper 
Mason effectuated a field sobriety test which Haines failed.  Trooper Mason arrested 
Haines for D.U.I. 
 When considering whether reasonable suspicion or probable cause is required 
constitutionally to make a vehicle stop, the nature of the violation has to be considered. If 
it is not necessary to stop the vehicle to establish that a violation of the Vehicle Code has 
occurred, an officer must possess probable cause to stop the vehicle. Where a violation 
is suspected, but a stop is necessary to further investigate whether a violation has 
occurred, an officer need only possess reasonable suspicion to make the stop. Illustrative 
of these two standards are stops for speeding and DUI. If a vehicle is stopped for 
speeding, the officer must possess probable cause to stop the vehicle. This is so because 
when a vehicle is stopped, nothing more can be determined as to the speed of the vehicle 
when it was observed while traveling upon a highway. On the other hand, if an officer 
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possesses sufficient knowledge based upon behavior suggestive of DUI, the officer may 
stop the vehicle upon reasonable suspicion of a Vehicle Code violation, since a stop 
would provide the officer the needed opportunity to investigate further if the driver was 
operating under the influence of alcohol or a controlled substance. 
 The situation before us does not fit neatly into the speeding/DUI dichotomy set out 
in Salter, 121 A.3d 987 (Pa. Super. 8/4/15). The cases comparing DUI to speeding and 
running a red light or comparing speeding to travelling the wrong way on one-way street, 
all involve stopping the vehicle that is suspected of being involved in the violation. 
Whether the offense is speeding, failing to stay in a single lane, or driving the wrong way 
on a one-way street, no evidence relevant to the offense is likely to be found in the 
offending vehicle. Accordingly, we have concluded that the rationale of Terry, permitting 
further investigation based on reasonable suspicion, cannot be used to justify the stop. 
Here, in contrast, we confront not only an offense that may require further investigation 
but also a stop that sought that information from a place other than the offending vehicle.  
While under some circumstances a violation of Section 3746(a)(2) (Immediate notice of 
accident to police department) could be immediately apparent and require no further 
investigation, such will often not be the case. That the stop here was of a different vehicle 
does not change our analysis. If Trooper Mason had reasonable suspicion that the 
Samuel Haines vehicle contained evidence relevant to the possible violation at issue, he 
was authorized to make the stop. 
 We conclude that Trooper Mason had reasonable suspicion to stop the second 
car. Shortly before the stop, and three to four minutes after the radio report of an accident, 
Trooper Mason had arrived on the scene to find a vehicle, registered to Haines, crashed 
in the woods with its airbags deployed. No driver was in sight. The vehicle's windows, 
while cracked, were intact, so Trooper Mason concluded that no one had been ejected 
from the vehicle; accordingly, he instructed other officers to begin canvassing the area. 
While waiting for a tow truck to arrive, Trooper Mason saw a vehicle approach the 
accident scene, stop for 10 to 15 seconds in the roadway, and continue up the road. At 
the time, shortly after 4 a.m., there was no other traffic on the road. When the car passed 
by Trooper Mason, he could not see inside but ran its license plate and discovered that it 
was owned by Samuel Haines of Latonka Drive in Mercer. The vehicle was headed in the 
direction of Lake Latonka. Based on that information, Trooper Mason reasonably 
suspected that the vehicle might have stopped to pick up the operator of the wrecked 
vehicle. 
 When Trooper Mason effectuated the stop, he was investigating a violation of 
Section 3746(a)(2). Under the circumstances, it was reasonable for him to stop the car 
and briefly detain its occupants in order to determine whether the operator of the crashed 
vehicle, who had thus far failed to report the accident to police, was now in the second 
vehicle. That the second vehicle (1) stopped on the roadway near the accident, shortly 
after it occurred (roughly 4 a.m.) and (2) was registered to a person also named Haines 
who resided not far from the driver of the crashed car, was sufficient to justify the stop. 
 
 Haines, 166 A.3d 449 (Pa. Super. 6/30/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 176 A.3d 233 (12/6/17) 
 
 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A34032-14o%20-%201023090145176197.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=37&sctn=46&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=37&sctn=46&subsctn=0
http://caselaw.findlaw.com/pa-superior-court/1866494.html
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 On August 6, 2016, at approximately 1:28 a.m., Trooper Sherry L. Hogue was 
traveling east on Route 62 in Mercer County. She was in a marked cruiser in full uniform. 
Trooper Hogue observed a white truck pull onto Route 62 traveling in a westwardly 
direction. When the truck pulled out onto Route 62 (which is a lined, two-way road), it 
traveled in the center of the roadway for a sufficient period of time forcing Trooper Hogue 
to apply her brakes as to avoid a collision. The truck returned to the westbound lane and 
Trooper Hogue turned her vehicle around and followed the truck. The truck turned right 
onto Springfield Church Road and then left into what appeared to be a business driveway. 
The trooper pulled behind the truck, activated her lights, and 
exited the vehicle.   
 During the vehicle stop, Trooper Hogue observed evidence which led her to 
believe defendant had been driving while under the influence of alcohol.  Defendant was 
then placed under arrest and transported to the Grove City Medical Center. During the 
trip to the Grove City Medical Center, defendant told the Trooper that the Trooper should 
arrest criminals and not ñdrunks.ò The Trooper asked defendant what if she hit a car with 
a family in it and defendant replied, ñwe all have to die sometime.ò 
 If an officer possesses sufficient knowledge based upon behavior suggestive of 
DUI, the officer may stop the vehicle upon reasonable suspicion of a Vehicle Code 
violation, since a stop would provide the officer the needed opportunity to investigate 
further if the driver was operating under the influence of alcohol or a controlled substance. 
 In this case, defendant made a ñwide and dangerous turnò onto Route 62 and 
traveled a significant distance in the center of a lined, two-way road, forcing Trooper 
Hogue, who was approaching from the opposite direction, to apply her brakes to avoid a 
collision. Trooper Hogue testified that she stopped defendantôs vehicle as she believed 
that defendant was intoxicated based on her driving at that time of the early morning. 
Accordingly, we conclude that Trooper Hogue had reasonable suspicion to stop 
defendantôs vehicle for suspicion of DUI. 
 
 Smith, 177 A.3d 915 (Pa. Super. 12/28/17) 
 
 
Duration of detention 
 

The defendantôs vehicle was lawfully stopped and observations during the stop 
justified a detention of the driver. 

We are not persuaded by defendant's argument that the duration of the detention 
and the weather during the detention should change our conclusion. Defendant was 
detained for a significant period of time, more than one hour, while waiting for Trooper 
Doblovasky to arrive with his dog. 
 In assessing whether a detention is too long in duration to be justified as an 
investigative stop, we consider it appropriate to examine whether the police diligently 
pursued a means of investigation that was likely to confirm or dispel their suspicions 
quickly, during which time it was necessary to detain the defendant. Under the 
circumstances, the troopers acted reasonably and diligently in pursuing their suspicions 
during the one-hour-plus time frame. The vehicle was stopped in a rural area of the 
Commonwealth. In the first half hour after the stop, Trooper Gerken had defendant move 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010337136831190078.pdf?cb=1
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his car to a safer location and then questioned defendant and notified him of the traffic 
violation. Trooper Gerken then called for backup and a canine unit. Once the dog arrived, 
the search was conducted quickly. There is no evidence that the detention was delayed 
for any improper reason. It stands to reason that dispatching a canine unit to a rural 
location will likely take longer than doing so in an urban area. We therefore hold that the 
duration of the detention was not unreasonable. 
 With regard to the cold weather, Trooper Gerken testified that repeated offers were 
made to provide defendant with his jacket and to permit him to sit in the back of the heated 
patrol vehicleðoffers that defendant declined. Trooper Gerken also testified that he 
honored defendant's request to retrieve his scarf for him from the vehicle. Our review of 
the Motor Vehicle Recorder confirms this testimony. Accordingly, we do not believe the 
cold weather is germane to our analysis of the propriety of defendant's detention. 
 
 Freeman, 150 A.3d 32 (Pa. Super. 10/31/16) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 169 A.3d 524 (5/15/17) 
 
 
ASSAULT 
 
 The sixty-three-year-old male victim returned to his house and noticed that his front 
door was open. When he entered his living room, he observed that the room had been 
ransacked. In addition, it appeared that someone had tried to force open his locked 
bedroom door. The victim left that door locked because he had a 9 mm handgun inside. 
He unlocked the door and retrieved his firearm before checking the remainder of his 
home. 
 Upon entering the foyer, he saw a large male standing outside the doorway who 
appeared ready to force open the door. When the victim demanded to know who the male 
was, the intruder fled. The victim exited onto his porch where he encountered another 
individual wearing a blue bandana and carrying an AK-47 semi-automatic rifle. That 
person, defendant, approached the victim and appeared to raise his rifle and stated, "Give 
me the shit. Give me the shit." The victim grabbed the rifle and a struggle ensued in which 
defendant lost hold of his weapon and attempted to take the victim's handgun. Defendant 
began punching the victim while trying to secure the victim's gun. As the fight continued, 
defendant bit the victim in the shoulder and began to hit him with repeated blows. The 
victim was able to fire a shot at defendant. That shot did not hit defendant and defendant 
struck the victim several times before retrieving the rifle and fleeing. The victim attempted 
to fire another round at defendant, but his weapon jammed. The victim suffered a broken 
right hand, several lacerations, as well as bite wounds on his hands, arm, and shoulder. 
 Defendantôs argument was that he did not verbally threaten to shoot the victim, he 
never attempted to fire the rifle or point it at the victim. Accordingly, he argued that the 
Commonwealth did not prove that he attempted to cause serious bodily injury. 
 Defendant attacked a sixty-three-year-old man while armed with a loaded AK-47 
on the porch of the victim's home. While struggling with the victim over both the rifle and 
the victim's gun, defendant broke the victim's hand and repeatedly bit him. Defendant also 
pummeled the victim with his fists and fled after the victim fired a shot at him. The struggle 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A24031-16o%20-%2010286683114114485.pdf?cb=1
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over the weapons and the beating that defendant inflicted, viewed together, demonstrate 
that defendant intended to cause serious bodily injury. 
 
 Phillips, 129 A.3d 513 (Pa. Super. 12/14/15) 
 
 Defendant assaulted a school crossing guard, Ms. Tolbert, in Philadelphia. 
 Because the Commonwealth places primary reliance on Section 2702(c)(27), we 
first examine whether a crossing guard like Ms. Tolbert is included under that provision. 
We conclude that she is not. The clear and unambiguous language of this provision, which 
we are beholden to uphold, states that, to be covered, Ms. Tolbert had to be an 
ñemployeeò of a publicly-funded, private, or parochial school who was ñacting in the scope 
of his or her employment or because of his or her employment relationship to the school.ò 
18 Pa.C.S. § 2702(c)(27). Ms. Tolbert was not such an employee. Rather, Ms. Tolbert 
testified that she was employed as a crossing guard by the City of Philadelphia. The 
Commonwealth concedes that crossing guards in Philadelphia are employed by the City, 
and not by the School District of Philadelphia, a separate legal entity. She may indeed 
have had a ñrelationshipò to the school system by virtue of her work as a school crossing 
guard, but that did not establish that she had an employment relationship with it. 
Therefore, Section 2702(c)(27) does not apply to Ms. Tolbert. 
 Because we conclude that the trial court erred in holding that Ms. Tolbert fell within 
the ambit of Section 2702(c)(27), we hold that defendant could not be convicted of 
aggravated assault on that basis. We therefore turn to whether Ms. Tolbert could be 
convicted under Section 2702(c)(20), which applies to assaults on ñ[a]ny person 
employed to assist or who assists any Federal, State or local law enforcement official.ò 
18 Pa.C.S. § 2702(c)(20). We note that, unlike Subsection (c)(27), this subsection does 
not require an employerïemployee relationship; it applies to all who assist law 
enforcement and who are assaulted ñin the performance of duty.ò 
 Ms. Tolbert's assigned job was to help students to cross the street, and she was 
positioned somewhere near a daycare center as she did so. Ms. Tolbert's job was to help 
school children cross the street. Her hours are during the dismissal time when the children 
are coming and going to school. She has a uniform pertaining [to her job]. 
 We conclude that there was sufficient evidence presented at trial to include Ms. 
Tolbert under Section 2702(c)(20). While working in her capacity as a crossing guard, 
Ms. Tolbert was doing her duty to serve the community to safely escort children across 
busy streets, similarly to local police officers. While the Commonwealth failed to present 
evidence at trial that the victim's employment by the City was through its police 
department, Ms. Tolbert's job tasks may easily be characterized as providing assistance 
to local law enforcement. 
 We conclude that Philadelphia school crossing guards like Ms. Tolbert are persons 
who assist local law enforcement and therefore are within the category of persons listed 
under 18 Pa.C.S. § 2702(c)(20). We therefore hold that there was sufficient evidence for 
the trial court to find defendant guilty of aggravated assault pursuant to 18 Pa.C.S  
§ 2702(a)(3). 
 
 McFadden, 156 A.3d 299 (Pa. Super. 2/15/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 170 A.3d 993 (8/22/17) 
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COLLATERAL CONSEQUENCES 
 
Collateral consequences and guilty pleas 
 

The distinction between a direct and collateral consequence of a guilty plea has 
been effectively defined by this Court as the distinction between a criminal penalty and a 
civil requirement over which a sentencing judge has no control.  That the civil requirement 
may be one ordered by the court is not relevant to the determination of whether the result 
is a direct or collateral consequence of the plea.  Registration requirements under 
Megan's Law do not impose a criminal penalty. They are plainly a collateral consequence 
of the plea, substantially no different from the recognized collateral consequences of 
deportation and driver's license suspension. 

A defendant's lack of knowledge of collateral consequences to his or her pleading 
guilty or nolo contendere fails to undermine the validity of the plea. 

 
Leidig, 598 Pa. 211, 956 A.2d 399 (9/24/08) (Meganôs Law registration) 
Commonwealth v. Duffey, 536 Pa. 436, 639 A.2d 1174 (4/8/94) 
 (license suspension for underage drinking conviction) 
Ahlborn v. [Depôt of Transportation], 537 Pa. 153, 641 A.2d 1166 (6/8/94) 

rev'g, 156 Pa. Cmwlth. 196, 626 A.2d 1265 (6/3/93) 
 (license suspension for controlled substance conviction) 

 
BUT SEE AND COMPARE: 

Padilla pled guilty to the transportation of a large amount of marijuana in his tractor-
trailer.  In a post-conviction proceeding, challenging his representation at the guilty plea, 
Padilla claimed that his counsel not only failed to advise him of deportation prior to his 
entering the plea, but also told him that he ñdid not have to worry about immigration status 
since he had been in the country so long.ò 

The Court rejected the argument that deportation need not be addressed during 
guilty plea proceedings because deportation was a collateral consequence of a 
conviction, not a direct consequence, like a sentence. 

We . . . have never applied a distinction between direct and collateral 
consequences to define the scope of constitutionally ñreasonable 
professional assistance. . .ò Whether that distinction is appropriate is 
a question we need not consider in this case because of the unique 
nature of deportation. 
 
Deportation as a consequence of a criminal conviction is, because 
of its close connection to the criminal process, uniquely difficult to 
classify as either a direct or a collateral consequence. The collateral 
versus direct distinction is thus ill-suited to evaluating [an ineffective 
assistance of counsel] claim concerning the specific risk of 
deportation. We conclude that advice regarding deportation is not 
categorically removed from the ambit of the Sixth Amendment right 
to [effective assistance of] counsel. 

http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-24-2008mo.pdf
http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=13077157309798782266&q=639+a.2d+1174&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=15449287343632574463&q=641+a.2d+1166&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=5852084882629525058&q=626+a.2d+1265&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
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The weight of prevailing professional norms supports the view that 
counsel must advise her client regarding the risk of deportation.  In 
the instant case, the terms of the relevant immigration statute are 
succinct, clear, and explicit in defining the removal consequence for 
Padillaôs conviction.  Padillaôs counsel could have easily determined 
that his plea would make him eligible for deportation simply from 
reading the text of the statute, which addresses not some broad 
classification of crimes but specifically commands removal for all 
controlled substances convictions except for the most trivial of 
marijuana possession offenses. Instead, Padillaôs counsel provided 
him false assurance that his conviction would not result in his 
removal from this country. This is not a hard case in which to find 
deficiency: The consequences of Padillaôs plea could easily be 
determined from reading the removal statute, his deportation was 
presumptively mandatory, and his counselôs advice was incorrect. 
 
There will . . . be numerous situations in which the deportation 
consequences of a particular plea are unclear or uncertain. The duty 
of the private practitioner in such cases is more limited. When the 
law is not succinct and straightforward . . . a criminal defense 
attorney need do no more than advise a non-citizen client that 
pending criminal charges may carry a risk of adverse immigration 
consequences. But when the deportation consequence is truly clear, 
as it was in this case, the duty to give correct advice is equally clear. 

The Court also rejected any distinction between whether counsel gave affirmatively 
incorrect advice or whether counsel was silent on the issue of deportation.  The Court 
held that counsel is obliged to advise a client as to ñthe advantages and disadvantages 
of a plea agreement,ò including available advice on deportation. 

The Court did not decide whether Padilla had been prejudiced by the 
ineffectiveness.  The case was remanded to the state court for that determination.  
Prejudice was to be determined based upon the standard set forth in Hill v. Lockhart, 474 
U.S. 52, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (11/18/85), in which the defendant must establish 
that, but for counselôs error there was a reasonable probability that he would not have 
pled guilty and would have insisted upon a trial.  A person attacking the guilty plea must 
convince the court that, despite the probability of a conviction at trial, and despite the 
probability of a lengthier sentence after the conviction, ña decision to reject the plea 
bargain would have been rational under the circumstances.ò 

 
Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S.356, 130 S.Ct. 1473, 176 L.Ed.2d 284 (3/31/10) 

OVERRULING: Frometa, 520 Pa. 552, 555 A.2d 92 (3/6/89) 
 
WITH: 

Defendant, a high school teacher, pled guilty to the indecent assault of one of his 
students.  The teacherôs pension was forfeited.  Defendant sought to withdraw his guilty 

http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=5335144973159323646&q=106+s+ct+366&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/09pdf/08-651.pdf
http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=943999791820094270&q=555+a2d+92&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
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plea on the grounds that he was not made aware of the pension forfeiture before he pled 
guilty. 

Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 130 S.Ct. 1473, 176 L.Ed.2d 284 (3/31/10), did 
not abrogate application of collateral consequences analysis in cases that do not involve 
deportation. The general holding in Frometa, 520 Pa. 552, 555 A.2d 92 (3/6/89), remains: 
a defendant's lack of knowledge of collateral consequences of the entry of a guilty plea 
does not undermine the validity of the plea, and counsel is therefore not constitutionally 
ineffective for failure to advise a defendant of the collateral consequences of a guilty plea. 

The distinction between a direct and collateral consequence of a guilty plea has 
been effectively defined by this Court as the distinction between a criminal penalty and a 
civil requirement over which a sentencing judge has no control. 

The Public Employee Pension Forfeiture Act, 43 P.S. §§ 1311 et seq., is not a 
criminal penalty.  The pension forfeiture provisions are not so punitive in force or effect 
as to negate the legislative intent that it be a civil, remedial provision. 

Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to advise a defendant regarding 
the collateral consequences of a plea 

 
Abraham, 619 Pa. 293, 62 A.3d 343 (12/7/12) 
 Link to: Castille, C.J. concurring 
 Link to: Saylor, J. concurring   
 Link to: Todd, J. dissenting 

cert. denied, 568 U.S. 1213, 133 S.Ct. 1504, 185 L.Ed.2d 550 (3/4/13) 
 
 
Collateral consequences as ñpunishmentò 
 
 The Excessive Fines Clause limits the government's power to extract payments, 
whether in cash or in kind, as punishment for some offense. At the time of the drafting 
and ratification of the Eighth Amendment, the word ñfineò was understood to mean a 
payment to a sovereign as punishment for some offense. The in personam criminal 
forfeiture at issue here is clearly a form of monetary punishment no different, for Eighth 
Amendment purposes, from a traditional "fine." Accordingly, the forfeiture in this case 
should be analyzed under the Excessive Fines Clause. We think it preferable that this 
question be addressed by the Court of Appeals in the first instance. 
 
Alexander v. United States, 509 U.S. 544, 113 S.Ct. 2766, 125 L.Ed.2d 441 (6/28/93) 
 
 
 Richard Lyle Austin was indicted on four counts of violating South Dakota's drug 
laws. Austin ultimately pleaded guilty to one count of possessing cocaine with intent to 
distribute and was sentenced by the state court to seven years' imprisonment. On 
September 7, the United States filed an in rem action in the United States District Court 
for the District of South Dakota seeking forfeiture of Austin's mobile home and auto body 
shop under 21 U.S.C. §§ 881(a)(4) and (a)(7). 
 A civil sanction that cannot fairly be said solely to serve a remedial purpose, but 
rather can only be explained as also serving either retributive or deterrent purposes, is 

http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/09pdf/08-651.pdf
http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=943999791820094270&q=555+a2d+92&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
https://govt.westlaw.com/pac/Browse/Home/Pennsylvania/UnofficialPurdonsPennsylvaniaStatutes?guid=N5D594B9242D44533A8CD0FB8E9BED205&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-32-2011MO.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-32-2011CO1.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-32-2011CO2.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-32-2011DO.pdf
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10963127911795035052&q=509+us+544&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
http://uscode.house.gov/view.xhtml?req=granuleid:USC-prelim-title21-section881&num=0&edition=prelim
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punishment, as we have come to understand the term. In light of the historical 
understanding of forfeiture as punishment, the clear focus of these statutes on the 
culpability of the owner, and the evidence that Congress understood those provisions as 
serving to deter and to punish, we cannot conclude that forfeiture under these statutes 
serves solely a remedial purpose. We therefore conclude that forfeiture under these 
provisions constitutes payment to a sovereign as punishment for some offense, and, as 
such, is subject to the limitations of the Eighth Amendment's Excessive Fines Clause.  
Prudence dictates that we allow the lower courts to consider that question in the first 
instance. 
 
 Austin v. United States, 509 U.S. 602, 113 S.Ct. 2801, 125 L.Ed.2d 488 (6/28/93) 
 
 The Eighth Amendment's Excessive Fines Clause applies to civil in rem forfeitures 
that are punitive and criminal in personam forfeitures. With respect to criminal in 
personam forfeitures, an Excessive Fines Clause inquiry focuses on proportionality, and, 
specifically, to survive an excessiveness challenge, the amount of the forfeiture must bear 
some relationship to the gravity of the offense that it is designed to punish. Whether a 
criminal in personam forfeiture is excessive requires consideration of whether the 
forfeiture is ñgrossly disproportionalò to the gravity of a defendant's offense. With regard 
to the gross disproportionality standard, judgments regarding the appropriate punishment 
for an offense belong initially to the legislature, and judicial determinations regarding the 
gravity of an offense will be inherently imprecise. In applying the gross disproportionality 
standard, the amount of the forfeiture is compared to the gravity of the offense, and if the 
amount is grossly disproportionate, it is unconstitutional. In judging the gravity of the 
offense, we look to the culpability of the defendant rather than the severity of the crime in 
the abstract. In Pennsylvania, the gross disproportionality test is applicable to all punitive 
forfeitures, including civil in rem proceedings. In this regard, the following three, non-
exhaustive, factors have been considered: the penalties that the legislature has 
authorized compared to those to which the defendant was subjected; whether the 
violation was isolated or part of a pattern of misbehavior; and the nature of the harm 
caused by the defendant. 
 Certain issues remain open. First, answering the question of whether, as part of 
the excessiveness analysis, a court must find as a threshold matter that the property 
sought to be forfeited is an instrumentality of the underlying offense is not clear cut. 
Further, federal and state courts have adopted a variety of considerations in determining 
whether a forfeiture is constitutionally excessive. No definitive set of factors has emerged 
to be used in making the grossly disproportionate analysis. 
 Based upon the ancestry of civil in rem forfeiture, the teachings of United States 
Supreme Court and our precedent, we find that the concept of guilty or tainted property 
has been a long-standing and consistent theme with respect to civil in rem forfeiture and 
remains vital today. Indeed, if nexus were merely a factor to be considered in determining 
whether the forfeiture was excessive, the ñguilty propertyò fiction that has served as the 
cornerstone of in rem forfeiture for hundreds of years would be nullified. 
 Therefore, we hold that an instrumentality analysis, which considers the 
relationship between the property to be forfeited and the underlying criminal activity, must 
be a threshold inquiry in addressing an excessiveness challenge to a civil in rem forfeiture. 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10005133394633023821&q=509+us+602&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
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Accordingly, we affirm the Commonwealth Court's conclusion that the Eighth Amendment 
requires a property subject to civil in rem forfeiture be an instrumentality of the underlying 
offense. 
 Having determined that, when faced with an Excessive Fines Clause challenge to 
a civil in rem forfeiture, courts must engage in a threshold instrumentality analysis, we set 
forth factors to be considered in making that determination. To be an instrumentality, the 
property itself is required to be significantly utilized in the commission of the offense. 
Indeed, there may be property that is connected to a crime but is not significantly used in 
the crime. Considerations regarding this ñsignificant utilizationò assessment include: 
whether the property was integral to the commission of the offense ð i.e., uniquely 
important to the success of the illegal activity; whether the use of the property was 
deliberate and planned or was merely incidental and fortuitous to the illegal enterprise; 
whether the illegal use of the property was an isolated event, or repeated; whether the 
purpose of acquiring, maintaining or using the property was to carry out the offense; and 
whether the illegal use of the property was extensive spatially and/or temporally. 
 Finally, consistent with the historical notion of the deodands, we caution that 
property is divisible. Where a significant relationship to an offense is established with 
regard to only a portion of property which is practicably divisible from the rest, only the 
offending portion of the property may be forfeited; but if the property is not divisible, the 
entire property is forfeited. Thus, in making the instrumentality assessment, a court must 
closely examine not only the nexus between the property and the offense, but the specific 
aspect of the property at issue. 
 In sum, an analysis of whether a civil in rem forfeiture violates the Eighth 
Amendment requires a threshold inquiry into whether the specific property sought to be 
forfeited is an instrumentality of the underlying offense. If the property sought to be 
forfeited is an instrumentality of the underlying offense, the inquiry continues to an 
examination of proportionality. If not, the forfeiture cannot withstand Eighth Amendment 
scrutiny and the inquiry ends. 
 We observe that, in civil in rem forfeitures, the owner of the property and the 
offender may not be the same. The potential harshness of a forfeiture against a property 
owner with no alleged criminal conduct, or minor culpability, however, must be recognized 
in any excessiveness inquiry, and we find doing so comfortably fits within the United 
States Supreme Court's gross disproportionality test. Therefore, we must be wary of 
forfeiture imposing greater punishment than appropriate for the underlying crime itself. 
Indeed, a civil in rem proceeding can be viewed in one way as a ñsuper criminalò 
proceeding, in which a property owner is punished through the seizure of his or her 
property, but without all the safeguards associated with criminal proceedings. While 
Fourth and Fifth Amendment protections are applicable to civil forfeiture proceedings, 
there is no right to counsel for individuals subjected to forfeiture proceedings. Further, 
while not presently challenged, we note that the burden of proof on the Commonwealth 
for civil forfeiture, including of one's home, is merely the preponderance of the evidence 
standard. Finally, and critically, while we discuss the procedures under the Forfeiture Act 
more fully below, we observe that there is no presumption of innocence, but rather, a 
presumption of culpability once the Commonwealth has established a nexus between the 
property and the crime, and certainly no presumption of innocence with regard to the 
innocent owner defense. For these reasons, we conclude it is appropriate to consider the 
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harshness of the forfeiture on the individual property owner as a part of the excessiveness 
analysis, which may be manifested in an assessment of both the value of the property 
and the gravity of the underlying offense factors. 
 In our view, in the realm of civil in rem forfeiture, both an objective pecuniary and 
subjective non-pecuniary valuation of the property is necessary. While a simple market 
value may be appropriate in some instances, as noted above, certain property - such as 
a residence, a vehicle, or other similar necessities in our daily life - carry additional value 
to the owner and possibly others, and, thus, call for a subjective non-pecuniary evaluation 
of the property sought to be forfeited. Such a valuation would consider whether the 
property is a family residence or is essential to the owner. Related thereto, we believe it 
proper to consider the financial or other consequences of forfeiture upon the property 
owner, and any innocent third parties.  Finally, we address one additional aspect of the 
value of the property inquiry: whether the forfeiture would deprive the property owner of 
his or her livelihood. 
 In analyzing the gravity of the offense, a court must consider the essence of the 
crime - that is, the nature of the underlying offense. Related thereto, the relation of the 
offense to any other illegal activity and whether the offender fit into the class of persons 
for whom the offense was designed should be considered. Further, the court should take 
into account the maximum penalty as compared to the penalty imposed upon the criminal 
offender. In making this assessment, the actual penalty imposed (sentence, fine) upon 
the offender giving rise to the forfeiture is compared to the maximum authorized sentence 
for the underlying offenses for which the offender was convicted. Moreover, the regularity 
of the criminal conduct must be considered, including whether the illegal acts were 
isolated or frequent, constituting a pattern of misbehavior. Finally, a court must take into 
account the harm resulting from the crime charged. Contrary to the Commonwealth's 
argument, we find generic considerations of harm to be largely unhelpful in this regard, 
as all crimes have a negative impact in some general way to society. 
 In conclusion, we hold that, for purposes of an Excessive Fines Clause challenge 
to a civil in rem forfeiture, a court must first assess whether the property sought to be 
forfeited is an instrumentality of the underlying offense. If the property is not found to be 
an instrumentality of the criminal conduct, the inquiry is dispositive and ends, and the 
forfeiture is unconstitutional. If the property is an instrumentality, the inquiry continues to 
the proportionality prong and an assessment of whether the value of the property sought 
to be forfeited is grossly disproportional to the gravity of the underlying offense. If it is 
grossly disproportional, the forfeiture is unconstitutional. As discussed in detail above, 
and summarized below, we find various factors to be relevant in resolving an excessive 
fines challenge to a civil in rem forfeiture. We caution, however that these factors are not 
meant to be exhaustive, and that additional factors, when relevant, may be considered by 
a court, depending upon the particular circumstances at issue. 
 In making the instrumentality determination, a court should consider, inter alia: 

(1) whether the property was uniquely important to the success of 
the illegal activity; 
(2) whether the use of the property was deliberate and planned or 
was merely incidental and fortuitous to the illegal enterprise; 
(3) whether the illegal use of the property was an isolated event or 
repeated; 
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(4) whether the purpose of acquiring, maintaining or using the 
property was to carry out the offense; 
(5) whether the illegal use of the property was extensive spatially 
and/or temporally; and 
(6) whether the property is divisible with respect to the subject of 
forfeiture, allowing forfeiture of only that discrete property which has 
a significant relationship to the underlying offense. 

 The factors, among others, to be considered in assessing the value of the property 
are: 

(1) the fair market value of the property; 
(2) the subjective value of the property taking into account whether 
the property is a family residence or if the property is essential to the 
owner's livelihood; 
(3) the harm forfeiture would bring to the owner or innocent third 
parties; and 
(4) whether the forfeiture would deprive the property owner of his or 
her livelihood. 

 The factors to be considered in gauging the gravity of the offense include: 
(1) the nature of the underlying offense; 
(2) the relation of the violation of the offense to any other illegal 
activity and whether the offender fit into the class of persons for 
whom the offense was designed should be considered; 
(3) the maximum authorized penalty as compared to the actual 
penalty imposed upon the criminal offender; 
(4) the regularity of the criminal conduct ð whether the illegal acts 
were isolated or frequent, constituting a pattern of misbehavior; 
(5) the actual harm resulting from the crime charged, beyond a 
generalized harm to society; and 
(6) the culpability of the property owner. 

 
 1997 Chevrolet, ___ Pa. ___, 160 A.3d 153 (5/25/17) 
 
 
 The current Pennsylvania sexual offender registration law, SORNA, is punitive. 
 We conclude SORNA involves affirmative disabilities or restraints, its sanctions 
have been historically regarded as punishment, its operation promotes the traditional 
aims of punishment, including deterrence and retribution, and its registration 
requirements are excessive in relation to its stated nonpunitive purpose. Accordingly, we 
hold the retroactive application of SORNA to defendant violates the ex post facto clause 
of the United States Constitution. 
IMPLICITLY DISAPPROVING: 

Perez, 97 A.3d 747 (Pa. Super. 7/9/14) 
 Link to: Donohue, J. concurring 
Coppolino v. Commissioner, 102 A.3d 1254 (Pa. Cmwlth. 10/14/14) (en banc) 

affôd per curiam, 633 Pa. 445, 125 A.3d 1196 (11/20/15) 
 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-68AB-2016mo1.pdf?cb=2
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A10039-14o%20-%201018673142389208.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A10039-14co%20-%201018673142389209.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Commonwealth/out/214MD13_10-14-14.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-58-2015pco%20-%201024448795726875.pdf?cb=1
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DISTINGUISHING: 
Smith v. Doe, 538 U.S. 84, 123 S.Ct. 1140, 155 L.Ed.2d 164 (3/5/03) (federal statute) 
 

Muniz , ___ Pa. ___, 164 A.3d 1189 (7/19/17) (plurality opinion) 
  Link to: Wecht, J. concurring 
  Link to: Saylor, C.J. dissenting 
cert. denied, ___ U.S. ___, 138 S.Ct. 925, ___ L.Ed.2d ___ (1/22/18) 
 
 

75 Pa.C.S. § 1611(e), provides that a holder of a commercial driver's license (CDL) 
who is convicted of certain drug crimes while using motor vehicles is disqualified from 
holding such license for life. PennDOT notified Shoul that, pursuant to that section, he 
was disqualified from holding a CDL for life.  Section 1611(e) constitutes punishment 
because it, at least in part, exacts retribution or deters crime. 
 Austin v. United States, 509 U.S. 602, 113 S.Ct. 2801, 125 L.Ed.2d 488 (6/28/93), 
held that civil sanctions intended at least in part to occasion deterrence or retribution are 
punishment for Eighth Amendment purposes. We view Austinôs pronouncement as 
authoritative notwithstanding Hudson v. United States, 522 U.S. 93, 118 S.Ct. 488, 139 
L.Ed.2d 450 (12/10/97), and appropriately situated to that context in light of the 
differences, detailed in Austin, between double jeopardy and cruel and unusual 
punishment doctrine. Preliminarily, Hudson was a double jeopardy case, not an Eighth 
Amendment case, and thus, unsurprisingly, Austinôs pronouncement was not overruled 
in Hudson. 
 In Plowman v. [Penn DOT], 535 Pa. 314, 635 A.2d 124 (12/14/93), this court 
previously determined that a driverôs license suspension predicated on a drug offense is 
not a punishment for Eighth Amendment purposes. The Plowman courtôs substantive 
analysis of the issue was a mere two sentences long, did not support its determination 
that the license suspension was not punishment by resort to any legal authority, made no 
mention of Austin (or any other governing case), and was buttressed by an alternative 
holding that the sanction was not cruel and unusual. Accordingly, we are inclined to find 
Plowman of little precedential value on this point, particularly in light of Austinôs apparent 
reformulation of the principles attendant the scope of the constitutional prohibition on cruel 
and unusual punishments. 
 Turning to the instant case, we find that the record is insufficiently developed to 
determine whether Section 1611(e)ôs application to Shoul was grossly disproportionate 
to his crime, particularly in light of our intervening decision in 1997 Chevrolet, ___ Pa. 
___, 160 A.3d 153 (5/25/17). Notably, the evidentiary record contains little detail 
concerning the facts of Shoulôs offense, the impact of the loss of his CDL, his sentence 
as compared to the maximum sentence he faced, or the actual harmful consequences 
resulting from his offense. Moreover, neither the trial court, nor Shoul in his brief, have 
offered meaningful analysis of the issue. 

Moreover, insofar as the proceedings below pre-dated 1997 Chevrolet, neither the 
parties nor the lower court had the benefit of its guidance to develop a comprehensive 
exposition of the harshness of Section 1611(e)ôs application to Shoul or the severity of 
his offense, or to weigh one against the other. In our view, in light of the bare record, and 
our refinement of the gross disproportionality standard in 1997 Chevrolet, the appropriate 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=14879258853492825339&q=538+us+84&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016oajc%20-%2010317692521317667.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016co%20-%2010317692521317673.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016do%20-%2010317692521317662.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=16&sctn=11&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=16&sctn=11&subsctn=0
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10005133394633023821&q=509+us+602&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10005133394633023821&q=509+us+602&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=13959521269814708463&q=522+us+93&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39#r[9]
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10005133394633023821&q=509+us+602&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=13959521269814708463&q=522+us+93&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39#r[9]
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10005133394633023821&q=509+us+602&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=13959521269814708463&q=522+us+93&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39#r[9]
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=15374580154072519415&q=635+a2d+124&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=15374580154072519415&q=635+a2d+124&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10005133394633023821&q=509+us+602&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=15374580154072519415&q=635+a2d+124&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10005133394633023821&q=509+us+602&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=16&sctn=11&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-68B-2016mo%20-%2010311404317547051.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-68B-2016mo%20-%2010311404317547051.pdf?cb=1
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http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-68B-2016mo%20-%2010311404317547051.pdf?cb=1
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course is to vacate the trial courtôs order and remand to that court for further proceedings 
on the question of whether Section 1611(e)ôs sanction is grossly disproportionate to 
Shoulôs offense. 
 

Shoul v. [Penn DOT], ___ Pa. ___, 173 A.3d 669 (11/22/17) 
Link to: Wecht, J. concurring 
Link to: Dougherty, J. concurring and dissenting 
Link to: Mundy, J. concurring and dissenting 

 
 
What is the current status of sexual offender registration? 
 
 We recognize that our Supreme Court did not consider the ramifications of its 
decision in Muniz , ___ Pa. ___, 164 A.3d 1189 (7/19/17), with respect to individuals 
designated as Sexually Violent Predators (SVPs) for crimes committed after SORNA's 
effective date. Nonetheless, our Supreme Court's holding that registration requirements 
under SORNA constitute a form of criminal punishment is dispositive of the issue 
presented in this case. In other words, since our Supreme Court has held that SORNA 
registration requirements are punitive or a criminal penalty to which individuals are 
exposed, then under Apprendi and Alleyne, a factual finding, such as whether a defendant 
has a ñmental abnormality or personality disorder that makes [him or her] likely to engage 
in predatory sexually violent offenses [,]ò 42 Pa.C.S. § 9799.12, that increases the length 
of registration must be found beyond a reasonable doubt by the chosen fact-finder. 
Section 9799.24(e)(3) identifies the trial court as the finder of fact in all instances and 
specifies clear and convincing evidence as the burden of proof required to designate a 
convicted defendant as an SVP. Such a statutory scheme in the criminal context cannot 
withstand constitutional scrutiny. Accordingly, we are constrained to hold that Section 
9799.24(e)(3) is unconstitutional and defendant's judgment of sentence, to the extent it 
required him to register as an SVP for life, was illegal. 

As the sole statutory mechanism for SVP designation is constitutionally flawed, 
there is no longer a legitimate path forward for undertaking adjudications pursuant to 
Section 9799.24. As such, trial courts may no longer designate convicted defendants as 
SVPs, nor may they hold SVP hearings, until our General Assembly enacts a 
constitutional designation mechanism. Instead, trial courts must notify a defendant that 
he or she is required to register for 15 years if he or she is convicted of a Tier I sexual 
offense, 25 years if he or she is convicted of a Tier II sexual offense, or life if he or she is 
convicted of a Tier III sexual offense. 
 
 Butler, 173 A.3d 1212 (Pa. Super. 10/31/17) 
appeal pending, No. 47 WAL 2018 (filed 2/1/18) 
 
 
 SORNA now has been determined to be punitive in effect despite its expressed 
civil remedial purpose.  Muniz, ___ Pa. ___, 164 A.3d 1189 (7/19/17). In light of our 
Supreme Court's announcement in Muniz, we are constrained to hold that SORNA's 

http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=16&sctn=11&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Majority%20Opinion%20%20ReversedVacatedRemanded%20%2010332879127765910.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Concurring%20Opinion%20%20ReversedVacatedRemanded%20%2010332879127766006.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/ConcurringDissenting%20Opinion%20%20ReversedVacatedRemanded%20%2010332879127766423.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/ConcurringDissenting%20Opinion%20%20ReversedVacatedRemanded%20%2010332879127766432.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016oajc%20-%2010317692521317667.pdf?cb=1
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=4053038751252355308&q=530+us+466&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/12pdf/11-9335_b8cf.pdf
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=99&subsctn=12
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=99&subsctn=24
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=99&subsctn=24
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=99&subsctn=24
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=99&subsctn=24
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/OPINION%20-%20REVERSED-REMANDED%20-%2010330220126225445.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016oajc%20-%2010317692521317667.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016oajc%20-%2010317692521317667.pdf?cb=1
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registration requirements are no longer merely a collateral consequence, but rather 
punishment.  
 Applying this standard, we conclude that, because the trial court here failed to 
inform defendant of SORNA's registration requirements at the time of his plea and 
sentencing, it abused its discretion in denying his post-sentence motion to withdraw his 
plea of nolo contendere. Based upon our review of the record, specifically the plea and 
sentencing transcript, and as conceded by the Commonwealth and the trial court, 
defendant was unaware of any SORNA consequences of his plea of nolo contendere. 
 
 Hart, 174 A.3d 660 (Pa. Super. 11/13/17) 
 
 
 The recent holding in Muniz created a substantive rule that retroactively applies in 
the collateral context, because SORNA punishes a class of defendants due to their status 
as sex offenders and creates a significant risk of punishment that the law cannot impose. 
The Muniz decision should be retroactively applied in state collateral courts to comply 
with the United States and Pennsylvania Constitutions. Our Supreme Court decided 
Muniz on July 19, 2017, while defendant's case was on appeal from the denial of collateral 
relief, and nearly two years after he filed his counseled PCRA petition. Therefore, the best 
resolution of this case is to vacate, remand, and offer defendant the opportunity to argue 
Muniz. Accordingly, we vacate the order denying PCRA relief and remand this case to 
the PCRA court to allow defendant to amend his petition to include a Muniz claim. 
 
 Rivera-Figueroa, 174 A.3d 674 (Pa. Super. 11/14/17) 
BUT SEE: 
 We acknowledge that this Court has declared that, ñMuniz created a substantive 
rule that retroactively applies in the collateral context.ò Commonwealth v. Rivera-
Figueroa, 174 A.3d 674, 678 (Pa. Super. 2017). However, because defendantôs PCRA 
petition is untimely (unlike the petition at issue in Rivera-Figueroa), he must demonstrate 
that the Pennsylvania Supreme Court has held that Muniz applies retroactively in order 
to satisfy 42 Pa.C.S. § 9545(b)(1)(iii). Because at this time, no such holding has been 
issued by our Supreme Court, defendant cannot rely on Muniz to meet that timeliness 
exception. 
 
 Murphy, ___ A.3d ___ (Pa. Super. 2/20/18) 
appeal pending, No. 202 MAL 2018 (filed 3/2/18) 
 
 
What rights arise from ñpunitiveò collateral consequences? 
 
 We recognize that our Supreme Court did not consider the ramifications of its 
decision in Muniz, ___ Pa. ___, 164 A.3d 1189 (7/19/17), with respect to individuals 
designated as Sexually Violent Predators (SVPs) for crimes committed after SORNA's 
effective date. Nonetheless, our Supreme Court's holding that registration requirements 
under SORNA constitute a form of criminal punishment is dispositive of the issue 
presented in this case. In other words, since our Supreme Court has held that SORNA 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/OPINION%20-%20VACATED-REMANDED%20-%2010331559926790479.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016oajc%20-%2010317692521317667.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016oajc%20-%2010317692521317667.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016oajc%20-%2010317692521317667.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016oajc%20-%2010317692521317667.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016oajc%20-%2010317692521317667.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/OPINION%20-%20VACATED-REMANDED%20-%2010331749926942683.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016oajc%20-%2010317692521317667.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/OPINION%20-%20VACATED-REMANDED%20-%2010331749926942683.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/OPINION%20-%20VACATED-REMANDED%20-%2010331749926942683.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/OPINION%20-%20VACATED-REMANDED%20-%2010331749926942683.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016oajc%20-%2010317692521317667.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=95&sctn=45&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016oajc%20-%2010317692521317667.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010343550333232135.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-121B-2016oajc%20-%2010317692521317667.pdf?cb=1
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registration requirements are punitive or a criminal penalty to which individuals are 
exposed, then under Apprendi and Alleyne, a factual finding, such as whether a defendant 
has a ñmental abnormality or personality disorder that makes [him or her] likely to engage 
in predatory sexually violent offenses [,]ò 42 Pa.C.S. § 9799.12, that increases the length 
of registration must be found beyond a reasonable doubt by the chosen fact-finder. 
Section 9799.24(e)(3) identifies the trial court as the finder of fact in all instances and 
specifies clear and convincing evidence as the burden of proof required to designate a 
convicted defendant as an SVP. Such a statutory scheme in the criminal context cannot 
withstand constitutional scrutiny. Accordingly, we are constrained to hold that Section 
9799.24(e)(3) is unconstitutional and defendant's judgment of sentence, to the extent it 
required him to register as an SVP for life, was illegal. 

As the sole statutory mechanism for SVP designation is constitutionally flawed, 
there is no longer a legitimate path forward for undertaking adjudications pursuant to 
Section 9799.24. As such, trial courts may no longer designate convicted defendants as 
SVPs, nor may they hold SVP hearings, until our General Assembly enacts a 
constitutional designation mechanism. Instead, trial courts must notify a defendant that 
he or she is required to register for 15 years if he or she is convicted of a Tier I sexual 
offense, 25 years if he or she is convicted of a Tier II sexual offense, or life if he or she is 
convicted of a Tier III sexual offense. 
 
 Butler, 173 A.3d 1212 (Pa. Super. 10/31/17) 
 
 Forfeitures are subject to review for excessiveness under the Eighth Amendment 
after Austin v. United States, 509 U.S. 602, 113 S.Ct. 2801, 125 L.Ed.2d 488 (6/28/93); 
this does not mean, however, that those forfeitures are so punitive as to constitute 
punishment for the purposes of double jeopardy. The holding of Austin was limited to the 
Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment, and we decline to import the analysis 
of Austin into our double jeopardy jurisprudence. Congress long has authorized the 
Government to bring parallel criminal proceedings and civil forfeiture proceedings, and 
this Court consistently has found civil forfeitures not to constitute punishment under the 
Double Jeopardy Clause. 
 We do not hold that in rem civil forfeiture is per se exempt from the scope of the 
Double Jeopardy Clause. Similarly, we do not rest our conclusion in these cases upon 
the long-recognized fiction that a forfeiture in rem punishes only malfeasant property 
rather than a particular person. That a forfeiture is designated as civil by Congress and 
proceeds in rem establishes a presumption that it is not subject to double jeopardy. 
Nevertheless, where the ñclearest proofò indicates that an in rem civil forfeiture is ñso 
punitive either in purpose or effectò as to be equivalent to a criminal proceeding, that 
forfeiture may be subject to the Double Jeopardy Clause. 
 We find that there is little evidence, much less the ñclearest proofò that we require, 
suggesting that forfeiture proceedings under [the statutes at issue in these consolidated 
cases] are so punitive in form and effect as to render them criminal despite Congress' 
intent to the contrary. We hold that these in rem civil forfeitures are neither ñpunishmentò 
nor criminal for purposes of the Double Jeopardy Clause. 
 
 United States v. Ursery, 518 U.S. 267, 116 S.Ct. 2135, 135 L.Ed.2d 549 (6/24/96) 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=4053038751252355308&q=530+us+466&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
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http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=99&subsctn=24
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 The Government administratively imposed monetary penalties and occupational 
debarment on petitioners for violation of federal banking statutes, and later criminally 
indicted them for essentially the same conduct. We hold that the Double Jeopardy Clause 
of the Fifth Amendment is not a bar to the later criminal prosecution because the 
administrative proceedings were civil, not criminal. 

There simply is very little showing, to say nothing of the "clearest proof " required 
to show that money penalties and debarment sanctions are criminal. The Double 
Jeopardy Clause is therefore no obstacle to the trial on the pending indictments, and it 
may proceed. 
 

Hudson v. United States, 522 U.S. 93, 118 S.Ct. 488, 139 L.Ed.2d 450 (12/10/97) 
 
 

As a general matter, this Court's decisions applying constitutional protections to 
civil forfeiture proceedings have adhered to this distinction between provisions that are 
limited to criminal proceedings and provisions that are not. Thus, the Court has held that 
the Fourth Amendment's protection against unreasonable searches and seizures applies 
in forfeiture proceedings, but that the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause does not. 
It has also held that the due process requirement that guilt in a criminal proceeding be 
proved beyond a reasonable doubt does not apply to civil forfeiture proceedings 

The Double Jeopardy Clause has been held not to apply in civil forfeiture 
proceedings, but only in cases where the forfeiture could properly be characterized as 
remedial. Conversely, the Fifth Amendment's SelfïIncrimination Clause, which is textually 
limited to ñcriminal case[s],ò has been applied in civil forfeiture proceedings, but only 
where the forfeiture statute had made the culpability of the owner relevant, or where the 
owner faced the possibility of subsequent criminal proceedings. 

And, of course, even those protections associated with criminal cases may apply 
to a civil forfeiture proceeding if it is so punitive that the proceeding must reasonably be 
considered criminal [citations omitted]. 
 
 Austin v. United States, 509 U.S. 602, 113 S.Ct. 2801, 125 L.Ed.2d 488 (6/28/93) 
 
 
COMPETENCY TO BE EXECUTED 
 
 In Miller, 585 Pa. 144, 888 A.2d 624 (12/27/05), we considered the definition of 
intellectual disability used by the American Association of Mental Retardation (ñAAMRò), 
now the American Association on Intellectual and Developmental Difficulties (ñAAIDDò), 
and the American Psychiatric Association (ñAPAò) standard set forth in the Diagnostic and 
Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (4th ed. 1992) (ñDSMïIVò).  

The AAIDD defines intellectual disability as a disability characterized by significant 
limitations both in intellectual functioning and in adaptive behavior as expressed in the 
conceptual, social, and practical adaptive skills. The APAôs definition, as set forth in the 
DSMï IV, defines ñmental retardationò as ñsignificantly sub-average intellectual 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=13959521269814708463&q=522+us+93&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39#r[9]
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10005133394633023821&q=509+us+602&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-99-2003mo.pdf?cb=1
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functioning (an IQ of approximately 70 or below) with onset before age 18 years and 
concurrent deficits or impairments in adaptive functioning.ò 
 Limited or sub-average intellectual capability is best represented by IQ scores, 
which are approximately two standard deviations (or 30 points) below the mean (100). 
The concept should also take into consideration the standard error of measurement 
(hereinafter ñSEMò) for the specific assessment instruments used. The SEM has been 
estimated to be three to five points for well-standardized measures of general intellectual 
functioning. Thus, for example, a sub-average intellectual capability is commonly ascribed 
to those who test below 65-75 on the Weschler scales. 
 Recognizing that, pursuant to both the AAIDD and DSM-IV, a low IQ score is not, 
in and of itself, sufficient to support a classification of intellectually disabled, we 
considered the factors relevant to the second prong ī the existence of limitations in 
adaptive behavior.  Adaptive behavior is the collection of conceptual, social, and practical 
skills that have been learned by people in order to function in their everyday lives, and 
limitations on adaptive behavior are reflected by difficulties adjusting to ordinary demands 
made in daily life. The [AAIDD] recommends that such limitations should be established 
through the use of standardized measures. On these standardized measures, significant 
limitations in adaptive behavior are operationally defined as performance that is at least 
two standard deviations below the mean of either (a) one of the following three types of 
adaptive behavior: conceptual, social, or practical, or (b) an overall score on a 
standardized measure of conceptual, social, and practical skills. 

Conceptual skills include language; reading and writing; and money, time, and 
number concepts. Practical skills relate to the activities of daily living, including personal 
care; occupational skills; health care; travel/transportation; schedules and routines; 
safety; use of money; and use of the telephone. Finally, social skills include interpersonal 
skills; social responsibility; self-esteem; gullibility; naiveté; social problem solving; the 
ability to follow rules and obey laws; and the ability to avoid being victimized. 

The assessment of adaptive behavior focuses on the individualôs typical 
performance and not their best or assumed ability or maximum performance. Thus, what 
the person typically does, rather than what the individual can do or could do, is assessed 
when evaluating the individualôs adaptive behavior. This is a critical distinction between 
the assessment of adaptive behavior and the assessment of intellectual functioning, 
where best or maximal performance is assessed. Individuals with an [intellectual 
disability] typically demonstrate both strengths and limitations in adaptive behavior. Thus, 
in the process of diagnosing [intellectual disability], significant limitations in conceptual, 
social, or practical adaptive skills is not outweighed by the potential strengths in some 
adaptive skills. 
 Both the [AAIDD] and the DSM-IV require that the age of onset be before age 18. 

The United States Supreme Court in Moore v. Texas, ___ U.S. ___, 137 S.Ct. 
1039, 97 L.Ed.2d 416 (3/28/17), recently confirmed that, in assessing an individualôs 
adaptive functioning for the purpose of determining whether the individual is intellectually 
disabled under Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 122 S.Ct. 2242, 153 L.Ed.2d 335 
(6/20/02), the focus should be on the individualôs adaptive deficits, rather than his or her 
adaptive strengths. 

Given the evidence presented at defendantôs PCRA hearing, combined with the 
evidence presented at his pretrial Atkins hearing, defendant has demonstrated that he 

https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/16pdf/15-797_n7io.pdf
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suffers from significant limitations in adaptive behavior. As defendant has established all 
three prongs of Miller - limited intellectual functioning, significant adaptive limitations, and 
onset prior to age 18, he has demonstrated that he is intellectually disabled, and ineligible 
for the death penalty. 
 
 Vandivner, ___ Pa. ___, 178 A.3d 108 (2/5/18) 
 
 
CONFESSIONS: ASSERTION OF RIGHTS 
 
 Defendant was a murder suspect.  He was arrested on two outstanding summary 
offense warrants and brought to City Hall for questioning. Chief Richard Wojciechowsky 
of the Pottsville Bureau of Police advised defendant of his Miranda rights, and defendant 
acknowledged he understood them. Chief Wojciechowsky questioned defendant about 
his whereabouts on the night of the murder. At 1:25 p.m., defendant informed Chief 
Wojciechowsky, ñI donôt know, just, Iôm done talking. I donôt have nothing to talk about.ò 
 Chief Wojciechowsky advised defendant that he did not have to speak to police, 
stating, ñYou donôt have to say anything, I told you that you could stop.ò Chief 
Wojciechowsky continued to ask questions, told defendant that he did not believe his 
story, and informed defendant that police officers had collected evidence from the crime 
scene for processing. At 1:36 p.m., police officers confiscated defendantôs shoes. Chief 
Wojciechowsky continued to ask questions. 
 At 1:52 p.m., defendant requested that Chief Wojciechowsky stop the video tape. 
At 1:57 p.m., Chief Wojciechowsky turned the videotape back on and asked defendant 
whether he had been threatened, yelled at, or promised anything while the tape was off. 
Defendant responded that he had not. Defendant then requested to speak to a 
representative of the District Attorneyôs Office in exchange for a potential ñdeal.ò The video 
stopped again at 2:00 p.m., and the prosecutor arrived at 2:23 p.m., at which time the 
video was turned on again. Defendant was again advised of his Miranda rights by Chief 
Wojciechowsky. 
 Defendant gave a detailed statement to police, confessing his involvement in the 
murder. As a result of defendantôs statement, police obtained video surveillance of 
defendant accessing an ATM on the morning of the homicide. Police also recovered from 
a storm drain the following evidence: the victimôs credit card, hat, shirt, and sunglasses. 
 The court suppressed statements made by defendant following his assertion that 
he was done talking; defendantôs shoes and any evidence obtained from them; and the 
items recovered from the storm drain. The court admitted all statements made prior to 
defendantôs assertion that he was done talking and surveillance video from the ATM 
machine. 
 The Commonwealth argues that the statement was not ñclean and clearò and 
suggests that defendant should have said solely ñI donôt want to talk to you.ò This suggests 
a bright line rule that does not take into account the surrounding circumstances of the 
case, nor the entire context of defendantôs statement. Although ineloquently phrased, 
defendantôs statements were not qualified. They were not ambiguous. They were not 
equivocal. In response to continued questioning, defendant stated, ñI donôt know, just, Iôm 
done talking. I donôt have nothing to talk about.ò This was the sort of statement that would 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-99-2003mo.pdf?cb=1
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lead a reasonable police officer, in those circumstances, to understand the statement to 
be a request to remain silent. 
 Defendant stated that he was ñdone talking,ò but Chief Wojciechowsky continued 
to interrogate him for another thirty minutes. This interrogation included informing 
defendant that police officers were recovering evidence from the scene as well as 
pressuring him to confess. During this time period, defendantôs shoes were taken from 
him so that evidence could be gathered from them, further heightening the coercive 
nature of this continued interaction. 
 From these circumstances, we cannot conclude that police scrupulously honored 
defendantôs request to remain silent. Further, there was no pause in the interrogation; it 
continued in the same location, by the same police officer. Accordingly, all statements 
made by defendant and evidence recovered from defendant during this time period were 
properly suppressed. 
 
 Lukach, 163 A.3d 1003 (Pa. Super. 4/11/17) 
appeal granted, No. 54 MAP 2017 (granted 9/22/17) 
 
 

On December 23, 1997, Champney was a murder suspect, incarcerated prior to 
trial on other charges. Champney was being transported from prison to a preliminary 
hearing on those other charges.  On the return trip, Sergeant Shinskie asked Champney 
if he had shot Roy Bensinger.  Champney responded, ñBefore I make any kind of 
statement, I think I should talk to Frank Cori.ò   

Because context matters, various federal and state appellate courts have reached 
different results when analyzing language similar to that used in Davis v. United States, 
512 U.S. 452, 114 S.Ct. 2350, 129 L.Ed.2d 362 (6/24/94), and here. Compare United 
States v. Mohr, 772 F.3d 1143, 1146 (8th Cir. 2014) (defendant's statement ñI think I 
should get [a lawyer]ò was not an unequivocal invocation of right to counsel), cert. denied, 
___ U.S. ___, 135 S.Ct. 1727, 191 L.Ed.2d 695 (3/30/15) and State v. Carter, 172 So.3d 
538, 539ï40 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 8/14/15) (defendant's statement that ñI think I should wait 
to talk with my public defender,ò followed by statement that he wanted to tell ñthe whole 
truthò was not unambiguous invocation of right to counsel) with People v. Romero, 953 
P.2d 550, 557 (Colo. 1/26/98) (defendant's statement that ñI think I should talk to a lawyerò 
in response to question about self-defense rationale was sufficient invocation) and Wood 
v. Ercole, 644 F.3d 83, 87, 90ï92 (2nd Cir. 5/4/11) (defendant's statement ñI think I should 
get a lawyer,ò made before giving videotaped statement was sufficient to invoke right to 
counsel). 

At the time of Champney's request, Sgt. Shinskie knew that Frank Cori was an 
attorney. Sgt. Shinskie also knew that when he had earlier asked Champney to give a 
statement about the Bensinger homicide on November 25, 1997, Champney stated that 
he would have to speak to an attorney before going to the police barracks to do so. Under 
these circumstances, where Champney was in custody, was asked directly whether he 
had committed a murder, and identified a particular lawyer known to his interrogator, a 
reasonable officer would conclude that Champney actually invoked his right to counsel.  
Champney's statement was sufficiently clear that a reasonable officer in the 
circumstances would understand the statement to be a request for an attorney.  

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S94026-16o%20-%2010306102616892778.pdf?cb=1
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10675119948554504251&q=512+us+452&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/USCOURTS-ca8-14-01675/pdf/USCOURTS-ca8-14-01675-0.pdf
https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/USCOURTS-ca8-14-01675/pdf/USCOURTS-ca8-14-01675-0.pdf
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=6673798632477764638&q=172+so.3d+538&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=5857027122642533980&q=953+p2d+550&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=14691180333705520097&q=644+f3d+83&hl=en&as_sdt=1ffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffe000000000000001f000001ffffffecfff87fe3fffffff00108000000000004006
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=14691180333705520097&q=644+f3d+83&hl=en&as_sdt=1ffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffe000000000000001f000001ffffffecfff87fe3fffffff00108000000000004006
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Davis requires us to make an objective determination as to whether a reasonable 
police officer, under the circumstances, would construe Champney's statement as a 
request for counsel. While Sgt. Shinskie's subjective belief as to whether Champney's 
statement was sufficiently clear to invoke his right to counsel may not be relevant to that 
inquiry, his knowledge of relevant facts, such as that Frank Cori was a lawyer possibly 
associated with Champney, and that Champney had earlier invoked his right to counsel, 
plainly is relevant. Those facts are part of the circumstances under which Champney gave 
his statement. The trial court's observation that Sgt. Shinskie ñhad no trouble construing 
[Champney's] statement . . . as a request for counsel,ò was no more than a confirmation 
of its appropriately objective analysis. 
 The next contact by Sgt. Shinskie with Champney occurred approximately five 
months later, on May 13, 1998. Sgt. Shinskie accompanied Detective Pummer of the 
Lehigh County District Attorney's Office to see Champney at the prison. Detective 
Pummer wanted to question Champney about an arson in Allentown. They met with 
Champney in a prison conference room. Champney was advised of his Miranda rights 
and signed a waiver form. 
 After some questions regarding arsons in Allentown and Tremont, Sgt. Shinskie 
told Champney that he believed he could put together probable cause for homicide 
charges against Champney. In response, Champney asked what he was looking at. 
When Sgt. Shinskie replied that he did not know, because he could not make deals, 
Champney told him to go get Cal Shields, who was then the Schuylkill County District 
Attorney. After an unsuccessful attempt to locate Mr. Shields, Sgt. Shinskie returned to 
the conversation with Champney.  During that subsequent conversation, Champney 
made incriminating admissions with respect to the murder. 
 In Maryland v. Shatzer, 559 U.S. 98, 130 S.Ct. 1213, 175 L.Ed.2d 1045 (2/24/10), 
the United States Supreme Court held that interrogative custody (custody for purposes of 
Miranda warnings) ended when a sentenced prisoner was returned to his prison cell.  In 
Howes v. Fields, 565 U.S. 499, 132 S.Ct. 1181, 182 L.Ed.2d 17 (2/21/12), the United 
States Supreme Court held that a sentenced prisoner, removed from his prison cell and 
taken to a prison conference room, and told that he was free to leave to return to his 
prison cell, was not in interrogative custody for purposes of Miranda.  Both Shatzer and 
Fields were serving prison sentences at the time they were questioned. Champney was 
not serving a sentence but instead was being held in county prison while awaiting trial on 
a host of separate charges. The question for us is whether this factual distinction makes 
a legal difference. We conclude that, under the circumstances before us, it does not. 
 In 2012, our Supreme Court observed that, in light of Fields, the question whether 
an unsentenced county prisoner may experience a Shatzer break in custody is an open 
one. Commonwealth v. Keaton, 615 Pa. 675, 705 n.9, 45 A.3d 1050, 1068 n.9 (5/30/12). 
Our research has uncovered very little decisional law on point. One notable exception is 
United States v. Ellison, 632 F.3d 727 (1st Cir. 2010), which like Fields involved the issue 
whether an inmate questioned in prison was in Miranda custody at the time. Unlike Fields 
and Shatzer, however, and like the case before us, the inmate in Ellison was not a 
sentenced convict but rather was awaiting trial on unrelated charges. Writing for a 
unanimous panel of the United States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit, retired Justice 
Souter concluded that the Shatzer analysis applied and the inmate in question, though 
not serving a sentence, was not in Miranda custody. 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10675119948554504251&q=512+us+452&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
http://www.supremecourtus.gov/opinions/09pdf/08-680.pdf
https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/11pdf/10-680.pdf
https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/11pdf/10-680.pdf
http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/09pdf/08-680.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-67-2005mo.pdf
http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/09pdf/08-680.pdf
http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/09pdf/08-680.pdf
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 We must ask whether Champney's return to prison following the initial interrogation 
on December 23, 1997 represented the same sort of ñreturn to normalcyò experienced by 
Shatzer after his initial interrogation, when he too was returned to the general prison 
population. In other words, when Champney was in county prison from December 23, 
1997 until his re-interrogation on May 13, 1998, was he continuously subject to the same 
ñinherently compelling pressuresò contemplated by Miranda, or was he instead subject 
simply to ñthe ordinary restrictions of prison life.ò If the former, then Sgt. Shinskie was 
barred from re-approaching Champney until such time as he was either released from 
prison or convicted and sentenced on the pending charges. If the latter, then Champney 
experienced the sort of break in Miranda custody, well longer than the 14ïday minimum, 
that made the May 13, 1998 re-interrogation entirely lawful. 

We find no material differences between this case and Shatzer. First, Champney 
had been held in the prison since at least October 23, 1997. Thus, on May 13, 1998, 
Champney was not abruptly transported from the street into a police-dominated 
atmosphere.  There was little risk that Champney, unlike a suspect in interrogative 
custody, felt pressured to speak by the hope that, after doing so, he would be allowed to 
leave and go home.  Because Champney could not rationally believe that Sgt. Shinskie 
had power over his detention on the pending charges, he could not be motivated by the 
reaction he expects from his listeners and thus compelled to avoid reprisal from remaining 
silent or, conversely, hope for more lenient treatment should he confess. Under these 
circumstances, we conclude that Champney's incarceration was not the equivalent of 
Miranda custody and, therefore, that he experienced a break in such custody between 
December 23, 1997 and May 13, 1998.  Champneyôs waiver of rights on May 13, 1998 
was valid. 

 
Champney, 161 A.3d 265 (Pa. Super. 4/26/17) (en banc) 

appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 173 A.3d 268 (10/30/17) 
[EDITORôS NOTE: People v. Romero, 953 P.2d 550 (Colo. 1/26/98), was overruled in 
Colorado by People v. Kutlak, 364 P.3d 199 (Colo. 1/11/16).] 
 
 
CONFESSIONS: CUSTODY 
 
 The police wished to speak with defendant regarding the kidnapping of a baby and 
a murder in the course of that kidnapping.  The officers learned that defendant was at the 
Valley Forge Casino and made contact with him by asking casino security to escort him 
from the casino floor to a hallway where the detectives were waiting. The detectives, 
dressed in plain clothing, asked defendant if he would accompany them to the Upper 
Merion Police Station to help with the investigation to find the missing baby. Without 
hesitation, defendant voluntarily agreed and travelled to the station in Detective 
Bradbury's unmarked vehicle. The detectives informed defendant that, after the 
questioning, they would return him to the casino to retrieve his car. 
 Defendant agreed, without hesitation, to accompany the detectives to the police 
station to assist in the investigation of the kidnapping. None of the officers told defendant 
that he was required to speak with them, none of the officers were in uniform, and no 
badges or weapons were displayed. The fact that casino security personnel and the 

http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/09pdf/08-680.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-E03005-16o.pdf?cb=2
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=5857027122642533980&q=953+p2d+550&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=3431693940887697493&q=364+p.3d+199&hl=en&as_sdt=1ffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffe000000000000001f000001ffffffecfff87fe3fffffff00108000000000004004
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plainclothes state trooper initially asked defendant to come to the hallway where the 
detectives were located did not impede defendant's freedom of movement or suggest that 
he was required to comply with the detectives' request. Similarly, that the detectives drove 
defendant to the police station in an unmarked vehicle, briefly held his cell phone during 
the ride to the station, and possessed his casino player's card, did not individually, or in 
the aggregate, suggest that defendant was under formal compulsion to respond. 
Accordingly, the trial court's conclusion that defendant was not in custody or arrested at 
the casino was correct. 
 Upon arrival at the police station at 3:15 p.m., defendant and the detectives 
proceeded downstairs to an office in the Detective Division. There was no security in the 
room and the door was closed for privacy reasons but was not locked. The detectives told 
defendant that they were seeking help in their investigation into the kidnapping and 
informed him that he was free to leave and was not under arrest. The detectives also 
offered defendant food and water and told him that he could go to the restroom 
unaccompanied when necessary. He accepted water, but not food. 
 Prior to the questioning, Detective Bradbury asked defendant if he would consent 
to a search of the contents on his cell phone. Defendant agreed, executed the standard 
Montgomery County consent form, and gave his phone to the detectives. Defendant gave 
his first written statement between 3:27 p.m. and 6:03 p.m. pursuant to a question/answer 
format. He denied knowing who was responsible for the kidnapping and murder. During 
this questioning period, defendant also consented to the search of his vehicle, which had 
been left at the casino. When the first written statement was completed, as occurred in 
connection with all subsequent written statements, defendant was given an opportunity 
to review the statement, make corrections and/or additions, initial each page, and sign 
the document. 
 At approximately 6:30 p.m., upon the detectives' request, defendant gave a second 
statement in a free flow format, which he later amended, describing his whereabouts and 
activities on the day of the murder with more detail than in his first statement. Defendant 
executed a consent form, permitting a swab of the inside of his mouth to obtain a DNA 
sample. Defendant gave a third non-incriminating statement during the period from 7:37 
p.m. to 8:07 p.m., which was conducted in a question/answer format, where the detectives 
asked defendant follow-up questions. Defendant was reminded that he was free to leave 
and was not under arrest. Defendant took numerous breaks during the questioning, at 
which time he spoke about subjects unrelated to the offenses. After each break, the 
detectives reminded defendant that he was free to leave. Defendant never stated that he 
wanted the questioning to stop or that he desired counsel. 
 Defendant's fourth written statement was given from 8:50 p.m. through 9:25 p.m. 
Once again, defendant was advised that he was free to leave and was not under arrest. 
It was at this point that detectives asked defendant to consent to a search of his apartment 
and to have his body photographed. Defendant agreed and executed the requisite 
consent forms at approximately 9:36 p.m. 
 Subsequently, during the period from 10:21 p.m. to 10:47 p.m., defendant gave a 
fifth non-incriminating statement, expanding upon his previous comments. At some point 
during the questioning, Detective Bradbury learned that defendant's wife, who was 
pregnant at the time, contradicted his explanations of his whereabouts during the time the 
crimes were committed. With suspicion raised and out of an abundance of caution, 
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Detective Bradbury read defendant Miranda warnings at 11:03 p.m. Defendant waived 
his Miranda rights, both orally and by executing a written waiver form. 
 We agree with defendant that a law enforcement officer's statement to the suspect 
that he is free to leave does not, in and of itself, preclude a finding that the suspect is in 
custody. We reject, however, defendant's contentions that he could not exercise his 
freedom of movement because the detectives had retained his car keys and cell phone, 
he could not exit the building without an officer's badge, and he was precluded from 
contacting his wife. 
 A reasonable person in defendant's situation would not view the detectives' 
acquisition of his car keys and cell phone as restricting his freedom to end the encounter 
because defendant himself provided these items to the detectives and executed voluntary 
consent forms permitting the officers to search his cell phone and car. Notably, defendant 
cites to no portion of the record establishing that the detectives denied his requests for 
the return of his cell phone and car keys so that defendant could stop the interview and 
leave the police station. To the contrary, the record indicates that defendant never stated 
that he wanted to leave, never asked to stop the questioning, and never refused to answer 
questions. Had defendant made such requests and been refused, an examination of the 
totality of the circumstances may have supported a finding of custodial interrogation. 
 The door to the office in which defendant was being questioned was closed for 
privacy reasons, but not locked. Further, while the detectives and defendant entered the 
police station through a private back door, defendant points to no evidence establishing 
that a badge was required to leave the building or that the private back door was the 
exclusive exit. Finally, we do not view defendant's purported inability to call his wife as a 
significant restriction on his freedom of movement as the circumstances indicate that 
defendant could have heeded the detectives' directive that he was free to leave and gone 
home to speak with his wife or check on her welfare. 
 Considering the totality of the circumstances surrounding defendant's questioning 
during the period from 3:15 p.m. through 11:02 p.m., we conclude that, consistent with 
Detective Bradbury's repeated directive that defendant was free to leave and was not 
under arrest, a reasonable person would have felt that he was at liberty to terminate the 
interrogation and leave. Accordingly, we hold that the record supports the trial court's 
factual findings regarding the circumstances surrounding defendant's interrogation and 
that the trial court was correct in concluding that defendant was not in custody during the 
challenged time period. Defendantôs statements to the detectives were gratuitous and not 
subject to suppression for lack of Miranda warnings. 
 Shortly after the reading of Miranda warnings, Detective Bradbury told defendant 
that either he or his wife had lied about his whereabouts on the afternoon of the murder 
and kidnapping. Defendant then asked for a pen and pad of paper to write down his 
thoughts and sat in silence on the other side of the office for approximately fifteen to 
twenty minutes. He drafted a sixth written statement between 2:04 a.m. and 2:17 a.m., 
wherein he wrote numerous times that he loved his wife, that he was completely helpless, 
and that people should believe him in the future if something happens to him. At this point, 
Detective Bradbury asked for consent to search defendant's computer, iPad, and flash 
drive. After executing the consent forms, defendant returned to the other side of the room 
and sat there by himself for several minutes. 
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 Both detectives then walked over and confronted defendant with the 
inconsistencies between his statements and the account given by his wife. Defendant 
repeatedly told the detectives that his wife must have been mistaken about his 
whereabouts on the day of the murder. In response, Detective Bradbury placed his hand 
on the bible and swore on his parents' grave that defendant's wife was telling the truth. 
He then showed defendant a picture of the baby, after which defendant became 
emotional. At 3:45 a.m., defendant asked Detective Bradbury to call his wife and inform 
her that he was okay. Detective Bradbury complied with this request. After the phone call, 
Detective Bradbury told defendant that it was time for him to tell the truth. 
 Questioning resumed in a question/answer format, which resulted in defendant's 
final written statement given during the period of 4:12 a.m. to 6:34 a.m., in which he 
confessed to the crimes. 
 Even after providing him with Miranda warnings, the police continuously reminded 
defendant that he was free to leave. Further, the court concluded, the physical 
environment did not change in any way after defendant waived his Miranda rights in that 
he was still unrestrained and able to take breaks unaccompanied by the detectives. Thus, 
the trial court concluded, a reasonable person in defendant's position at that point in time 
would have continued to feel free to end the interrogation and leave the police station, 
notwithstanding the detectives' cautionary provision of Miranda warnings. The trial court 
rejected defendant's reliance upon inconsistencies in Detective Bradbury's suppression 
testimony and trial testimony, holding that Detective Bradbury's subjective view as to 
whether defendant was free to leave was irrelevant to the inquiry of whether a reasonable 
person in defendant's position would have felt free to leave. The trial court concluded that 
even if defendant was under arrest at that time, he was advised of his Miranda rights and 
voluntarily and intelligently waived them. 
 Defendant is not entitled to relief on this claim. Having already concluded that 
defendant was not in custodial interrogation for purposes of Miranda immediately prior to 
11:03 p.m., we agree with the trial court that the administering of Miranda warnings at 
that time did not transform the detectives' noncustodial questioning of defendant into an 
arrest. Even after the officers informed defendant of his Miranda rights, defendant was 
offered food and drink, went to the restroom unaccompanied, was free to leave and was 
not under arrest, and never indicated that he wanted to leave or stop the questioning. 
 
 Yandamuri, ___ Pa. ___, 159 A.3d 503 (4/26/17) 
 
 
CONFESSIONS: VOLUNTARINESS 
 

The police wished to speak with defendant regarding the kidnapping of a baby and 
a murder in the course of that kidnapping.  The officers learned that defendant was at the 
Valley Forge Casino and made contact with him by asking casino security to escort him 
from the casino floor to a hallway where the detectives were waiting. The detectives, 
dressed in plain clothing, asked defendant if he would accompany them to the Upper 
Merion Police Station to help with the investigation to find the missing baby. Without 
hesitation, defendant voluntarily agreed and travelled to the station in Detective 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-115-2016mo%20-%2010307848517101950.pdf?cb=1
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Bradbury's unmarked vehicle. The detectives informed defendant that, after the 
questioning, they would return him to the casino to retrieve his car. 

Upon arrival at the police station at 3:15 p.m., defendant and the detectives 
proceeded downstairs to an office in the Detective Division. There was no security in the 
room and the door was closed for privacy reasons but was not locked. The detectives told 
defendant that they were seeking help in their investigation into the kidnapping and 
informed him that he was free to leave and was not under arrest. The detectives also 
offered defendant food and water and told him that he could go to the restroom 
unaccompanied when necessary. He accepted water, but not food. 

Prior to the questioning, Detective Bradbury asked defendant if he would consent 
to a search of the contents on his cell phone. Defendant agreed, executed the standard 
Montgomery County consent form, and gave his phone to the detectives. Defendant gave 
his first written statement between 3:27 p.m. and 6:03 p.m. pursuant to a question/answer 
format. He denied knowing who was responsible for the kidnapping and murder. During 
this questioning period, defendant also consented to the search of his vehicle, which had 
been left at the casino. When the first written statement was completed, as occurred in 
connection with all subsequent written statements, defendant was given an opportunity 
to review the statement, make corrections and/or additions, initial each page, and sign 
the document. 

At approximately 6:30 p.m., upon the detectives' request, defendant gave a second 
statement in a free flow format, which he later amended, describing his whereabouts and 
activities on the day of the murder with more detail than in his first statement. Defendant 
executed a consent form, permitting a swab of the inside of his mouth to obtain a DNA 
sample. Defendant gave a third non-incriminating statement during the period from 7:37 
p.m. to 8:07 p.m., which was conducted in a question/answer format, where the detectives 
asked defendant follow-up questions. Defendant was reminded that he was free to leave 
and was not under arrest. Defendant took numerous breaks during the questioning, at 
which time he spoke about subjects unrelated to the offenses. After each break, the 
detectives reminded defendant that he was free to leave. Defendant never stated that he 
wanted the questioning to stop or that he desired counsel. 

Defendant's fourth written statement was given from 8:50 p.m. through 9:25 p.m. 
Once again, defendant was advised that he was free to leave and was not under arrest. 
It was at this point that detectives asked defendant to consent to a search of his apartment 
and to have his body photographed. Defendant agreed and executed the requisite 
consent forms at approximately 9:36 p.m. 

Subsequently, during the period from 10:21 p.m. to 10:47 p.m., defendant gave a 
fifth non-incriminating statement, expanding upon his previous comments. At some point 
during the questioning, Detective Bradbury learned that defendant's wife, who was 
pregnant at the time, contradicted his explanations of his whereabouts during the time the 
crimes were committed. With suspicion raised and out of an abundance of caution, 
Detective Bradbury read defendant Miranda warnings at 11:03 p.m. Defendant waived 
his Miranda rights, both orally and by executing a written waiver form. 

Shortly after the reading of Miranda warnings, Detective Bradbury told defendant 
that either he or his wife had lied about his whereabouts on the afternoon of the murder 
and kidnapping. Defendant then asked for a pen and pad of paper to write down his 
thoughts and sat in silence on the other side of the office for approximately fifteen to 
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twenty minutes. He drafted a sixth written statement between 2:04 a.m. and 2:17 a.m., 
wherein he wrote numerous times that he loved his wife, that he was completely helpless, 
and that people should believe him in the future if something happens to him. At this point, 
Detective Bradbury asked for consent to search defendant's computer, iPad, and flash 
drive. After executing the consent forms, defendant returned to the other side of the room 
and sat there by himself for several minutes. 

Both detectives then walked over and confronted defendant with the 
inconsistencies between his statements and the account given by his wife. Defendant 
repeatedly told the detectives that his wife must have been mistaken about his 
whereabouts on the day of the murder. In response, Detective Bradbury placed his hand 
on the bible and swore on his parents' grave that defendant's wife was telling the truth. 
He then showed defendant a picture of the baby, after which defendant became 
emotional. At 3:45 a.m., defendant asked Detective Bradbury to call his wife and inform 
her that he was okay. Detective Bradbury complied with this request. After the phone call, 
Detective Bradbury told defendant that it was time for him to tell the truth. 

Questioning resumed in a question/answer format, which resulted in defendant's 
final written statement given during the period of 4:12 a.m. to 6:34 a.m., in which he 
confessed to the crimes. 

When a defendant alleges that his confession was involuntary, the inquiry 
becomes not whether the defendant would have confessed without interrogation, but 
whether the interrogation was so manipulative or coercive that it deprived the defendant 
of his ability to make a free and unconstrained decision to confess. The voluntariness of 
a confession is determined from a review of the totality of the circumstances surrounding 
the confession. The Commonwealth has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the 
evidence that the defendant confessed voluntarily. 

When examining the voluntariness of a statement pursuant to the totality of the 
circumstances, a court should consider: the duration and means of the interrogation; the 
defendant's physical and psychological state; the conditions attendant to the detention; 
the attitude exhibited by the police during the interrogation; and all other factors that could 
drain a person's ability to resist suggestion and coercion. Additional relevant factors 
include: the accused's age and level of education and experience; his extent of previous 
experience with the police; whether the accused was advised of his constitutional rights; 
whether he was injured, ill, drugged, or intoxicated when he confessed; whether he was 
deprived of food, sleep or medical attention, and whether he was abused or threatened 
with abuse. 

While defendant was present at the police station for at least thirteen hours before 
he confessed (from approximately 3:15 p.m. to sometime after 4:00 a.m.), he was not 
subjected to overbearing physical or mental coercion and, instead, made a free and 
unconstrained decision to confess after having been advised of his rights. Detective 
Bradbury's suppression testimony, which the trial court credited, acknowledged that 
during the questioning, he confronted defendant with what he believed were lies regarding 
defendant's whereabouts at the time of the murder, swore on the bible and his dead 
parents' graves that defendant was lying, displayed pictures of the kidnapped baby, 
discussed insurance fraud in an unrelated matter and informed defendant that it was a 
crime to lie to an insurance company regarding a claim, and indicated to defendant that 
he could have breakfast with his wife after the questioning. We agree with the trial court 
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that, under the totality of the circumstances of this case, these tactics did not amount to 
manipulative or coercive conduct that deprived defendant of his ability to decide to 
confess voluntarily. 

While defendant is not an American citizen and may have been unfamiliar with 
police practices, he is a highly-educated adult, holding a master's degree in electrical and 
computer science engineering, which would enable him to understand the clear directives 
given to him by the detectives regarding his rights under the law. Moreover, the trial court 
had the opportunity to observe defendant's demeanor extensively during the suppression 
hearing to assess whether his personality is one likely to be overborne. We further note 
that defendant examined each of his written statements, made corrections thereto and 
signed off on each statement, indicated that he understood his Miranda rights when read 
to him by Detective Bradbury, and voluntarily signed the Miranda waiver form as well as 
execute a consent to video tape his confession. Finally, there was nothing in defendant's 
video-taped confession to suggest that he was under compulsion to confess or that he 
was physically or mentally compromised as defendant appeared calm and rational, 
indicated that he was treated with courtesy and respect during the questioning, and stated 
that he had no complaints with the detectives. Accordingly, defendant has failed to 
establish that his confession was involuntary and should have been suppressed. 
 

Yandamuri, ___ Pa. ___, 159 A.3d 503 (4/26/17) 
 
 
CONFLICT OF LAWS 
 
 The issue before us can be distilled down to whether the Wiretap Act requires a 
separate order, issued by a Pennsylvania Court, when an out-of-state order for live-
tracking of a cell phone is used to monitor a cell phone in Pennsylvania, and the evidence 
obtained therefrom is sought to be presented in a Pennsylvania courtroom. For the 
following reasons, we hold that no such redundancy was required in the circumstances 
of this case.6 

6We expressly limit this ruling to this assumption and, additionally, 
that the out-of-state order would have substantially complied with 
Wiretap Act, if it had instead been sought from, and issued by, a 
Pennsylvania court. The Wiretap Act is modeled on Title III of the 
Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968. Title III 
authorizes states to adopt wiretap statutes that trigger greater, but 
not lesser, protection than that available under federal law. In this 
framework, it would be contrary to the legislative intent in adopting 
Pennsylvaniaôs Wiretap Act, and whatever greater protection the act 
might provide as compared to federal law, if Pennsylvaniaôs law 
enforcement community could circumvent those greater protections 
by using out-of-state authorities as surrogates to obtain out of state 
court orders or warrants, issued under less stringent standards, to 
monitor cell phones or similar devices located in Pennsylvania. As 
discussed below, Defendant has offered no evidence that a lower 
standard exists in Maryland for conducting surveillance in a manner 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-115-2016mo%20-%2010307848517101950.pdf?cb=1
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that, if initiated in Pennsylvania, would come under the purview under 
the Wiretap Act. 

 The trial court, as noted above, believes that preventing out-of-state police from 
testifying in Pennsylvania courts when they acted lawfully in obtaining the live-tracking 
order, and where they had simply continued to follow a suspect across state lines, is ñan 
absurd result.ò We agree with the trial court, with some caveats. First, we agree because, 
under the facts of this case, there does not appear to be any evidence that the Maryland 
live-tracking order was issued in any sort of purposeful attempt to circumvent 
Pennsylvaniaôs Wiretap Act. The investigatory team lawfully obtained the order in 
Maryland to track defendantôs cell phone, and it was defendantôs actions that led them to 
cross state lines. Accordingly, there is no issue in this case involving any sort of deliberate 
attempt to bypass Pennsylvaniaôs Wiretap Act. 
 Second, we see no evidence that Marylandôs and Pennsylvaniaôs standards for 
obtaining such orders are significantly different so as to trigger a concern that the 
Maryland live-tracking order was issued under a more liberal standard than would have 
applied in Pennsylvania under the same facts. It appears as if the legal standard in 
Maryland is at least as stringent in Pennsylvania, and perhaps even more rigorous, 
although there appear to be some variations in technical requirements between the laws 
of the two jurisdictions. 
 Third, defendant has not argued, and we see no basis for concluding, that his 
expectation of privacy, in the location data conveyed by his cell phone, was impacted or 
altered when he crossed into Pennsylvania while the Maryland investigatory team was 
tracking him. As noted above, the standard for overcoming his privacy interest was 
essentially the same or greater in Maryland courts. His privacy interest itself, however, 
remained the same under either standard. 
 Given the Wiretap Actôs ambiguity as to the cross-jurisdictional concerns at issue 
in this case, and the complete lack of guidance from existing case law interpreting the act 
on that point, we must conclude that our principle of strictly construing penal statutes 
constrains this court to conclude that defendantôs claim ï that the Wiretap Act was violated 
by the live-tracking of his cell phone ï has not been established under the facts of this 
case. 
 
 Cole, 167 A.3d 49 (Pa. Super. 7/7/17) 
 
 
 Pennsylvania has an interest in protecting its citizens from intoxicated drivers and 
to prosecute such drivers, particularly where such driving causes fatalities. In the case 
sub judice, the motor vehicle collision and deaths occurred entirely in Pennsylvania, the 
Pennsylvania State Police investigated the collision, and the victims of the collision were 
residents of Pennsylvania. Further, the sole reason defendant's blood was drawn at a 
New York hospital is because the accident occurred in a remote area of Pennsylvania, 
and due to defendant's urgent need for treatment, he was taken to the nearest hospital, 
which was over the border in New York. 

While New York has a valid interest in protecting its statutorily-created physician-
patient privilege, in the case sub judice, this interest does not outweigh Pennsylvania's 
interest in securing defendant's medical records and pre-arrest BAC results. Thus, we 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S19019-17o.pdf?cb=2
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conclude that Pennsylvania has the greater interest in the legality of the use of 
defendant's medical records, and therefore, the trial court properly concluded 
Pennsylvania law should apply. 

 
Grays, 167 A.3d 793 (Pa. Super. 7/25/17) 

appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 178 A.3d 106 (1/8/18) 
 
 
CONSPIRACY 
 
 Conspiracy is a distinct crime ð it is not a statutory theory of liability for criminal 
acts of other people. If one conspires to commit a crime, one is guilty of conspiracy, but 
not the crime conspired. To be guilty of the underlying crime itself, one must actually 
commit that crime or be liable for it under another theory, such as accomplice liability, or 
here, constructive possession. Accomplice liability and constructive possession, unlike 
conspiracy, are not separate crimes but a means by which one may be responsible for 
criminal acts of another. 
 Thus, defendant here, not charged with conspiracy to possess the firearm, cannot 
be found guilty of possession via ñconspiracy liability.ò The trial courtôs charge is therefore 
in error. Notwithstanding this, given defendantôs failure to challenge the conspiracy 
instruction as a legal error, rather than collaterally as a sufficiency claim, such a claim is 
not properly before this Court. 
 
 Knox, 629 Pa. 467, 105 A.3d 1194 (12/15/14) (Eakin, J. concurring) 
ISSUE TO BE DECIDED: 
 Commonwealth v. Richard Chambers, No. 29 EAP 2017 (granted 9/6/17) 
 
  
CONTEMPT OF COURT 
 

Repeated interruptions of the trial court, by defendant, over a short time frame, 
permitted the imposition of six separate sentences for contempt of court. 

Distinguishing: Williams, 753 A.2d 856 (Pa. Super. 5/31/00), appeal denied, 567 
Pa. 713, 785 A.2d 89 (9/29/00) (cursing and middle finger were so inextricably intertwined 
that they must be considered to have been one unified act of contemptuous misconduct). 

 
Robinson, 166 A.3d 1272 (Pa. Super. 7/19/17) (collecting contempt cases) 

appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, ___ A.3d ___ (1/17/18) 
 
 
CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE 
 
  Police officers located a partially burnt cigar between the driver's seat and the 
center console. An officer broke part of the cigarette wrapping open and the contents 
were tested and established to be marijuana.  Millerôs conviction of possession of drug 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A11038-17o%20-%2010318431521742665.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-18-2014mo.pdf?cb=2
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-18-2014co%20-%201020441012914861.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Superior/out/a17005_00.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S40023-17o%20-%2010317757121326360.pdf?cb=1
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paraphernalia, which was based solely upon the burnt paper surrounding the marijuana 
cigarette recovered from the vehicle. 
 The statutory definition of drug paraphernalia: 

12) Objects used, intended for use or designed for use in ingesting, 
inhaling or otherwise introducing marihuana, cocaine, hashish or 
hashish oil into the human body, such as: 

(i) Metal, wooden, acrylic, glass, stone, plastic or ceramic 
pipes with or without screens, permanent screens, hashish 
heads or punctured metal bowls. 
(ii) Water pipes. 
(iii) Carburetion tubes and devices. 
(iv) Smoking and carburetion masks. 
(v) Roach clips; meaning objects used to hold burning 
material such as a marihuana cigarette, that has become too 
small or too short to be held in the hand. 
(vi) Miniature cocaine spoons and cocaine vials. 
(vii) Chamber pipes. 
(viii) Carburetor pipes. 
(ix) Electric pipes. 
(x) Air-driven pipes. 
(xi) Chillums. 
(xii) Bongs. 
(xiii) Ice pipes or chillers. 

In determining whether an object is drug paraphernalia, a court or 
other authority should consider, in addition to all other logically 
relevant factors, statements by an owner or by anyone in control of 
the object concerning its use, prior convictions, if any, of an owner, 
or of anyone in control of the object, under any State or Federal law 
relating to any controlled substance, the proximity of the object, in 
time and space, to a direct violation of this act, the proximity of the 
object to controlled substances, the existence of any residue of 
controlled substances on the object, direct or circumstantial evidence 
of the intent of an owner, or of anyone in control of the object, to 
deliver it to persons who he knows, or should reasonably know, 
intend to use the object to facilitate a violation of this act, the 
innocence of an owner or of anyone in control of the object, as to a 
direct violation of this act should not prevent a finding that the object 
is intended for use or designed for use as drug paraphernalia, 
instructions, oral or written, provided with the object concerning its 
use, descriptive materials accompanying the object which explain or 
depict its use, national and local advertising concerning its use, the 
manner in which the object is displayed for sale, whether the owner, 
or anyone in control of the object, is a legitimate supplier of like or 
related items to the community, such as a licensed distributor or 
dealer of tobacco products, direct or circumstantial evidence of the 
ratio of sales of the objects to the total sales of the business 
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enterprise, the existence and scope of legitimate uses for the object 
in the community, and expert testimony concerning its use. 

35 P.S. § 780-102. 
 Noticeably absent from the list of paraphernalia items is the paper encasing a 
marijuana cigarette. The statute does include "roach clips" as paraphernalia, which are 
defined as "objects used to hold burning material such as a marihuana cigarette, that has 
become too small or too short to be held in the hand." The Legislature's exclusion of a 
single marijuana cigarette or "burning material" from the list of items constituting drug 
paraphernalia is indicative of its intention that those items not be considered 
paraphernalia under the Act. 
 Additionally, we note that in enacting Subsection (a)(31), the Legislature 
demonstrated an intention to exempt those who possess a small amount of marijuana 
from the more severe penalties attendant to a conviction of possession of marijuana 
under Subsection (a)(16).  Accordingly, where, as here, a defendant is found in 
possession of only one partially smoked joint, we find the Legislature did not intend the 
defendant face prosecution for two crimes, possession of a small amount of marijuana 
under Section 780-113(a)(31) and possession of paraphernalia under Section 780-
113(a)(32). 
 Because Miller's conviction of possession of drug paraphernalia is based solely on 
the burnt paper encasing the partially smoked marijuana cigarette found in the vehicle, 
we conclude the evidence was insufficient to support the verdict on that charge. 
 
 Miller, 130 A.3d 1 (Pa. Super. 11/20/15) 
 
 
 The evidence showed that defendant possessed the drugs, as officers observed 
him discard the same under the SUV, that defendant abandoned the contraband while 
fleeing police, and that the crack cocaine was packaged in separate quantities comprised 
of almost three dozen packets. Defendant stipulated that Officer McChord would testify 
at trial that when he recovered the clear bag Defendant discarded, he discovered it 
contained thirty-five clear plastic Ziploc packets of crack cocaine each of which was 
marked with a black and yellow ñBatman symbol.ò Defendant also stipulated that the 
Commonwealth's expert would testify the total weight of the contraband was 3.943 grams 
and opine beyond a reasonable doubt that following his review of the file and his listening 
to the testimony, defendant possessed the crack cocaine with the intent to deliver. 
 We note the record does not reveal that defendant possessed any personal-use 
paraphernalia, a circumstance this court has deemed relevant. See Commonwealth v. 
Bess, 789 A.2d 757 (Pa. Super. 1/2/02) (finding that in addition to other factors, the fact 
defendant did not have any drug paraphernalia associated with the personal use of 
cocaine was relevant to establish he possessed drugs with the intent to deliver). As such, 
we find the presence of the aforementioned factors along with Officer Keys' expert opinion 
provided a sufficient basis for the verdict of the trial court, sitting as the finder of fact. 
 
 Brockman, 167 A.3d 29 (Pa. Super. 7/5/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 176 A.3d 235 (12/13/17) 
 

https://govt.westlaw.com/pac/Document/N74287E0004FB11E398FF8EE4090BC63C?viewType=FullText&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://govt.westlaw.com/pac/Document/N3CCB96B104F911E398FF8EE4090BC63C?viewType=FullText&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://govt.westlaw.com/pac/Document/N3CCB96B104F911E398FF8EE4090BC63C?viewType=FullText&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://govt.westlaw.com/pac/Document/N3CCB96B104F911E398FF8EE4090BC63C?viewType=FullText&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://govt.westlaw.com/pac/Document/N3CCB96B104F911E398FF8EE4090BC63C?viewType=FullText&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default)&bhcp=1
https://govt.westlaw.com/pac/Document/N3CCB96B104F911E398FF8EE4090BC63C?viewType=FullText&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default)&bhcp=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S60035-15o%20-%201024439795723906.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/s54002_01.PDF?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/s54002_01.PDF?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S40003-17o%20-%2010315984020114256.pdf?cb=1
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CRIMINAL TRESPASS 
 

The resident testified that he saw Furness walk by his window with a screwdriver 
or similar tool in his hand, and that Furness ñstuck [the tool] wherever the top and the 
bottom window actually meet.ò The resident also testified that the window lock is between 
the top and bottom panes, and that Furness attempted to pry open the lock using the tool. 
Although Giddings, 454 Pa. Super. 524, 686 A.2d 6 (11/12/96), instructs that the entry 
requirement may be satisfied where an instrument ñbreachesò the exterior of a building, 
this court was not directly faced with the issue of whether an instrument or tool must 
protrude entirely through the outer boundary of a building or occupied structure in order 
to constitute an entry for the purpose of Section 3503(a). However, in each of the cases 
cited in Giddings, there was evidence that the instrument or tool used by the defendant 
had crossed into the interior of the premises. 

We conclude that the evidence of record, viewed in the light most favorable to the 
Commonwealth as the verdict winner, was insufficient to sustain Furness's conviction for 
criminal trespass. The evidence presented at trial demonstrated only that the outer portion 
of the window pane was ñindented,ò and that there was no hole in the pane such that a 
tool could protrude through the outer boundary. Absent evidence to suggest that Furness, 
or any portion of a tool used to pry open the lock, protruded through the window pane and 
entered into the interior of the premises, the jury could not reasonably infer that Furness 
had gained entry into the home. Therefore, finding insufficient evidence to establish the 
entry requirement, we reverse Furness's conviction for criminal trespass. 
 

Furness, 153 A.3d 397 (Pa. Super. 12/22/16) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 170 A.3d 1034 (9/8/17) 
 
 
CULPABILITY 
 
 Two juveniles rummaged through tall grass behind an abandoned building.  
Defendant bent over and arose with a shotgun which he slipped down his right pants leg.  
Defendant borrowed his friendôs sweatshirt which defendant than wore to conceal the 
weapon.  The stock end of the shotgun had been altered and the barrel of the shotgun 
was eighteen and nine-sixteenth inches long, and the overall length of the shotgun was 
thirty-one and three-quarter inches. 
 Defendant contended that he could not be adjudicated delinquent under the 
general prohibition against possession of a firearm altered for concealment where there 
was a more specific provision in the statute governing sawed-off shotguns that did not 
subject him to criminal liability.  Defendant also argued that, by specifically defining only 
sawed-off shotguns with barrels less than eighteen inches in length as offensive 
weapons, the legislature intended to exclude sawed-off shotguns with longer barrels from 
the definition of offensive weapons entirely. 
 Defendant was charged with the delinquent act of possessing a firearm specially 
adapted for purposes of concealment in violation of § 908, and adjudicated delinquent 
based on that conduct. While the weapon happened to be a shotgun with a shortened 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10451447809772751623&q=686+a2d+6&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=18&div=0&chpt=35&sctn=3&subsctn=0
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10451447809772751623&q=686+a2d+6&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S75036-16o%20-%2010292857314779981.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=18&div=0&chpt=9&sctn=8&subsctn=0
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barrel, it also was a firearm with the stock end altered to reduce its overall length. 
Defendant does not dispute that the shotgun as adapted met the definition of ña firearm 
specially made or specially adapted for purposes of concealment.ò 18 Pa.C.S. § 908. 
 Defendant contended that the Commonwealth failed to present evidence that he 
possessed an offensive weapon intentionally, knowingly, or with reckless disregard of a 
substantial and unjustifiable risk to others. 
 The officers observed defendant and his cohort looking through the tall grass, as 
if searching for an item. Defendant picked up the shotgun with the shortened stock and 
barrel and loaded it with 20-gauge birdshot that he already had in his possession. The 
Commonwealth cites the reasoning of the trial court: ñThe [juveniles] would have us 
imagine that it was just pure happenstance that one or two of them would have shells on 
their person to load a 20 gauge shotgun. That confluence of happenstance is beyond any 
reasonability.ò  Defendant then hid the weapon in his pant leg and put on a jacket to 
further conceal the firearm. 
 We agree with the trial court that the Commonwealth adduced sufficient evidence 
to prove the requisite mens rea. One can reasonably infer from the testimony of the 
officers that defendant and A.E. knew where the sawed-off shotgun was hidden, and that 
they intentionally retrieved it, loaded it, and took possession of it. 
 
 Interest of R.A.F., 149 A.3d 63 (Pa. Super. 9/21/16) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 169 A.3d 22 (3/22/17) 
 
 
 The concept of gross negligence is encompassed within the concept of 
recklessness as set forth in 18 Pa.C.S. § 302(b)(3). In construing the definition of 
recklessness as applied to 75 Pa.C.S. § 3732, homicide by vehicle, we have upheld 
convictions where the defendantôs conduct evidenced a conscious disregard of the 
substantial and unjustified risk that he would be involved in a traffic accident causing 
death. 
 
 Moyer, 171 A.3d 849 (Pa. Super. 10/2/17) 
appeal pending, No. 739 MAL 2017 (filed 11/1/17) 
 
 
 Defendant was convicted of using his phone to surreptitiously record a custody 
conference, presided over by a custody master.  Defendant claimed that he did not know 
that such conduct was illegal. 
 Generally speaking, ignorance or mistake of law is not a defense.  Defendantôs 
knowledge of the law is not an element of the offense. 
 
 Cline, 177 A.3d 922 (Pa. Super. 12/29/17) 
appeal pending, No. 59 MAL 2018 (filed 1/26/18) 
 
 
 

http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=18&div=0&chpt=9&sctn=8&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S53006-16o%20-%201028173199573293.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=18&div=0&chpt=3&sctn=2&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=37&sctn=32&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/OPINION%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010326428324459487.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010337286931213272.pdf?cb=1
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DECEPTIVE BUSINESS PRACTICES 
 

Pennsylvania case law has supplied the culpability element for deceptive business 
practices: ñfraud, which includes a wrongful intent to deceive, is an element of the crime.ò 
The Commonwealth has the never-shifting burden during trial to prove beyond a 
reasonable doubt that a defendant possessed the wrongful intent to deceive as to each 
charge under 18 Pa.C.S. § 4107(a), a burden the prosecution acknowledged herein. 
Nevertheless, defendant had the right, but was not required, to offer evidence tending to 
show that he merely engaged in the deceptive conduct knowingly or recklessly, rather 
than intentionally. 

Section 4107 of Title 18, as interpreted by this Court, i) requires the prosecution to 
prove fraud beyond a reasonable doubt, which includes an intent to deceive, as an 
element of the crime; (ii) does not create a presumption of guilt as to any element of the 
crime; and (iii) does not require the defendant to assert an affirmative defense or negate 
any element of the crime. Therefore, 18 Pa.C.S. § 4107(b) is not violative of the due 
process clauses of either the Pennsylvania or the United States Constitutions. 

 
Kolovich, 170 A.3d 520 (Pa. Super. 8/23/17) 

appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, ___ A.3d ___ (2/21/18) 
 
 
DEFENDANT: SELF-REPRESENTATION 
 
 At defendantôs trial on January 23, 2015, defendant assaulted his attorney. A 
mistrial was granted.  At some point, the court ordered that defendant was not permitted 
to attend the retrial. On April 29, 2015, the Commonwealth filed a motion seeking a pre-
trial determination of the matter. 
 On July 1, 2015, five days before jury selection, that hearing was conducted via 
videoconference link to the state correctional institute where Defendant was housed.  In 
the words of the trial court: 

The [c]ourt held a hearing before the second trial in this matter in 
order to give [defendant] the opportunity to rehabilitate himself and 
demonstrate his ability to conduct himself appropriately in the 
courtroom. At this hearing, [defendant] only continued to display a 
disruptive demeanor and inability to allow court proceedings to 
continue in his presence. 

As a result of defendant's behavior at this hearing, the court refused to permit defendant 
to physically attend jury selection or trial. However, the court arranged for defendant's 
attendance at trial via videoconference. 
 Defendant claims that, notwithstanding his removal, he should have been 
permitted to appear, in person, prior to the retrial in an attempt to convince the judge that 
he was willing to behave. 
 We will assume, arguendo, that the trial court was required to afford the accused 
an opportunity to demonstrate sufficient rehabilitation following the mistrial and 
subsequent relisting.5 However, we do not hold that due process mandates physical 
presence as an element of that hearing. 

http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=18&div=0&chpt=41&sctn=7&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=18&div=0&chpt=41&sctn=7&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=18&div=0&chpt=41&sctn=7&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Opinion%20-%20Affirmed%20-%2010321986422956326.pdf?cb=1
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5Our research has not uncovered a case presenting the scenario 
herein, where conduct of the accused simultaneously leads to the 
grant of a mistrial and an ongoing forfeiture of the right to be present 
as applied to the retrial. Unsurprisingly, the fact patterns in these 
cases generally involve the trial proceeding to its conclusion 
following removal of the defendant. See Commonwealth v. Thomas, 
879 A.2d 246 (Pa. Super. 6/30/05) (trial proceeded after defendant 
removed from courtroom); Commonwealth v. Henderson, 275 Pa. 
Super. 350, 418 A.2d 757 (3/14/80) (same); Commonwealth v. 
Howard, 324 Pa. Super. 443, 471 A.2d 1239 (1/20/84) (defendant 
removed during jury selection, permitted to return); Commonwealth 
v. Basemore, 525 Pa. 512, 582 A.2d 861 (11/16/90) (defendant 
removed from courtroom during trial, returned to hear closing 
arguments after agreeing to conduct himself properly). 
 
Nor do cases from this Commonwealth discuss what opportunities 
must be afforded a defendant seeking reentry to the courtroom. 
Presumably, the five month gap from mistrial to retrial had some 
ameliorative effect on the behavior. We note that the American Bar 
Association Standards for Criminal Justice simply suggest that ñthere 
be a standing opportunity for the defendant to return to the 
courtroom . . . the defendant periodically should be offered an 
opportunity to return to the courtroom, conditional upon good 
behavior.ò ABA Standards for Criminal Justice 6-3.8. 

 We cannot see why defendant's physical presence would make the trial court's 
determination of whether defendant reclaimed his right to be present at trial any more 
reliable. In sum, if defendant could not behave at the videoconference hearing, there is 
little reason to think his behavior would have been any different in person. 
 
            Tejada, 161 A.3d 313 (Pa. Super. 4/26/17) 
 
 
 Defendant is representing himself at trial.  He misbehaves and is removed from 
the courtroom.  The trial proceeds to verdict with an empty table, no defendant and no 
attorney. 
 The Superior Court looked to the law in other jurisdictions. 

Because a criminal defendant does not forfeit the right to 
representation by misconduct (only the rights to self-representation 
and to be present), after a trial court has removed a pro se defendant 
for his or her misconduct, the trial court cannot proceed in the 
defendant's absence unless and until the trial court has either 
secured the defendant's waiver of his or her right to representation 
at trial or has taken some other course of action that protects the 
defendant's right to representation, which may include the 
appointment of counsel.  The court may have to appoint counsel for 
a defendant who previously elected to proceed pro se, 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/a15032_05.pdf?cb=1
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notwithstanding the awkwardness of doing so mid-trial. For this 
reason, it is advisable for a trial court to appoint advisory counsel for 
a defendant whom the court suspects will be disruptive so that the 
court can appoint that lawyer as counsel if the defendant can no 
longer represent himself. 

 We cannot conclude that there is no arguable merit to the claim that the trial court 
erred by permitting the trial to proceed in absentia without any adversarial testing 
whatsoever, especially when the trial had yet to begin when defendant was removed from 
the courtroom.7 

7We do not express any opinion on the merits of [this] analysis. 
Rather, we invoke that precedent to demonstrate that [defendant's] 
claim is not frivolous. 

 Petition to withdraw as counsel denied.  Counsel is directed to file an advocateôs 
brief. 
 
 Tejada, 176 A.3d 355 (Pa. Super. 12/12/17) 
 
 
DOUBLE JEOPARDY/SAME TRANSACTION OR EPISODE 
 

Defendant ran a business, Lifetime Choice Windows, in Selinsgrove, Snyder 
County, Pennsylvania. Prior to and during 2013, he met with homeowners in their homes 
in numerous counties across the Commonwealth and contracted to sell and install 
decking, windows, and doors. The charges in this case arose from contracts between 
defendant and six Mifflin County residents during the summer of 2013. The homeowners 
paid defendant down payments for decking materials and construction services, but the 
date of performance passed without delivery of any product or service outlined in the 
contracts. Defendant did not return any portion of the down payments. 

Defendant initially was charged with six counts of theft by deception. He sought 
several continuances over an eighteen-month period because he confronted similar 
charges in other counties. He was convicted in Snyder and Bradford counties on multiple 
theft counts and acquitted on similar charges in Union County. 

On April 28, 2016, defendant filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to 18 Pa.C.S.  
§ 110, the compulsory joinder provision, and the double jeopardy clauses of both the state 
and federal constitutions, alleging that the six theft charges herein were part of the same 
series of occurrences culminating in the charges in the other counties. According to 
defendant, all of the offenses constituted one criminal episode that should have been 
prosecuted in Snyder County. Defendant asked the trial court to dismiss/quash the Mifflin 
County criminal information and direct that the charges be joined and tried in 
Union/Snyder County. 

Defendant contends that compulsory joinder was warranted on the facts herein. 
He argues that: all of the cases were filed within thirteen months and involved the same 
or similar offenses; the charges arose from his businessôs retention of monies despite the 
failure to perform construction agreements; and the business was located in the 17th 
judicial district comprised of Snyder and Union Counties. He was previously convicted in 
Snyder and Bradford counties and acquitted in Union and Centre Counties on similar 
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charges. He alleges that the offenses herein occurred at least in part in Snyder County, 
the county where his business was based. Where, as here, the offenses occurred in more 
than one judicial district, and the former prosecution was brought in one of those judicial 
districts, defendant maintains the [current] prosecution in Mifflin County should have been 
consolidated. The consequence of the failure to consolidate is that the prosecution herein 
was barred. 

The trial court found there was no substantial duplication of fact or law between 
this prosecution and the prior prosecutions, and, therefore, no logical relationship 
between the two sets of charges. The testimony in the instant case was elicited from each 
of the victims, who were not involved in or related to the other cases, and the 
documentation resulted from separate contracts.   

Herein, the only logical connection between the prior prosecutions and the instant 
charges was the nature of the offenses. There was little duplication of the evidence. 
Defendant advertised separately in every county in which he did business, conducted in-
home sales calls in each of those counties, entered into a contract with different victims 
in each county, gave differing excuses for lack of performance in each of those counties, 
and was investigated separately by different police forces in each county. 
 

Kolovich, 170 A.3d 520 (Pa. Super. 8/23/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, ___ A.3d ___ (2/21/18) 
 
 

The Commonwealth alleges that on March 19, 2014, Defendant physically 
assaulted the victim...and threatened her with a gun. The Commonwealth has charged 
defendant with, inter alia, person[s] not to possess a firearm, pursuant to 18 Pa.C.S.  
§ 6105(a)(1), stemming from the March 19, 2014 incident, which occurred in York County. 
Defendant was also indicted in federal court on one count of possession of a firearm by 
a person previously convicted of crime punishable by imprisonment to a term exceeding 
one year, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1), based on the same incident. On April 7, 
2015, defendant was found not guilty of the federal charge following a jury trial. On July 
13, 2015, defendant filed a motion to dismiss the § 6105(a)(1) state charge pursuant to 
18 Pa.C.S. § 111, due to his federal acquittal. 

Under 18 Pa.C.S. § 111 
Is prosecution based on same conduct? If so: 
Does each of the prosecutions require proof of a fact not required by the other? 
AND 
Do the respective statutes prevent substantially different harms? 

The Pennsylvania statute and the federal statute each target harms that differ 
substantially in scope. Defendantôs motion to dismiss was properly denied. 
 

Williams, 151 A.3d 1113 (Pa. Super. 12/2/16) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 169 A.3d 568 (6/6/17) 
 
 

Prior to trial in Philadelphia Municipal Court, the Municipal Court judge granted a 
motion to suppress a gun.  The legal theory behind the suppression ruling was that the 
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defendantôs consent to search her residence was involuntary because the police failed to 
provide her with Miranda warnings. 

During the trial, the victim testified that defendant had pointed a gun at her.  
Defense counsel objected to the victimôs testimony about the gun and moved for a 
mistrial. The court sustained defense counselôs objection and granted a mistrial. Defense 
counsel then requested a ñjudgment of acquittalò based on prosecutorial misconduct. The 
court responded: ñThe motion is granted and a mistrial is granted. Jeopardy has attached, 
and so at this point . . . this case is done. The motion for judgment of acquittal is granted.ò  

The [label] of the judgeôs action is not controlling.  A defendant is ñacquittedò only 
when the ruling of the judge, whatever its label, actually represents a resolution in the 
defendantôs favor, correct or not, of some or all of the factual elements of the offense 
charged. 

The ruling in this case was the grant of a mistrial, not the entrance of a judgment 
of acquittal.  Therefore, the Commonwealth had the right to appeal the Municipal Courtôs 
decision to the Court of Common Pleas. 
 

Baldwin, 158 A.3d 1287 (Pa. Super. 4/10/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 170 A.3d 992 (8/22/17) 
 
 
DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE 
 
For Birchfield v. North Dakota, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S.Ct. 2160, 195 L.Ed.2d 560 (6/23/16), 
see Search and Seizure/Blood. 
 
 
 The Commonwealth filed a multi-count criminal information against defendant. 
Count one charged defendant with DUI-general impairment and refusing breath/blood 
alcohol testing in violation of 75 Pa.C.S. § 3802(a)(1) and 75 Pa.C.S. § 3804(c) of the 
Motor Vehicle Code. Count two charged defendant with DUI-general impairment where 
an accident resulting in damage to a vehicle occurred in violation of 75 Pa.C.S.  
§ 3802(a)(1) and 75 Pa.C.S. § 3804(b). Count three charged defendant with DUI-general 
impairment in violation of 75 Pa.C.S. § 3802(a)(1).  Defendant was found guilty of these 
three counts.  At sentencing, sentence was imposed on count one, and, on the other two 
counts, the trial court entered a determination of guilt without further penalty. 
 Where a single DUI offense is subject to enhancements, the Commonwealth 
should file a criminal information that sets forth a single count under § 3802.10 
Enhancements under § 3804 may be added as subparts or subparagraphs, as 
appropriate. This will eliminate identical criminal conduct leading to multiple convictions 
and sentences under the same criminal statute and, simultaneously, supply the accused 
with the requisite notice required under Alleyne. This method will also allow the factfinder 
to make the necessary findings with respect to § 3804 enhancements, as Alleyne also 
commands. 

10To be clear, the Commonwealth may charge separate counts, as 
appropriate, where the conduct at issue exposes the defendant to 
criminal liability under multiple and distinct criminal provisions found 
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in § 3802, such as DUI-general impairment under § 3802(a)(1) and 
DUI-highest rate under § 3802(c). In such cases, if the 
Commonwealth seeks to add sentencing enhancements under  
§ 3804, such enhancements may be added as subparts or 
subparagraphs under each count. 

 
Farrow, 168 A.3d 207 (Pa. Super. 7/27/17) 

[EDITORôS NOTE: Farrow cited with approval: Mobley, 14 A.3d 887 (Pa. Super. 1/14/11); 
and Langley, 145 A.3d 757 (Pa. Super. 8/12/06). Mobley was cited with approval in 
Kimmel, 125 A.3d 1272, 1274 n.3 (Pa. Super. 10/29/15) (en banc), appeal denied, 635 
Pa. 761, 136 A.3d 980 (4/6/16). But see id. at 1278 n.1 (Bowes, J. concurring joined by 
Donohue, Wecht JJ.).] 
 
 
 On September 25, 2013, at around 1:20 in the morning, Officer Erika Eiker 
encountered a vehicle lacking illuminated taillights. During the ensuing stop, the officer 
asked Gause for his license and registration and questioned where Gause was coming 
from. Gause provided the requested items without any fumbling and informed the officer 
that he was traveling from a friend's home. Officer Eiker smelled alcohol and Gause stated 
that he had consumed one 12ïounce can of beer. Gause then completed field sobriety 
tests with varying levels of success.5 On cross-examination, defense counsel elicited from 
Officer Eiker that during the encounter she neither smelled nor saw marijuana. Moreover, 
the officer testified that Gause's speech was not slurred and that, outside of the field 
sobriety tests, Gause's balance and coordination were fine. Officer Eiker went on to testify 
that she gives the Romberg Test when she suspects marijuana usage because she 
associates eyelid tremors, as in this case, with marijuana usage. Gause submitted himself 
to a drug recognition evaluation, but he refused chemical testing. 

5Gause showed no impairment on the HGN test. On the walk-and-
turn, he showed some impairment. On the one-leg stand, Gause did 
not show sufficient clues for DUI impairment. On the Romberg 
balance test, while directed to close his eyes and lean slightly 
backward, Gause misjudged the passing of 12 seconds for 30 
seconds, but there was no testimony that this indicated impairment. 
At trial, Officer Eiker stated that she did ask Gause if he had any 
physical limitations and he told her that he had been shot in one of 
his legs ten years ago. 

 Gause submitted to a drug evaluation test, performed by Officer Scott George. 
Officer George also administered the Romberg balance test; this time, Gause estimated 
the passage of 30 seconds at the 19ïsecond point. During the Romberg balance test, 
Gause exhibited eyelid and body tremors. Office George testified: that when Gauseôs 
eyes were closed, he had distinct and sustained eyelid tremors. He also administered the 
walk and turn test and the one-leg stand test. Gause passed the one-leg stand test, but 
stepped off the imaginary line in the walk and turn test. Officer George acknowledged that 
Gause's leg injury could affect his ability to perform the walk and turn test and the one-
leg stand test, and thus could affect the reliability of those tests. Officer George stated 
that he believed Gause was impaired by both a drug and the alcohol that he had in his 
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system but acknowledged on cross-examination that Gause was not over the legal limit 
of .08 and also acknowledged his preliminary hearing testimony that if a subject is 
impaired by alcohol, we don't do drug evaluations at that point. 
 Officer Eiker stated that she did detect the odor of alcohol when she questioned 
Gause, and that he readily acknowledged he had consumed a 12 ounce Coors Light beer 
about a half hour earlier. She also acknowledged that Gause was cooperative and did not 
exhibit the typical indicators of alcohol impairment; there was no evidence of erratic 
driving, slurred speech, difficulty in handing over required documents, and no inability to 
stand without support. Officer Eiker stated that Gause answered her questions 
appropriately and correctly. Additionally, as far as the "vehicle in motion" and "personal 
contact" phases, two of the three phases for determining general impairment, Officer 
Eiker testified that she did not notice any signs of impairment. The final phase, the field 
sobriety tests, yielded inconsistent results; however, both Officer Eiker and Officer 
George recognized that the reliability of those tests could be affected by leg injuries, such 
as Gause's. 
 The Commonwealth did not meet its burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt 
that Gause was under the influence of alcohol to such a degree as to render him incapable 
of safe driving. 
 The Commonwealth provided no evidence that Gause had recently ingested 
marijuana. On the contrary, Officer Eiker testified that Gause had stopped at a lighted 
intersection, with his headlights and turn signal properly activated, and that she stopped 
him after he had turned and she saw that his taillights were not illuminated. Officer Eiker 
testified that when she activated her lights, Gause properly signaled and pulled over 
immediately to the curb. Gause provided his license, registration and proof of insurance 
without fumbling. There was no evidence that an odor of marijuana emanated from his 
person or from his vehicle at the time he was stopped. There was no testimony that 
Gause's eyes were bloodshot. Nor did Officer Eiker testify that she discovered any 
physical evidence of recent marijuana usage. Further, there was no admission from 
Gause that he had recently smoked marijuana, nor was there eyewitness testimony to 
establish recent ingestion of marijuana. 
 Griffith, 613 Pa. 171, 32 A.3d 1231 (11/2/11), stated: "Depending on the specific 
facts and circumstances, expert testimony may be helpful, or perhaps even necessary, 
to prove causation under subsection 3802(d)(2)[.]" Id. (emphasis added). Accordingly, the 
question of whether expert testimony is necessary in such cases "must be evaluated on 
a case by case basis, taking into account not just the specific drug at issue . . . but also 
the nature and overall strength of the Commonwealth's evidence[. ]" Id. at 1239. In 
essence, the Court determined that expert testimony is not necessary to establish 
impairment under Subsection 3802(d)(2) where there exists other independent evidence 
of impairment. In our opinion, the facts and circumstances of the case before us clearly 
fall within the "expert testimony necessary" classification. 
 
 Gause, 164 A.3d 532 (Pa. Super. 5/24/17) (en banc) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 173 A.3d 267 (10/26/17) 
 
 
 

http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-44-2011mo.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-44-2011mo.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-44-2011mo.pdf
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=38&sctn=2&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-E03002-16o%20-%2010311237217522090.pdf?cb=1


60 
 

 75 Pa.C.S. § 3804(d) provides: 
§ 3804. Penalties. 

. . . 
(d) Extended supervision of court.--If a person is sentenced 
pursuant to this chapter and, after the initial assessment 
required by Section 3814(1), the person is determined to be 
in need of additional treatment pursuant to Section 3814(2), 
the judge shall impose a minimum sentence as provided by 
law and a maximum sentence equal to the statutorily available 
maximum. A sentence to the statutorily available maximum 
imposed pursuant to this subsection may, in the discretion of 
the sentencing court, be ordered to be served in a county 
prison, notwithstanding the provisions of 42 Pa.C.S. § 9762 
(relating to sentencing proceeding and place of confinement). 

 A sentencing court has no discretion or authority to impose a sentence for a DUI 
violation prior to the completion of the assessment required by 75 Pa.C.S. § 3814. This 
section requires, in certain circumstances including those presented herein (where 
defendant had a prior DUI conviction within ten years), a full drug and alcohol 
assessment, to be completed prior to sentencing. For the benefit of the offender and the 
public, the legislature set forth a specific and precise sentencing scheme that requires, in 
Sections 3804 and 3815, that the treatment recommendations developed through the 
assessment be implemented as part of the offender's sentence. A sentence imposed 
without the requisite presentence assessment does not comply with the Vehicle Code's 
mandatory sentencing scheme for DUI offenders. 
 
 Taylor, 628 Pa. 547, 104 A.3d 479 (11/20/14) 
  Link to: Eakin, J. dissenting 
 
 
 75 Pa.C.S. § 3804(d) is not applicable when the sentencing court exercises its 
discretion to sentence an eligible defendant to County Intermediate Punishment. 
 
 Popielarcheck, 151 A.3d 1088 (Pa. Super. 12/06/16) 
appeal granted, No. 41 WAP 2017 (granted 8/29/17) 

Watson, 157 A.3d 926 (Pa. Super. 3/8/17) 
appeal pending, No. 134 WAL 2017 (filed 4/6/17) 
Petition held pending decision in Popielarcheck (order dated 11/3/17) 
 
 
DRUG DELIVERY RESULTING IN DEATH 
 
 Statute applies to the drug seller when the drug purchaser provides the heroin to 
someone else who dies.   
 
 Storey, 167 A.3d 750 (Pa. Super. 7/20/17) 
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ESCAPE 
 
 On November 30, 2014, the Pennsylvania Board of Probation and Parole (ñBoardò) 
issued a warrant to commit and detain defendant on technical parole violations for 
changing residence without permission and failure to report as instructed. As a result, 
defendant was moved to Kintock Hall, a halfïway house, where he was to remain pending 
the resolution of his technical parole violations. While at Kintock Hall, defendant suffered 
a medical emergency on December 2, 2014. Defendant was escorted by a member of 
Kintock Hall to Temple University Hospital. Upon arrival at the hospital, defendant left the 
company of his escort and fled. Defendant was charged with escape. 
 A person escapes if he removes himself from official detention.  The statutory 
definition of official detention excludes parole supervision.  18 Pa.C.S. § 5121(e). 
 In Commonwealth v. Maldonado, 966 A.2d 1144 (Pa. Super. 1/27/09), appeal 
denied, 605 Pa. 672, 989 A.2d 8 (2/3/10), each defendant was on state parole and was 
accused of having committed technical parole violations of his respective parole 
conditions. Each was apprehended by his parole officer and sent to Pennsylvania 
Community Alternative to Prison Program (ñPenn CAPPò), which is administered through 
a contract with the Pennsylvania Department of Corrections. There, each defendant 
signed an ñacknowledgement of status,ò which contained language that each defendant 
was no longer on parole, but rather on preïrelease. The defendants then left Penn CAPP 
without permission. 
 We concluded that a defendant who was held in an ñalternative to prisonò 
residence, awaiting the adjudication of possible parole violations was being officially 
detained under Section 5121 of the Crimes Code. The Maldonado court explained that 
ñthe legislative intent behind Section 5121 [is] to punish all those who remove themselves 
from official detention without permission.ò Maldonado, 966 A.2d at 1147. The court 
explained that Section 5121 does not necessarily exclude all parolees from its ambit, 
reasoning that it is apparent the exclusions for supervision of probation and parole are 
not meant to apply to parolees who have been arrested for parole violations, and placed 
in a detention facility. The Maldonado court further explained that once a parolee has 
been arrested and detained for a technical violation, he can hold no reasonable 
expectation that he retains the liberties and freedoms customary to a person operating 
under supervision of parole.  Accordingly, the Maldonado court held that Section 5121 
applies to a parolee once he is detained for technical parole violation prior to a formal 
adjudication of such violations by the Board. 
 Defendant was housed at Kintock not as a condition of his parole but pending the 
outcome of his violation of parole hearing. To seek emergency medical attention, 
defendant needed to be granted leave to go to the hospital and was accompanied by a 
member of Kintock staff. From these facts, it is reasonable to infer that defendant was 
confined at Kintock. Defendant was not free to come and go as he pleased, and his liberty 
was restrained pending the outcome of his alleged parole violations.  When defendant 
left without permission from the hospital on December 2, 2014, he was in detention at 
Kintock Hall. Accordingly, the evidence is sufficient to establish the element of ñofficial 
detentionò for purposes of convicting defendant of escape pursuant to Section 5121(a). 
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 Williams, 153 A.3d 372 (Pa. Super. 12/23/16) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 169 A.3d 557 (5/31/17) 
 
 
 Treece was arrested for violation of a protection from abuse order. He complained 
of illness and was transported to a hospital by EMS personnel.  Treece was handcuffed 
to a gurney.  After being seen in the emergency room, Treece was admitted to the hospital 
for medical treatment and remained under guard of the Cumberland Township Police in 
handcuffs. Sometime afterwards the police officers removed the handcuffs and left the 
examination room and hospital. 
 Treece, with no law enforcement present for at least an hour, decided he wanted 
to return home and with the assistance of a nurse, removed his IV and walked out of the 
hospital.  Treece was taken into custody three days later on an unrelated matter. 
 The nurse informed Treece that he was still in treatment and advised him against 
leaving; however, this advice was strictly medical and was unrelated to his status as a 
police detainee.  
 The police never advised Treece that he was not free to leave the hospital. While 
this point is not dispositive, it lends support to the conclusion that a reasonable person in 
Treeceós position would believe he was free to go.  Treece did not immediately flee the 
hospital as soon as he was left unguarded, but rather, waited at least one hour before 
deciding to leave. He did not need to evade any guard, and in fact was assisted in 
removing his IV by the nurse on duty. Additionally, the hospital is not a delegated 
detention facility. At no point after walking calmly from the hospital did Treece ever 
attempt to conceal himself or evade the police. 
 The evidence at trial did not establish that Treece was subject to official detention. 
STRASSBURGER, J. DISSENTING: 
 The police chief advised Treece, while he was hospitalized, that he was going to 
be arraigned and that the chief would be returning for him.  The statute does not require 
detention to be consistent. 
 
 Treece, 161 A.3d 992 (Pa. Super. 5/5/17) 
  Link to: Strassburger, J. dissenting 
 
 
 Hall was participating in Lebanon County Prison's Work Release Program. 
Pursuant to placement in this program, Hall signed a work release agreement in which 
he agreed that he would ñgo directly to his place of employment and return directly 
therefrom without exception ...ò via an agreed upon travel route. 
 On the morning of the alleged escape Hall's girlfriend drove to the prison, picked 
him up and proceeded to drive in the direction of his place of employment. Unknown to 
Hall and his girlfriend, a prison official followed her vehicle. Hall did not proceed directly 
to work. Instead, he and his girlfriend stopped at his home for approximately one hour. 
Hall then arrived at work, completed work, and timely returned to the prison. Hall did not 
request this ñdeviationò nor did he report any emergency necessitating the stop at his 
home. The prison authorities found he violated his work release agreement. He was 
subsequently charged with escape. 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S76008-16o%20-%2010293063714794394.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A33004-16o%20-%2010309036317245916.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A33004-16do%20-%2010309036317245953.pdf?cb=1
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 The Commonwealth failed to show that Hall intended unlawfully to remove himself 
from official detention. We hold that the reasonable definition of unlawful removal in the 
escape statute does not encompass a situation where a prisoner does not substantially 
deviate from a prescribed travel route, goes to work and returns to official custody as 
prescribed by his work release program. Hall's challenge to the sufficiency of the 
evidence, therefore, has merit. 
 Hall does not deny deviating from the prescribed route and thereby violating his 
work release agreement. His violation of his work release agreement is an administrative 
matter not a violation of a penal statute. In this case, prison officials were not without 
recourse. They could have imposed administrative sanctions, such as revocation of his 
participation in the work release program. 
 
 Hall, 402 Pa. Super. 23, 585 A.2d 1117 (2/4/91) 
 Edwards, 407 Pa. Super. 178, 595 A.2d 183 (8/19/91) 
  (returning late to prison after visiting friendôs home and drinking beer) 
 
BUT SEE: 
 The Commonwealth presented sufficient evidence of escape. Here, although 
defendant maintained contact with his work and the prison, he never went to work. 
Moreover, after he left the prison, he went to his girlfriend's house for one hour, and left 
that location where his whereabouts were unknown for approximately three hours. We 
conclude that such actions constituted a substantial deviation from his work-release 
program to establish the offense of escape. 
 
 Waugaman, 167 A.3d 153 (Pa. Super. 7/13/17) 
 
 
EVIDENCE: AUTHENTICATION 
 
 A pedestrian was killed by a hit and run driver shortly after 2:00 am on July 24.  An 
eyewitness described the vehicle as a "large, dark colored truck with loud exhaust, 
possibly a diesel.ò  A technician reviewed video footage from surveillance cameras in use 
in Wilkes-Barre.  A pickup truck matching the description from the eyewitness was spotted 
at the time and place of the fatal crash.   
 The technician created a photographic image of the pickup truck from the 
surveillance video.  The eyewitness positively identified the photograph of the pickup 
truck. On August 8 a civilian spotted a pickup truck matching the description in a driveway 
at 71 Liberty Street, Ashley, Pennsylvania.  The eyewitness to the crash positively 
identified the pickup truck in the driveway. One day later, on August 9, the pickup truck 
was seized without a warrant and towed to a police garage. 
 The surveillance video, from which the photograph was created, was inadvertently 
erased.  Because the video had been erased, the trial court ruled that the technician was 
not allowed to testify as to the time or location of the vehicle in the photograph. 
 The original videotape was not destroyed as the result of bad faith on the 
Commonwealth's part. The video was erased as a result of the security companyôs routine 
practices; the tape was erased before the Wilkes-Barre police requested a copy; and the 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=2148012632328629990&q=585+a.2d+1117&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=6606120826911727351&q=595+a2d+183&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S42004-17o%20-%2010317062321238378.pdf?cb=1
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tape was not intentionally erased.  The best evidence rule does not apply to the 
photograph in question. 
 The Pennsylvania Rules of Evidence require a proponent to "produce evidence 
sufficient to support a finding that the item is what the proponent claims it is." Pa.R.E. 
901(a). Specifically, the Rules state that testimony of a "witness with knowledge" may 
testify that an item is what it is claimed to be. Id. at 901(b)(1); When the evidence in 
question is a photograph, it may be authenticated by testimony from a person who has 
sufficient knowledge that the photograph fairly and accurately reflects what the proponent 
is purporting that photograph to reflect. The Rules also allow a witness to describe the 
process or system that produces a particular piece of evidence for the purposes of 
authentication. Pa.R.E. 901(b)(9). 
 The technician has sufficient knowledge of what is depicted in the photograph so 
that he would be able to authenticate it pursuant to Rule 901(b)(1). During his testimony 
at the suppression hearing, the technician testified that as soon as he was notified that 
the police were investigating a hit-and-run that involved a fatality, he started reviewing 
cameras in the general vicinity of the incident, looking for any vehicles that fit the 
description he was given. Upon finding video of a "dark-colored full-size pickup truck 
heading south on Wilkes-Barre Boulevard," he took a screenshot of what he determined 
was the best viewing area of the truck. He further testified that the screenshot depicted a 
fair and accurate representation of his observations from the morning of July 24, 2012. 
Finally, he provided information as to the process of how he obtained a screenshot 
depicting the truck at 2:19 a.m. by describing the timeline present on his monitor at the 
time he took the screenshot.  
 Based on his testimony at the suppression hearing, we conclude that he will be 
able to authenticate the photograph pursuant to Pa.R.E. 901(b)(1) and (9). He has 
knowledge of what the photograph depicts and can also testify about the process that he 
used to procure a screenshot of the truck, and he can also testify as to the image's 
authenticity because he has knowledge of what the image depicts. Accordingly, we 
reverse on this issue and the technician is permitted to testify in order to authenticate the 
photograph. Any issue as to the time discrepancy of the photograph is a matter of weight 
to be tested at trial, not of admissibility. 
 
 Loughnane, 128 A.3d 806 (Pa. Super. 11/23/15) 
revôd on other grounds, ___ Pa. ___, 173 A.3d 733 (11/22/17) 
 
 
Proposed amendment: New Pa.R.E. 901(b)(11) (published 7/16/16) 
 
(11) Evidence About A Writing, Posting, Communication, or Image on an Electronic 
Device or Medium. A writing, posting, communication, or image on or sent from an 
electronic device may be attributed to a person by: 
 
 (A) the testimony of a person with knowledge; or 
 
 (B) circumstantial evidence such as content or exclusivity of ownership, access, or 
possession of the device or account at the relevant time. 

https://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter9/chap9toc.html
https://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter9/chap9toc.html
https://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter9/chap9toc.html
https://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter9/chap9toc.html
https://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter9/chap9toc.html
https://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter9/chap9toc.html
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A34007-14o%20-%201024461385731868.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Majority%20Opinion%20%20VacatedRemanded%20%2010332881227769969.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pabulletin.com/secure/data/vol46/46-29/1199.html
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EVIDENCE: BEST EVIDENCE 
 
 A pedestrian was killed by a hit and run driver shortly after 2:00 am on July 24.  An 
eyewitness described the vehicle as a "large, dark colored truck with loud exhaust, 
possibly a diesel.ò  A technician reviewed video footage from surveillance cameras in use 
in Wilkes-Barre.  A pickup truck matching the description from the eyewitness was spotted 
at the time and place of the fatal crash.   
 The technician created a photographic image of the pickup truck from the 
surveillance video.  The eyewitness positively identified the photograph of the pickup 
truck. On August 8 a civilian spotted a pickup truck matching the description in a driveway 
at 71 Liberty Street, Ashley, Pennsylvania.  The eyewitness to the crash positively 
identified the pickup truck in the driveway. One day later, on August 9, the pickup truck 
was seized without a warrant and towed to a police garage. 
 The surveillance video, from which the photograph was created, was inadvertently 
erased.  Because the video had been erased, the trial court ruled that the technician was 
not allowed to testify as to the time or location of the vehicle in the photograph. 
 The Pennsylvania Rules of Evidence require that an original recording or 
photograph be produced in order to "prove its content." Pa.R.E. 1002. The rules, however, 
also include exceptions in cases where an original is lost or destroyed, so long as the 
original was not destroyed as the result of the proponent acting in bad faith. Pa.R.E. 
1004(a). 
 The original videotape was not destroyed as the result of bad faith on the 
Commonwealth's part. The video was erased as a result of the security companyôs routine 
practices; the tape was erased before the Wilkes-Barre police requested a copy; and the 
tape was not intentionally erased. The best evidence rule does not apply to the 
photograph in question. 
 
 Loughnane, 128 A.3d 806 (Pa. Super. 11/23/15) 
revôd on other grounds, ___ Pa. ___, 173 A.3d 733 (11/22/17) 
 
 
 The best evidence rule provides: 

Rule 1002. Requirement of the Original  
An original writing, recording, or photograph is required in order to 
prove its content unless these rules, other rules prescribed by the 
Supreme Court, or a statute provides otherwise. 

 Rule 1004 of the Pennsylvania Rules of Evidence further provides: 
Rule 1004. Admissibility of Other Evidence of Content 

An original is not required and other evidence of the content of a 
writing, recording, or photograph is admissible if: 

(a) all the originals are lost or destroyed, and not by the 
proponent acting in bad faith; 
(b) an original cannot be obtained by any available judicial 
process; 

http://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter10/s1002.html
http://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter10/s1004.html
http://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter10/s1004.html
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A34007-14o%20-%201024461385731868.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Majority%20Opinion%20%20VacatedRemanded%20%2010332881227769969.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter10/s1002.html
http://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter10/s1004.html
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(c) the party against whom the original would be offered had 
control of the original; was at that time put on notice, by 
pleadings or otherwise, that the original would be a subject of 
proof at the trial or hearing; and fails to produce it at the trial 
or hearing; or 
(d) the writing, recording, or photograph is not closely related 
to a controlling issue. 

Thus, Rule 1002 is subject to the exceptions found in Rule 1004. Where the best 
evidence rule is at issue, and an original cannot be produced, the proponent must show 
that a diligent search was conducted to locate the original and the original was lost or 
destroyed through no fault of the proponent. Upon a satisfactory showing in this regard, 
the production of the original will be excused and secondary evidence is admissible. 

Rule 1002 is applicable only in circumstances where the contents of the writing, 
recording or photograph are integral to proving the central issue in a trial. Consequently, 
if the Commonwealth is introducing a writing, recording, or photograph at trial, Rule 1002 
requires that the original be introduced only if the Commonwealth must prove the contents 
of the writing, recording or photograph to establish the elements of its case. 

The rule is not implicated just because evidence is relevant; the rule applies if the 
writing, recording, or photograph is necessary to prove the elements of a case. In other 
words, the content of the video must be material to, and not just mere evidence of, the 
issues at bar for the best evidence rule to apply. If the Commonwealth does not need to 
prove the content of the writing or recording to prove the elements of the offense charged, 
then the Commonwealth is not required to introduce the original writing or recording.  The 
Comment to Rule 1002 suggests "recordings and photographs are usually only evidence 
of the transaction, thing or event. It is rare that a recording or photograph would be 
operative or dispositive. . ." 

In this case, defendant was convicted of theft based upon the allegation that he 
failed to make deposits of the Family Dollar store proceeds at the bank. Ms. Doheny, a 
bank investigator, reviewed the surveillance tapes of the night deposit location.  She 
testified that nobody looking like the defendant and no vehicle matching the description 
of the defendantôs vehicle could be seen on those tapes.  The actual surveillance tapes 
were not presented as evidence at defendantôs trial. 

Here, the Commonwealth had to prove defendant was responsible for but did not 
make the cash deposits. Defendant's nonappearance at the bank at various unclear times 
was relevant to the Commonwealth's case. If Ms. Doheny did not see defendant on the 
tapes she viewed, then her testimony established only that no one matching a verbal 
description of defendant and no vehicle matching a verbal description of his vehicle 
appeared at the bank at those limited, unidentified dates and times. Thus, Ms. Doheny's 
testimony on the factual content of the videos she saw was related to the case, but it was 
arguably mere evidence of defendant's complete failure to make the required disposition 
of the funds in his possession at any time. 

We conscientiously defer to the best evidence rule when the case requires proof 
of the factual content of a writing, document, photograph, or videotape of someone's 
actions to prove a culpable deed, or to show the nonexistence of a guilty act. The present 
case, however, involved testimony about videotapes where defendant did not appear at 

http://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter10/s1002.html
http://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter10/s1004.html
http://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter10/s1002.html
http://www.pacode.com/secure/data/225/chapter10/s1002.html
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all. So, the best evidence rule seems more attenuated and arguably did not require 
production of the original surveillance tapes Ms. Doheny referred to in her testimony. 

The properly admitted evidence at trial demonstrated: (1) defendant was the sole 
person responsible for depositing $2,900.83 into the Family Dollar corporate PNC 
account; (2) a specific cash deposit was not placed in the account or received by PNC 
Bank on the date of the deposit slip; (3) an internal investigation revealed the missing 
$2,900.83 deposit was not a mistake on the part of the bank or its employees, and the 
amount in question had not been received or deposited into any other PNC account; and 
(4) after learning of the investigation, defendant offered a deposit slip for the amount of 
$2,900.83, which had been altered. In reviewing previous deposits from Family Dollar, 
Ms. Doheny was able to determine that a deposit had been made with the same sequence 
number and in the same cash box during June 2011, one month earlier, but not on July 
14, 2011. Ms. Doheny reconfirmed that teller cash box #5, referenced on the "altered" 
slip, was not in operation on July 14, 2011, so there was no sequence #70 at teller cash 
box #5 for that day.  
 We hold that any prejudicial effect associated with Ms. Doheny's limited testimony 
was de minimis by comparison to the properly admitted and uncontradicted evidence of 
defendant's guilt. Therefore, even if the admission of Ms. Doheny's limited testimony 
regarding the surveillance videos was error, it was harmless error. 
 

Green, 162 A.3d 509 (Pa. Super. 5/9/17) (en banc) 
 
 

The trial court abused its discretion in excluding evidence of the pre-recorded buy 
money. Here, as in Harris, the material issue is whether Ribot knowingly possessed and 
delivered a controlled substance. The Commonwealth would be able to prove its case 
with the testimony of Officer Donahue regarding his observation of the transaction 
between the CI and Ribot or the testimony of the CI identifying Ribot as the person who 
sold him the drugs. Officer Donahueôs proposed testimony about the pre-recorded $20 
bill and its serial number would simply be additional evidence in support of that 
identification testimony.  

Because the Commonwealth was not required to prove the billôs serial number in 
order to prove the elements of PWID or possession of a controlled substance, the best-
evidence rule is inapplicable. See Harris, 719 A.2d 1049 (Pa. Super. 10/5/98). Therefore, 
secondary evidence of the pre-recorded buy money ï namely, the time-stamped 
computer printout showing the billôs serial number ï is admissible. 

 
Ribot, 169 A.3d 64 (Pa. Super. 8/15/17) 
 Link to: Fitzgerald, J. concurring 

 
 
EVIDENCE: DNA 
 
 As is evident from the arguments that Jacoby advanced at the hearing, i.e., his 
opportunity to demonstrate the necessity for a Frye hearing, Jacoby could not overcome 
the trial court's conclusion that his argument was predicated upon the weight that should 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-E02007-16o%20-%2010309368517284254.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/s55024.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Opinion%20-%20Reversed%20-%2010320943422827035.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Concurring%20Statement%20-%20Reversed%20-%2010320943422827072.pdf?cb=1
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be assigned to the YïSTR DNA evidence, and not upon the novelty of the database 
process itself.14 Repeatedly, Jacoby was forced by the trial court's questioning to concede 
that the YïSTR databases were not created in a novel fashion that would differentiate the 
scientific methods of creating these databases from others. Indeed, Jacoby's attorney 
conceded that the technique for creating the database was the same as in other DNA 
databases. Jacoby's arguments were premised substantially upon the fact that YïSTR 
databases have not yet grown large enough to secure a more reliable result, that they do 
not account for geographical differences, and that, because of their size and limitations, 
the results are not sufficiently discriminatory to constitute reliable evidence. These 
arguments are directed at the weight that should be assigned to that evidence at trial, and 
not at the novelty of the creation of the databases. They are arguments for a jury. 

14. . . The arguments highlighted by the dissent pertain to the weight 
that should be attributed to the evidence, and not the admissibility of 
that evidence. The dissent notes that Jacoby challenges ñthe 
reliability of the statistical conclusions derived from the YïSTR DNA 
testing,ò argues that the ñdatabase is too small,ò and maintains that 
ñlocal databases should be employed to account for profile frequency 
differences.ò Finally, the dissent points out that Jacoby highlighted 
differences between YïSTR DNA testing and autosomal DNA 
testing. Once more, all of these arguments are arguments that can 
be made to a jury to demonstrate why YïSTR DNA results should 
not carry the same weight as other types of DNA testing. But they 
are not challenges to the novelty of the methodology of YïSTR DNA 
such that a Frye hearing would be justified, much less required as a 
matter of law. They certainly are not so distinguishable from the 
weight discussion between Jacoby's counsel and the trial court at the 
hearing that the trial court's failure to grant a full Frye hearing cleared 
the high bar required to manifest an abuse of discretion. 

Jacoby did not satisfy his burden of demonstrating that the aspect of the process 
that he focused upon was novel such that we could find an abuse of discretion by the trial 
court. Consequently, he is not entitled to relief.16 

16There may be challenges to other aspects of the YïSTR DNA 
methodologies. Jacoby identified some of those issues in his original 
pre-trial motion as well as in his brief to this Court. We do not hold 
that a Frye hearing will never be required to assess an aspect of the 
YïSTR DNA methodology, nor do we foreclose the possibility of 
relief in other cases where a defendant challenges the admissibility 
of YïSTR DNA evidence. We hold only that Jacoby's proffer at the 
hearing was insufficient to demonstrate novelty, and that the trial 
court did not abuse its discretion in this instance. 

 
Jacoby, ___ Pa. ___, 170 A.3d 1065 (9/28/17) 

  Link to: Mundy, J. concurring 
  Link to: Donohue, J. concurring and dissenting 
  Link to: Saylor, C.J. dissenting 
 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/MAJORITY%20OPINION%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010326097624185312.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/CONCURRING%20OPINION%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010326097624184165.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/CONCURRING-DISSENTING%20STATEMENT%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010326097624184158.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/DISSENTING%20OPINION%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010326097624184152.pdf?cb=1
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EVIDENCE: FRYE 
 
 Once it is established that the scientific evidence in question is novel, the 
proponent must show that the methodology is generally accepted by scientists in the 
relevant field but need not prove the conclusions are generally accepted. The burden is 
on the proponent of the evidence to demonstrate its admissibility. A Frye hearing is not 
required in every instance that a party wants to introduce scientific evidence. Rather, a 
hearing is warranted only when the trial court has articulable grounds to believe that an 
expert witness has not applied accepted scientific methodology in a conventional fashion 
in reaching his or her conclusions. 
 

Jacoby, ___ Pa. ___, 170 A.3d 1065 (9/28/17) 
  Link to: Mundy, J. concurring 
  Link to: Donohue, J. concurring and dissenting 
  Link to: Saylor, C.J. dissenting 
 
 
EVIDENCE: INFLAMMATORY 
 
 A witnessô ability to testify as to the condition of a body does not render 
photographs of the body inadmissible. 
 The photographs were critical to showing the state of Milesô decomposing body so 
that the jury could determine whether defendantôs failure to notify authorities ñwould 
outrage ordinary family sensibilities[.]ò 18 Pa.C.S. § 5510. Unlike the case of a gunshot 
or stab wound, it is difficult to verbalize the toll that time takes on a corpse. As such, we 
conclude that the photographs were not merely cumulative and were instead admissible 
to prove the abuse of a corpse charge. 
 
 Hutchison, 164 A.3d 494 (Pa. Super. 5/22/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 176 A.3d 231 (12/5/17) 
 
 
EVIDENCE: RELEVANCE 
 

Defendant assaulted a school crossing guard, Ms. Tolbert, in Philadelphia.  The 
trial court prevented defendant from presenting evidence that she was pregnant on that 
day. 

While a person's medical condition may be slightly probative as to whether and the 
extent to which that person would be involved in a brawl, the trial court was well within its 
discretion to find that potential prejudice from testimony about defendant's pregnancy 
would substantially outweigh any probative value provided by that fact. 
 
 McFadden, 156 A.3d 299 (Pa. Super. 2/15/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 170 A.3d 993 (8/22/17) 
 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/MAJORITY%20OPINION%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010326097624185312.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/CONCURRING%20OPINION%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010326097624184165.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/CONCURRING-DISSENTING%20STATEMENT%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010326097624184158.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/DISSENTING%20OPINION%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010326097624184152.pdf?cb=1
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http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S84020-16o%20-%2010299379416063273.pdf?cb=1
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FIREARMS 
 

Anderson was charged with two violations of the Pennsylvania Uniform Firearms 
Act [PUFA].  The charges stem from an altercation on North Dewey Street in Philadelphia 
on November 3, 2013. Anderson was on his way home from his job as a private security 
guard, and he stopped at a party to pick up a friend who had asked him to take her home. 
He was wearing a bullet-proof vest and a security badge or lanyard around his neck, and 
he was carrying a gun; he stopped his car in the middle of the street. Meanwhile, Mark 
Ellis drove onto the street behind Anderson and stopped to drop off food at the home of 
a local resident, Syreeta Manire. After Manire retrieved the food, Ellis quickly proceeded 
to drive away. Andersonôs car was blocking the street, and Ellis stopped a few feet behind 
it. Anderson and Ellis then exchanged words. Ellis pulled out a gun, and Anderson tried 
to grab that gun from him. Shots were fired, and Anderson shot and killed Ellis. A 
subsequent police investigation determined that Anderson was not licensed to carry a 
firearm, but that he did possess a valid Act 235 [Lethal Weapons Training] certificate. 

The trial court dismissed the charges. Anderson contends that he may not be 
prosecuted for violating the [Pennsylvania Uniform Firearms Act] PUFAôs licensing 
requirements because his Act 235 certificate serves as a lawful ñsubstitutionò for the 
firearms license required by the PUFA. Our review of the two statutes makes clear that 
this contention is incorrect for two broad reasons. 

First, the PUFA requires a person carrying a firearm to have a license, but an Act 
235 certificate is not a license and does not function as a type of document that could 
serve as a substitute for a license. Second, nothing in the PUFA authorizes anyone to 
substitute another form of gun authorization for the license required by the PUFA. There 
is no reason why persons required to be certified under Act 235 cannot also be required 
to be licensed under the PUFA. To the contrary, the dual requirements can work in a 
complementary fashion to further the Legislatureôs dual aims of law enforcement and 
safety. 

Section 6106(b) contains no exception for persons carrying Act 235 certificates. 
Indeed, nothing in the PUFA ever mentions Act 235 certificates or even acknowledges 
their existence. The exceptions in Section 6106(b) are affirmative defenses that may be 
raised at trial by persons charged with PUFA violations.  Anderson may defend himself 
at trial by seeking to prove that he meets each of the elements described in Section 
6106(b)(6) for persons who protect valuables and property in the discharge of their duties, 
and, if he is successful, may be found not guilty of the PUFA charges.  But the fact that 
Anderson may assert a defense under Section 6106(b)(6) does not mean that his 
possession of an Act 235 certificate in connection with his work entitles him to have the 
charges dismissed. 

 
Anderson, 169 A.3d 1092 (Pa. Super. 8/23/17) (en banc) 
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FRUIT OF THE POISONOUS TREE 
 
 Defendant was a murder suspect.  He was arrested on two outstanding summary 
offense warrants and brought to City Hall for questioning. Chief Richard Wojciechowsky 
of the Pottsville Bureau of Police advised defendant of his Miranda rights, and defendant 
acknowledged he understood them. Chief Wojciechowsky questioned defendant about 
his whereabouts on the night of the murder. At 1:25 p.m., defendant informed Chief 
Wojciechowsky, ñI donôt know, just, Iôm done talking. I donôt have nothing to talk about.ò 
 Chief Wojciechowsky advised defendant that he did not have to speak to police, 
stating, ñYou donôt have to say anything, I told you that you could stop.ò Chief 
Wojciechowsky continued to ask questions, told defendant that he did not believe his 
story, and informed defendant that police officers had collected evidence from the crime 
scene for processing. At 1:36 p.m., police officers confiscated defendantôs shoes. Chief 
Wojciechowsky continued to ask questions.  
 At 1:52 p.m., defendant requested that Chief Wojciechowsky stop the video tape. 
At 1:57 p.m., Chief Wojciechowsky turned the videotape back on and asked defendant 
whether he had been threatened, yelled at, or promised anything while the tape was off. 
Defendant responded that he had not. Defendant then requested to speak to a 
representative of the District Attorneyôs Office in exchange for a potential ñdeal.ò The video 
stopped again at 2:00 p.m., and the prosecutor arrived at 2:23 p.m., at which time the 
video was turned on again. Defendant was again advised of his Miranda rights by Chief 
Wojciechowsky. 
 Defendant gave a detailed statement to police, confessing his involvement in the 
murder. As a result of defendantôs statement, police obtained video surveillance of 
defendant accessing an ATM on the morning of the homicide. Police also recovered from 
a storm drain the following evidence: the victimôs credit card, hat, shirt, and sunglasses. 
 The court suppressed statements made by defendant following his assertion that 
he was done talking; defendantôs shoes and any evidence obtained from them; and the 
items recovered from the storm drain. The court admitted all statements made prior to 
defendantôs assertion that he was done talking and surveillance video from the ATM 
machine. 
 Defendantôs assertion of his right to remain silent was unambiguous. 
 Defendant stated that he was ñdone talking,ò but Chief Wojciechowsky continued 
to interrogate him for another thirty minutes. This interrogation included informing 
defendant that police officers were recovering evidence from the scene as well as 
pressuring him to confess. During this time period, defendantôs shoes were taken from 
him so that evidence could be gathered from them, further heightening the coercive 
nature of this continued interaction. 
 From these circumstances, we cannot conclude that police scrupulously honored 
defendantôs request to remain silent. Further, there was no pause in the interrogation; it 
continued in the same location, by the same police officer. Accordingly, all statements 
made by defendant and evidence recovered from defendant during this time period were 
properly suppressed. 
 As discussed above, defendantôs inculpatory statements were not voluntarily made 
and were properly suppressed. Accordingly, evidence obtained as a result of the 
statements, unless from a means sufficiently distinguishable to be purged of the primary 
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taint, was properly suppressed. The suppression court held, based on the record, that the 
Commonwealth had not provided sufficient grounds to determine how the evidence at 
issue, including defendantôs shoes and various items recovered from a storm drain near 
the victimôs home, would have been found absent defendantôs statement. We see no error 
in this conclusion and, accordingly, affirm. 
 
 Lukach, 163 A.3d 1003 (Pa. Super. 4/11/17) 
appeal granted, No. 54 MAP 2017 (granted 9/22/17) 
 
 
 On July 31, 2014, at approximately 6:50 pm, Police Officer Paul Sanchez was on 
foot patrol with his partner in the area of the 3500 block of Randolph Street, Philadelphia. 
At that time, he observed a Mitsubishi Galante operating with a heavy front windshield 
tint in violation of the Pennsylvania Motor Vehicle Code. Unable to observe anyone inside 
the vehicle, he indicated for the vehicle to stop and pull over by waving it down. The driver 
complied and lowered the driver's side window as Officer Sanchez approached the car 
on that same side. Officer Sanchez testified that he believed that no one else was out on 
the street at that time, and that the driver appeared to be nervous and avoided eye 
contact. Officer Sanchez then asked the driver for his license, registration, and insurance. 
The driver replied that he had no license. 
 Approximately one to two minutes elapsed during this entire exchange in which 
Officer Sanchez observed the driver's body and his mannerisms. In response to the 
driver's assertion that he did not have a license, Officer Sanchez instructed the driver to 
turn off the vehicle. The driver did not comply with this request. Instead, he began to reach 
into the center console area of the vehicle. Officer Sanchez reacted by extending his arm 
through the open automobile window and then grabbing the driver's arm to prevent him 
from retrieving anything from inside the center console area. As soon as Officer Sanchez 
secured the driver's arm, the driver accelerated on the gas pedal with half of the officer's 
body still inside the car, pulling away from the location of the stop. The driver ignored 
Officer Sanchez's repeated requests to pull over and stop the vehicle. As the driver 
continued to flee, Officer Sanchez released his grip on the driver, and launched himself 
off of the moving vehicle and onto the road. At some point while separating himself from 
the vehicle, the rear tire ran over Officer Sanchez's right foot. He later went to the hospital 
for an injury to his foot. During this encounter, Officer Sanchez was never able to ascertain 
the name or identity of the individual who was driving the aforementioned vehicle. 
 Moments after his initial encounter, Officer Sanchez and other officers returned to 
the location of the initial stop where Officer Sanchez's interaction had occurred. At that 
location, the police officers noticed a cellular phone on the ground of the highway. Officer 
Sanchez picked it up, and then he proactively opened the cell phone and accessed it 
without a search warrant to ascertain the identity of the individual who owned the phone. 
 Information for only two named individuals (hereinafter ñcontactsò) was found in 
the cell phone. The first one was ñAngel Santiago,ò and the second was labeled ñMy 
Babe.ò  On that same day, the assigned detective ran a search of the name Angel 
Santiago, recovered from the cell phone, through the NCIC criminal database. The 
detective specifically ran a search related to individuals named Angel Santiago living in 
Philadelphia. As a result of this NCIC search, a prison release photograph was obtained 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S94026-16o%20-%2010306102616892778.pdf?cb=1
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of this defendant. The photograph was obtained as a result of the search of the name 
found in the cell phone. When the detective showed Officer Sanchez the photograph, he 
immediately recognized defendant and identified him as the driver of the vehicle which 
had been stopped and who later assaulted him. 
 The Commonwealth conceded that the search of the phone was unconstitutional.   
 All evidence about identity is potentially suppressible as fruit of the poisonous tree 
stemming from unconstitutional police conduct. However, suppression is not automaticð
any such evidence may be admitted where the Commonwealth sufficiently proves that it 
was either untainted by the illegal conduct, or because it was discoverable through an 
independent source. In this case, the trial court suppressed both Officer Sanchez's out-
of-court identification of defendant, which occurred immediately after he conducted his 
unconstitutional search of defendant's phone, as well as the officer's in-court identification 
of defendant based on his observations from the scene of the crime.   

We agree with the court's decision to suppress the out-of-court identification but 
disagree with the suppression of the in-court identification.  The nuanced, but critical 
distinction to make is whether evidence about identity has been tainted by illegal conduct 
or whether the relationship between the illegality and the evidence is tenuous; the 
question is not whether the perpetrator's identity itself was likely to have been discovered 
without the illegality. We cannot assume that but for the illegal act, the accused would 
have remained at large indefinitely. 
 
 Santiago, 160 A.3d 814 (Pa. Super. 4/20/17) 
appeal granted, No. 1 EAP 2018 (granted 1/22/18) 
 
 
GUILTY PLEA 
 
 Where, as here, a defendant withdraws or successfully challenges his plea, the 
bargain is abrogated. When a defendant abrogates a plea agreement, he resumes his 
pre-agreement status, and the government may proceed as if the agreement had never 
existed. 
 If the defendant were permitted to accept a bargain and then revoke his part while 
leaving the prosecution bound, the entire purpose of plea bargaining would be defeated. 
Every defendant would find it in his interest to plead and then challenge his plea after 
sentencing. Every plea would thus require subsequent litigation, and if successfully 
revoked, would be followed by the very trial and consumption of judicial resources which 
the bargain supposedly had precluded. As a result, the criminal justice system would 
become more clogged with litigation than if there were no plea bargaining. 
 In the instant case, trial counsel represented defendant in two unrelated cases: 
this case, and an aggravated assault case not at issue in this appeal. Initially, defendant 
pled guilty in both cases, and as a term of the negotiated plea agreement in the assault 
case, the sentences in both cases were set to run concurrently to one another.  
 Defendant subsequently challenged and withdrew his guilty plea in the instant 
case, forcing the Commonwealth to proceed to trial in this case and denying the 
Commonwealth the benefit of the bargain reached. Defendantôs own actions abrogated 
the bargain and, thus, at sentencing he was no longer entitled to receive the benefit of 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S10010-17o%20-%2010307169117021241.pdf?cb=1
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the bargain, i.e., to recommend to the court that it impose a sentence concurrent to the 
sentence for aggravated assault. 
  
            Jarosz, 152 A.3d 344 (Pa. Super. 12/13/16) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 169 A.3d 598 (6/28/17) 
 
 
 Defendant was charged with aggravated assault and related offenses arising from 
a violent argument with his paramour.  At the third listing for the preliminary hearing, the 
police officer and the assistant public defender presented an agreement to the Magisterial 
District Judge. Pursuant to that agreement, defendant pled guilty to disorderly conduct 
graded as a third degree misdemeanor and he was sentenced to time served.  Neither 
the assistant district attorney who signed the complaint nor any other representative of 
the District Attorneyôs Office was present or approved the plea agreement. 
 The district attorney sought review of the ruling and the Court of Common Pleas 
vacated defendantôs guilty plea. 
 A Magisterial District Judge has jurisdiction over a misdemeanor of the third degree 
provided that the misdemeanor is not a result of a reduced charge. 42 Pa.C.S.  
§ 1515(a)(6)(i)(A).  Disorderly conduct was a reduced charge.  The Magisterial District 
Judge lacked jurisdiction to hear the guilty plea.  Double jeopardy did not attach. 
 Rule 551 of the Pennsylvania Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that only "the 
attorney for the Commonwealth, or his or her designee," may withdraw charges and "[t]he 
withdrawal shall be in writing."  ADA Solimine signed the arrest Complaint, appeared at 
the first preliminary hearing, personally requested one continuance, and appeared at the 
rescheduled preliminary hearing at the designated time. ADA Solimine did not speak with 
Officer Kroll prior to the hearing. ADA Solimine was clearly the attorney for the 
Commonwealth on this case, and there is no evidence that she authorized Officer Kroll 
to withdraw charges as her designee. Thus, Officer Kroll was not a designee of the 
Commonwealth pursuant to Pa.R.Crim.P. 551. 
 
 Noss, 162 A.3d 503 (Pa. Super. 5/9/17) 
 
 
 Rotola pled guilty to a theft related charge and was sentenced to pay $25,000.00 
restitution. The court did not make Rotola fully aware, as part of his guilty plea, that it 
would impose mandatory restitution as part of his sentence.  Here, the very integrity of 
Rotola's plea is undermined where he was never informed that restitution was mandated 
upon his theft conviction. Accordingly, we vacate Rotola's judgment of sentence and 
remand for trial. 
 
 Rotola, 173 A.3d 831 (Pa. Super. 11/6/17) 
  Link to: Platt, J. dissenting 
 
 
 The Hvizda, 632 Pa. 3, 116 A.3d 1103 (6/15/15), court upheld the trial court's 
refusal to permit the defendant to withdraw his guilty plea because his innocence 
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assertion was implausible as it was unsupported and rebutted by the Commonwealth's 
proof. 
 In this case, defendant simply insisted that he was innocent, and incorrectly 
represented that the plea was coerced by trial-court threats to impose a sixty-five year jail 
term. The fact remains that defendant faced 140 years in jail, his negotiated sentence 
was ninety percent less, and his desire to avoid a lengthier prison term is not grounds for 
withdrawing the plea. Under the circumstances, we cannot find that the trial court abused 
its discretion in characterizing defendant's innocence claim as falling short of the mark 
under Carrasquillo, 631 Pa. 692, 115 A.3d 1284 (6/15/15). 
 The plea court also concluded that defendant's guilty plea could not be withdrawn 
because the Commonwealth would suffer substantial prejudice from withdrawal. The 
Commonwealth had already picked a jury and presented three of its witnesses, including 
the child victim. In addition, a scientific witness had been colloquied and was present to 
offer additional testimony. We conclude that the court's ruling in this respect is legally 
sound. 
 
 Baez, 169 A.3d 35 (Pa. Super. 8/10/17) 
 
 
HEARSAY: INCONSISTENT STATEMENTS 
 
 Wiley implicated defendant in a murder and gave a statement to the police.  At 
trial, the Commonwealth presented the testimony of Wiley. However, while on the witness 
stand, Wiley repudiated the statement he previously gave police, and testified that he 
never had a conversation with defendant about a potential robbery of the victims, did not 
observe defendant standing over the victim with a gun, and knew nothing about the 
murders. Wiley explained that police forced him to make and sign the false statement by 
physically attacking him and threatening to charge him with the murders. The 
Commonwealth then effectively impeached its own witness by confronting Wiley with the 
relevant portions of the statement he gave to police. To bolster the veracity of Wiley's 
prior statement, the Commonwealth also presented the testimony of the officer who took 
Wiley's statement, Detective Patrick Mangold. Detective Mangold testified that he did not 
use physical force or threat to obtain information from Wiley, and did not suggest answers 
to the questions posed, but rather asked Wiley questions and wrote down his responses 
verbatim. 
 Defendant challenges the lower court's finding that Wiley's statement was ñsigned 
and adopted by the declarant.ò The crux of his claim is that Wiley never ñadoptedò his 
statement at trial, but rather repudiated it, raising a question as to whether the statement 
was ever made. Further, defendant submits, Wiley's statement to police is not trustworthy 
for [a] myriad of reasons; particularly, that Wiley was motivated to accuse defendant 
falsely because the police threatened Wiley with prosecution for the instant murders. 
Accordingly, defendant asserts there is arguable merit to the underlying claim that Wiley's 
statement is inadmissible as substantive evidence. He maintains that trial counsel should 
have objected to the admission of such statement, and requested an appropriate limiting 
instruction, informing the jury that it could consider Wiley's prior inconsistent statement to 
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police only to impeach Wiley's trial testimony that he had no intimate knowledge of the 
murders, and not as substantive evidence of defendant's guilt. 
 We agree with both the Commonwealth and the PCRA court that defendant's claim 
fails for lack of arguable merit. Defendant's position that Wiley's statement was not 
ñadoptedò by him because he repudiated it at trial is untenable. Our holding in Lively, 530 
Pa. 464, 610 A.2d 7 (5/18/92), is premised upon the notion that the statement sought to 
be admitted is, in fact, inconsistent with the testimony given by the witness at trial. Thus, 
as the Commonwealth recognizes, adoption of the statement by the witness at trial is 
unnecessary as it would obviate the need to incorporate the evidentiary rules for prior 
inconsistent statements. Wiley adopted his prior statement to police when he signed each 
page of the document. Both Wiley and the detective interrogating him confirmed this fact 
at trial. Thus, the requisites of Lively were satisfied and the jury was free to consider 
Wiley's prior statement to police for the truth of the matter asserted therein, and as 
substantive evidence of defendant's guilt. 
 
 Hanible, 612 Pa. 183, 30 A.3d 426 (10/19/11) 
cert. denied, 568 U.S. 1091, 133 S.Ct. 835, 184 L.Ed.2d 662 (1/7/13) 
 
 
 Watley was the driver and Hayward was the passenger in a car.  The car was 
searched, and the police found two guns, ammunition, marijuana and 34 Ecstasy pills. 
Hayward provided a written statement to the police implicating Watley.  Hayward also 
pled guilty to conspiracy, related to the possession of the firearms. 
 The prosecution called Hayward as a witness at Watleyôs trial. When Hayward 
testified that he did not know Watley, the prosecutor first used both Hayward's earlier, 
signed statement to the police and his sworn guilty plea colloquy in an effort to refresh 
Hayward's recollection. When that effort proved largely unsuccessful, the prosecutor then 
used the statements both to impeach Hayward and as substantive evidence of Watley's 
guilt. Watley argues that his trial counsel should have objected to the admission of those 
prior statements on the ground that they were not inconsistent with his trial testimony and 
therefore inadmissible hearsay. 
 We disagree with Watley's contention that Hayward's trial testimony was not 
inconsistent with his prior written statement and guilty plea colloquy. There is an important 
distinction between a mere failure of recollection, which might not be inconsistent with an 
earlier statement, and a claimed failure of recollection accompanied by affirmative 
assertions inconsistent with the earlier statement. While at times during his trial testimony, 
Hayward professed a failure of recollection, at other times his recollection was quite 
strong. 
 We agree with the PCRA court that Hayward's trial testimony was plainly 
inconsistent with his prior sworn testimony on multiple occasions. Hayward acknowledged 
that he wrote and signed a statement to the police. Hayward also acknowledged his 
previous guilty plea colloquy. However, contrary to both his signed written statement and 
his plea colloquy, in his trial testimony Hayward expressly denied that Watley was in the 
car with him on the day in question, that Watley had told him about the gun under the seat 
of the car, and that Watley was the person who had run from the car to elude the police. 
Indeed, Hayward himself, in response to a question from the prosecutor, conceded that 
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his trial testimony was in ñexact contradictionò to his statement to the police. In short, 
contrary to Watley's claim on appeal, Hayward's trial testimony was plainly and materially 
inconsistent with both his signed prior statement to the police and his sworn plea colloquy. 
 
 Watley, 153 A.3d 1034 (Pa. Super. 12/29/16) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 169 A.3d 574 (6/12/17) 
 
 
Rule of evidence 803.1(4) 
 
Rule 803.1. Exceptions to the Rule Against HearsayðTestimony of Declarant 
Necessary. 
The following statements are not excluded by the rule against hearsay if the declarant 
testifies and is subject to cross-examination about the prior statement: 
 
. . .  
 

(4)  Prior Statement by a Declarant-Witness Who Claims an Inability to 
Remember the Subject Matter of the Statement. A prior statement by a 
declarant-witness who testifies to an inability to remember the subject 
matter of the statement, unless the court finds the claimed inability to 
remember to be credible, and the statement: 

 
       (A)   was given under oath subject to the penalty of perjury at a 
trial, hearing, or other proceeding, or in a deposition; 
 
       (B)   is a writing signed and adopted by the declarant; or 
 
       (C)   is a verbatim contemporaneous electronic recording of an 
oral statement. 

 
 
HEARSAY: PAST RECOLLECTION RECORDED 
 
 Defendant challenges the court's Order granting the Commonwealth's Motion in 
Limine, which permitted the Commonwealth to present to the jury portions of a video 
recording of the victim's forensic interview.  Defendant's victim is his daughter who was 
around age 12 at the time defendant committed the instant crimes in 2014 and 2015. In 
2015, the victim reported defendant's crimes to her mother, after which the victim 
participated in a video-recorded forensic interview conducted by the Children's House 
Child Advocacy Center. 
 Pa.R.E. 803.1(3) permits the admission into evidence over a hearsay objection a 
ñ[r]ecorded [r]ecollection[ ] of [a] [d]eclarant-[w]itnessò provided that the declarant testifies, 
is subject to cross-examination, and: (1) the recording is on a matter the declarant-witness 
once knew about but now cannot recall well enough to testify fully and accurately; (2) the 
recording was made or adopted by the declarant-witness when the matter was fresh in 
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his or her memory; and (3) the declarant-witness's testimony in the recording accurately 
reflects his or her knowledge at the time when made. The recorded recollection exception 
applies only when the witness lacks a present recollection of the event. 
 Our review of the victim's direct and cross-examination testimony and the 
transcribed portions of the forensic interview reveals that the trial court did not abuse its 
discretion in admitting into evidence the video recording of the victim's forensic interview. 
The Commonwealth demonstrated that the video recording represented the recorded 
recollection of the victim concerning a matter about which the victim once knew ñbut now 
cannot recall well enough to testify fully and accurately[.]ò Pa.R.E. 803.1(3)(A) 
(emphasis added). Moreover, the information provided in the video recording was not 
merely cumulative of the victim's testimony at trial. 

Specifically, the victim testified that that the child advocate conducted the forensic 
interview depicted in the video recording within one week of the victim reporting the abuse 
to her mother. At trial, the victim acknowledged that her memory of events was ñmuch 
better then[.]ò Importantly, she informed the court that when the Commonwealth asked 
her a question at trial to which she could not recall the answer, she would say ñno,ò rather 
than admit that she did not recall. Although the victim was able to testify at trial about 
many details of the abuse by her father, from our review of the transcribed portions of the 
video recording we discern that the victim reported the events of abuse more fully, with a 
greater level of detail, at her forensic interview. The victim testified that there were times 
during her testimony when she did not recall the answer to a question posed by the 
Commonwealth but instead of admitting as such, she answered the question in the 
negative. Therefore, we conclude that defendant's argument that the Commonwealth 
failed to meet the ñlack of a present recollection prongò of Rule 803.1(3) lacks merit and 
that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that that the Commonwealth 
established the requisites for admission of the video recording pursuant to Pa.R.E. 
803.1(3). 

We also conclude that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the 
video recording as cumulative of the victim's testimony. Our review indicates that the 
victim's statement in the video recording, rather than being cumulative of her trial 
testimony, supplemented it by providing additional details and elaborating on those to 
which she testified at trial. 
 
 Shelton, 170 A.3d 549 (Pa. Super. 9/7/17) 
 
 
HOMICIDE BY VEHICLE 
 
 Defendant drove at a speed of 12 miles per hour past a stop sign onto a busy 
street with a building obstructing her view of the cross traffic as she approached the 
intersection. The speed limit for the cross traffic was 35 miles per hour. Defendant was 
familiar with the intersection. Defendant repeatedly characterizes her maneuver as a 
ñrolling stopò and a mere vehicle code violation that did not constitute criminal 
recklessness. Defendant also notes that she did not commit multiple vehicle code 
violations.  She further argues that the victimôs death was extremely unlikely given the 
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nature of her conduct, and that death occurred because the victim was not wearing a 
seatbelt and because he was ejected through the open passenger door of his box truck. 

While defendant would have us dismiss her conduct as a mere rolling stop, we 
conclude that the record supports the juryôs finding that defendant acted recklessly. 
Defendant acknowledges that her vehicle slowed from 25 miles per hour to 12 miles per 
hour and remained at 12 miles per hour for two seconds prior to impact. Moving at 12 
miles per hour past a stop sign evidences more than a simple failure to come to a 
complete stop. Additionally, we must consider that the stop sign preceded a busy cross 
street, and that a building obscured the view of one lane of cross traffic. 

Next, we must consider that defendant was not braking for the final two seconds 
before impact, from which we can infer that defendant did not observe that the accident 
was imminent. Finally, we consider that defendant was familiar with the intersection and 
had driven through it many times. Thus, it can be can inferred that she knew she was 
turning onto a busy street and knew that a building partially obscured the view of cross 
traffic on one side. In light of all of this evidence, we conclude the Commonwealth 
produced sufficient evidence that defendant exhibited a conscious disregard of the 
substantial and unjustified risk that she would be involved in a traffic accident causing 
death. 
 
 Moyer, 171 A.3d 849 (Pa. Super. 10/2/17) 
appeal pending, No. 739 MAL 2017 (filed 11/1/17) 
 
 
INEFFECTIVENESS: CONDUCT 
 
 Counsel was ineffective for failing to inform her client that he faced a 25 year 
mandatory minimum sentence if he turned down the Commonwealthôs offer of 2-6 years 
of imprisonment.  Steckley's attorney should have informed her client of the possibility 
that he could face a mandatory twenty-five year sentence irrespective of whether the 
district attorney knew of the same.  Having concluded that the PCRA court did not err in 
granting Steckley's petition, we now must determine whether the appropriate remedy was 
to vacate Steckley's convictions and to order a new trial. Both the Commonwealth and 
Steckley argue that it was not. We agree. 
 The PCRA court vacated Steckley's convictions and awarded him a new trial. Yet, 
the prejudice Steckley sufferedða sentence substantially longer than the one offered 
under the imprudently rejected plea offerðmight remain after one retrial or even after ten 
retrials. A new trial cannot resurrect Steckley's foregone opportunity to accept the 
Commonwealth's plea offer any more than his first constitutionally sufficient trial did. If 
Steckley is reconvicted, the Commonwealth, once again, could seek imposition of the 
mandatory minimum sentence. On the other hand, a new trial gives Steckley another 
opportunity to obtain an acquittal, a remedy that would be disproportionate insofar as 
Steckley has neither pleaded nor proved any irregularity in the jury's guilty verdict. 
 In many cases throughout this Commonwealth, prosecutors enter into plea 
agreements that they might have considered too generous but for some misconception 
about the available evidence or the applicable law. After a defendant accepts a favorable 
plea offer, his sentence remains final even if the prosecutor later learns of his or her 
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misjudgment. The fact that Steckley was provided with constitutionally deficient 
representation should not compel a different conclusion in this case. Stated simply, the 
fact that this case presents a mutual mistake is of no consequence. Counsel's mistake 
amounted to a constitutional violation; the district attorney's mistake [lack of awareness 
of the mandatory minimum sentence at the time of the plea offer] did not. Although we 
must remedy the former [mistake], the latter is beyond our purview. 
 The only logical remedy to neutralize Steckley's constitutional injury is to require 
the prosecution to reoffer the plea proposal.  Accordingly, we reverse the PCRA court's 
order to the extent that it awarded Steckley a new trial, and we remand this case to the 
PCRA court with instructions to resentence Steckley according to the plea bargain that 
he previously rejected due to his attorney's deficient performance. 
 
 Steckley, 128 A.3d 826 (Pa. Super. 11/30/15) 
appeal denied, 636 Pa. 640, 140 A.3d 13 (5/24/16) 
 
 
 The PCRA court made extensive findings of fact to support its conclusion that 
defendant could not comprehend the criminal proceedings without a translator. The 
PCRA Court supports each of its findings with references to relevant portions of the Notes 
of Testimony from the trial or the PCRA hearings. After a review of the record, we 
conclude that each of these findings are supported by one or more portions of the record. 
Therefore, we will defer to these findings and the conclusion that defendant could not 
comprehend the proceedings without the assistance of a translator. 
 Trial counselôs lack of comprehension about defendantôs need for a translator 
leading to his failure to object to proceeding at trial without a translator constitutes per se 
ineffectiveness of counsel. No showing of prejudice is necessary. 
 

Diaz, ___ A.3d ___ (Pa. Super. 3/23/18) 
  Link to: Bowes, J. dissenting 
 
 
INEFFECTIVENESS: STANDARD OF REVIEW 
 
  Counsel was ineffective for failing to inform her client that he faced a 25 year 
mandatory minimum sentence if he turned down the Commonwealthôs offer of 2-6 years 
of imprisonment.  Steckley's attorney should have informed her client of the possibility 
that he could face a mandatory twenty-five year sentence irrespective of whether the 
district attorney knew of the same. 
 Nothing prevents a PCRA petitioner from meeting his burden under Lafler v. 
Cooper, 566 US 1, 132 S.Ct. 1376, 182 L.Ed.2d 398 (3/21/12), with his own self-serving 
statement that he would have entered a guilty plea but for counsel's ineffectiveness. As 
long as the PCRA court finds the petitioner's testimony to be credible, there is no coherent 
justification for characterizing such evidence as inherently deficient as a matter of law. 
 The PCRA court did not err in concluding that Steckley demonstrated prejudice 
even though he had maintained that he was innocent of the crimes charged. While a 
defendant's declaration of innocence is a factor that the PCRA court may consider, it is 
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not determinative.  A defendant's assertion of innocence does not necessarily belie his 
later claim that he would have accepted a guilty plea offer. A criminal defendant might 
maintain his innocence up until the point of pleading guilty in order to strengthen his 
bargaining position. Indeed, a defendant may enter a guilty plea while continuing to 
maintain that he is factually innocent. 
 Here, the Commonwealth discovered the mandatory minimum sentence nearly 
seven months after Steckley rejected the Commonwealth's plea offer and proceeded to 
trial. Based upon this timeline, the PCRA court found it to be reasonably probable that 
Steckley would have accepted the plea offer long before the Commonwealth sought 
imposition of the mandatory minimum sentence. Furthermore, even if the Commonwealth 
had learned of the applicable statute earlier, it does not inevitably follow that it would have 
withdrawn the plea offer. It is just as likely that the Commonwealth would have used the 
draconian mandatory sentence as a means to encourage Steckley to plead guilty, thereby 
avoiding the expense and uncertainty of a jury trial. 
 At Steckley's sentencing hearing, the court remarked as follows: "the legislature 
has commanded me to impose this sentence[,] but even if the legislature did not, I would 
impose it anyway." Lafler requires there be a reasonable probability that the sentence 
under the offer's terms would have been less severe than the sentence actually imposed. 
Thus, the sentencing court's declaration that it would have imposed an identical sentence 
notwithstanding the mandatory minimum, if taken at face value, may have been fatal to 
Steckley's claim that he suffered prejudice. Upon closer inspection however, a sentence 
of twenty-five to fifty years' imprisonment based upon Steckley's convictions would have 
constituted an illegal sentence unless the mandatory sentence applied. This fact 
controverts the sentencing court's contention that it would have, or even that it could have, 
imposed an identical sentence irrespective of the existence of the mandatory minimum 
sentence. 
 In granting Steckley post-conviction relief, the PCRA court found reasonably 
probable Steckley's contention that he would have accepted the Commonwealth's plea 
offer without either the Commonwealth withdrawing it or the trial court rejecting it. 
 
 Steckley, 128 A.3d 826 (Pa. Super. 11/30/15) 
appeal denied, 636 Pa. 640, 140 A.3d 13 (5/24/16) 
 
 The PCRA court made extensive findings of fact to support its conclusion that 
defendant could not comprehend the criminal proceedings without a translator. The 
PCRA Court supports each of its findings with references to relevant portions of the Notes 
of Testimony from the trial or the PCRA hearings. After a review of the record, we 
conclude that each of these findings are supported by one or more portions of the record. 
Therefore, we will defer to these findings and the conclusion that defendant could not 
comprehend the proceedings without the assistance of a translator. 
 Trial counselôs lack of comprehension about defendantôs need for a translator 
leading to his failure to object to proceeding at trial without a translator constitutes per se 
ineffectiveness of counsel. No showing of prejudice is necessary. 
 

Diaz, ___ A.3d ___ (Pa. Super. 3/23/18) 
  Link to: Bowes, J. dissenting 
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INFORMATION 
 
Pa.R.Crim.P. 564 was amended effective December 21, 2017. It now states: 
 
RULE 564. AMENDMENT OF INFORMATION. 
 
The court may allow an information to be amended, provided that the information as 
amended does not charge offenses arising from a different set of events and that the 
amended charges are not so materially different from the original charge that the 
defendant would be unfairly prejudiced. Upon amendment, the court may grant such 
postponement of trial or other relief as is necessary in the interests of justice. 
 
 
JURY: CHARGE 
 

When a ñcorrupt and polluted sourceò instruction would contradict or be in 
derogation of the theory of defense, then there exists a reasonable basis for trial counselôs 
decision not to request the instruction. See Commonwealth v. Williams, 557 Pa. 207, 732 
A.2d 1167, 1182 (6/4/99); Commonwealth v. Karabin, 493 Pa. 249, 426 A.2d 91, 93 
(2/4/81). In the instant case, Corley's defense was that he did not have sexual intercourse 
with DeWalt. He testified so at trial. An accomplice instruction regarding the testimony of 
Foulds would, therefore, have derogated Corley's defense because it would have 
implicated defendant in a crime against DeWalt.  Accordingly, defendant's trial counsel 
had a reasonable basis for not requesting the instruction. 
 

Corley, 816 A.2d 1109 (Pa. Super. 1/27/03)    
 Lawrence, 165 A.3d 34 (Pa. Super. 5/30/17) (defendant denied being accomplice) 
  
 
JURY: SELECTION 
 
 While most cases address the issue of dismissal for bias on the part of prospective 
jurors, we have employed the same analysis in cases where a question arises about a 
juror's impartiality during trial.  See Pander, 100 A.3d 626 (Pa. Super. 9/17/14) (en banc), 
appeal denied, 631 Pa. 712, 109 A.3d 679 (2/4/15).   
 Defendant was charged with various offenses involving assaults upon the officers 
who were apprehending him.  During the assaults a police dog named Rocco was stabbed 
and Roccoôs handler, Officer Lerza, was also stabbed. 
 During Officer Lerza's cross-examination, Rush's counsel played a 911 tape in 
which Rocco was heard barking in the background. Upon hearing the recording, Officer 
Lerza cried on the witness stand and Juror No. 6 cried as well. Here, there is no allegation 
that Juror No. 6 had a personal relationship with any party, counsel, victim, or witness. 
Accordingly, we will not presume prejudice. 
 Trial counsel did not ask that the juror be questioned and did not object when the 
trial court stated that it would further instruct the juror during closing instructions that she 
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must decide the case based on the evidence as it was presented and not be swayed by 
any bias, prejudice or emotion. Finally, Rush has offered nothing more than speculation 
about Juror No. 6's possible bias or influence on the rest of the jury. In short, he has failed 
to meet his burden to show that the jury was not impartial, and the trial court did not abuse 
its discretion in declining to dismiss Juror No. 6. 
 
 Rush, 162 A.3d 530 (Pa. Super. 5/11/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 170 A.3d 1049 (9/15/17) 
 
 
JUSTIFICATION 
 
 Defendant claims the evidence was insufficient to sustain his conviction because 
his possession of the firearm was in self-defense, negating the intent requirement 
necessary to convict him of unlawful possession of a firearm. 
 According to defendantôs testimony, during a drug transaction the victim produced 
a gun and a struggle began.  The gun eventually discharged when it was pointed at the 
victimôs back. The victim fell, the gun fell and his feet and legs slid under the vehicle. 
Defendant stepped towards the open driverôs door, he looked down and saw the gun right 
next to the victim and he grabbed the gun. Defendant grabbed the victimôs jacket and 
pulled him up to the curb, but the victim had a hold of defendantôs jacket and when 
defendant leaned back, it lifted the victim to a sitting position. The victim started grabbing 
at defendant when defendant fired a second shot into the front of the victimôs body. 
Defendant next grabbed money and shell casings he found on the ground and threw the 
gun on the floor of the driverôs side of the vehicle. Defendant took the victimôs car and 
pulled into a parking lot next to a bar. There is a hillside next to the parking lot and 
defendant tossed the gun, shell casings and car keys over into the woods, but kept the 
money. 
 Defendantôs possession of the firearm may have been justified for part, but not the 
entire time defendant exhibited control over the weapon. While defendantôs argument 
supports his defense for possession of the gun during the struggle with the victim, 
defendant fails to convince us that his continued possession of the firearm after the victim 
was shot was justified. 
 
 Miklos, 159 A.3d 962 (Pa. Super. 4/17/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 170 A.2d 1042 (9/12/17) 
 
 
JUVENILE 
 
 Our legislature could have opted to provide that a child may be adjudicated 
delinquent when the Commonwealth proves that the child committed a delinquent act, 
thereby invoking the juvenile court's broad dispositional powers to protect the public 
interest, hold the child accountable, and assist the child in developing competencies to 
become a responsible and productive member of society. It did not. Instead, the 
legislature determined that before the juvenile court may use its dispositional powers, the 
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Commonwealth must also prove that the child is in need of treatment, supervision, or 
rehabilitation. 42 Pa.C.S. § 6341(b); Interest of M.W., 614 Pa. 633, 39 A.3d 958 (2/21/12). 
This two-pronged approach suggests that the legislature intended to limit the instances 
when the state steps in to govern a juvenile's behavior and label the juvenile as a 
delinquent child. There may be some instances where a juvenile's delinquent behavior is 
better addressed by the authority of a parent, guardian, or school as opposed to the 
coercive authority of a juvenile court judge who does not otherwise know the juvenile. 
Once a child is adjudicated delinquent, the juvenile court may place the child on probation 
under supervision of the probation officer of the court under conditions and limitations the 
court prescribes, commit the child to an institution or other facility for delinquent children, 
or order payment of fines, costs, fees and restitution. 42 Pa.C.S. § 6352. Thus, 
involvement with the juvenile delinquency system has significant consequences for a 
juvenile, including the potential loss of liberty. Because the legislature opted to subject a 
juvenile to those consequences only if he or she is in of need treatment, supervision, or 
rehabilitation, we hold that in addition to proving beyond a reasonable doubt that a 
juvenile engaged in a delinquent act, the Commonwealth also must prove beyond a 
reasonable doubt that the juvenile is in need of treatment, supervision, or rehabilitation. 
 It is clear from the juvenile court's opinion that it impermissibly shifted the burden 
regarding whether defendant was in need of treatment, supervision, or rehabilitation to 
defendant. In its opinion, the court stated ñat no point in the pre-adjudication and 
disposition hearing memorandum did [defendant] aver that he either admitted or received 
treatment focused on his delinquent acts in this case.ò Moreover, despite the lack of 
relevant documentation and the Commonwealth's failure to call any of defendant's former 
service providers or other relevant witnesses, the juvenile court concluded the absence 
of evidence was affirmative proof that defendant needed treatment, when in reality all it 
demonstrates is that the Commonwealth failed to meet its burden. The juvenile court 
opined that the lack of evidence suggested that defendant's former treatment was 
ineffective now that he admitted to engaging in indecent assault. This may be the case. 
But it is also entirely possible that defendant's former treatment is what caused defendant 
to accept responsibility for his actions at age 18 during the current proceedings. Either 
way, it is the Commonwealth's burden to provide evidence proving that defendant needed 
treatment, supervision, or rehabilitation at the time of the adjudicatory hearing, and the 
Commonwealth failed to do so. 
 

N.C., 171 A.3d 275 (Pa. Super. 9/18/17) 
 
 

Pursuant to Pennsylvania Rule of Juvenile Court Procedure 632, a juvenile court 
may order the early termination of court supervision when ñthe court is satisfied that there 
are compelling reasonsò to do so. 

Compelling reasons should be viewed as encompassing three factors, a balanced 
attention to community protection, accountability, and rehabilitation. Accordingly, we view 
it incumbent upon this Commonwealth's juvenile court judges to consider specifically the 
three factors when determining whether compelling reasons exist in the context of a 
motion for early termination of delinquency supervision, as with all other dispositions 
under the Juvenile Act.  Balanced attention to the three factors, however, does not require 
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that the factors themselves be equally weighted in the ultimate decision. Instead, 
balanced attention merely requires the court to consider each factor. It may determine 
after consideration that one factor predominates in regard to the disposition of a particular 
juvenile. 

We conclude that the juvenile court properly considered the relevant factors for 
early termination. It is clear that the juvenile court primarily focused upon the rehabilitation 
needs of D.C.D., given the failure of the ñsystemò to provide D.C.D. necessary sexual 
offender treatment in his first eighteen months in the delinquency system. It is also 
apparent, however, that the court considered the need for community protection as the 
court considered only those facilities which could provide proper supervision, which would 
both protect D.C.D. from other patients as well as protecting other patients and the 
community from D.C.D. Indeed, the court rejected continued placement in the Sarah 
Reed facility because it failed to appropriately supervise him or appropriately provide for 
his care to address his needs therapeutically. We note that the two concepts are 
interrelated as proper treatment not only provides for rehabilitation but also affords 
protection for the community as it reduces the likelihood of re-offense. The juvenile court, 
additionally, addressed the accountability prong by not absolving D.C.D. of the previously 
imposed restitution requirements, which the court in its prior decisions had overtly 
imposed in regard to accountability. 

At the hearing, all participants other than the District Attorney and Juvenile 
Probation officer favored termination of delinquency supervision to allow D.C.D. to be 
transferred to Southwood. In support of termination, D.C.D.'s CYF case manager detailed 
the various reasons why CYF had determined that Southwood was the only appropriate 
facility for D.C.D. The case manager revealed that a few of the facilities contacted refused 
to accept D.C.D. due to his fire-starting incident or his low IQ level, some facilities were 
geared toward older adolescent offenders who could prey upon D.C.D., and others did 
not have any available beds or did not provide the necessary level of supervision. One 
provider, Valley Youth House, had a bed available but did not have a contract with York 
County. The CYF case manager testified that placing a child at a facility that did not 
currently have a contract with the county could take weeks or months because an 
agreement had to be negotiated between the county and the provider before D.C.D. could 
be placed. In contrast to these unacceptable facilities, the case manager explained the 
benefits of Southwood. She observed that it specialized in providing treatment to low 
functioning children with sexual abuse offending issues. Southwood additionally provided 
treatment on campus which would mitigate the problems that arose at Sarah Reed where 
D.C.D. received only three sessions of sex offender treatment during the approximately 
six months he was there. 

We conclude that the Superior Court properly determined that the juvenile court 
did not abuse its discretion in finding that compelling reasons existed to terminate 
delinquency supervision of D.C.D. to allow him to obtain immediate treatment given the 
absence of other facilities that could serve his needs. 

 
Interest of D.C.D., ___ Pa. ___, 171 A.3d 727 (10/18/17) 
 Link to: Mundy, J. dissenting 
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KIDNAPPING 
 
 The victim, 2İ years old at the time of the events, was defendantôs daughter.  The 
childôs mother died and the grandmother cared for the child several days a week. 
Grandmother became concerned for the victim for various reasons including defendant's 
placement on electronic monitoring on an unrelated parole matter and the presence of 
drug paraphernalia in his home. On December 16, 2014, grandmother filed a Petition for 
Custody in the Family Division and went to defendant's home to give him notice of the 
upcoming hearing on December 19, 2014. When defendant was not home, the custody 
petition was served on defendant the next day, December 17, 2014.  On December 18, 
2014, defendant texted grandmother and told her that the victim had already been taken 
to New York. 
 Despite having been given notice of the hearing, defendant did not appear at the 
custody hearing on December 19, 2014. At that hearing, grandmother was granted interim 
primary physical and legal custody of the victim. Following the entry of the order, 
grandmother attempted, unsuccessfully to locate defendant and the victim on her own. 
 Ultimately, the municipal police became involved.  On December 22, 2014, Officer 
Patrick Ford of the Penn Hills Police Department called defendant multiple times and left 
a voice mail regarding the custody order. Defendant called Officer Ford back and told him 
that the victim was safe in New York, that no one was going to get her, and that he didn't 
care about the custody order. The same day, Detective Hamlin, from the Wilkinsburg 
Police Department, forced entry into defendant's home and, while no one was there, he 
found signs of recent activity including lights and a television on and a computer with the 
internet up. Defendant's electronic monitoring ankle bracelet had been cut off and was 
later found in the yard of a neighbor's home. 
 The Allegheny County Child Abduction Response Team was activated with 
assistance from the FBI. On January 5, 2015, defendant was located in Altoona. The 
residence was surrounded by more than 30 local and state police officers. As the 
residence was near a school, the students were held inside the building. A hostage 
negotiator was able to make contact with defendant and was eventually able to convince 
him to release the victim and surrender peacefully. The victim was taken to Children's 
Hospital in Pittsburgh where she was found to be uninjured. 
 Defendant, among other offenses, was found guilty of kidnapping under 18 Pa.C.S.  
§ 2901(a.1)(2) (removing a minor with intent to facilitate commission of a felony or flight 
thereafter).   
 In Commonwealth v. Barfield, 768 A.2d 343 (Pa. Super. 2/1/01), a court entered a 
custody order placing Barfield's children in the custody of the Lancaster County Children 
and Youth Agency (ñLCCYAò). LCCYA then placed the children in foster care. Barfield 
later attempted to regain custody of her children, but the court denied her request. 
However, she was permitted unsupervised weekend visits with the children. After 
obtaining physical custody of them during the first scheduled visit, just a week later, 
Barfield failed to return her children to their foster mother on the scheduled date. The day 
after she was scheduled to return the children, Barfield notified the LCCYA caseworker 
that the children were fine and that they had been taken into the custody of Provident 
Embassy World Religions. Barfield was found and arrested. Tragically, however, 
Barfield's children were never found. 
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 The Barfield court reviewed the legislative history of 18 Pa.C.S. § 2904 
(Interference with Custody of Children), including the relevant Model Penal Code 
provision from which it was taken, and concluded that in enacting that statute 
Pennsylvania followed the lead of the Model Penal Code and removed from the general 
crimes of kidnapping the special case of custodial interference. 
 In Commonwealth v. Rivera, 828 A.2d 1094 (Pa. Super. 6/20/03), another case 
involving an abduction by a biological parent, this court reached a different conclusion 
based on distinguishable facts. In that case, Rivera had a child with Jennifer Helton. Even 
before the child was born, Rivera began beating Helton. After the child's birth, Helton 
sought refuge with her parents to escape from the abuse, and she also obtained a 
protection from abuse order against Rivera. That order granted Helton sole custody of the 
child, and only allowed Rivera supervised visits. Following a hearing related to assault 
charges filed by Helton against Rivera, Rivera confronted Helton at a local convenience 
store. In the parking lot, he beat her and dragged her by her hair and throat. When a 
passerby intervened, Rivera fled, and immediately went to their child's daycare facility, 
broke in, and abducted the child. He then drove around with the child, and made a series 
of telephone calls to Helton and others, demanding to meet with Helton and threatened 
her that if she refused she would never see the child again. When he was finally 
apprehended, Rivera no longer had their child, claiming that he had given her to a woman 
in a nearby community. While in prison, Rivera told a different story, admitting to another 
inmate that he had suffocated his daughter and then concealed her body in an unmarked 
grave. Rivera also tried to get the other inmate to participate in a scheme to frame a prior 
acquaintance of Rivera, the man who owned the property where the child was supposedly 
buried. The child was never found, but circumstantial evidence discovered by authorities 
supported Rivera's jailhouse confession that he had murdered the girl. Rivera was 
ultimately convicted of second degree murder, kidnapping, burglary, and Interference with 
Custody of Children (ICC). 
 On appeal, relying on Barfield and similar authorities, Rivera argued that there was 
insufficient evidence supporting his conviction for kidnapping because ñit is impossible for 
a parent to kidnap his own child.ò This court rejected Rivera's claim for several reasons. 
For instance, his claim was drastically overstated, as the Rivera court found that neither 
applicable case law, nor the kidnapping statute itself, contained any categorical bar 
against convicting a biological parent of that offense. With respect to Barfield specifically, 
this court recognized the validity of that decision, and expressly adopted its rationale. 
Unlike what had occurred in Barfield, Rivera's purpose was to seize his daughter and 
proceed to threaten danger and death upon her in an effort to coerce, manipulate and 
terrorize her mother. The facts of this case present far more than mere interference with 
custody. Rivera, in addition to removing his daughter in contravention of a court order, 
removed the child with the intent to harm or terrorize her mother. 
 This case bears a stronger resemblance to Barfield than it does to Rivera. In all 
three cases, the defendants were aware, or should have been aware, that they had acted 
in defiance of a lawful custody order which effectively prohibited their conduct. The key 
issue which distinguishes Barfield from Rivera is whether the intent to retain custody or, 
correspondingly, the intent to maintain the existing bond with the child, was the sole basis 
for the abduction. In Rivera, sufficient evidence was presented to demonstrate that Rivera 
had abducted his own child, not for the benefit of maintaining the status quo of their 
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relationship, but in order to terrorize another individual, the childôs mother. Any doubts as 
to Rivera's intent were dispelled when it was also proven by sufficient evidence that he 
had murdered the child.  In Barfield, by contrast, despite the failure of authorities to locate 
the missing children, there was still not sufficient evidence to show that Barfield had acted 
with intent beyond a desire to protect or maintain custody of the children. 
 We also note that in this case, as in Barfield, the biological parent initially held both 
lawful and actual custody of their children, but were subsequently deprived of lawful 
custody while still retaining physical custody. Neither Barfield nor defendant took their 
children away from a lawful custodian in defiance of the court order. Rather, it was by 
retaining actual custody that they had defied the order. By contrast, in Rivera, the 
defendant did not merely retain actual custody in defiance of a change in legal status. 
Instead, he abducted his daughter at a time when he was clearly not permitted to visit 
with her. This circumstance also suggests that, in this case, the Interference with Custody 
of Children statute, and not the kidnapping statute, is more appropriate given the nature 
of defendant's conduct. 
 The Commonwealth contends that it has shown sufficient evidence that defendant 
abducted the victim with the intent to commit a felony, namely, a violation of the ICC 
statute, begging the question of whether an ICC offense can be asserted in satisfaction 
of Section 2901(a.1)(2)'s intent element. We think this claim presents the same legal 
quandary as the Barfield court considered with respect to Section 2901(a.1)(4). As in 
Barfield, adopting the Commonwealth's interpretation here would eviscerate the purpose 
and effect of the ICC statue, rendering those provisions irreconcilable. 
 However, an alternative and less destructive interpretation of Section 2901(a.1)(2) 
is to conclude that ICC must be excluded as a ñfelonyò which can satisfy that intent 
element, but only in the narrow and specific circumstance where a defendant is the 
biological parent of the child addressed by the custody order in question. We conclude 
this is the most obvious and best way to maximize the effect of both statutes. The 
Commonwealth's interpretation, by contrast, sacrifices the effect of the ICC statue in order 
to maximize the effect of the kidnapping statute. We decline to adopt the latter approach. 
 Accordingly, for all the reasons stated above, we conclude that the evidence in this 
case was insufficient to establish defendant's intent pursuant to Section 2901(a.1)(2). 
Accordingly, we reverse his conviction for kidnapping. 
 
 Ortiz, 160 A.3d 230 (Pa. Super. 4/20/17) 
appeal granted, No. 45 WAP 2017 (granted 9/26/17) 
 
 
PCRA 
 
 Defendantôs sister, Stacy, testified against defendant at the trial.  During her 
testimony, Stacy denied the Commonwealth had offered her any promises or deals in 
exchange for her testimony as a Commonwealth witness. 
 More than five years after the trial, defendant received an affidavit from Stacy. In 
the affidavit, Stacy asserted that there had been a deal between her and the investigating 
officer prior to her trial testimony.  The affidavit was provided to defendant on May 3, 2016 
and the current PCRA petition was filed on June 23, 2016.   
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 Defendant suggests the transcript shows only that Stacy received a deal after 
testifying against defendant; the transcript does not reveal whether or not there was a 
promise to Stacy before defendant's trial. Defendant argues that the information 
contained in Stacyôs affidavit is a ñnewly-discovered factò that warrants an evidentiary 
hearing in this case 
 A pro se, incarcerated prisoner is no longer presumed to have knowledge of facts 
contained in public records.  The PCRA court must determine whether the facts upon 
which the claim is predicated were unknown to the petitioner.  The PCRA court must 
make that determination without any reliance on a presumption that the pro se prisoner 
had access to public records; specifically, the transcript of Stacyôs sentencing proceeding, 
held on August 22, 2011. 
 Defendant's position is that she had no reason to investigate Stacyôs records 
before defendant received her sister's affidavit. On the other hand, defendant had the 
benefit of court-appointed counsel during the litigation of her first PCRA petition, from the 
date of counsel's appointment on November 23, 2011, until November 20, 2013, when 
this court affirmed the order denying PCRA relief. Thus, the record remains unclear 
whether defendant could have discovered the alleged arrangement between her sister 
and the Commonwealth sooner with the exercise of due diligence. 
 The order of the PCRA court is vacated, and the case is remanded for an 
evidentiary hearing. 
 
 Shiloh, 170 A.3d 553 (Pa. Super. 9/8/17) 
 
  
 In 2002, David Chmiel was convicted and sentenced to death for the murder of 
three elderly siblings. At Chmiel's 2002 trial, the Commonwealth relied upon the testimony 
of a state police forensic examiner, who opined that hair found at the crime scene was 
microscopically similar to Chmiel's hair. On April 20, 2015, the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation (ñFBIò) issued a press release admitting, for the first time, that testimony by 
FBI analysts regarding microscopic hair analysis in criminal trials was erroneous in the 
vast majority of cases (hereinafter, ñFBI press releaseò). The FBI further admitted that it 
had, over the course of twenty-five years, conducted multiple training courses for state 
and local forensic examiners throughout the country that incorporated some of the same 
flawed language that the FBI examiners had used in lab reports and trial testimony. 
 On June 18, 2015, Chmiel filed a petition pursuant to the PCRA, asserting that his 
conviction and death sentence rested upon unreliable microscopic hair comparison 
evidence. Recognizing that his petition facially was untimely, Chmiel asserted that the 
FBI press release constituted a newly discovered fact that satisfied the timeliness 
exception set forth in Title 42, Section 9545(b)(1)(ii). 
 George Surma was a Pennsylvania State Police (ñPSPò) forensic scientist who 
testified for the Commonwealth at Chmiel's trial. At that time, Surma had been a forensic 
scientist with the PSP for twenty-seven years and had testified as an expert in forensic 
microscopy or electrophoresis on three to four hundred prior occasions.  
 Surma microscopically analyzed six hairs retrieved from a sweater sleeve mask 
that was found at the crime scene. This mask had been cut from a sweater and used to 
conceal the intruder's identity during the murders. The police were able to trace the 
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sweater sleeve mask to Martin Chmiel, Chmiel's brother. At trial, Surma testified that he 
used a comparison microscope to detect up to fourteen possible features of the cuticle, 
cortex, and medulla of the hair. Surma subjectively selected these fourteen bases of 
comparison by considering ñwhatever features or characteristics [he found] in that 
particular hair.ò Surma did not explain how many features had to be similar to warrant a 
conclusion of microscopic similarity, or dissimilar to preclude such a conclusion. 
Nevertheless, Surma concluded that two hairs found on the sweater sleeve mask were 
ñmicroscopically similarò to hair samples obtained from Chmiel, but not to those obtained 
from Chmiel's brother, Martin, or to the victims. The prosecutor exaggerated Surma's 
conclusions in his opening and closing statements, promising a ñmicroscopic match,ò 
between Chmiel's hairs and those found at the crime scene, and arguing that Surma's 
testimony had established such a ñmatch.ò 
 There are two newly discovered facts upon which Chmiel's underlying claim is 
predicated. First, the FBI publicly admitted that the testimony and statements provided by 
its analysts about microscopic hair comparison analysis were erroneous in the vast 
majority of cases. The FBI's revelation reverberated throughout the country precisely 
because it constituted a public admission by the government agency that had propounded 
the widespread use of such scientifically flawed testimony. The revelation was the first 
time the FBI acknowledged that its microscopic hair analysts committed widespread, 
systemic error by grossly exaggerating the significance of their data in criminal trials. 
Second, the FBI press release included the revelation that the FBI had trained many state 
and local analysts to provide the same scientifically flawed opinions in state criminal trials. 
 With these newly discovered, material facts, the FBI press release indicates that 
Surma's trial testimony may have exceeded the limits of science and overstated to the 
jury the significance of the microscopic hair analysis. Surma used microscopic hair 
analysis in an attempt to link Chmiel to the crime. The FBI now has publicly repudiated 
the use of microscopic hair analysis to link a criminal defendant to a crime. The FBI's 
repudiation and disclosure about its role in training state and local forensic examiners 
satisfies Section 9545(b)(1)(ii), and entitles Chmiel to a merits determination of his 
underlying claim. 

This Court's analysis of the National Academy of Science (NAS) Report in 
Edmiston, 619 Pa. 549, 65 A.3d 339 (4/24/13), does not control the timeliness of Chmiel's 
second PCRA petition. With respect to hair analysis, ñthe [NAS] Report reviewed prior 
studies and articles to conclude that there was no scientific support for the use of 
microscopic hair analysis for individualization that is not accompanied by mitochondrial 
DNA analysis.ò Edmiston, 619 Pa. at 568, 65 A.3d at 351. This Court concluded that the 
facts proffered in the NAS Report were not new, and had existed in various sources prior 
to publication of the report. 

Although the NAS Report compiled preexisting public data and studies and 
questioned the science underlying microscopic hair analysis, it unquestionably was not 
an admission by the authority behind the science that the science and related testimony 
were, in fact, flawed. In contrast, the FBI press release is not old wine in a new bottle; it 
was a public admission by the FBI, as the nation's premier law enforcement agency and 
the proponent of this forensic technique, of widespread error. It is this concession, not the 
suspected unreliability of the forensic evidence as developed through scientific 
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advancements, that triggers the sixty-day window within which Chmiel was required to 
file his claim. This concession did not exist in the public domain prior to April 20, 2015. 

 
 Chmiel, ___ Pa. ___, 173 A.3d 617 (11/22/17) 
  Link to: Saylor, C.J. concurring 
  Link to: Donohue, J. concurring 
  Link to: Mundy, J. dissenting 
 
 
POSSESSION 
 
 After entering the apartment, the agents observed a digital scale in plain view that 
had white powder on it. The apartment also had a trash bag in the living room area and 
a Comcast cable bill addressed to defendant at the address. The apartment was leased 
in defendant's grandmother's name. The trash bag contained cocaine. 
 Defendant told his parole agent that he was going to reside at 102 Center Avenue, 
West View, Pennsylvania. He completed Pennsylvania Board of Probation and Parole 
Form 348 on November 19, 2012, acknowledging that he would be living at the 102 
Center Avenue address. Defendant's parole officer, Agent Pekar, had attempted on 
approximately three occasions to meet with defendant at his address. On one occasion, 
defendant agreed to meet with Agent Pekar but never appeared at the address. 
 Here, defendant informed his parole agent that he lived at the address. Further, a 
bill addressed to him at the apartment from two weeks earlier was inside. Defendant's 
grandmother's name was on the lease, but there was no indication that she lived there. 
Men's clothing was located inside the apartment. The circumstantial evidence was more 
than sufficient to establish defendant used or lived inside the apartment and therefore 
constructively possessed the drugs and scale. 
 
 Coleman, 130 A.3d 38 (Pa. Super. 12/14/15) 
appeal denied, 635 Pa. 739, 134 A.3d 54 (3/16/16) 
 
 
 Police Officer Christopher Culver and his partner went to a home on North 32nd 
Street at about 9:30 PM, to execute a material witness warrant for defendant. The door 
was answered by defendant's mother. As the officers, who were in full uniform, were 
speaking with her, they saw defendant come down the stairs, look in their direction and 
run to the back of the house. After determining that the back door was locked on the 
inside, the officers proceeded into the basement, where they found defendant hiding 
under the stairs. On a dresser, Officer Culver observed a gun magazine, a bag full of 
bullets and a silver .25 caliber Raven firearm. The room where the dresser was located, 
the only non-storage room in the basement, also contained a bed, a television, shoes and 
boxes of sneakers. There was also mail and information cards on the dresser. Detective 
Michael Rocks came to the scene, which was secured by police, to execute a search 
warrant. On top of the dresser in the basement, Detective Rocks recovered three 
identification cards in the name of defendant. 
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 Testimony established that other items found on the basement dresser where the 
firearm was recovered included a sneaker box, sneakers, three identification cards 
belonging to defendant, including his driverôs license listing the residential address in 
question and a letter addressed to him. Together with defendantôs flight into the 
basement, which demonstrated a consciousness of guilt, this evidence, although 
circumstantial, was sufficient to establish that defendant was in constructive possession 
of the firearm. 
 
 Smith, 146 A.3d 257 (Pa. Super. 8/25/16) 
  Link to: Lazarus, J. concurring 
 
 
PRELIMINARY HEARING 
 
Pa.R.Crim.P. 542 

. . .  
 
(E) Hearsay as provided by law shall be considered by the issuing authority in 
determining whether a prima facie case has been established. Hearsay evidence 
shall be sufficient to establish any element of an offense, including, but not limited 
to, those requiring proof of the ownership of, non-permitted use of, damage to, or 
value of property. 

 
 
 If hearsay evidence is sufficient to establish one or more elements of the crime, it 
follows that, under the rule, it is sufficient to meet all of the elements. Accordingly, we find 
that the rule does allow hearsay evidence alone to establish a prima facie case. 

The right to confrontation is a trial right, not applicable at a preliminary hearing. 
 
 Ricker, 120 A.3d 349 (Pa. Super. 7/17/15) 
appeal dismissed, ___ Pa. ___, 170 A.3d 494 (9/28/17) 
  Link to: Saylor, C.J. concurring 
  Link to: Wecht, J. dissenting 
 
 
 No other principles of constitutional law forbid a police officer from testifying as to 
the child victimôs statement at a sexual assault interview as a substitute for live testimony 
from the victim. 
 
 McClelland, 165 A.3d 19 (Pa. Super. 5/26/17) 
  Link to: Strassburger, J. dissenting 
appeal granted, No. 2 WAP 2018 (granted 1/11/18) 
 Dolan, 167 A.3d 46 (Pa. Super. 7/7/17) 
appeal pending, No. 519 MAL 2017 (filed 8/2/17) 
Petition held pending disposition of McClelland  
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PRIOR CRIMES/SUBSEQUENT CRIMES 
  
 Defendant averred that the circumstances of a 2016 burglary appeared to be 
identical to the 2013 burglary, for which he was currently charged, such that there was a 
serious question raised as to the identity of the perpetrators.  The trial court ruled that it 
was permitting evidence with regard to the 2016 burglary of the victimôs home to be 
admitted at defendantôs trial for the 2013 burglary. 
 We conclude that the 2016 burglary incidents and the crime in this case (the 2013 
burglary) are not so highly similar, distinctive, or unusual as to reveal the handiwork of an 
individual. To clarify, although the June 23, 2016, and June 27, 2016, incidents are 
arguably themselves similar enough to be considered distinctive, the conduct in the 
instant 2013 burglary was different therefrom. 
 For instance, with regard to the instant 2013 burglary, the affidavit of probable 
cause reveals that entry was made into the victimôs home via the use of the garage door 
code, and the lockbox was opened with the use of a key, which was hanging on the wall 
near the lockbox. The victim reported there was no forced entry into the house and no 
signs of forced entry to the lockbox. Further, there were no tools utilized.  
 With regard to the 2016 incidents, on the other hand, the manner of entry into the 
house was different as compared to the 2013 burglary. Both the June 23, 2016, and June 
27, 2016, incidents involved the initial use of a woodpile to gain access to the second 
floor deck of the victimôs house in order to attempt entry through a sliding glass door. In 
the first 2016 incident, the sliding glass door was unlocked, thus requiring no force to gain 
entry; however, in the second 2016 incident, the sliding glass door was locked resulting 
in the alternate forced entry through the basement door by removing the doorôs strike 
plate to gain entry. Further, unlike with the 2013 burglary, the suspect in the June 23, 
2016, burglary attempted to pry open the lockbox and, after being unable to do so, 
apparently discovered and utilized the key hanging nearby on the wall. In the incident 
occurring four days later, the key was used with no additional damage to the lockbox. 
Therefore, unlike in the 2013 burglary, during both of the 2016 incidents, tools/force were 
utilized to either gain access to the house or to attempt to open the lockbox. 
 Based on the aforementioned, and additionally in light of the remoteness of time 
between the 2013 and 2016 incidents, we conclude that the trial court erred in allowing 
for the entry of evidence from the 2016 burglary on the basis it was so similar in nature to 
the one in this case. We agree with the Commonwealth that the fact the burglaries 
involved the same residence, and the victim reported to have similar amounts stolen in 
the 2013 and June 23, 2016, burglaries, are not sufficient factors by themselves to 
conclude the nature of the crimes was so distinctive or unusual as to be like a signature 
or the handiwork of the same individual. 
 
 Gill, 158 A.3d 719 (Pa. Super. 3/28/17) 
appeal granted, No. 65 WAP 2017 (granted 12/20/17) 
 
 
 The trial court decided against severance of offenses because the burglaries took 
place over an approximately five (5) month period within and around central 
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Pennsylvania. Each burglary usually involved the same two co-conspirators, and 
strikingly similar circumstances in each case, in the way each burglary was carried out, 
and the time of occurrence of each burglary. Each burglary occurred at night. Each 
burglary involved the dismantling of the security systems in place, either through the 
cutting of external alarm wires, or the removal of internal security mechanisms such as 
alarm panels and DVR systems and, often, both. Cash and cigarettes were the primary 
targets of the heists. This evidence, collectively, established a modus operandi (ñMOò) for 
the multi-month burglary scheme carried out by the perpetrators, evidence corroborated 
by the items discovered in the vehicle in which defendant was found and stopped by 
police following the last burglary incident. Identity evidence was also established with cell 
phone and GPS tracking data, linking defendant and his cohorts to the vicinity of the 
burglary locations at the very same time the burglaries occurred. 
 We agree with the trial court that the evidence from each of these burglaries would 
have been admissible in the trials for the others. As noted above, the evidence of each 
burglary tended to prove in the others, ñpreparationò and a coordinated ñplan,ò the 
ñidentityò of the co-conspirators, as well as a ñlack of accidentò in terms of explaining why 
defendant and his cohorts just happened to be near each location at the time of each of 
the burglaries. See Pa.R.E. 404(b)(2) (permitted uses of other-bad-acts evidence). His 
presence near eight burglaries over 5 months, where each burglary was characterized by 
substantially similar circumstances pointing to a common culprit or culprits, is powerful 
identity evidence. 
 With regard to whether the evidence from the different burglaries was capable of 
separation by the jury, and whether defendant was unduly prejudiced by the decision not 
to sever the cases, the trial court notes that the verdict speaks for itself: Defendant was 
acquitted of several burglaries and conspiracy counts, indicating that the jury clearly was 
able to parse the evidence involved in each individual case. 
 
 Cole, 167 A.3d 49 (Pa. Super. 7/7/17) 
 
 
 By denying on direct-examination that he did knowingly possess the controlled 
substances, as well as denying on cross-examination that he had admitted such 
possession during the prisonôs administrative disciplinary hearing, defendant ñopened the 
doorò to the prosecutor using the evidence of his guilty plea at the prison disciplinary 
hearing for impeachment purposes. 
 
 Murphy, ___ A.3d ___ (Pa. Super. 3/23/18) 
 
 
PRIVATE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 
 

When the district attorney disapproves a private criminal complaint solely on the 
basis of legal conclusions, the trial court undertakes de novo review of the matter. 
Thereafter, the appellate court will review the trial courtôs decision for an error of law. As 
with all questions of law, the appellate standard of review is de novo and the appellate 
scope of review is plenary. 
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When the district attorney disapproves a private criminal complaint on wholly policy 
considerations, or on a hybrid of legal and policy considerations, the trial courtôs standard 
of review of the district attorney's decision is abuse of discretion. This deferential standard 
recognizes the limitations on judicial power to interfere with the district attorneyôs 
discretion in these kinds of decisions. 

Here, defendant submitted a hand-written, multi-paged complaint consisting of 
allegations expressed largely as conclusions of law, without factual specificity to support 
the offenses alleged, including unsworn falsification to authorities, false reports to law 
enforcement authorities, false swearing, perjury, official oppression, and criminal 
conspiracy. Defendant, however, does show in his complaint that he filed it in retaliation 
for the criminal charges filed against him. Further, the general topics defendant highlights 
in his private criminal complaint are matters more properly brought to the courtôs attention 
in the course of defendantôs criminal case, through pretrial motions to suppress and at 
trial, through cross-examination and impeachment of witnesses. Limited statements, 
taken out of context from a hearing transcript that is not part of this certified record, will 
not serve to corroborate defendantôs allegations against the investigating detectives, 
members of the district attorneyôs office, and the judiciary. 
 
 In re Private Criminal Complaint of Miles, 170 A.3d 530 (Pa. Super. 8/28/17) 
 
 
PROBABLE CAUSE: COLLECTIVE KNOWLEDGE 
 
 Philadelphia police officer Joseph McCook and his colleagues were conducting 
surveillance in the vicinity of the 3200 block of North Fairhill Street.  Over the course of 
three consecutive days, Officer McCook developed probable cause to believe that the 
defendant, Yong, was involved in the sale of marijuana in that neighborhood. 
 After the observations on the third day, a search warrant was executed at 3202 
North Fairhill Street.  As Officer McCook was entering the residence, his colleague, 
Officer Gerald Gibson, seized Yong, patted him down, and recovered a .38 caliber 
revolver.  Officer Gibson, personally, lacked probable cause to seize Yong, but his 
colleague, Officer McCook, did possess probable cause.  The issue is whether the 
collective knowledge of the police officers can establish probable cause for the seizure 
when there has been no communication between the officers. 
 The collective knowledge doctrine's development in case law has created, broadly 
speaking, two formulas. The ñverticalò approach, involving communication between police 
officers, has been applied with little controversy. 
 In Commonwealth v. Kenney, 449 Pa. 562, 297 A.2d 794 (11/30/72), this Court 
upheld a warrantless arrest when the arresting officer was instructed by the lieutenant 
overseeing the entire investigation to arrest Kenney, and the lieutenant had sufficient 
probable cause to believe Kenney committed a crime.  When an officer makes an arrest 
on the direction of another officer, the operative question is not whether the arresting 
officer had independent probable cause to arrest but whether the officer who ordered the 
arrest had sufficient information to support probable cause.  A similar principle applies to 
police radio bulletins or to ñWantedò flyers. If a flyer or a bulletin has been issued on the 
basis of articulable facts supporting a reasonable suspicion that the wanted person has 
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committed an offense, then reliance on that flyer or bulletin justifies a stop.  United States 
v. Hensley, 469 U.S. 221, 105 S.Ct. 675, 83 L.Ed.2d 604 (1/8/85). 
 In contrast to the relatively non-controversial, vertical approach, the ñhorizontalò 
approach involves situations where a number of individual law enforcement officers have 
pieces of the probable cause puzzle, but no single officer possesses information sufficient 
for probable cause. In that situation, the question becomes whether the knowledge of 
each police officer should be aggregated and should be considered to be known by all of 
the police officers. 
 In this case, we are not presented with a case where numerous officers hold a 
piece of the probable cause puzzle and no officer alone has sufficient probable cause. 
We must address whether the knowledge of a single officer with probable cause [Officer 
McCook] may be imputed to another officer [Officer Gibson] where there is undisputed 
evidence that they were acting as a team, but there is no evidence the knowledge-holding 
officer [Officer McCook] gave a command or conveyed the information which gave rise to 
probable cause to the officer who lacked probable cause [Officer Gibson]. 
 Although we decline to adopt a sweeping rule authorizing the imputation of 
knowledge between officers without direction or communication, this case presents us 
with what we regard as a modest amplification of the vertical application of the collective 
knowledge doctrine. In the instant case it is undisputed Officer McCook had probable 
cause to arrest Yong, and that Officer Gibson was with Officer McCook at the scene 
working to execute the search warrant after Officer McCook had briefed him and his 
companions on the efforts, at the time Officer Gibson arrested Yong. 
 It would be hyper-technical to insist on bifurcating the knowledge of Officers 
McCook and Gibson and isolating Officer Gibson from the realities of the existing situation 
where the officers were working together and it is apparent the challenged conduct would 
have inevitably been undertaken if Officer Gibson had not acted too swiftly. Officer 
McCook would certainly have been derelict in his duties had he executed the search 
warrant with his team and failed to arrest Yong or to order his arrest when he had probable 
cause to do so. 
 Accordingly, we maintain that Pennsylvania adheres to the vertical approach of the 
collective knowledge doctrine, which instructs that an officer with the requisite level of 
suspicion may direct another officer to act in his or her stead. However, where, as here, 
the arresting officer does not have the requisite knowledge and was not directed to so 
act, we hold the seizure is still constitutional where the investigating officer with probable 
cause or reasonable suspicion was working with the officer and would have inevitably 
and imminently ordered that the seizure be effectuated. We echo that not all factual 
circumstances fit squarely within a purely vertical or horizontal framework, and we find 
this modified approach best balances the important interest of ensuring police efficacy 
and efficiency with protecting citizens' rights to be free from unconstitutional intrusions. 
Applying this approach to this case, we conclude that Yong's Fourth Amendment rights 
were not violated. 
 
 Yong, ___ Pa. ___, 177 A.3d 876 (1/18/18) 
  Link to: Donohue, J. dissenting 
 
 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=13093778755295730423&q=469+us+221&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
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http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Majority%20Opinion%20%20Reversed%20%2010339440731852088.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Dissenting%20Opinion%20%20Reversed%20%2010339440731852123.pdf?cb=1
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 If an officer is to rely upon his colleagueôs belief that defendant is a robber, that 
colleague must testify at the suppression hearing to establish probable cause for his 
belief. 
 
 Queen, 536 Pa. 315, 639 A.2d 443 (3/24/94) 

 
 
PROBABLE CAUSE: CONDUCT 
 
 Defendant next alleges that once Trooper DeLuca told Kyles and defendant that 
they were free to leave, any facts garnered during the course of the valid vehicular stop 
could not be used to justify the continued detention. In this respect, defendant relies upon 
our panel decision in Commonwealth v. Ortiz, 786 A.2d 261 (Pa. Super. 11/5/01). While 
Ortiz does stand for the proposition advanced by defendant, we conclude that it was 
wrongly decided. 
 The language [from Ortiz] implies that once an officer confers the ñfree-to go 
language,ò he may not rely upon facts ascertained prior to conferral of that verbiage to 
establish reasonable suspicion. This construction was assigned to Ortiz in 
Commonwealth v. Johnson, 833 A.2d 755 (Pa. Super. 9/25/03). 
 Thus, under Ortiz and Johnson, the current law in Pennsylvania provides that once 
a police officer informs a defendant that he is free to leave after completing a valid traffic 
stop, any facts ascertained during that initial traffic stop are nullified and may not be 
utilized to support a continued detention, even if the facts discovered during the 
processing of the traffic stop support the existence of reasonable suspicion that the 
defendant is engaging in illegal activity. 
 We conclude that Ortizôs decision is improper for two distinct reasons. First, it is 
simply analytically inconsistent for a defendant to argue that ñfree-to-goò language does 
not step down the police interdiction from a seizure to a mere encounter, but that if an 
officer does utter those words, all facts ascertained lawfully by the police officer during 
the traffic stop are erased for purposes of analyzing whether the continued detention was 
permissible. If the seizure achieved through the traffic stop never ended, and if thereby 
the defendant remained subject to a continuing detention when the traffic infraction was 
processed, then there is no reason why the facts observed by the officer during the 
constitutionally-proper traffic stop cannot be used to justify the continuation of the 
detention. If it is a continuing detention for the defendant, despite the free-to-go language, 
then by the same logic, it is a continuing detention for purposes of the police investigation. 
Additionally, we believe that the approach adopted by Ortiz conflicts with appropriate 
constitutional analysis. 
 The Ortiz position has not been accepted in the federal system. It is also not 
supported by the reasoning of Commonwealth v. Freeman, 563 Pa. 82, 757 A.2d 903 
(8/24/00). Therefore, we overrule Ortiz and Johnson to the extent that they hold that facts 
gathered during a valid traffic stop cannot be utilized to justify an investigatory detention 
occurring after a police officer has indicated that a defendant is free to leave. 
 
 Kemp, 961 A.2d 1247 (Pa. Super. 11/26/08) (en banc) 
 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=15395301983676549270&q=639+a2d+443&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
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http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/s24015_01.PDF?cb=1
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 On January 9, 2015, Sergeant Christopher Still of the Halifax Area Regional Police 
Department was on routine traffic patrol in the area of Market and North Second Streets. 
Sergeant Still observed a black sedan straddling the center yellow lines and decided to 
follow the vehicle. While following the vehicle, he conducted a check on the registration 
and found that it was expired. Sergeant Still then conducted a traffic stop on the vehicle 
based on the expired registration. 
 Sergeant Still testified that at the time of the traffic stop, defendant was the driver, 
and Mr. Lewis was the passenger.  When Sergeant Still requested the vehicle 
information, he observed defendant to be confused and her movements to be sluggish. 
Defendant provided Sergeant Still with a driver's license and an expired registration card 
but failed to provide proof of financial responsibility. While completing a citation for the 
expired registration and a warning for the failure to provide proof of financial responsibility, 
Sergeant Still observed Mr. Lewis making furtive movements around the passenger area. 
He also observed Mr. Lewis briefly open the passenger door and re-close it. Sergeant 
Still returned to the vehicle and issued defendant the citation and warning. At that time, 
Sergeant Still testified that he smelled an odor of marijuana coming from the interior of 
the vehicle. After returning defendant's documents, Sergeant Still bid defendant 
goodnight and broke contact. 
 Sergeant Still subsequently re-engaged defendant and began to ask if there was 
anything illegal in the car that he should know about. Defendant cut him off and said "no" 
and then asked if Sergeant Still wanted to search the vehicle. Sergeant Still responded 
that he would like to search the vehicle. He testified that Mr. Lewis then voluntarily stated 
that there was a marijuana pipe in the car and that the two of them had smoked marijuana 
prior to driving. 
 Aside from the traffic violations that compelled Sergeant Still to conduct the traffic 
stop, the sergeant observed, during the course of the stop, that defendant appeared 
ñconfused and her movements were sluggish.ò When Sergeant Still returned to his vehicle 
to process the paperwork supplied by defendant, he noticed that the passenger, Mr. 
Lewis, was making furtive movements around the passenger area compartment of the 
vehicle and [Mr. Lewis] also had opened up the passenger door briefly and re-closed it. 
When the sergeant returned to the driverôs side window of defendantôs car, he smelled an 
odor of marijuana coming from the interior of the vehicle. Upon smelling the marijuana, 
Sergeant Still suspected that defendant and Mr. Lewis may have been smoking marijuana 
in the vehicle and driving, which constituted the criminal offense of ñimpairment behind 
the wheelò or, in other words, DUI. Based on these facts, it was reasonable for Sergeant 
Still to suspect that defendant was engaged in criminal activity. 
 To the extent that Ngyuen, 116 A.3d 657 (Pa. Super. 4/27/15), can be interpreted 
as applying the type of limited reasonable suspicion assessment struck down in Kemp, 
we are clearly bound to follow the en banc decision in Kemp, rather than the three-judge 
panel decision in Ngyuen. We also note that the Ngyuen panel did not distinguish Kemp, 
or cite any decision by the United States Supreme Court, the Pennsylvania Supreme 
Court, or an en banc panel of this Court that could be interpreted as overruling or 
abrogating Kemp. Rather, the only decision relied upon by the Ngyuen panel was this 
Courtôs three-judge panel decision in Jones, 874 A.2d 108 (Pa. Super. 4/25/05). See 
Ngyuen, 116 A.3d at 668 (quoting Jones, 874 A.2d at 117). However, Jones was decided 
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prior to Kemp, and also applied an interpretation of Freeman, 563 Pa. 82, 757 A.2d 903 
(8/24/00), that was expressly renounced by the Kemp panel. Accordingly, defendantôs 
reliance on Ngyuen is misplaced and we are bound to follow Kemp. 
 
 Interest of A.A., 149 A.3d 354 (Pa. Super. 10/18/16) 
  Link to: Stevens, P.J.E. concurring 
appeal granted, No. 28 MAP 2017 (granted 7/5/17) 
 
 
 On February 25, 2014, defendant was stopped by Pennsylvania State Police 
Trooper Jonathan Gerken on Interstate Route 80.  Trooper Gerken was in full uniform on 
roving patrol in an unmarked vehicle. He observed a white Chevrolet Malibu traveling 
westbound, in the right lane, following a FedEx truck. Trooper Gerken stated that the 
Malibu was traveling too closely, and then the Malibu made several unsafe lane changes. 
He then initiated a traffic stop of defendant's vehicle.  
 Upon approaching the vehicle, Trooper Gerken noticed an overwhelming odor of 
air fresheners coming from the vehicle. Trooper Gerken then questioned defendant on 
his travels and he noticed that defendant was acting nervous and somewhat short in his 
responses.  After running a CLEAN/NCIC check, Trooper Gerken determined that 
defendant had a valid license. However, a criminal background check indicated that 
defendant had a 2005 arrest for a weapon out of New York. Trooper Gerken obtained a 
copy of the rental car agreement which was a one-day rental from Hertz, New Rochelle, 
New York. The agreement required the vehicle to be returned to the same location on 
February 26, 2014 at 8 a.m.  
 Trooper Gerken questioned defendant further about his travel plans and defendant 
changed his statement. Trooper Gerken then contacted his dispatcher for backup. 
Trooper Lindsay was dispatched and he arrived on scene a few minutes later. After 
defendant denied a request to search the vehicle, Trooper Gerken requested a canine 
unit to perform an exterior search of the vehicle due to suspicion of criminal activity. The 
dog indicated on the vehicle. An application for search warrant was made. After the 
search warrant was issued, defendant's vehicle was searched and 80 pounds of 
marijuana was discovered along with other paraphernalia. 
 The court, after reviewing the video from the vehicle recorder, concluded that there 
was probable cause for the vehicle stop. 
 Trooper Gerken observed several indicators of drug-related activity during the 
course of the traffic stop. First, he smelled the overwhelming odor of air freshener coming 
from inside of the vehicle. After running a check on defendant's license, Trooper Gerken 
discovered that defendant had an arrest for a weapons offense in New York. Defendant 
claimed that he was traveling from New York to Binghamton, which in Trooper Gerken's 
training and experience indicates a source area and a destination for delivery of controlled 
substances. The rental car agreement was for 24 hours. In addition, defendant was 
ñsomewhat shakyò in his demeanor. Based upon these observations, Trooper Gerken had 
reasonable suspicion to suspect illegal activity to justify the investigative detention and 
canine sniff.  
 We recognize that, when viewed in isolation, many of the facts on which the 
troopers relied appear innocuous. We would hesitate to hold that a vehicle may be 
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detained for more than an hour and subjected to a canine search merely because it had 
been rented for a one-way trip from New York to Binghamton, a purported drug 
destination, or because the driver, when stopped, appeared agitated. But we are required 
to review the circumstances in their totality, and, upon doing so, we conclude that the 
evidence was sufficient to support the trial court's determination that the troopers' 
detention of defendant was supported by reasonable suspicion. 
 
 Freeman, 150 A.3d 32 (Pa. Super. 10/31/16) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 169 A.3d 524 (5/15/17) 
 
 
 Corporal Brett Hanlon, a state trooper for 18 years, was assigned to the Bureau of 
Emergency Special Operations in the Kï9 unit. On the morning of March 7, 2013, 
Corporal Hanlon's patrol vehicle was parked on Iï80. A Kï9 dog, Draco, accompanied 
the corporal in his patrol vehicle.  
 At approximately 10:30 a.m., Randolph drove his Chrysler Town & Country 
minivan past the corporal's parked patrol cruiser on Iï80. Corporal Hanlon initiated a 
traffic stop because the minivan's windows contained an illegal tint and because he could 
not see the registration on the license plate. The driver parked the vehicle very close to 
the fog line. Corporal Hanlon referred to this as ñwhite lining,ò a technique he has 
observed drug traffickers use to expedite the traffic stop by discouraging the police officer 
from approaching the driver side of the vehicle. 
 Randolph was driving the van along with one passenger. Corporal Hanlon 
requested Randolph's license, registration, and insurance and returned to his patrol 
cruiser with these documents.  
 Corporal Hanlon ran Randolph's information and found that he had a prior drug 
trafficking conviction. After about twenty minutes, the corporal returned to Randolph's 
vehicle and directed him to exit the van. The corporal observed that there were no rear 
seats in the van. While he explained the Vehicle Code violations to Randolph, a second 
trooper, Trooper Rowland, operating a marked patrol cruiser, arrived on scene and joined 
the conversation. Corporal Hanlon advised Randolph that he was issuing a written 
warning and told Randolph that he was free to leave.  
 Moments later, however, Corporal Hanlon asked whether he could ask Randolph 
additional questions about his trip. The corporal did not tell Randolph that he did not have 
to answer any further questions. Randolph told the corporal that he and his wife had just 
moved from South Carolina to New Jersey, which was why there were no seats in his 
van. He said that she had just had a baby, and that he was travelling from Newark, New 
Jersey to Columbus, Ohio to visit a family member in the hospital. He added that his 
aunt's grandmother was in a car accident and was hospitalized with a broken leg. When 
he repeated his account, however, he said that that he was going to visit his aunt instead 
of his aunt's grandmother. Randolph stated he had no luggage in the van and did not plan 
on staying the night in Columbus, even though it was a 16ïhour round trip. When asked, 
Randolph could not name the hospital in Columbus that he was visiting. Trooper Hanlon 
found it strange that Randolph was traveling far away from home without his wife or their 
baby. Randolph admitted that he had a prior drug-related conviction.  

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A24031-16o%20-%2010286683114114485.pdf?cb=1
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 During this conversation, Trooper Rowland approached the passenger in the 
minivan and questioned him. The passenger claimed to be from New York, which 
Corporal Hanlon found strange because Randolph was from South Carolina.  
 Corporal Hanlon asked Randolph for consent to search the minivan, and Randolph 
consented. Both Randolph and the passenger were patted down and asked to stand in 
front of the vehicle. The Kï9, Draco, searched the vehicle but did not alert to anything. 
Corporal Hanlon and Trooper Rowland then searched the vehicle. Corporal Hanlon saw 
no luggage in the minivan, but he heard multiple cell phones ringing and seized the cell 
phones. When he checked between the driver and passenger seats, he observed a steel 
box extending downward from the floor that was welded to the vehicle. The box did not 
match the remainder of the undercarriage. Suspecting that the box contained drugs, 
Trooper Hanlon questioned Randolph about the box, and Randolph's demeanor 
immediately became defensive. The corporal impounded the vehicle and obtained a 
warrant to search the compartment.  
 It took considerable effort to open the compartment, which was only accessible 
through a door underneath the passenger seat of the minivan. The door was battery 
powered and could only be opened by removing the passenger door and applying power 
through wires connected to the door. The corporal managed to open the compartment by 
attaching alligator clips to the door and applying power. Inside the compartment were 550 
grams of cocaine and a digital scale. 
 The relevant language from the search warrant stated: 

I ... initiated a canine search of the vehicle with [c]anine óDracoô. 
During the search, Draco increased his breathing around the driver's 
seat floor area but did not indicate. I then initiated a hand search of 
the vehicle with Tpr. Rowland. During the search, we located multiple 
cell phones[,] one of which was ringing, [but] no luggage to indicate 
a long trip. I then looked at the undercarriage of the vehicle and 
observed an aftermarket modification between the floor [sic] that did 
not match the remainder of the undercarriage. Based on my training 
and experience[,] I recognized this modification to be a hidden 
compartment commonly used to transport guns, drugs and U.S. 
currency. I related this information to Randolph and noticed a drastic 
change in attitude . . . Canine Draco is trained and certified by the 
Pennsylvania State Police to detect the odors of cocaine, heroin, 
marijuana and methamphetamines. 

 A police officer's experience may fairly be regarded as a relevant factor in 
determining probable cause. An officer, however, cannot simply reference training and 
experience abstract from an explanation of their specific application to the circumstances 
at hand. A court cannot simply conclude that probable cause existed based upon nothing 
more than the number of years an officer has spent on the force. Rather, the officer must 
demonstrate a nexus between his experience and the search, arrest, or seizure of 
evidence. Indeed, a factor becomes relevant only because it has some connection to the 
issue at hand.6 

6We also find persuasive Professor LaFave's analysis that a police 
officer must do more to establish his level of experience than make 
a cursory assertion of its existence and relevance: 
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[T]he probable cause determination must ultimately be made 
by a judicial officer, who is not an óexpertô in matters of law 
enforcement, and . . . consequently it is incumbent upon the 
arresting or searching officer to explain the nature of his 
expertise or experience and how it bears upon the facts which 
prompted the officer to arrest or search. For example, if an 
officer at a hearing on a motion to suppress were to say that 
he made the arrest because he saw what he as an expert 
recognized as a marijuana cigarette, this is not a showing of 
probable cause. Under the probable cause standard, it must 
be possible to explain and justify the arrest to an objective 
third party, and this is not accomplished by a general claim of 
expertise. On the other hand, if the officer testifies fully 
concerning his prior experience with marijuana cigarettes and 
explains in detail just how it is possible to distinguish such a 
cigarette from other hand-rolled cigarettes, this testimony 
cannot be disregarded by the judge simply because it involves 
expertise not shared by the judge. 

LaFave, 2 Search & Seizure § 3.2(c) (5th ed. 2015). 
 The Commonwealth asserts that the following factors created probable cause: (1) 
the absence of seats and luggage in the vehicle, (2) the discovery of multiple cell phones, 
one of which was ringing, (3) Randolph's inconsistent accounts of whom he was visiting 
in Columbus, (4) his inability to name the hospital he was driving to in Columbus, (5) the 
passenger's claim that they were driving to Cleveland instead of Columbus, and (6) the 
hidden compartment welded to the undercarriage of the vehicle, which Trooper Hanlon 
claimed was a common device for transporting drugs, weapons and money. We cannot 
fault Corporal Hanlon for finding these facts suspicious, but they did not give rise to 
probable cause. 
 Corporal Hanlon's averments relating to the hidden compartment were insufficient 
for two reasons. First, the police dog, Draco, did not alert when it sniffed the area in which 
Corporal Hanlon subsequently discovered the compartment. While this alone did not 
defeat probable cause, neither did it elevate the likelihood that the corporal would find 
contraband or evidence of crime in the hidden compartment. Second, Corporal Hanlon 
failed to explain how his ñtraining and experienceò led him to recognize that the 
compartment was ñcommonly used to transport guns, drugs and U.S. currency.ò He 
neglected to list what classes he has attended or certifications he has received on this 
subject, the number or type of cases he has participated in where officers discovered 
hidden compartments containing drugs or weapons, or even how long he has been a law 
enforcement officer. Thus, his claim of ñknowledge and experienceò was an empty phrase 
that failed to tilt the scales toward probable cause.  
 Nor did discovery of the hidden compartment establish probable cause when 
viewed in conjunction with the other five facts observed by Corporal Hanlon. Collectively, 
these details indicate that Randolph and the other vehicle occupant were taking a lengthy 
road trip without luggage or seats in the rear of the vehicle, but with multiple cell phones 
in their possession; that they gave inconsistent accounts about their travel plans and 
destination; and that the vehicle had a hidden compartmentðan unusual set of 
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circumstances, but not enough for a search warrant, because they did not create a ñfair 
probabilityò that contraband or evidence of crime would be found inside the hidden 
compartment. Had Corporal Hanlon augmented these facts by describing his ñknowledge 
and experienceò vis-à -vis hidden vehicle compartments (or other details that he found 
suspicious), his affidavit might well have furnished probable cause. This subject matter, 
however, was missing from the affidavit, and we must judge this affidavit by what it 
includes, not by what potentially helpful information it omits. 
 
 Randolph, 151 A.3d 170 (Pa. Super. 11/16/16) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 168 A.3d 1284 (5/2/17) 
 
 
 State police effectuated a traffic stop of Watley and his passenger, Randy 
Hayward, after observing them traveling at ninety-five miles per hour in a forty-five mile 
per hour zone. The stop occurred at approximately 1:45 a.m. on February 14, 2009, on 
State Route 22 in Northampton County, Pennsylvania. After pulling over the vehicle, 
Trooper Michael Acevedo and Trooper Lucas Lohrman approached. Trooper Lohrman 
walked to the passenger's side of the car while Trooper Acevedo went to the driver's side, 
where Watley was seated. When asked why he was traveling at such a high rate of speed 
Watley claimed that he was going to Easton Hospital. However, Watley had passed two 
exits leading to the hospital. Watley turned over to police a Pennsylvania identification 
card with the name ñChonce Acey.ò Hayward informed police that he was Jermaine 
Jones, and his birth date was October 4, 1982, but he was unable to provide his social 
security number. 
 The troopers ran the information and learned that Jermaine Jones was an alias for 
Hayward, who had an outstanding warrant for his arrest in New Jersey. Trooper Lohrman 
removed Watley from the car and took the keys to the vehicle before allowing Watley to 
re-enter it. The troopers also asked Hayward to exit the vehicle. When Hayward stepped 
from the vehicle, police noticed that the floor mat was raised into a high bump and an 
object appeared to be underneath it. While placing Hayward under arrest, Trooper 
Acevedo lifted the floor mat and discovered a loaded .22 caliber handgun.  
 The United States Supreme Court, in addressing when a police officer may 
conduct a protective weapons search of the interior compartment of a car, has held that: 
the search of the passenger compartment of an automobile, limited to those areas in 
which a weapon may be placed or hidden, is permissible if the police officer possesses a 
reasonable belief based on specific and articulable facts which, taken together with the 
rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant the officers believing that the 
suspect is dangerous and the suspect may gain immediate control of weapons. Michigan 
v. Long, 463 U.S. 1032, 1049, 103 S.Ct. 3469, 77 L.Ed.2d 1201 (7/6/83). Our Supreme 
Court has stated that a police officer may conduct a protective weapons sweep of a 
vehicle where the officer has sufficient facts at his disposal such that a reasonably prudent 
man would have believed his safety was compromised. Commonwealth v. Morris, 537 
Pa. 417, 644 A.2d 721 (7/1/94), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1031, 115 S.Ct. 610, 130 L.Ed.2d 
519 (11/28/94). Accordingly, we look at the totality of the circumstances facing an officer 
when we examine whether that officer came to a reasonable suspicion to search for a 
weapon. 
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 The totality of the circumstances in this case gave the officers reasonable 
suspicion to support a protective search of the car for weapons. As Trooper Acevedo 
testified, upon first approaching the car and looking inside, he observed that Hayward, 
who was sitting in the passenger seat, had his knees together and was suspiciously 
covering up the area underneath his knees. After running the information Hayward 
provided through the computer, the officers discovered that there was an outstanding 
warrant for Hayward's arrest and decided to take him into custody. First, the officers told 
Watley to exit the car, took the keys out of the ignition, and permitted Watley to re-enter 
the car. They then removed Hayward from the car to take him into custody. At this time, 
Trooper Acevedo ñobserved that the floor mat was bunched up really high and that 
something was there. . .  [u]nderneath the floor mat.ò 
 Trooper Acevedo had reasonable suspicion to believe a firearm was under the 
floor mat in an area that Hayward, who had an outstanding arrest warrant, had earlier 
appeared to be covering up. Further, he had reasonable suspicion to fear for his safety, 
as Watley was still in the vehicle where he could easily access the object underneath the 
passenger's side floor mat [within armôs reach of the driver]. 
 Watley argues that neither of the troopers testified that they feared for their safety 
before looking under the floor mat, and that the officers did not search Watley prior to 
letting him back into the car. The relevant inquiry, however, is not the officers' subjective 
beliefs at any given time but the objective reasonableness of the search under the totality 
of the circumstances. The officers' discovery of the bulge in the floor mat while Watley 
was in the car fundamentally changed the totality of the circumstances.9 Trooper Acevedo 
had yet to observe the floor mat when Watley was allowed re-enter the car. Furthermore, 
although Trooper Acevedo had seen Hayward covering up an area of the car, he had no 
further reason to believe that Hayward might have been actively concealing a weapon, 
until he saw the bulge. 

9Although the occupants of the car complied the officers' instructions, 
at least up to the time Watley fled, cooperation with police does not 
erase an otherwise valid belief that a defendant may have access to 
a gun. 

 Here, the officers acted on a reasonably prudent belief that their safety was 
compromised once they saw the bulge in the floor mat in an area that an unsecured 
person in the car could readily access. 
 
 Watley, 153 A.3d 1034 (Pa. Super. 12/29/16) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 169 A.3d 574 (6/12/17) 
 
 
 On December 2, 2013, Pennsylvania Parole Agents Michael Welsh and Gregory 
Bruner conducted a routine home visit to the residence of parolee Gary Waters. Agent 
Welsh characterized the neighborhood as a ñhigh crimeò area. Waters invited the agents 
into the home, where they immediately recognized the strong odor of marijuana, which 
increased as they continued through the home. The agents and Waters proceeded 
through the front room and dining room to the kitchen, where defendant, Mathis, was 
seated in a chair, near the rear door of the home, in the midst of receiving a hair cut from 
Waters. Agent Welsh detained Waters in the front room, questioning him regarding the 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S75028-16o%20-%2010293506214821779.pdf?cb=1
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marijuana odor. Agent Welsh also noticed at this time an ashtray full of marijuana 
ñroachesò sitting on a table in the front room. However, neither agent witnessed anyone 
actually smoking, nor was there any particular indication that marijuana had been smoked 
in the kitchen. 
 Agent Welsh told defendant, ñI want to get you out of here as soon as I possibly 
can. Could you do me a favor, grab your personal belongings and come to the front 
room?ò Defendant was cooperative with all of the agent's requests. Agent Welsh testified 
that the encounter, to that point, remained relaxed and conversational, but that defendant 
appeared uneasy, and displayed broken eye contact. As defendant collected his 
belongings in the kitchen, Agent Welsh noticed that he picked up his jacket by gently 
placing a hand underneath the jacket and over top of the jacket and kind of holding it up 
to his body ñlike it was a football [or] a baby.ò  
 When defendant began walking to the other room, he continued to hold the jacket 
to his side in a ñprotecting type of gripò while also turning away from the agent, which 
revealed a bulge in the jacket. These observations caused Agent Welsh to have concerns 
regarding the agents' safety. He then asked defendant if he could pat him down for safety 
reasons, because he intended defendant not to leave the residence with a gun or drugs. 
Defendant refused, at which time Agent Welsh again noticed the bulge, described as the 
size of a cigarette pack or wallet, which further raised Agent Welsh's suspicions that 
defendant was secreting contraband or a weapon. Agent Welsh reached out to the bulge 
and felt what he believed was the handle of a firearm. He seized the jacket and pulled it 
forcefully from defendant, throwing it to the ground. Defendant was then handcuffed and 
patted down. Thereafter, Agent Welsh noticed a bag of marijuana on the floor between 
defendant's feet, while Agent Bruner recovered a handgun from the jacket. 

Defendant displayed nervous behavior and speech, and the agent observed him 
carefully cradling a jacket containing a prominent bulge approximately the size, and 
potential shape, of a handgun. As defendant moved, he angled himself in a manner 
calculated to conceal the jacket from the agent. Under these circumstances, the agent 
was justified in investigating further in order to ensure that the object was not a firearm. 
Although defendant correctly notes that some of the considerations recited above, when 
viewed in isolation, would not support a Terry frisk, he fails to appreciate that inferences 
may be drawn by evaluating these items collectively. When so assessed, the specific 
facts articulated by the officer warranted his belief that defendant may have posed a threat 
to the safety of the officer and others within the residence. 
 
 Mathis, ___ Pa. ___, 173 A.3d 699 (11/22/17) 
  Link to: Dougherty, J. dissenting 
  Link to: Wecht, J. dissenting 
 
 
PROBABLE CAUSE: DESCRIPTION, PROXIMITY 
 
 Officer Joseph Hogan and Officer Sean Parker were on patrol in Philadelphia in 
their police uniforms and marked patrol car. At approximately 8:25 p.m., the officers 
received a radio call from an unknown source about a robbery with a firearm of a store at 
1700 Susquehanna Avenue in Philadelphia. The perpetrators were described as two 
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black males wearing black hoodies, blue jeans, and masks. Approximately five minutes 
later, the officers saw defendant and another male walking along the 1700 block of West 
Lehigh Avenue, which is about five blocks away from where the robbery occurred. 
Defendant was wearing a black hoodie and gray sweatpants.  There were no other 
individuals or parked vehicles on the block. 
 Officer Hogan was slowly driving the patrol car as he and Officer Parker surveyed 
defendant and the other male. Officer Hogan then stopped the patrol car about five feet 
away from the two males. Officer Parker got out of the patrol car and told the two males 
to stop. The other male stopped walking while defendant, who appeared nervous, turned 
his back towards the patrol car and started slowly walking away from the officers. 
 Officer Hogan exited the patrol car and also told defendant to stop. Defendant 
complied and Officer Hogan approached defendant and told him to remove his hands 
from his pockets. Defendant initially complied but put his hands back in his pockets while 
speaking to Officer Hogan. Officer Hogan noticed that defendantôs pocket was weighed 
down and saw the handle of a black handgun protruding from his pocket. Officer Hogan 
seized the firearm and arrested defendant. 
 At the suppression hearing, Officer Hogan testified that defendant and the other 
male were merely walking down the street when the officers pulled over their patrol 
vehicle. He further testified that defendant did not run but instead began slowly walking 
away while the other man spoke with Officer Parker. Officer Hogan did not notice that 
defendantôs pocket appeared to be weighed down or that there was a handle of a gun 
sticking of his pocket until after he told defendant to stop, approached him, and asked 
him to remove his hands from his pockets.  
 Officer Hogan further testified that the only reason why they stopped defendant 
and the other male was because they matched the description of the robbery suspects. 
Nevertheless, the suspectsô description was provided by an unknown source and the 
radio call only described the suspects as two black males wearing black hoodies, blue 
jeans and masks. No further physical description of the suspects was provided.  
Defendant, a black male, was wearing a black hoodie with grey sweatpants when the 
officers stopped him. Thus, under the totality of the circumstances, the quality and 
quantity of the information provided by the unknown source was insufficiently reliable to 
establish reasonable suspicion. 
 Defendantôs personal conduct when he was stopped did not support an objective 
basis that he was involved in any illegal activity. 
 
 Morrison, 166 A.3d 357 (Pa. Super. 6/21/17) 
 
 
 Detective Michael Rocks testified that he was assigned to investigate a shooting 
that occurred on December 12, 2014, around the 2500 block of North 30th Street in 
Philadelphia. Detective Rocks received information from another police officer, Officer 
Calabrese, who spoke to the shooting victim at the hospital. Officer Calabrese advised 
Detective Rocks that the victim stated ñhe couldn't believe Ju Ju shot Him.ò The victim 
also provided Officer Calabrese a physical description of ñJu Juò (e.g., height and weight), 
which Officer Calabrese relayed to Detective Rocks. Thereafter, Detective Rocks 
reviewed numerous photographs from files relating to previous pedestrian stops in the 
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shooting area. Based on the suspect's nickname, physical description, and the 
neighborhood of the shooting, Detective Rocks ultimately developed defendant as the 
suspected shooter.  
 On December 23, 2014, after already developing defendant as a suspect, 
Detective Rocks received a phone call at Central Detectives from a female identifying 
herself as the victim's girlfriend. The girlfriend advised that ñthe male that shot her 
boyfriend was standing on the 2600 block of North 30th Street . . . wearing a grey jacket 
and jeans.ò The girlfriend did not identify the alleged shooter by name but provided 
Detective Rocks a ñclothing description.ò Detective Rocks subsequently called Officer 
Alexander McChord and his partner, Officer D'Amico, who were uniformed patrol officers 
in the area, and asked them to go to that location to see if they observed the male who 
matched that description. In addition to relaying the girlfriend's clothing description of the 
person she identified as the shooter, Detective Rocks informed Officer McChord that his 
suspect's name in the shooting was Julius Brockman. Although defendant was still only 
a suspect and no arrest warrant had been issued for him, Detective Rocks requested that 
if the officers saw defendant at the described location, ñto stop him and bring him to 
Central Detectives for investigation.ò  
 Officer McChord already knew defendant ñfrom seeing him in the neighborhoodò 
and because his partner arrested him earlier that year. Upon arriving at the location, 
Officer McChord, who was the front seat passenger in the patrol car, recognized 
defendant. Officer D'Amico pulled the patrol car beside defendant and Officer McChord 
then ñopened up the door and told [defendant] to stop.ò  
 Officer McChord testified that he ñtold [defendant] to stop right thereò in a ñnormal 
mannerò i.e., Officer McChord neither yelled stop nor said it with a ñsoft voice.ò Moreover, 
Officer McChord kept his firearm holstered and no lights or sirens were activated on the 
patrol vehicle. Officer McChord testified that his ñwhole pointò of stopping defendant was 
not to arrest him but ñfor investigation purposes.ò  
 As soon as Officer McChord told defendant to stop, defendant ñimmediately 
reached for his front right side of his waistband holding on to something and then fled.ò 
Officer McChord believed defendant was clutching a firearm in his waistband because he 
had seen individuals clutch firearms in such manner between fifteen (15) and twenty (20) 
occasions. In Officer McChord's experience, when someone keeps an unholstered 
firearm in his/her waistband, he/she must grasp the weapon while running or it will fall out 
of his/her waistband.  
 As defendant fled the officers, Officer McChord observed him remove from his 
waistband a black handgun and a ñclear bag,ò both of which defendant dropped in front 
of a black SUV parked on the street. Although Officer McChord eventually lost sight of 
defendant when the latter ran down a side street, his partner, Officer D'Amico arrested 
defendant the very next day pursuant to an arrest warrant. 
 Detective Rocks testified that during the course of his investigation he developed 
defendant as a suspect after receiving information from Officer Calabrese obtained from 
the victim concerning the nickname of the alleged shooter. The victim had indicated to 
Officer Calabrese that he could not believe ñJu Juò had shot him, and that the shooter 
was a short, black male. Based upon the nickname and description the victim provided 
along with information regarding the area in which the shooting had occurred, Detective 
Rocks suspected defendant was the perpetrator. 
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 The officers did not rely on an uncorroborated, anonymous tip in effecting the stop. 
On December 23, 2014, a female who identified herself by name and as the victim's 
girlfriend informed Detective Rocks the man who had shot her boyfriend was standing in 
the 2600 block of North 30th Street and was wearing a gray jacket and jeans. Although 
he never had interviewed the victim's girlfriend in person, Detective Rocks had had 
contact with her ñseveral timesò between December 12th, the day of the shooting, and 
December 23, when she provided the aforementioned information to him. In fact, she 
obtained the Detective's contact information from the professional card which he had left 
at the hospital with the victim. 
 The officers had reasonable suspicion to stop defendant. Defendant is not entitled 
to suppression of the contraband he discarded during his flight. 
 
 Brockman, 167 A.3d 29 (Pa. Super. 7/5/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 176 A.3d 235 (12/13/17) 
 
 
PROHIBITED OFFENSIVE WEAPON 
 
 Defendantôs son was suspended from elementary school for three days for 
bringing a knife to school. On September 4, 2014, at 2:45 PM, defendant and his wife 
attended a meeting at the school to discuss the disciplinary action with school 
administrators. Defendant arrived at the meeting directly from his job as a carpenter. 
 When defendant arrived at the conference, he had in his pocket a 3-4 inch 
pocketknife that he uses not only at work as a carpenter, but also to sharpen pencils, 
whittle sticks with his sons, and ñopen tuna cans when my wife forgets to pack me a tuna 
can opener.ò  
 During the meeting, defendant removed the knife from his pocket and placed it 
forcefully on a conference table around which the meeting attendees were seated and 
asked whether he would be arrested. Following the meeting, on September 14, 2014, the 
police charged defendant with Possession of Weapon on School Property and other 
offenses. 
 18 Pa.C.S. § 912(c) (emphasis added) sets forth the statutory defense: It shall be 
a defense that the weapon is possessed and used in conjunction with a lawful supervised 
school activity or course or is possessed for other lawful purpose. 
 Contrary to the trial courtôs conclusion, the ñother lawful purposeò language does 
not restrict the defense provided in Section 912(c). Instead, the phrase does just the 
opposite: it expands the defense to include any additional or different lawful reason not 
otherwise mentioned in the first clause of Section 912(c), regardless of whether it is 
school-related. To conclude otherwise, would make ñpossessed for other lawful purposeò 
redundant with ñpossessed and used in association with a lawful supervised school 
activity or course.ò 
 We conclude that the language of Section 912(c), though broad, is unambiguous, 
and that defendant possessed his pocketknife on school grounds for ñother lawful 
purpose.ò 
 
 Goslin, 156 A.3d 314 (Pa. Super. 2/16/17) (en banc) 
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PROSECUTORIAL CONDUCT: DOUBLE JEOPARDY 
 
 Prior to trial in Philadelphia Municipal Court, the Municipal Court judge granted a 
motion to suppress a gun.  The legal theory behind the suppression ruling was that the 
defendantôs consent to search her residence was involuntary because the police failed to 
provide her with Miranda warnings. 
 During the trial, the victim testified that defendant had pointed a gun at her.  
Defense counsel objected to the victimôs testimony about the gun and moved for a 
mistrial. The court sustained defense counselôs objection and granted a mistrial. Defense 
counsel then requested a ñjudgment of acquittalò based on prosecutorial misconduct. The 
court responded: ñThe motion is granted and a mistrial is granted. Jeopardy has attached, 
and so at this point . . . this case is done. The motion for judgment of acquittal is granted.ò  
 When the suppression court determines that the defendantôs consent to a search 
is involuntary, the remedy is to suppress evidence obtained as a result of the invalid 
consent. The suppression order does not extend to evidence that precedes the 
involuntary consent. Here, the victim testified that defendant pointed a gun at her. This 
incident took place before the police arrivedðindeed, this incident triggered the victimôs 
report to the policeðand was not the product of defendantôs consent to search her 
residence. Thus, the victimôs testimony fell outside the scope of the Municipal Courtôs 
suppression order, which only suppressed evidence obtained as a result of her invalid 
consent. Accordingly, we conclude that (1) the Commonwealth did not commit any 
misconduct in eliciting the victimôs testimony, (2) the Municipal Court abused its discretion 
in granting defense counselôs motion for a mistrial on the basis of this testimony, and (3) 
the Commonwealth is entitled to a new trial against defendant in the Municipal Court. 
 

Baldwin, 158 A.3d 1287 (Pa. Super. 4/10/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 170 A.3d 992 (8/22/17) 
 
 
Issue to be decided: 
10-12 EAP 2017 
Commonwealth, Appellant v. Jawayne Brown 
Commonwealth, Appellant v. Richard Brown 
Commonwealth, Appellant v. Aquil Bond 
Should a claim barring retrial on the basis of double jeopardy pursuant to Commonwealth 
v. Smith, 532 Pa. 177, 615 A.2d 321 (9/18/92), require factual findings made by the 
original trial judge, or a hearing based on further testimony, regarding the intent of the 
prosecutor? [Underlying issue was improper bolstering of a witness during summation] 
Granted 2/28/17, Argued 9/12/17 
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PROSECUTORIAL CONDUCT 
 

"Criminals" who had "cold-bloodedly murdered" the victim. Remarks fairly 
represented the evidence and were not so graphic as to exceed bounds of permissible 
oratorical flair. 
 

Rainey, 540 Pa. 220, 656 A.2d 1326 (3/24/95)   
 Lawrence, 165 A.3d 34 (Pa. Super. 5/30/17) 
 
 
 The prosecution was required to prove defendant killed the victim with malice.  The 
prosecutor used the same offensive words defendant uttered to express his disdain for 
the victim. (ñF--- that n-----, ain't nobody going to rob me.ò) Evidence concerning the 
relationship between the defendant and a homicide victim is relevant and admissible for 
the purpose of proving ill will, motive or malice. With the established latitude afforded a 
prosecutor to vigorously present his case and the need to prove beyond a reasonable 
doubt each element of each crime, there was no misconduct here. The prosecutor was 
merely using defendant's exact words in the context and manner in which he conveyed 
them. 
 
 Lawrence, 165 A.3d 34 (Pa. Super. 5/30/17) 
 
 
RETROACTIVITY 
 

A claim for relief premised jupon the Apprendi and Alleyne line of cases may not be 
raised in an otherwise untimely PCRA petition since those cases have not been held to 
apply retroactively.  The PCRA petitions were properly dismissed as having been untimely 
filed. 

 
Boyd, 923 A.2d 513 (Pa. Super. 5/2/07) 

appeal denied, 593 Pa. 754, 932 A.2d 74 (9/6/07)  
Wojtaszek, 951 A.2d 1169 (Pa. Super. 6/2/08) 
Miller, 102 A.3d 988 (Pa. Super. 9/26/14)  

 
 

Alleyne not retroactively available to PCRA petitioners, even if the petition is timely 
filed, if the original judgment of sentence has become final. 
  

Washington, 636 Pa. 301, 142 A.3d 810 (7/19/16) 
  Link to: Todd, J. concurring 
  Link to: Dougherty, J. concurring 
 Ciccone, 152 A.3d 1004 (Pa. Super. 12/13/16) (en banc) 
  Link to: Bender, J. dissenting 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 169 A.3d 564 (6/5/17) 
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Alleyne was decided 5 days after defendantôs motion to modify sentence was 

denied.  Defendant filed a timely PCRA petition seeking relief based upon Alleyne. 
Because defendantôs sentence was rendered illegal [by the decision in Alleyne] before 
his judgment of sentence became final and he presented his claim in a timely petition for 
post-conviction relief, he is entitled to have his illegal sentence remedied. 
 
 DiMatteo, ___ Pa. ___, 177 A.3d 182 (1/18/18) 
  Link to: Baer, J. concurring 

 
 
 Defendant pled guilty on May 26, 2015.  He filed a PCRA petition on July 15, 2016 
seeking to have his guilty plea withdrawn on the basis of the intervening decision in 
Birchfield v. North Dakota, ___ U.S. __, 136 S.Ct. 2160, 195 L.Ed.2d 560 (6/23/16). 
 Neither the United States Supreme Court nor our Supreme Court has held that 
Birchfield is to be applied retroactively to cases like the one herein where the judgment 
of sentence had become final prior to its disposition. 
 
 Wilcox, 174 A.3d 670 (Pa. Super. 11/13/17) 
appeal pending, No. 433 WAL 2017 (filed 11/21/17) 
 
 
 Defendant entered an open guilty plea to one count of Driving Under the Influence. 
On December 21, 2015, the trial court sentenced defendant to an aggregate term of 18 
months to 5 years imprisonment, applying the mandatory minimum sentencing provision 
set forth in 75 Pa.C.S. § 3804(c)(3) (imposing a mandatory minimum sentence of one 
year of imprisonment and a fine of $2,500 for failing to consent to a blood test). Defendant 
did not file a direct appeal. Defendant's judgment of sentence, therefore, became final on 
January 20, 2016.  Defendant filed a pro se PCRA Petition, his first, on August 17, 2016, 
challenging the legality of his mandatory minimum sentence pursuant to Birchfield v. 
North Dakota, ___ U.S. __, 136 S.Ct. 2160, 195 L.Ed.2d 560 (6/23/16). 
 The new Birchfield rule, as it applies to Pennsylvania's DUI statutes providing for 
enhanced penalties, does not alter the range of conduct or the class of persons punished 
by the law: DUI remains a crime, and blood tests are permissible with a warrant or 
consent. Rather, the new rule precludes application of this mandatory minimum 
sentencing provision providing an enhanced penalty for defendant's refusal to submit to 
blood testing. This change in the Pennsylvania sentencing enhancements applicable to 
DUI convictions is procedural because the new Birchfield rule regulates only the manner 
of determining the degree of defendant's culpability and punishment. 

Based on the foregoing, we hold that Birchfield does not apply retroactively in 
Pennsylvania to cases pending on collateral review. Accordingly, defendant's judgment 
of sentence is not illegal on account of Birchfield and he is not entitled to relief. 
 
 Olson, ___ A.3d ___ (Pa. Super. 2/14/18) 
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The recent holding in Muniz, ___ Pa. ___, 164 A.3d 1189 (7/19/17), created a 
substantive rule that retroactively applies in the collateral context, because SORNA 
punishes a class of defendants due to their status as sex offenders and creates a 
significant risk of punishment that the law cannot impose. The Muniz decision should be 
retroactively applied in state collateral courts to comply with the United States and 
Pennsylvania Constitutions. See Montgomery v. Louisiana, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S.Ct. 718, 
193 L.Ed.2d 599 (1/25/16). 

Our Supreme Court decided Muniz on July 19, 2017, while defendant's case was 
on appeal from the denial of collateral relief, and nearly two years after he filed his 
counseled PCRA petition. Therefore, the best resolution of this case is to vacate, remand, 
and offer defendant the opportunity to argue Muniz. Accordingly, we vacate the order 
denying PCRA relief and remand this case to the PCRA court to allow defendant to amend 
his petition to include a Muniz claim. 
 
 Rivera-Figueroa, 174 A.3d 674 (Pa. Super. 11/14/17) 
 
BUT SEE: 
 We acknowledge that this Court has declared that, ñMuniz created a substantive 
rule that retroactively applies in the collateral context.ò Commonwealth v. Rivera-
Figueroa, 174 A.3d 674, 678 (Pa. Super. 2017). However, because defendantôs PCRA 
petition is untimely (unlike the petition at issue in Rivera-Figueroa), he must demonstrate 
that the Pennsylvania Supreme Court has held that Muniz applies retroactively in order 
to satisfy 42 Pa.C.S. § 9545(b)(1)(iii). Because at this time, no such holding has been 
issued by our Supreme Court, defendant cannot rely on Muniz to meet that timeliness 
exception. 
 
 Murphy, ___ A.3d ___ (Pa. Super. 2/20/18) 
appeal pending, No. 202 MAL 2018 (filed 3/2/18) 
 
 
RULE 600 
 
 Here, Officer Miller, who was the affiant and lead investigator, was unavailable for 
March 10, 2015, due to previously scheduled training related to his law enforcement 
employment. The officerôs unavailability was beyond the Commonwealthôs control, and 
thus, we agree with the trial court that the period of time attributed thereto constitutes 
ñexcusable delay.ò Thus, as the trial court held, defendantôs trial commenced prior to the 
adjusted run date such that there was no Pa.R.Crim.P. 600 violation. 
 We specifically find unavailing defendantôs argument that Officer Millerôs 
unavailability does not constitute ñexcusable delayò since the officer, as opposed to a 
member of the district attorneyôs office, requested the continuance [of the preliminary 
hearing] without consultation with the district attorneyôs office.  Pursuant to the plain and 
express language of Rule 542, in the absence of a Commonwealth attorney being present 
at the preliminary hearing, he was permitted to function as such in a role as limited by the 
Rule. Consequently, since the Rule provides that Officer Miller was permitted to function 
as a Commonwealth representative for purposes of questioning witnesses, and if needed, 
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make recommendations to the issuing authority, it would be absurd to conclude Officer 
Miller was not a ñpartyò for purposes of requesting a continuance. 
 
 Wendel, 165 A.3d 952 (Pa. Super. 6/7/17) 
 
 
RULES OF CRIMINAL OR JUVENILE COURT PROCEDURE (RECENT) 
 
Pa. Rule of Criminal Procedure 500 (Comment amendment, effective October 1, 2016) 
 Court order and committee report 
 Preservation of testimony of a witness who ñmay be unavailableò includes one who 
is ñelderly, frail, or demonstrates the symptoms of mental infirmity or dementia.ò 
 
 
Pa. Rule of Criminal Procedure 205 (amendment, effective October 1, 2017) 

Court order and committee report 
 New Subsection 205(B) of the Rule clarifies that a search warrant may authorize 
the seizure of electronic storage media or electronically stored information. 
 The electronic information need not be reviewed immediately, at the scene of the 
seizure. The information may be copied and reviewed at a later time. 
 A search warrant is executed within the two day deadline when the information or 
media is initially seized. 
 
 
Pa. Rule of Criminal Procedure 564 (amendment, effective December 21, 2017) 
 Court order and committee report 
 

RULE 564.  AMENDMENT OF INFORMATION. 
 
The court may allow an information to be amended, provided that the 
information as amended does not charge offenses arising from a 
different set of events and that the amended charges are not so 
materially different from the original charge that the defendant would 
be unfairly prejudiced. Upon amendment, the court may grant such 
postponement of trial or other relief as is necessary in the interests of 
justice. 

 
The Comment to the Rule states that the rule was amended ñto more accurately 

reflect the interpretation of this rule that has developed since it first was adopted in 1974. 
See [Brown, 556 Pa. 131, 727 A.2d 541 (3/25/99). See also Beck, 78 A.3d 656 (Pa. 
Super. 10/10/13); Page, 965 A.2d 1212 (Pa. Super. 2/3/09); Sinclair, 897 A.2d 1218 (Pa. 
Super. 4/11/06)].ò 
 
 
  

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S35034-17o%20-%2010312734817923813.pdf?cb=1
https://www.pabulletin.com/secure/data/vol46/46-38/1594.html
http://www.pabulletin.com/secure/data/vol47/47-32/1335.html
https://www.pabulletin.com/secure/data/vol47/47-2/46.html
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-171-98.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A18041-13o%20-%201015802721759650.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/s65024_08.pdf?cb=1
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Pa. Rules of Criminal Procedure 203 and 513 (amendments, effective January 1, 2018) 
Court order and committee report 
Affiant may now communicate with the issuing authority by telephone. 
Issuing authority shall verify the identity of the affiant 
Issuing authority has discretion to require video communication or in-person 

appearance if there is a ñconcern regarding the identity of the affiant.ò 
COMMENT: Verification methods include, but are not limited to: 

 Call back system Signature comparison Password system 
 
 
Pa. Rule of Criminal Procedure 462 (amendment, effective April 1, 2018) 
 Court order and committee report 
 

RULE 462. TRIAL DE NOVO. 
. . . 
(F) If the defendant has petitioned the trial judge to permit the taking 
of an appeal nunc pro tunc and this petition is denied, the trial judge 
shall enter judgment in the court of common pleas on the judgment of 
the issuing authority. 
 

 No remand to the Magisterial District Judge 
 
 
Pa. Rule of Criminal Procedure 590 (amendment, effective April 1, 2018) 
 Court order and committee report 
 No local rule of procedure may fix a deadline for acceptance of a plea agreement. 
 A plea agreement may be accepted by the court at any time prior to the verdict. 
 
 
Pa. Rule of Juvenile Court Procedure 407(amendment, effective April 1, 2017) 
 Court order and committee report 
 Changes to the Admission [Guilty Plea] Colloquy Form 
  Amendments to include more age-appropriate language 

 Inform a juvenile, admitting to an act of sexual violence, about possible court 
ordered involuntary treatment at age 20 

 
 
Pa. Rules of Juvenile Court Procedure 512, 610, 612 (amendments, effective 10/1/17) 
 Court order and committee report 
 Requirement of a post-dispositional rights colloquy 
 
 
Pa. Rule of Juvenile Court Procedure 240 (amendment, effective July 1, 2017) 
 Court order and committee report 
 Juvenile detention hearing may not be waived 
 Stipulations and agreements are permissible, but not a waiver of the hearing 

https://www.pabulletin.com/secure/data/vol47/47-47/1932.html
https://www.pabulletin.com/secure/data/vol48/48-2/49.html
https://www.pabulletin.com/secure/data/vol48/48-5/177.html
https://www.pabulletin.com/secure/data/vol47/47-6/226.html
https://www.pabulletin.com/secure/data/vol47/47-21/877.html
https://www.pabulletin.com/secure/data/vol47/47-22/919.html
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SEARCH AND SEIZURE: ABANDONMENT 
 
 On January 24, 2014, Officer Kelly Robbins was the recorder in the vehicle being 
operated by her partner, Officer Donald Vandermay, on Rosehill Street. They noticed 
McCoy, who appeared to come onto the street via an alley.  Officer Robbins and Officer 
Vandermay were travelling in the opposite direction of McCoy. Officer Vandermay 
stopped the police vehicle ñafter about a car length.ò Officer Robbins' door was closest to 
the east side, and McCoy was also on the east side of the street. Officer Robbins stated 
McCoy ñcame out of the alleyway, started to walk southbound, made eye contact, stopped 
walking, continued walking, and when he got just past my door is when I went to open it.ò 
She testified, ñAs soon as I open my doorðactually as soon as I pull the handle and it 
makes a popping sound, that's when he started to run.ò  Officer Robbins followed McCoy. 
She saw McCoy, on Somerset Street, throw a gun into a Mazda pickup truck. McCoy was 
subsequently apprehended. 
 A seizure does not occur where the police officers merely approach a person in 
public and question the individual or request to see identification. Here, the officers' initial 
action wasðif anythingða mere encounter, which does not need to be supported by any 
level of suspicion and requires no obligation to stop or respond. 
 Unprovoked flight in a high crime area is sufficient to create a reasonable suspicion 
to justify an investigatory stop. Therefore, McCoy's evasive and suspicious behavior in a 
high crime area on a particularly cold winter night, along with his unprovoked flight and 
the officers' extensive years of training and experience, gave the officers reasonable 
suspicion that criminal activity was afoot. Because police possessed reasonable 
suspicion, their pursuit of McCoy was lawful. 
 
 McCoy, 154 A.3d 813 (Pa. Super. 1/27/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 169 A.3d 1036 (7/6/17) 
 
 
SEARCH AND SEIZURE: BLOOD 
 
Pennsylvania consequences of Birchfield v. North Dakota, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S.Ct. 2160, 
195 L.Ed.2d 560 (6/23/16) 
 
Penn DOT has revised the DL-26 into separate breath test and blood test versions.  
 The blood test version omits any warning of a criminal penalty. 
 

Remand for reconsideration of suppression ruling finding voluntary consent to a 
blood test in light of ñpartial inaccuracyò of police officerôs warning of criminal penalties for 
refusal of blood test. 

 
Evans, 153 A.3d 323 (Pa. Super. 12/20/16) 
 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S74019-16o%20-%2010297055215873596.pdf?cb=1
https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/15pdf/14-1468_8n59.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A16019-16o%20-%2010292528614755435.pdf?cb=1
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Remand for further factual findings.  Record would support a conclusion that 
defendant consented to a blood test prior to his having been read the old DL-26 which 
threatened a jail sentence for refusal to consent to a blood test. 

 
Haines, 168 A.3d 231 (Pa. Super. 8/2/17) 

 
 

Monarch refused not only the blood test, but also a breath test. Thus, the enhanced 
penalties in 75 Pa.C.S. § 3803(b)(4) were permissible as applied in this case. 

 
Monarch, 165 A.3d 945 (Pa. Super. 6/6/17) 

appeal granted, No. 1 WAP 2018 (granted 1/11/18) 
 

 
Defendant was never advised that she would be subject to enhanced criminal 

sanctions upon refusal of blood testing. Both parties agree that Trooper Hogue informed 
defendant only that her driverôs license would be suspended if she refused blood testing. 
Defendant signed a DL-26 form acknowledging that she was advised of this particular 
consequence. This form does not contain any reference to enhanced criminal penalties. 
Thereafter, defendant agreed to submit to blood testing, which revealed a blood alcohol 
level of 0.274.  Suppression is not required. 

 
Smith, ___ A.3d ___ (Pa. Super. 12/28/17) 
 
 
Birchfield v. North Dakota, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S.Ct. 2160, 195 L.Ed.2d 560 

(6/23/16), requires the suppression of blood test results obtained after a threat of 
enhanced punishment for refusal of the test.  It does not matter that breath testing for 
drug content is not available as a lesser constitutional intrusion than a blood test.  It does 
not matter that the enhanced sentence for refusal of chemical testing is no greater than 
the sentence for driving with a controlled substance in the blood, 75 Pa.C.S. § 3802(d). 

 
Ennels, 167 A.3d 716 (Pa. Super. 7/11/17) 
 Link to: Stevens, P.J.E. dissenting 

appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, ___ A.3d ___ (2/22/18) 
 
 
 The decision in South Dakota v. Neville, 459 U.S. 553, 103 S.Ct. 916, 74 L.Ed.2d 
748 (2/22/83), permitting evidence of defendantôs blood test refusal, remains good law 
notwithstanding the ruling in Birchfield v. North Dakota, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S.Ct. 2160, 
195 L.Ed.2d 560 (6/23/16). 
 
 Bell, 167 A.3d 744 (Pa. Super. 7/19/17) 
appeal pending, No. 707 MAL 2017 (filed 10/20/17) 
 
  

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A15010-17o%20-%2010319442321916731.pdf?cb=1
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http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S24011-17o%20-%2010312574317901362.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010337136831190078.pdf?cb=1
https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/15pdf/14-1468_8n59.pdf
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https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/15pdf/14-1468_8n59.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A11037-17o.pdf?cb=3
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 Defendant pled guilty on May 26, 2015.  He filed a PCRA petition on July 15, 2016 
seeking to have his guilty plea withdrawn on the basis of the intervening decision in 
Birchfield v. North Dakota, ___ U.S. __, 136 S.Ct. 2160, 195 L.Ed.2d 560 (6/23/16). 
 Neither the United States Supreme Court nor our Supreme Court has held that 
Birchfield is to be applied retroactively to cases like the one herein where the judgment 
of sentence had become final prior to its disposition. 
 
 Wilcox, 174 A.3d 670 (Pa. Super. 11/13/17) 
appeal pending, No. 433 WAL 2017 (filed 11/21/17) 
 

 
On December 29, 2012, at approximately 3:30 p.m., Philadelphia Police Officer 

James Bragg was on routine patrol when he received a radio call indicating that there 
was a person screaming in the vicinity of 100 West Penn Street. The radio call warned 
Officer Bragg to be on the lookout for a maroon SUV. When Officer Bragg arrived on West 
Penn Street, he observed a vehicle matching that description with its engine running and 
its brake lights repeatedly flickering on and off. A man later identified as Myers was sitting 
in the driver's seat. Officer Bragg activated his siren and emergency lights and pulled up 
behind the maroon SUV. Myers exited the vehicle and began to stagger toward the officer, 
even though he had not been ordered to step out of the vehicle. Myers tried to speak, but 
his speech was so slurred that Officer Bragg could not understand what he was saying. 
Officer Bragg detected the smell of alcohol emanating from Myers, and observed a bottle 
of brandy on the front seat of the SUV. The bottle was in plain view, as Myers had left the 
driver's door open when he exited the vehicle. Based upon his observations and 
experience, Officer Bragg believed that Myers was intoxicated to the point that he 
required medical attention. Officer Bragg placed Myers under arrest for DUI and called 
for a wagon, which transported Myers to Einstein Medical Center. 

Around 4:45 p.m. that same day, Philadelphia Police Officer Matthew Domenic 
arrived at Einstein Medical Center, having been informed that an individual at that hospital 
had been arrested for DUI. A few minutes before Officer Domenic arrived, however, the 
hospital staff administered four milligrams of Haldol to Myers, rendering him unconscious. 
Officer Domenic attempted to communicate with Myers by speaking his name and tapping 
him on the shoulder, but Myers was unresponsive. Nevertheless, Officer Domenic read 
O'Connell warnings to Myers. Myers, still unconscious, was unable to respond in any 
manner. Officer Domenic then instructed a nurse to draw Myers' blood. It is undisputed 
that neither Officer Bragg nor Officer Domenic attempted to secure a search warrant for 
this blood draw. It also is undisputed that, due to his unconscious state, Myers could 
neither hear Officer Domenic nor sign the implied consent warnings. 

Because Myers was pharmacologically rendered unconscious by medical 
personnel prior to the time that Officer Domenic read O'Connell warnings to his 
unresponsive arrestee, no credible assertion can be made that Myers was provided with 
the opportunity to make a knowing and conscious choice regarding whether to undergo 
chemical testing or to exercise his right of refusal. Indeed, Officer Domenic's decision to 
read O'Connell warnings and to request a response from an unconscious and supine 
patient represents the antithesis of an opportunity to make a knowing and conscious 

https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/15pdf/14-1468_8n59.pdf
https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/15pdf/14-1468_8n59.pdf
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choice. Because Myers was deprived of this choice, the totality of the circumstances 
unquestionably demonstrates that he did not voluntarily consent to the blood draw.21 

21 . . . [W]e offer no opinion regarding whether Myers may be deemed 
to have "refused" so as to sustain a driver's license suspension . . . 
as such a determination lies beyond the scope of this decision. 
Rather, we conclude that, in the present context of suppression in a 
criminal prosecution, Myers was unable to manifest either assent or 
refusal due to his unconscious state, and he therefore did not provide 
the voluntary consent that is necessary to establish the consent 
exception to the warrant requirement. 

PER WECHT, J. JOINED BY DONOHUE AND DOUGHERTY, JJ.: 
In the future, a case, Birchfield v. North Dakota, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S.Ct. 2160, 195 

L.Ed.2d 560 (6/23/16), may impact the constitutional validity of certain provisions of 
Pennsylvania's implied consent scheme. But the instant case presents no facial 
constitutional challenge to any statutory provision. Accordingly, we do not today consider 
the effect of the Birchfield decision upon our statutes. Rather, we consider Birchfield only 
as it relates to our conclusion that, in the absence of actual, voluntary consent, statutorily 
implied consent does not dispense with the need for police to obtain a warrant before 
conducting a chemical test of a DUI arrestee's blood. 

The language of 75 Pa.C.S. § 1547(a) providing that a DUI suspect "shall be 
deemed to have given consent" to a chemical test does not constitute an independent 
exception to the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment to the United States 
Constitution and Article I, Section 8 of the Pennsylvania Constitution. Like any other 
search premised upon the subject's consent, a chemical test conducted under the implied 
consent statute is exempt from the warrant requirement only if consent is given voluntarily 
under the totality of the circumstances. To the extent that any statement in Kohl, 532 Pa. 
152, 615 A.2d 308 (9/16/92), or Riedel, 539 Pa. 172, 651 A.2d 135 (12/1/94), suggests 
otherwise, we disapprove of such expression. 
SAYLOR, C.J. JOINED BY BAER, J. AND JOINED, IN PART, BY DONOHUE, J: 

I believe that Birchfield applies and requires suppression in this case. I realize that 
Birchfield's application to situations involving unconscious motorists is not 
straightforward, given that criminal penalties attaching to a refusal may be viewed as of 
no import in a circumstance in which a person is unconscious and incapable of refusing. 
However, previously in its opinion, the Supreme Court had stressed its inclination in favor 
of a categorical rule, and I find that this preference may aid in explaining the Court's 
motivation for extending its holding to a scenario as to which its dispositive rationale might 
not otherwise apply. See id. at ___, 136 S. Ct. at 2184-85 ("It is true that a blood test . . . 
may be administered to a person who is unconscious (perhaps as a result of a crash) or 
who is unable to do what is needed to take a breath test due to profound intoxication or 
injuries. But we have no reason to believe that such situations are common in drunk-
driving arrests, and when they arise, the police may apply for a warrant if need be." 
(emphasis added)). 
 

Myers, ___ Pa. ___, 164 A.3d 1162 (7/19/17) 
  Link to: Saylor, C.J. concurring 
  Link to: Todd, J. concurring 
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  Link to: Mundy, J. dissenting 
[EDITORôS NOTE: Justice Todd declined to join that portion of the lead opinion 
addressing the constitutionality of the implied consent law.  That portion remains a 
plurality opinion.] 
 
 
 Nothing in Birchfield prohibits the Department of Transportation from suspending 
the license of a lawfully arrested motorist who refused a blood test.  The license 
suspension is a civil consequence, not a criminal penalty. 
 
 Boseman v. Dept. of Transportation, 157 A.3d 10 (Pa. Cmwlth. 3/17/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 170 A.3d 996 (8/22/17) 
 Marchese v. Dept. of Transportation, 169 A.3d 733 (Pa. Cmwlth. 9/13/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, ___ A.3d ___ (3/12/18) 
 Renfroe v Dept. of Transportation, ___ A.3d ___ (Pa. Cmwlth. 2/15/18) (en banc) 
appeal pending, No. 194 MAL 2018 (filed 3/19/18) 
 
 
SEARCH AND SEIZURE: CONSENT 
 
 Corporal Brett Hanlon, a state trooper for 18 years, was assigned to the Bureau of 
Emergency Special Operations in the Kï9 unit. On the morning of March 7, 2013, 
Corporal Hanlon's patrol vehicle was parked on Iï80. A Kï9 dog, Draco, accompanied 
the corporal in his patrol vehicle.  
 At approximately 10:30 a.m., Randolph drove his Chrysler Town & Country 
minivan past the corporal's parked patrol cruiser on Iï80. Corporal Hanlon initiated a 
traffic stop because the minivan's windows contained an illegal tint and because he could 
not see the registration on the license plate. The driver parked the vehicle very close to 
the fog line. Corporal Hanlon referred to this as ñwhite liningò, a technique he has 
observed drug traffickers use to expedite the traffic stop by discouraging the police officer 
from approaching the driver side of the vehicle. 
 Randolph was driving the van along with one passenger. Corporal Hanlon 
requested Randolph's license, registration, and insurance and returned to his patrol 
cruiser with these documents.  
 Corporal Hanlon ran Randolph's information and found that he had a prior drug 
trafficking conviction. After about twenty minutes, the corporal returned to Randolph's 
vehicle and directed him to exit the van. The corporal observed that there were no rear 
seats in the van. While he explained the Vehicle Code violations to Randolph, a second 
trooper, Trooper Rowland, operating a marked patrol cruiser, arrived on scene and joined 
the conversation. Corporal Hanlon advised Randolph that he was issuing a written 
warning and told Randolph that he was free to leave.  
 Moments later, however, Corporal Hanlon asked whether he could ask Randolph 
additional questions about his trip. The corporal did not tell Randolph that he did not have 
to answer any further questions. Randolph told the corporal that he and his wife had just 
moved from South Carolina to New Jersey, which was why there were no seats in his 
van. He said that she had just had a baby, and that he was travelling from Newark, New 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-94-2016do%20-%2010317672821315810.pdf?cb=1
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Jersey to Columbus, Ohio to visit a family member in the hospital. He added that his 
aunt's grandmother was in a car accident and was hospitalized with a broken leg. When 
he repeated his account, however, he said that that he was going to visit his aunt instead 
of his aunt's grandmother. Randolph stated he had no luggage in the van and did not plan 
on staying the night in Columbus, even though it was a 16ïhour round trip. When asked, 
Randolph could not name the hospital in Columbus that he was visiting. Trooper Hanlon 
found it strange that Randolph was traveling far away from home without his wife or their 
baby. Randolph admitted that he had a prior drug-related conviction.  
 During this conversation, Trooper Rowland approached the passenger in the 
minivan and questioned him. The passenger claimed to be from New York, which 
Corporal Hanlon found strange because Randolph was from South Carolina.  
 Corporal Hanlon asked Randolph for consent to search the minivan, and Randolph 
consented. Both Randolph and the passenger were patted down and asked to stand in 
front of the vehicle. The Kï9, Draco, searched the vehicle but did not alert to anything. 
Corporal Hanlon and Trooper Rowland then searched the vehicle. Corporal Hanlon saw 
no luggage in the minivan, but he heard multiple cell phones ringing and seized the cell 
phones. When he checked between the driver and passenger seats, he observed a steel 
box extending downward from the floor that was welded to the vehicle. The box did not 
match the remainder of the undercarriage. Suspecting that the box contained drugs, 
Trooper Hanlon questioned Randolph about the box, and Randolph's demeanor 
immediately became defensive. The corporal impounded the vehicle and obtained a 
warrant to search the compartment.  
 It took considerable effort to open the compartment, which was only accessible 
through a door underneath the passenger seat of the minivan. The door was battery 
powered and could only be opened by removing the passenger door and applying power 
through wires connected to the door. The corporal managed to open the compartment by 
attaching alligator clips to the door and applying power. Inside the compartment were 550 
grams of cocaine and a digital scale. 
 The traffic stop had devolved into a mere encounter when Corporal Hanlon told 
Randolph that he was free to leave. Corporal Hanlon's questions to Randolph after telling 
him that he was free to leave took place during a mere encounter, not a detention.  The 
interaction occurred in the mid-morning. Corporal Hanlon did not have sirens on his 
vehicle. The initial investigative detention described by Corporal Hanlon was not coercive 
in nature and the interaction between the Corporal and Randolph was calm and cordial. 
There was no physical contact prior to consent for the search being given and Randolph's 
movements were minimally directed in that he was asked to step out of the vehicle to the 
rear to receive the warning. Randolph was given a written warning and told that he was 
free to leave. It was only after both were headed toward their vehicles that Corporal 
Hanlon again spoke to Randolph. 
 In some cases, we have held that the interactions between the motorists and police 
officers did not transform into mere encounters. As a result, the officers needed (but 
lacked) reasonable suspicion to continue questioning the motorists. Here, in contrast, 
Corporal Hanlon's interaction with Randolph had become a mere encounter, making 
further questioning permissible. The evidence demonstrates that during this mere 
encounter, Randolph gave voluntary consent to search his vehicle. The encounter took 
place in an open location on a public highway in broad daylight. The questioning was not 
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exceedingly long, and the corporal's questioning was not repetitive or deceptive in any 
way. There were no police abuses or aggressive tactics. Nor did the officers use 
threatening demeanor, physical contact or physical restraints anytime during the 
detention. 
  
 Randolph, 151 A.3d 170 (Pa. Super. 11/16/16) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 163 A.3d 1284 (5/2/17) 
 
 
 Randolph voluntarily consented to a vehicle search.  Both Randolph and the 
passenger were patted down and asked to stand in front of the vehicle. The Kï9, Draco, 
searched the vehicle but did not alert to anything. When the corporal checked between 
the driver and passenger seats, he observed a steel box extending downward from the 
floor that was welded to the vehicle. The box did not match the remainder of the 
undercarriage. Suspecting that the box contained drugs, Trooper Hanlon questioned 
Randolph about the box, and Randolph's demeanor immediately became defensive. The 
corporal impounded the vehicle and obtained a warrant to search the compartment.  
 It took considerable effort to open the compartment, which was only accessible 
through a door underneath the passenger seat of the minivan. The door was battery 
powered and could only be opened by removing the passenger door and applying power 
through wires connected to the door. The corporal managed to open the compartment by 
attaching alligator clips to the door and applying power. Inside the compartment were 550 
grams of cocaine and a digital scale. 
 The court ruled that the search warrant affidavit lacked probable cause to authorize 
a search of the compartment. 
 The Commonwealth argued that even if the search warrant was deficient, Corporal 
Hanlon still had the right to open the hidden compartment by virtue of Randolph's verbal 
consent to search the vehicle. We do not agree that Randolph's consent extended this 
far. We have held that general consent to search a vehicle extends to closed, but readily 
opened, containers discovered inside the car. Yedinak, 450 Pa. Super. 352, 676 A.2d 
1217 (4/11/96). Conceivably, general consent might also permit opening a closed 
container by unscrewing several screws from its cover without causing structural damage. 
See United States v. Saucedo, 688 F.3d 863, 866ï68 (7th Cir. 8/6/12) (collecting cases). 
Conversely, we do not think it reasonable to conclude that Randolph's consent extended 
to a hidden compartment that he kept locked and concealed from view and which Corporal 
Hanlon could open only by removing the passenger door and applying power through 
wires connected to the door. Cf. Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 251-52, 111 S.Ct. 1801, 
1804, 114 L.Ed.2d 297, ___ (5/23/91) (ñit is very likely unreasonable to think that a 
suspect, by consenting to the search of his trunk, has agreed to the breaking open of a 
locked briefcase within the trunkò). 
 
 Randolph, 151 A.3d 170 (Pa. Super. 11/16/16) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 163 A.3d 1284 (5/2/17) 
 
 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A09026-16o%20-%2010288621114248081.pdf?cb=1
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=7806648996432889992&q=676+a2d+1217&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/USCOURTS-ca7-11-02457/pdf/USCOURTS-ca7-11-02457-0.pdf
http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=12549570870722394953&q=500+u.s.+248&hl=en&as_sdt=2,39
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A09026-16o%20-%2010288621114248081.pdf?cb=1


122 
 

 On August 4, 2014, at approximately 4:00 p.m., Pennsylvania State Police Trooper 
Mark Conrad was conducting radar enforcement on State Route 115 in Bear Creek 
Township, Luzerne County, which had a speed limit of 45 miles per hour. Trooper Conrad 
is assigned to the Northwest Kï9 Unit and had Astor, a Pennsylvania State Police canine, 
with him.  
 Trooper Conrad measured the speed of a tan-colored Dodge sedan and obtained 
a reading of 62 miles per hour. He then activated his emergency lights and stopped the 
vehicle. When Trooper Conrad approached the vehicle, he noticed that Green, the 
vehicle's sole occupant, appeared ñoverly nervous for [a] traffic violation stop,ò as Green's 
ñlips and face area around his lips were trembling, and . . . a carotid artery in his neck 
appeared to be pounding.ò 
 Trooper Conrad recognized Green and the vehicle from two prior traffic stops. In 
the first, Green was an occupant in a different vehicle traveling from Philadelphia. During 
that stop, Trooper Conrad recovered cocaine and marijuana hidden in the vehicle's 
engine compartment. In the second, Trooper Conrad stopped the same tan Dodge sedan 
driven by its owner almost three months before the current stop, and found a hypodermic 
needle in the vehicle. 
 While at the window of the vehicle, Trooper Conrad asked Green for the 
registration and insurance documents for the vehicle. Green replied that he did not own 
the car and it was not registered to him. Trooper Conrad then asked Green about his 
travel plans. Green stated that he was returning from Philadelphia, where he had dropped 
off his son at approximately 9:00 a.m. Trooper Conrad returned to his vehicle and ran a 
criminal history check on Green, which showed that Green had a ñlengthy criminal history 
for assault and drug offenses.ò Trooper Conrad called for backup, returned to the vehicle, 
and asked Green to step out. 
 Suspicious that Green may have been trafficking drugs, Trooper Conrad asked 
Green to consent to a search of the vehicle. When Green declined, Trooper Conrad 
deployed Astor. Astor alerted to the odor of narcotics on both the driver and passenger 
sides of the vehicle. Trooper Conrad then searched the vehicle and found a folded black 
bag in the engine compartment next to the air filter, located on the passenger side of the 
vehicle. Inside the black bag, Trooper Conrad discovered three sleeves of heroin, 
containing 525 packets total. 
 We conclude that Trooper Conrad possessed reasonable suspicion to detain 
Green on suspicion that he was trafficking drugs. When Trooper Conrad approached the 
vehicle and made contact with Green, he immediately noticed that Green was ñoverly 
nervous just for being stopped for a traffic violation,ò as Green's carotid artery was 
pulsating and ñhis lips and face area around his lips were trembling.ò Upon reviewing the 
vehicle's documentation, Trooper Conrad discovered that the vehicle belonged to an 
absent third party, which, in his experience, raised his suspicion that the vehicle was 
being used for drug trafficking. In addition, Green stated that he was returning from 
Philadelphia, a city known to Trooper Conrad as a source location for narcotics. Trooper 
Conrad also performed a criminal background check on Green, which showed ña lengthy 
criminal history for . . . assault and drug offenses.ò Further, when Trooper Conrad stopped 
the vehicle, he remembered prior contacts with Green and with the subject vehicle. 
Trooper Conrad's prior contact with Green, where Green was a passenger in a vehicle 
stopped by Trooper Conrad, resulted in recovery of cocaine and marijuana hidden in the 
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engine compartment of the vehicle. Trooper Conrad's prior contact with the tan Dodge 
sedan resulted in recovery of a hypodermic needle in the passenger compartment. Under 
these circumstances, we agree with the trial court that Trooper Conrad possessed 
reasonable suspicion that Green was trafficking drugs. 
 In light of our conclusion that Trooper Conrad possessed reasonable suspicion 
that Green was trafficking drugs, we similarly conclude that Trooper Conrad had 
reasonable suspicion to believe that narcotics would be found in the vehicle. Accordingly, 
Trooper Conrad was entitled to deploy Astor and conduct a canine sniff of Green's 
vehicle. 
 Astor indicated the presence of narcotics odors on both sides of the vehicle. Astor's 
indication alone was sufficient to raise Trooper Conrad's reasonable suspicion to 
probable cause. Commonwealth v. Rogers, 578 Pa. 127, 849 A.2d 1185 (5/27/04).  In 
light of Trooper Conrad's drug interdiction and drug-detection experience and Astor's 
indication, we conclude that the facts and circumstances known to Trooper Conrad were 
ñsufficient to warrant a person of reasonable caution in the belief thatò Green was 
trafficking drugs. 
 
 Green, 168 A.3d 180 (Pa. Super. 7/25/17) 
 
 
SEARCH AND SEIZURE: CONTAINERS 
 
 Officer Gatewood testified that he has been an officer with the Farrell Police 
Department since January of 2016, and prior to that, he was an officer with the Southwest 
Regional Police Department for nine years. Officer Gatewood has experience, in addition 
to his normal duties, with the Mercer County Drug Task Force and the Community 
Emergency Response Team. 
 On August 27, 2015, Officer Gatewood, who was on patrol with Officer Douglas 
Farley, was in full uniform and driving a marked cruiser. At approximately 12:32 a.m., the 
officers were patrolling in the area of a local bar, Razzcal's, which is located in a high 
crime area, known for gang violence, drug violence, and drug sales. Officer Gatewood 
testified that, on many occasions, the police have arrested drug users and sellers in 
occupied vehicles parked around Razzcal's.  
 Officer Gatewood observed a sedan parked on the west side of the building that 
had four occupants in it. Officer Gatewood and his partner parked behind Razzcal's, on 
the southwest side of the building, and walked up to the occupied vehicle to check out 
what was going on. Officer Gatewood approached on the passenger's side of the vehicle, 
while Officer Farley approached on the driver's side of the vehicle. Neither officer 
approached with their weapons drawn, although Officer Gatewood was using his 
flashlight since it was dark.  
 Officer Gatewood saw a female, later identified as Kayla Fair, sitting in the driver's 
seat, and a male, later identified as James West, sitting in the front passenger seat. A 
female, later identified as defendant, was sitting in the back passenger seat on the driver's 
side, while another female, later identified as Rosemary Funk, was sitting in the back 
passenger seat on the passenger side.  

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-47-2001mo.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S22025-17o%20-%2010318431321740992.pdf?cb=1
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 As Officer Gatewood approached the vehicle he detected the odor of burnt 
marijuana coming from the area around the vehicle. In response, Officer Gatewood 
walked up to the passenger side and looked into the vehicle. He observed a small bag of 
what appeared to be marijuana on the back seat passenger side floor. Officer Gatewood 
testified that he had dealt with marijuana regularly since he has been a patrol officer for 
ten years. He couldn't even imagine how many times he had dealt with it or recovered it 
or seized it. 
 The officers brought the existence of the baggie of marijuana to the attention of the 
occupants. In response, the driver tried crawling into the back seat, between the seats, 
and then she tried to exit the vehicle. Officer Gatewood indicated that the other occupants 
did not make any kind of movement.  
 At this point, because of the driver's reaction and the possibility of marijuana being 
in the car, the officers asked the occupants to exit the vehicle. The officers handcuffed 
each occupant and detained them behind the vehicle. Officer Gatewood testified that he 
then searched the vehicle, including defendantôs purse on the floor of the vehicle. 
 If Officer Gatewood had probable cause to search the vehicle at issue for 
contraband he was also permitted to search any container found therein where the 
contraband could be concealed, including defendant's purse. 
 
 Runyan, 160 A.3d 831 (Pa. Super. 4/20/17) 
 
 
SEARCH AND SEIZURE: CURTILAGE 
 

Is a driveway part of the curtilage of the residence? 
Status of driveway not reached.  Commonwealth was bound by the concession made 

in Superior Court that the car was seized by the police from a driveway that was within 
the curtilage of the residence. 
 
 Loughnane, ___ Pa. ___, 173 A.3d 733 (11/22/17) 
  Link to: Mundy, J. concurring 
  Link to: Saylor, C.J. concurring and dissenting 
 
 
SEARCH AND SEIZURE: EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY 
 
 In the early morning hours of July 26, 2012, Smith shot and killed the victim near 
the corner of 66th Street and Haddington Lane, Philadelphia. Smith also stole 
approximately $2,800.00 from the victim. As he was being arrested, the police noticed 
what appeared to be blood on Smithôs shoes. The shoes were confiscated pursuant to 
Smithôs lawful arrest. The police also recovered a stained t-shirt belonging to Smith while 
executing a search warrant at Smithôs girlfriendôs residence. Both shirt and shoes were 
submitted for DNA analysis. 
 There were at least two contributors to the blood on the shoe. The victim was 
positively identified as one and Smith could not be ruled out as the second contributor. 
The Victim was found to be the sole contributor of blood on the t-shirt. 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S24031-17o%20-%2010307131917017347.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Majority%20Opinion%20%20VacatedRemanded%20%2010332881227769969.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Concurring%20Opinion%20%20VacatedRemanded%20%2010332881227769995.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/ConcurringDissenting%20Opinion%20%20VacatedRemanded%20%2010332881227769989.pdf?cb=1
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 Defendant contended that a separate search warrant was required for the DNA 
testing even though the t-shirt and shoes were lawfully seized. 
 Like fingerprints, an individual does not have a protectable privacy interest in a 
blood sample that is used for identification purposes.  As an evidentiary consideration, 
the blood samples taken from Smithôs shoe and shirt were only relevant if they ultimately 
linked Smith to the crime.  That is, the stains were relevant only if they proved to be the 
victimôs blood, thereby linking Smith to the victim. However, Smith cannot assert any 
privacy interest in the victimôs DNA analysis. 
 
 Smith, 164 A.3d 1255 (Pa. Super. 5/31/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, ___ A.3d ___ (12/6/17) 
 
 
 Officer Steven Deluca, who is a seventeen year veteran of the Erie Police 
Department, testified that, on March 18, 2016, at approximately 11:00 p.m., he responded 
to a 911 call for a shooting at 1016 West 4th Street. Upon arrival, he noticed there was 
blood all over the sidewalk leading up to the side of the residence. Officer Deluca followed 
the blood trail, discovering a dead pit bull, which had been shot numerous times, lying in 
the backyard, and blood everywhere, including outside the entry of the first floor 
apartment. Officer Deluca proceeded to the second floor apartment and discovered a 
white male, who had been shot in the leg and face. Officer Deluca and other responding 
police units checked the second floor apartment and surrounding backyard for other 
victims, as well as the shooter, and after finding neither, interviewed the neighbors.  
 A neighbor informed Officer Deluca that defendant lived in the first floor apartment, 
and he saw one of defendant's vehicles, a gray BMW, leaving the area at about the time 
of the shooting. Officer Deluca looked in the windows of the first floor apartment and 
discovered that no one was home; he was then advised that the other vehicle associated 
with defendant's apartment was gone. Officer Deluca passed on the information to other 
patrol officers, and defendant's gray BMW was later stopped by Officer Jason Russell. 
 Defendant informed Officer Russell that he was staying at the Knights Inn with a 
male friend because of ongoing domestic issues with his girlfriend. Defendant showed 
the officer a key card, indicated it was for room 111 of the Knights Inn, and informed the 
officer that he was in the room at the time of the shooting. 
 Officer Russell removed defendant, as well as the passenger from the vehicle, and 
conducted a pat-down; the officer seized a stolen nine millimeter pistol from the 
passenger. Defendant had no weapons on his person. Defendant and his passenger were 
placed in separate police cruisers, and the police did a cursory sweep of defendant's 
vehicle to ensure there were no additional weapons. Officer Russell testified that 
defendant had taken the hotel key card from his wallet and discarded it in the vehicle. It 
was found dropped between the driver's side seat and center console of the vehicle. 
Officer Russell seized the key card. 
 Officer Deluca went to room 111 of the Knights Inn, banged on the door, and said, 
ñErie police. Come out. We need to talk to you.ò No one responded to Officer Deluca's 
knocking and announcing, so he tried the key card, which did not open room 111. 
 Officer Deluca went to the front desk and was advised by the manager that the key 
card, which had been in defendant's possession, was not for room 111. The manager, 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A02009-17o.pdf?cb=2
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scanned the key card, and said that the key card was for room 231. However, the registry 
information related to the room ñwas missing or misplaced or never existedò such that the 
manager could not tell the officer who had rented or was occupying the room. Believing 
that another victim from the shooting might be in room 231, Officer Deluca went there. 
 Officer Deluca knocked and announced his presence at room 231, but there was 
no response. He used the key card and opened the door to room 231, at which time he 
smelled a strong odor of marijuana and observed in plain view a duffle bag with money 
sticking out of it, a clear Mason jar of marijuana, and a white powdery substance. He did 
a quick, three second sweep of the room for people, retreated from the room empty-
handed, telephoned the district attorney's office, and requested a search warrant for the 
room. A search warrant was secured and executed upon the room. 
 A hotel room can be the object of Fourth Amendment protection as much as a 
home or an office. A registered hotel guest enjoys a legitimate expectation of privacy in a 
hotel room during the period of time in which the room rental remains valid. However, that 
expectation does not exist in the room or in any item in plain view to anyone after checkout 
time, after the rental period has ended, and/or after the guest's right to occupancy has 
lapsed.  
 In this case defendant informed Officer Russell that he was staying at the Knights 
Inn with a male friend. He pulled a key card out of his wallet, displayed it to the officer, 
and specifically indicated he was staying in room 111. However, when Officer Russell's 
attention was diverted elsewhere, defendant placed the key card between the driver's 
side seat and center console of his vehicle. Officer Russell discovered the key card during 
a search of defendant's vehicle and seized it. 
 At the Knights Inn, it became clear to the police that the key card, which had been 
in defendant's possession, was not issued in connection with room 111; however, the key 
card was issued in connection with room 231. As the registry information for room 231 
ñwas missing or misplaced or never existed,ò the manager of the hotel was unable to 
provide information as to who had rented or was occupying room 231.  
 Based upon this evidence, defendant failed to demonstrate a subjective 
expectation of privacy in room 231 of the Knights Inn, much less one that society would 
accept as reasonable. Defendant produced no evidence at the suppression hearing 
indicating that he was a hotel guest of room 231. That is, he presented no evidence that 
he was properly occupying room 231, let alone that he had rented the room and, if so, for 
what period of time.  Defendant tried to conceal the room key, but a defendant's attempt 
to secrete evidence of a crime is not synonymous with a legally cognizable expectation 
of privacy. A mere hope for secrecy is not a legally protected expectation. 
 Defendant failed to establish a subjective and reasonable expectation of privacy in 
the hotel room. 
 
 Williams, 165 A.3d 994 (Pa. Super. 6/13/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, ___ A.3d ___ (1/17/18) 
 
ISSUE TO BE DECIDED: 
 Does defendant have an expectation of privacy in a rental car where he was not a 
party to the rental agreement and he did not pay for the rental? 
 Byrd v. United States, No. 16-1509 (cert. granted 9/28/17) (argued 1/9/18) 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S35036-17o%20-%2010313425418565087.pdf?cb=1
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SEARCH AND SEIZURE: INFORMANT, ANONYMOUS 
 
 On December 17, 2012, State Parole Agent Thomas Pekar received an 
anonymous telephone call from a woman claiming that defendant was one of the largest 
drug sellers in the West View, Allegheny County area and had received a driving under 
suspension citation. One of the conditions of defendant's parole was that he report any 
contact with police to his parole officer. Agent Pekar confirmed that defendant had 
received a citation for driving with a suspended license. A warrantless search of 
defendantôs residence led to the discovery of cocaine. 
 Defendant's parole agent received a bare bones assertion that defendant was 
selling drugs and that he had been cited for driving with a suspended license. Defendant's 
parole agent confirmed that a citation for the driving violation had been issued, but this is  
legally insufficient corroboration.  The anonymous tip in this matter cannot be considered 
reliable. 
 
 Coleman, 130 A.3d 38 (Pa. Super. 12/14/15) 
appeal denied, 635 Pa. 739, 134 A.3d 54 (3/16/16) 
 
 
SEARCH AND SEIZURE: INFORMANT, RELIABILITY 
 
 Philadelphia Police Officer Bruce Cleaver stated in the search warrant that the 
confidential informant (CI) in this case provided him with the following tip: "a [white male] 
in his 30's who goes by the name Romeo lives at 2627 Emily [Street] and sells cocaine 
in South Philadelphia." Using the CI, Officer Cleaver then conducted two controlled 
purchases of narcotics from Romeo. The first controlled purchased occurred on August 
23, 2012 and transpired in the following manner: the officers gave the CI $100.00 in 
marked currency and watched the CI contact Romeo to set up a drug transaction; the CI 
went to 26th and Dudley Street and waited for Romeo under a tree; Romeo exited 2627 
Emily Street and walked up to the CI; the CI gave Romeo $100.00 and Romeo gave the 
CI a clear packet containing cocaine; and, the two parted ways.  
 Following the transaction, the police observed Romeo engage in a second 
transaction, where Romeo was again the seller. According to the affidavit, after the CI 
and Romeo parted, Romeo spoke on a cell phone and walked back to the tree where he 
met the CI. A white Honda parked under the tree, Romeo entered the passenger-side of 
the vehicle, the driver handed Romeo money, and Romeo handed the driver a clear 
packet. Following the transaction, Romeo exited the Honda, walked back to 2627 Emily 
Street, and entered the front door. 
 The next day, Officer Cleaver used the CI to conduct a second controlled purchase 
of narcotics from Romeo. With respect to this second controlled purchase: the officers 
gave the CI $100.00 in marked currency; the CI contacted Romeo; the CI went to 26th 
and Dudley Street; Romeo exited 2627 Emily Street and walked up to the CI; the CI gave 
Romeo $100.00 and Romeo gave the CI a clear packet containing cocaine; and, Romeo 
walked back into 2627 Emily Street. 
 The affidavit declared that the confidential informant had, in the past, "made buys 
which led to numerous confiscations of narcotics, [money] and paraphernalia."  The 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A27005-15o%20-%201024695245822586.pdf?cb=1
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affidavit did not establish the reliability of the informant. The mere fact that the informant 
was given money and sent to a particular place to meet a suspect and then returned with 
narcotics, all under the close surveillance of police, alone indicates very little about the 
informer's credibility when the informant is not under such close supervision. However, it 
would be a different matter if the informant had initiated this prior activity, as where he 
advises the officer that he can make a buy from a certain individual and then does so 
 However, in arriving at its final conclusion that the tip was unreliable, the trial court 
discounted the fact that the police independently corroborated significant portions of the 
CI's tip, by utilizing the CI to conduct two controlled purchases of cocaine from "Romeo" 
on two consecutive days. Thus, we conclude that the trial court erred when it declared 
that the CI's tip was unreliable. 
 The CI's tip in this case consisted of the following five parts: 1) a white male; 2) in 
his 30's; 3) who goes by the name Romeo; 4) lives at 2627 Emily Street; and, 5) sells 
cocaine in South Philadelphia. Looking to the four corners of the affidavit, the police 
independently corroborated almost the entirety of the tip, since ð on two consecutive 
days ð the police conducted two controlled purchases of cocaine, whereby the police 
witnessed: a white male, who was identified by the CI as the male he knew as Romeo, 
exit 2627 Emily Street, walk up to the CI, sell the CI cocaine, and then walk back into 
2627 Emily Street. This independent police corroboration of significant aspects of the tip 
provided the issuing authority with a substantial basis for concluding that the entirety of 
the tip was reliable. 
 
 Gagliardi, 128 A.3d 790 (Pa. Super. 11/20/15) 
  Link to: Wecht, J. dissenting 
 
 
SEARCH AND SEIZURE: PROBATION OFFICER 
 

As a matter of state constitutional law, the exclusionary rule bars the introduction 
at parole revocation hearings of evidence obtained in violation of the parolee's Fourth 
Amendment rights. 
 Rejecting: Pennsylvania Board of Probation and Parole v. Scott, 524 U.S. 357, 118 
S.Ct. 2014, 141 L.Ed.2d 344 (6/22/98). Implicitly overruling: Scott v. Pa. Board of 
Probation and Parole, 553 Pa. 68, 717 A.2d 1021 (9/10/98). Disapproving: Lehman, 851 
A.2d 941 (Pa. Super. 5/28/04). 
 
 Arter, 637 Pa. 541, 151 A.3d 149 (12/28/16) 
 
 
 On February 12, 2015, at approximately 12:00 p.m., several probation officers 
went to defendant's residence to verify his compliance with the terms and conditions of 
his probation. The probation officers stepped inside the doorway to defendant's kitchen 
and immediately observed, in plain view, clear, empty, corner-cut baggies; cigar 
packages, which were opened and discarded on the floor; and small rubber bands. From 
the probation officers' training and experience, they recognized these items as drug 
paraphernalia. The probation officers also saw a shotgun in an open closet in the kitchen. 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S02035-15o%20-%201024443215727142.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S02035-15do%20-%201024443215727131.pdf?cb=1
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=8975683374353390164&q=524+us+357&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=1980309996473225090&q=717+a2d+1021&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=1980309996473225090&q=717+a2d+1021&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Superior/out/s12036_04.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-42-2016mo%20-%2010293268014806279.pdf?cb=1


129 
 

 Defendant accompanied the probation officers to the third floor of the residence 
and to his bedroom. Defendant sat down on a box spring/mattress that was on the floor. 
The probation officers noticed a box of nine-millimeter rounds on the floor next to the box 
spring/mattress. In a half-open dresser drawer, the officers also saw clear, empty 
baggies, U.S. currency, and a digital scale. Additionally, the probation officers observed 
some type of attachment to a device used to smoke marijuana, which had liquid dripping 
from it. The probation officers also observed several prohibited knives. At this point, the 
probation officers placed defendant in handcuffs. 
 Three county drug task force agents arrived at the residence approximately fifteen 
minutes later. The probation officers asked the agents if they were interested in pursuing 
charges based on what the probation officers had seen in plain view. After some 
discussion, the agents decided not to pursue a search warrant or criminal charges against 
defendant.  The remaining probation officers performed the authorized search of 
defendant's residence. The probation officers opened a refrigerator in defendant's 
bedroom located directly next to the box spring/mattress, and discovered suspected 
cocaine 
 The trial court suppressed the evidence found in the refrigerator. 
 The trial court erred when it said the probation officers' first walk-through of 
defendant's residence constituted a ñsearch.ò Here, defendant signed regulations 
allowing for unannounced home visits to verify his compliance with the terms and 
conditions of his probation. When the probation officers entered defendant's residence, 
the purpose of their presence was to verify his compliance with the regulations. The 
probation officers then took a ñtourò of the home, making only a visual inspection of 
defendant's residence. Nothing in the record supports defendant's statements that the 
probation officers ñforcedò or ñpushed their way inside [his] residence without invitationò 
or that the probation officers' entry was akin to a ñraid.ò Rather, the record confirms the 
probation officers performed an unannounced home visit as set forth in their regulations. 
 During the course of the home visit, the probation officers saw, in plain view, 
various items which the officers immediately recognized as drug paraphernalia as well as 
a shotgun in the open kitchen closet. The probation officers saw other evidence of drug 
paraphernalia in defendant's bedroom, ammunition and several prohibited knives. These 
observations gave the probation officers reasonable suspicion to believe defendant had 
other contraband in the residence. The officers' search (conducted with proper prior 
approval) was consistent with and reasonably related to their supervisory duties to 
confirm whether defendant possessed drugs or weapons in violation of the regulations. 
See 42 Pa.C.S. § 9912. The probation officers' search was not illegal simply because the 
drug paraphernalia and other items situated in plain view constituted separate probation 
violations or because the search occurred after the task force agents left the premises.  
Additionally, the fact that the task force agents originally decided to pass on pursuing a 
search warrant or criminal charges, based on the evidence found in plain view, does not 
nullify the probation officers' reasonable suspicion to conduct a thorough search. 
 Accordingly, we affirm the trial court's denial of suppression of the evidence 
observed in plain view, and we reverse the trial court's suppression of the cocaine found 
in the refrigerator. 
 
 Parker, 152 A.3d 309 (Pa. Super. 12/12/16) 

http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=99&sctn=12&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A22033-16o%20-%2010291492014670633.pdf?cb=1
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 On December 2, 2013, Pennsylvania Parole Agents Michael Welsh and Gregory 
Bruner conducted a routine home visit to the residence of parolee Gary Waters. Agent 
Welsh characterized the neighborhood as a ñhigh crimeò area. Waters invited the agents 
into the home, where they immediately recognized the strong odor of marijuana, which 
increased as they continued through the home. The agents and Waters proceeded 
through the front room and dining room to the kitchen, where defendant, Mathis, was 
seated in a chair, near the rear door of the home, in the midst of receiving a hair cut from 
Waters. Agent Welsh detained Waters in the front room, questioning him regarding the 
marijuana odor. Agent Welsh also noticed at this time an ashtray full of marijuana 
ñroachesò sitting on a table in the front room. However, neither agent witnessed anyone 
actually smoking, nor was there any particular indication that marijuana had been smoked 
in the kitchen. 
 Agent Welsh told defendant, ñI want to get you out of here as soon as I possibly 
can. Could you do me a favor, grab your personal belongings and come to the front 
room?ò Defendant was cooperative with all of the agent's requests. Agent Welsh testified 
that the encounter, to that point, remained relaxed and conversational, but that defendant 
appeared uneasy, and displayed broken eye contact. As defendant collected his 
belongings in the kitchen, Agent Welsh noticed that he picked up his jacket by gently 
placing a hand underneath the jacket and over top of the jacket and kind of holding it up 
to his body ñlike it was a football [or] a baby.ò  
 When defendant began walking to the other room, he continued to hold the jacket 
to his side in a ñprotecting type of gripò while also turning away from the agent, which 
revealed a bulge in the jacket. These observations caused Agent Welsh to have concerns 
regarding the agents' safety. He then asked defendant if he could pat him down for safety 
reasons, because he intended defendant not to leave the residence with a gun or drugs. 
Defendant refused, at which time Agent Welsh again noticed the bulge, described as the 
size of a cigarette pack or wallet, which further raised Agent Welsh's suspicions that 
defendant was secreting contraband or a weapon. Agent Welsh reached out to the bulge 
and felt what he believed was the handle of a firearm. He seized the jacket and pulled it 
forcefully from defendant, throwing it to the ground. Defendant was then handcuffed and 
patted down. Thereafter, Agent Welsh noticed a bag of marijuana on the floor between 
defendant's feet, while Agent Bruner recovered a handgun from the jacket. 
 Once we recognize the authority of parole officers to search parolees and their 
premises, we cannot ignore the hazards involved in this kind of public duty. A bullet's 
message is deadly no matter who the sender is. A law-enforcement officer in a potentially 
perilous situation must have a basic right of self-protection notwithstanding the shape of 
his badge. As long as an officer is properly pursuing his lawful duty, the only issue is 
whether a reasonably prudent man in the circumstances would be warranted in the belief 
that his safety was in danger. 
 As to parole agents' designation as peace officers, in addition to their 
circumscribed common law arrest powers, they are statutorily empowered to employ 
deadly force for self-protection or protection of another and in the course of making an 
arrest ñwhen [the officer] believes that such force is necessary to prevent death or serious 
bodily injury to himself or such other person.ò 18 Pa.C.S. § 508(a)(1). In this respect, it is 

http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=18&div=0&chpt=5&sctn=8&subsctn=0
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also notable that parole agents are sanctioned to carry firearms in performing their duties. 
See 37 Pa. Code § 69.1ï.3. 
 Accordingly, innate to these common law and statutory authorizations is the power 
to undertake constitutionally permissive actions that may preempt resort to the use of 
deadly force. In other words, an agent's authority to use force includes the power to 
prevent violent confrontation in the first instance, as it ñwould be anomalous to hold that 
parole officers may carry weapons like peace officers, place themselves in peril like peace 
officers, and conduct lawful arrests like peace officers, yet not protect themselves in the 
face of apparent danger. 
 In terms of previous decisions of this Court finding that various officials had 
exceeded their statutory authorization, the Commonwealth accurately notes that they are 
distinguishable as pertaining to limitations on officials' criminal investigative powers. The 
nature of a Terry frisk is materially different in both scope and purpose from an 
investigative search for evidence of criminality, since a protective pat-down is limited to 
that which is necessary for the discovery of weapons which might be used to harm the 
officer or others nearby and may realistically be characterized as something less than a 
full search. The purpose of a limited search after a temporary detention is not to discover 
evidence of crime but to allow the peace officer to pursue investigation without fear of 
violence. In this regard, private citizens' Fourth Amendment rights remain substantively 
unaltered pursuant to our view of parole agents' authority to ensure their own safety, since 
any intrusion must be justified by reasonable suspicion, the same standard restricting 
intrusions by police officers. 
 As for the decision in Scott, 916 A.2d 695 (Pa. Super. 1/12/07), we agree with the 
Superior Court's assessment that the case is factually distinguishable insofar as there 
was no basis in that case for the probation officers to believe that the probationerôs 
nephew posed a threat to anyone's safety. 
 Accordingly, we conclude that parole agents have the authority to conduct a 
protective Terry frisk of non-parolees within the course of executing their statutorily 
imposed duties, so long as reasonable suspicion supports the agents' conduct. 
 
 Mathis, ___ Pa. ___, 173 A.3d 699 (11/22/17) 
  Link to: Dougherty, J. dissenting 
  Link to: Wecht, J. dissenting 
 
 
SEARCH AND SEIZURE: ROADBLOCK 
 
 Our cases have held that the police, in setting up a DUI checkpoint, must articulate 
specifics such as the reason for the location and the number of prior DUIs in the area of 
the checkpoint. Thus, under current law, the specific location of the checkpoint is the 
area where the checkpoint is located, not the exact block/location of the checkpoint. 
 Here, there is no dispute that the area of the checkpoint is North Hermitage Road. 
For that specific location, the Commonwealth presented sufficient testimonial and 
documentary evidence showing that the location selected was one likely to be traveled 
by intoxicated drivers (at least 44 DUI arrests out of the total of 94 for all of State Route 
18 located within the City of Hermitage). Accordingly, the suppression court erred in not 

https://www.pacode.com/secure/data/037/chapter69/chap69toc.html
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=6704952441177476016&q=916+a2d+695&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Majority%20Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010332877527765663.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Dissenting%20Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010332877527765682.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Dissenting%20Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010332877527765688.pdf?cb=1
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accounting for all DUI arrests made on North Hermitage Road for purposes of determining 
whether the checkpoint was constitutionally acceptable. 
 
 Menichino, 154 A.3d 797 (Pa. Super. 1/23/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 169 A.3d 1053 (7/18/17) 
 
 
SEARCH AND SEIZURE: SCOPE OF SEARCH 
 
 In the early morning hours of July 26, 2012, Smith shot and killed the victim near 
the corner of 66th Street and Haddington Lane, Philadelphia. Smith also stole 
approximately $2,800.00 from the victim. As he was being arrested, the police noticed 
what appeared to be blood on Smithôs shoes. The shoes were confiscated pursuant to 
Smithôs lawful arrest. The police also recovered a stained t-shirt belonging to Smith while 
executing a search warrant at Smithôs girlfriendôs residence. Both shirt and shoes were 
submitted for DNA analysis. 
 There were at least two contributors to the blood on the shoe. The victim was 
positively identified as one and Smith could not be ruled out as the second contributor. 
The Victim was found to be the sole contributor of blood on the t-shirt. 
 Defendant contended that a separate search warrant was required for the DNA 
testing even though the t-shirt and shoes were lawfully seized. 
 Like fingerprints, an individual does not have a protectable privacy interest in a 
blood sample that is used for identification purposes.  As an evidentiary consideration, 
the blood samples taken from Smithôs shoe and shirt were only relevant if they ultimately 
linked Smith to the crime.  That is, the stains were relevant only if they proved to be the 
victimôs blood, thereby linking Smith to the victim. However, Smith cannot assert any 
privacy interest in the victimôs DNA analysis. 
 
 Smith, 164 A.3d 1255 (Pa. Super. 5/31/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, ___ A.3d ___ (12/6/17) 
 
 
SEARCH AND SEIZURE: VEHICLE 
 

At approximately 2:23 a.m. on July 24, 2012, a large, dark-colored truck with a loud 
exhaust system ran over and killed nineteen-year-old Rebecca McCallick while she lay in 
the roadway on Hazle Street in Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania. This happened in front of the 
apartment she shared with her boyfriend, John Schenck, III, who observed the accident 
from their second story window. The truck did not stop. Schenck provided several 
statements to members of the Wilkes-Barre Police Department, describing the truck in 
question and identifying a vehicle in a photograph shown to him by police that he believed 
ñlooked likeò the truck that struck his girlfriend. 

On August 8, 2012, Schenckôs father came across a truck parked in a residential 
driveway on Liberty Street in Ashley, that he believed fit Schenckôs description. Detective 
David Sobocinski instructed him to have Schenck view the vehicle. Schenckôs father took 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A23024-16o%20-%2010296306715809604.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A02009-17o%20-%2010311952917611504.pdf?cb=1
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a photograph of the truck and showed it to Schenck, who identified it as the vehicle 
involved in the accident. 

That afternoon, Detective Sobocinski went to the address where Schenckôs father 
had observed the truck. He learned that Loughnane owned the residence and the truck 
parked in the driveway. Unable to reach Loughnane at home, the detective went to 
various locations in an attempt to find him or to obtain contact information for him  
including Loughnaneôs place of business, his neighborsô homes, and the home of 
Loughnaneôs parents  all without success. During this time, Detective Sobocinski left the 
truck unattended. 

Detective Sobocinski then contacted the Assistant District Attorney on call for 
direction as to how to proceed. The detective had been made aware that the keys to the 
truck were somewhere in the vehicle, and he also stated his concern that forecasted rain 
could compromise any forensic evidence that remained on the truck from the July 24 
incident. According to Detective Sobocinski, obtaining a search warrant would have 
required that he ñcontact the District Attorneyôs Office and go over things, [and] type up 
the actual affidavit that goes along with the search warrant,ò which he characterized as 
ñtime consuming,ò taking ñtwo to three hours.ò Although Hanover Township sent a police 
officer to Loughnaneôs house in response to Detective Sobocinskiôs request for 
assistance, he did not ask the officer to wait with the car while he obtained a warrant to 
seize the vehicle. Instead, early in the morning on August 9, 2012, ñnumerous hoursò after 
first arriving at Loughnaneôs house, police seized the truck without first obtaining a warrant 
and had it towed to the Wilkes-Barre Police garage. On August 14, 2012, Schenck came 
to the police station and identified the truck by sight and sound as the vehicle that was 
involved in the accident. 

When the case was before the Superior Court, the Commonwealth conceded that 
the truck was seized from within the curtilage of the home but argued that exigent 
circumstances existed to permit the warrantless seizure.   

Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 91 S.Ct. 2022, 29 L.Ed.2d 564 
(6/21/71), and California v. Carney, 471 U.S. 386, 105 S.Ct. 2066, 85 L.Ed.2d 406 
(5/13/85), establish that a distinction exists between a vehicle parked in a residential 
driveway and a mobile home parked in a public parking lot.  Consistent with the 
pronouncements of the United States Supreme Court in Coolidge and Carney, it is clear 
that the dual bases underlying the automobile exception to the warrant requirement are 
inapposite to vehicles parked in a defendantôs residential driveway. Absent exigent 
circumstances, the concern about the inherent mobility of the vehicle does not apply, as 
the chance to search and/or seize the vehicle is not fleeting. The vehicle is parked where 
the defendant lives and it will typically either remain there or inevitably return to that 
location. 

Moreover, because the vehicle is parked on a private residential driveway, the 
reduced expectation of privacy in a vehicle that has been recognized by the High Court 
likewise does not pertain. The public nature of automobile travel as it travels public 
thoroughfares plainly has no application to a car parked in a personôs driveway. Further, 
automobiles are not subject to pervasive regulation while parked in a driveway, nor do 
police have frequent noncriminal contact with vehicles so situated. These bases for the 
reduced expectation of privacy only become applicable when the car is on the public 
streets. 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=13960360378186505490&q=403+us+443&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=15820223925611411971&q=471+us+386&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=13960360378186505490&q=403+us+443&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=15820223925611411971&q=471+us+386&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
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As none of the justifications for the automobile exception apply to vehicles parked 
in a residential driveway, there is no reason for the exception to apply. We therefore hold, 
based on the plain language of Coolidge and Carney, that the automobile exception did 
not apply to Loughnaneôs vehicle when it was parked on his private residential driveway. 
In such circumstances, warrantless searches and/or seizures of an automobile must be 
supported by both probable cause and exigent circumstances. 

The case was remanded to the Superior Court to consider the Commonwealthôs 
argument that exigent circumstances justified the warrantless search. 
MUNDY, J. CONCURRING: 
 I agree that the Superior Court erred when it concluded that driveways are never 
curtilage entitled to Fourth Amendment protection. As the Majority correctly notes, the 
Commonwealth conceded to the Superior Court that defendantôs driveway was part of his 
homeôs curtilage. On this basis alone, the Superior Court erred in sua sponte concluding 
otherwise. 
 However, this Courtôs decision should not be read to suggest a per se rule that all 
driveways are part of a homeôs curtilage, as the Fourth Amendment does not generally 
tolerate per se rules, as they are contrary to the standards of reasonableness and 
probable cause built into the amendmentôs text. 
 Here, the Majority correctly notes that whether an area constitutes curtilage is a 
multi-factor inquiry. See Majority Op. at 10 n.7; United States v. Dunn, 480 U.S. 294, 301, 
107 S.Ct. 1134, 1139, 94 L.Ed.2d 326, ___ (3/3/87) (stating that ñcurtilage questions 
should be resolved with particular reference to four factors: the proximity of the area 
claimed to be curtilage to the home, whether the area is included within an enclosure 
surrounding the home, the nature of the uses to which the area is put, and the steps taken 
by the resident to protect the area from observation by people passing by.ò). This analysis 
is to be used to determine whether a given driveway constitutes part of a homeôs curtilage. 
This case is relatively straightforward in light of the Commonwealthôs concession, but 
there will be other cases in which the analysis will be more complex. 
 As to the federal automobile exception, I join the Courtôs opinion on the 
understanding that its conclusion is connected to a curtilage determination. I do not read 
the Courtôs opinion as establishing a bright-line rule that the federal automobile exception 
can never apply to a vehicle parked in a residential driveway. Rather, my understanding 
of the Majorityôs conclusion is that it is built upon the foundation that defendantôs driveway 
in this case was within the curtilage of his home. As the Majority notes, this is how the 
Commonwealth frames the issue. 
SAYLOR, C.J. CONCURRING AND DISSENTING: 
 I agree with the majority that the Superior Court erred in applying a bright-line rule 
that driveways are not curtilage. However, I am also unable to support the use of this 
case as a vehicle to implement a per se invalidation of the automobile exception relative 
to private driveways. 
 
 Loughnane, ___ Pa. ___, 173 A.3d 733 (11/22/17) 
  Link to: Mundy, J. concurring 
  Link to: Saylor, C.J. concurring and dissenting 
 
 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=13960360378186505490&q=403+us+443&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=15820223925611411971&q=471+us+386&hl=en&as_sdt=6,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=7398367909639890113&q=480+us+294&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Majority%20Opinion%20%20VacatedRemanded%20%2010332881227769969.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Concurring%20Opinion%20%20VacatedRemanded%20%2010332881227769995.pdf?cb=1
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SEARCH AND SEIZURE: WARRANT 
 
 Philadelphia Police Officer Bruce Cleaver stated in the search warrant that the 
confidential informant (CI) in this case provided him with the following tip: "a [white male] 
in his 30's who goes by the name Romeo lives at 2627 Emily [Street] and sells cocaine 
in South Philadelphia." Using the CI, Officer Cleaver then conducted two controlled 
purchases of narcotics from Romeo. The first controlled purchased occurred on August 
23, 2012 and transpired in the following manner: the officers gave the CI $100.00 in 
marked currency and watched the CI contact Romeo to set up a drug transaction; the CI 
went to 26th and Dudley Street and waited for Romeo under a tree; Romeo exited 2627 
Emily Street and walked up to the CI; the CI gave Romeo $100.00 and Romeo gave the 
CI a clear packet containing cocaine; and, the two parted ways.  
 Following the transaction, the police observed Romeo engage in a second 
transaction, where Romeo was again the seller. According to the affidavit, after the CI 
and Romeo parted, Romeo spoke on a cell phone and walked back to the tree where he 
met the CI. A white Honda parked under the tree, Romeo entered the passenger-side of 
the vehicle, the driver handed Romeo money, and Romeo handed the driver a clear 
packet. Following the transaction, Romeo exited the Honda, walked back to 2627 Emily 
Street, and entered the front door. 
 The next day, Officer Cleaver used the CI to conduct a second controlled purchase 
of narcotics from Romeo. With respect to this second controlled purchase: the officers 
gave the CI $100.00 in marked currency; the CI contacted Romeo; the CI went to 26th 
and Dudley Street; Romeo exited 2627 Emily Street and walked up to the CI; the CI gave 
Romeo $100.00 and Romeo gave the CI a clear packet containing cocaine; and, Romeo 
walked back into 2627 Emily Street. 
 Viewing the totality of the circumstances in a practical, common-sense manner, 
we conclude that substantial evidence in the record supports the issuing authority's 
conclusion that there was a "fair probability" that contraband would be discovered in 2627 
Emily Street. 
 On two consecutive days, the police witnessed the CI contact Romeo and, in 
response, Romeo exited 2627 Emily Street, walked up to the CI, sold the CI cocaine, and 
then returned to 2627 Emily Street. Viewing these facts in a practical, common-sense 
manner, we conclude that these facts constitute significant evidence that Romeo was 
using his home at 2627 Emily Street as the base of illicit operations. Indeed, with respect 
to both sales, Romeo left from his house, went directly to the meeting point, sold the CI 
cocaine, and then either made an additional sale and walked back to his house or simply 
walked back to his house. Based on these facts, we conclude that the issuing authority 
had a substantial basis for determining that Romeo stored his cocaine inside of his 2627 
Emily Street base and that, when he returned to his base, he placed the contraband buy-
money inside of 2627 Emily Street. Therefore, the issuing authority possessed a 
substantial basis for determining that there was a fair probability that contraband (either 
cocaine or buy-money) would be found at 2627 Emily Street. 
 In arriving at our conclusion, we recognize our opinions in Kline, 234 Pa. Super. 
12, 335 A.2d 361 (3/31/75), and Way, 342 Pa. Super. 341, 492 A.2d 1151 (5/17/85). 
However, neither opinion controls the resolution in the case at bar. In Kline, this court held 
that the affidavit of probable cause failed to establish a nexus between Kline's apartment 

http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=6755220032985929577&q=234+Pa.+Superior+Ct.+12&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=10684543286270943222&q=492+a2d+1151&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=6755220032985929577&q=234+Pa.+Superior+Ct.+12&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
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and the contraband because the affidavit omitted certain facts concerning the single, 
private transaction between Kline and two girls. We held that these omitted facts included: 
where the transaction between Kline and the two girls took place, how long it took, how 
long Kline was gone, and what led the girls to conclude that Kline had gone to his 
apartment to retrieve the drugs. In the case at bar, however, we are dealing with two 
controlled transactions ð that were witnessed by the police and recounted, in detail, in 
the affidavit of probable cause. Further, the affidavit in the case at bar clearly recites 
where the controlled transactions took place and what led the police to conclude that 
Romeo left his home prior to the drug sales and then returned to his home after the drug 
sales. Kline is thus inapposite to the facts of this case. 
 Moreover, Way is of even less persuasive value than Kline. In Way, the affidavit of 
probable cause merely declared that: Way was a drug dealer; an alleged drug transaction 
occurred in Wayôs blue van along a country road; and, after the alleged drug transaction, 
police followed the blue van to a driveway of a property that was owned by Way. 
Confronted with this affidavit, the Way Court held that there were insufficient facts to 
believe that drugs would be found in Way's house. 
 Way is inapplicable to the case at bar. Indeed, in Way, the totality of the 
circumstances demonstrated that Way's base of operations for his drug dealing was his 
blue van ð while in the case at bar, the facts establish that the Romeo's base of 
operations for his drug dealing was his house at 2627 Emily Street. 
 We thus conclude that the issuing authority possessed a substantial basis for 
determining that there was a fair probability that contraband would be found at 2627 Emily 
Street. 
 WECHT, J. DISSENTING: Probable cause to believe that a man has committed a 
crime on the street does not necessarily give rise to probable cause to search his home.  
There is not a single fact to suggest that additional drugs were inside the home, that 
Gagliardi was selling drugs from the home, or that he did anything other than live there. 
 
 Gagliardi, 128 A.3d 790 (Pa. Super. 11/20/15) 
  Link to: Wecht, J. dissenting 
 
 
 The murder in this case occurred on March 31, 2010. The warrant to search 
Jacoby's house [for the gun] did not issue until approximately fifteen months later, on July 
6, 2011. 
 The detective asserted in the affidavit that it was ñreasonableò to believe the 
murder weapon was secreted in Jacoby's house after such a substantial period of time 
because Jacoby was not permitted to own a weapon as a felon, and therefore was likely 
to retain the weapon due to the difficulty in procuring another one in light of his felon 
status. This is conjecture and speculation, particularly considering the gap in time, and 
cannot suffice as probable cause on this point. 
 The trial court reached similarly speculative conclusions. The court held that the 
information provided probable cause and was not stale for two reasons. First, the court 
noted that ñguns are durable and sometimes valuable objects that people typically hold 
on to for the long term.ò This conclusion suffers from the same defect. It is not tailored or 
individualized to Jacoby in any fashion. The court reaches its conclusions on what some 

http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=6755220032985929577&q=234+Pa.+Superior+Ct.+12&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
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unknown people may or may not do under undefined circumstances. This conclusion falls 
short of probable cause. Second, the court held that ñthe fact that [Jacoby] is a convicted 
felon and therefore unable to legally obtain another firearm, increases the likelihood that 
he would have held on to the firearm already in his possession.ò Even if the trial court is 
correct that Jacoby's felony status ñincreases the likelihoodò of keeping the firearm, that 
is not the same as establishing that it is probable that the firearm was still in Jacoby's 
home. Like the court's first conclusion, the latter explanation is not individualized to 
Jacoby, or his circumstances. The trial court's conclusion rests upon the same flaw 
described earlier. Probable cause, at a minimum, must be individualized to the suspect 
and the circumstances of the case; it requires more than generalized statements about 
human behavior that are unsupported by the specific facts of the case. 
 Probable cause to search Jacoby's home did not exist simply because probable 
cause existed to believe that he had committed the murder, with a weapon of the same 
caliber as one that he owned, and then drove in the general direction of his home fifteen 
months before the search warrant was issued. Together and by themselves, these factors 
do not justify entry without some nexus to the home. The trial court overlooked the 
significant gap of time between the murder and the search, and then attempted to buttress 
its conclusion with an unsourced assessment of general human behavior. Without 
support, the trial court reasoned that peopleðfelons especiallyðgenerally do not discard 
firearms, even those used in murders. 
 This broad perspective on probable cause finds no support in Pennsylvania law 
and is troubling on several levels. First, the trial court deviated from the search 
jurisprudence [requiring individualized suspicion] without acknowledging or attempting to 
distinguish it. The trial court would hold that, if police officers develop probable cause that 
a person committed an offense anywhere in the Commonwealth with a weapon of the 
same caliber as the one that he or she owns, probable cause exists automatically to 
search that person's home, no matter where it is located. It is easy to discern the infirmity 
of this approach. If the trial court's reasoning were to prevail, when a person commits an 
offense with such a weapon in Erie County, police automatically would have probable 
cause to search that person's home, even if it is located in Delaware County. This is 
inconsistent with Fourth Amendment jurisprudence. 

Additionally, the trial court's method for evaluating probable cause does not require 
consideration, in any way, of the time lapse between the commission of the offense and 
the search. Rather than addressing the time gap, the trial court would rest upon its belief 
that people generally hold on to guns (even those used in murders) and that, as such, 
probable cause to search for guns exists in apparent perpetuity. By this logic, in the case 
of the Erie murder, the trial court would find probable cause to search the Delaware 
County residence not only immediately after the murder, but also fifteen months later, and 
presumably even ten years after the crime. 

Probable cause to search Jacoby's home must be evaluated based upon the 
circumstances of his case, his behavior, and any nexus to the location to be searched, 
but not upon categorical assumptions. Our Constitutions prohibit such categorical 
conclusions, as well as those searches that are based upon such conclusions. 

The architects of our Constitutions rejected general searches, and instead charged 
police officers with demonstrating specific and articulable facts to establish probable 
cause that a particular person committed a particular crime and that evidence of that 



138 
 

crime would be found in a particular place. The trial court's approach shortcuts this 
bedrock inquiry with general assumptions about human behavior, untethered to the actual 
facts at hand, and was erroneous. For these reasons, we find an absence of probable 
cause in the warrant to believe that the murder weapon would be found in Jacoby's 
residence fifteen months after the murder. As such, we need not address Jacoby's 
staleness argument. 

However, Jacoby is not entitled to relief, because we find that the trial court's error 
was harmless. 
 

Jacoby, ___ Pa. ___, 170 A.3d 1065 (9/28/17) 
  Link to: Mundy, J. concurring 
  Link to: Donohue, J. concurring and dissenting 
  Link to: Saylor, C.J. dissenting 
 
 
 Defendant resisted arrest when apprehended after fleeing from a traffic stop. 
During the struggle, defendant shot a police officer.  Police seized from defendant a 
loaded, .45 caliber Glock model 30.  Police obtained a search warrant for defendantôs 
residence to look for ñall ammunition or ballistics evidence consistent with a .45 cal Glock 
model 30, as well as any and all handguns, rifles, shotguns, ammunition, gun storage 
boxes/containers, proof of identification, and any other items of evidentiary value.ò 
 The Commonwealth argues that guns, unlike illicit drugs, are lawful to own and 
thus are more likely to be stored in a home. Assuming without conceding the accuracy of 
this assertion, we do not believe such a generalization suffices to create probable cause 
in a specific case. Were we to hold otherwise, police could obtain a warrant to search a 
suspect's home in virtually any case in which the suspect possessed or used a gun. 
Additionally, the Commonwealth's argument applies to many more items than guns. 
Knives, for example, are lawful but sometimes used in violent crimes. Cell phones are 
lawful but sometimes used to facilitate unlawful conduct. We do not believe that probable 
cause for the search of a home arises from nothing more than the suspect's use of a 
lawful item commonly stored in a home. 
 
 Torres, ___ A.3d ___ (Pa. Super. 12/22/17) 
appeal pending, No. 44 EAL 2018 (filed 1/22/18) 
  
 
SELF INCRIMINATION 
 
 The decision in South Dakota v. Neville, 459 U.S. 553, 103 S.Ct. 916, 74 L.Ed.2d 
748 (2/22/83), permitting evidence of defendantôs blood test refusal, remains good law 
notwithstanding the ruling in Birchfield v. North Dakota, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S.Ct. 2160, 
195 L.Ed.2d 560 (6/23/16). 
 
 Bell, 167 A.3d 744 (Pa. Super. 7/19/17) 
appeal pending, No. 707 MAL 2017 (filed 10/20/17) 
 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/MAJORITY%20OPINION%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010326097624185312.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/CONCURRING%20OPINION%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010326097624184165.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/CONCURRING-DISSENTING%20STATEMENT%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010326097624184158.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/DISSENTING%20OPINION%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010326097624184152.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Opinion%20%20VacatedRemanded%20%2010336719531066542.pdf?cb=1
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=156928951063065402&q=459+us+553&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/15pdf/14-1468_8n59.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A11037-17o.pdf?cb=3


139 
 

 
SENTENCE: CLAIM OF EXCESSIVENESS 
 
 In Commonwealth v. Carr, 375 Pa. Super. 168, 543 A.2d 1232 (6/28/88), we held 
that a sentence is not cruel and unusual punishment simply because a lesser sentence, 
e.g., Carr's proposed alternative probationary scheme, might better accommodate a 
defendant's special mental health needs. There, we emphasized, that a least restrictive 
means - type analysis has no place in the review of cruel and unusual punishment claims.  
Similarly, Lankford avers a lesser or alternative sentence would enable him to seek 
rehabilitative mental health treatment. However, like in Carr, there are no indicia in the 
record that the trial court or Pennsylvania Department of Corrections (DOC) deprived 
Lankford of access to mental health care or that his sentence would uniquely inhibit his 
access to mental health care. 
 In Pennsylvania, when an inmate enters a facility operated by the DOC, that inmate 
immediately undergoes a physical and mental health screening, which the DOC uses to 
create an individualized correctional plan. The DOC must also establish procedures that 
permit inmates access to mental health care, and the DOC may not charge a fee to an 
inmate for mental health treatment. Recently, the DOC has made significant progress 
towards improving inmate access to mental healthcare. These facts contradict Lankford's 
assertion that only one-third of state prisoners with mental health problems actually 
receive proper treatment while incarcerated. 
 Accordingly, we find Lankford's sentence is not unconstitutionally cruel and 
unusual punishment. We note, too, that this Court's decision is without prejudice to 
Lankford's right to pursue relief in the DOC. 
 
 Lankford, 164 A.3d 1250 (Pa. Super. 5/30/17) 
appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 172 A.3d 1114 (10/13/17) 
 
 
SENTENCE: CLAIM OF LENIENCE 
 
 On September 15, 2012, while awaiting trial for another offense, defendant spit on 
and kicked two corrections officers. The Commonwealth charged defendant with two 
counts of aggravated harassment by a prisoner, two counts of aggravated assault, and 
two counts of simple assault.  On November 6, 2013, defendant screamed at and spit on 
a corrections officer at SCI Muncy. The Commonwealth charged her with aggravated 
harassment by a prisoner. Similar incidents occurred on November 18, 2013 and 
December 16, 2014, resulting in two more charges of aggravated harassment by a 
prisoner.  The trial court imposed a sentence of 5 years of probation. 
 The Commonwealth notes that the guideline range for each of defendant's 
offenses was 21 to 27 months of incarceration. The aggregate guideline range, had the 
trial court imposed consecutive sentences for all six offenses, was 126 to 162 months of 
incarceration. As noted above, the trial court imposed five years, i.e., 60 months of 
probation. 
 The trial court acted within its permissible sentencing discretion.  The record 
contained evidence about defendant's mental health needs, including fact that 

https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=9951202067032296768&q=543+a2d+1232&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=9951202067032296768&q=543+a2d+1232&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S21006-17o%20-%2010311751417590205.pdf?cb=1
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confinement was exacerbating defendant's problems, and trial court undertook detailed 
analysis of factors favoring probation. 
 

Ball, 166 A.3d 367 (Pa. Super. 6/22/17) 
 
 
SENTENCE: EQUIVALENT OFFENSE 
 

The trial court, when evaluating a conviction from another state, should compare 
the statute from the other state that defines the offense with the Pennsylvania statute 
defining the same offense to determine whether the two statutes are ñsubstantially 
equivalent.ò If the two statutes are not ñsubstantially equivalent,ò then the foreign 
conviction should not be used in determining a defendant's RRRI eligibility. In making the 
comparison between statutes, the court must consider the elements of the foreign offense 
in terms of classification of the conduct proscribed, its definition of the offense, and the 
requirements for culpability. The offenses do not identically have to mirror each other but 
must be substantially equivalent. Two statutes will be ñsubstantially equivalentò where the 
differences between the two statutes are insignificant when compared to the similarities. 
Commonwealth v. Barbaro, 94 A.3d 389 (Pa. Super. 6/11/14) 

Importantly, our Supreme Court has held that even where two laws ñappear to have 
similar elements[,]ò they should not be considered ñsubstantially equivalentò if they grade 
the offenses with different severity and reflect different policy considerations. See 
Commonwealth v. Northrip, 603 Pa. 544, 555-57, 985 A.2d 734, 741-42 (12/28/09) 
(finding Pennsylvania's crime of Arson Endangering Persons is not ñsubstantially 
equivalentò to New York's Arson in the Third Degree where (i) New York's arson offense 
was graded as a third-degree felony while the Pennsylvania offense is a first-degree 
felony; and (ii) the Pennsylvania statute reflected a choice by the legislature to punish 
those who endanger individuals, while the New York statute was intended to protect 
property). 

Finally, trial courts should not focus on the particular facts underlying the conviction 
at issue, ñbut rather on the statute that triggered the conviction.ò Northrip at 555, 985  
A.2d at 741; see also Barbaro, 94 A.3d at 394 (ñWe conclude that the test set forth in 
Northrip for determining the equivalence of crimes under the Three Strikes Law is the 
appropriate test to use for purposes of the RRRI Act.ò). 

61 Pa.C.S. § 4503 permits a defendant with a conviction for a simple assault to 
remain RRRI eligible if the defendant was convicted of a simple assault graded as a 
misdemeanor of the third degree. A Simple Assault is a misdemeanor of the third degree 
if the defendant committed the assault ñin a fight or scuffle entered into by mutual 
consent.ò  18 Pa.C.S. § 2701. In contrast, a Simple Assault that was not the result of 
mutual consent is graded as a misdemeanor of the second degree. Thus, if a defendant 
commits a simple assault that was initiated by ñmutual consent,ò the defendant is still 
eligible for RRRI. 

Since the Connecticut statute does not provide for such a distinction and treats all 
simple assaults the same, regardless of whether they began by mutual consent, and our 
legislature provided for such an exception, we are constrained to find that in this situation, 
the simple assault statutes are not ñsubstantially equivalentò and the trial court should not 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A30042-16o%20-%2010314585119717796.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S22024-14o%20-%201018393792305136.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-44-2009mo.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-44-2009mo.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S22024-14o%20-%201018393792305136.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-44-2009mo.pdf
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=61&div=0&chpt=45&sctn=3&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=18&div=0&chpt=27&sctn=1&subsctn=0
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consider the Connecticut conviction when determining whether the defendant is eligible 
for RRRI. For although the elements of the offenses may appear similar at first glance, 
there are meaningful differences in the way in which the two offenses are graded, and in 
the policy considerations reflected in the language of the statutes. Namely, Pennsylvania 
has made a policy determination that defendants who engage in fights by ñmutual 
consentò are less culpable and should have their Simple Assault convictions graded at a 
lesser degree and should remain eligible for RRRI. 

The trial court attempts to circumvent the problem posed by the mutual consent 
provision by noting that there was no evidence in the hearing record to establish that the 
prior Connecticut conviction involved mutual consent which would warrant it being treated 
as a misdemeanor of the third degree. As discussed supra, however, the facts underlying 
defendant's conviction are irrelevant to our analysis. Northrip. 
 

Quiles, 166 A.3d 387 (Pa. Super. 6/23/17) 
 
 
 The difference between the New Jersey and Pennsylvania robbery statutes, upon 
which Rose focuses, is that the New Jersey statute permits robbery to be graded as a 
first-degree offense if the defendant is merely armed with a deadly weapon, whereas the 
Pennsylvania statute does not. Otherwise, the statutes include nearly identical elements 
and grading for robbery offenses of the first degree, including that threatening or inflicting 
serious bodily injury on another while committing a theft is a first-degree offense. 
Additionally, the statutes are aimed at preventing the same criminal activity, indicating 
that the public policy rationale for both statutes is identical.  

We also note that our three strikes law ñneither directs nor requires the court to 
consider every possible set of circumstances in order to determine whether the 
mandatory sentence applies.ò Northrip, 603 Pa. 544, 554, 985 A.2d 734, 740 (12/28/09) 
(not appellate court's task to imagine whether any possible factual scenario exists that 
would result in conviction in another state and acquittal in Pennsylvania); see also 
Greene, 25 A.3d 359, 365 (Pa. Super. 7/20/11) (en banc), affôd per curiam on the basis 
of the Superior Court majority opinion, 623 Pa. 23, 81 A.3d 829 (11/20/13) (stating in dicta 
that ñthere would be no dispute thatò Massachusetts armed robbery statute substantially 
similar to Pennsylvania robbery statute; Massachusetts statute, similar to New Jersey 
statute, applies when a person commits robbery while armed with dangerous weapon). 
Accordingly, we find that the trial court properly considered Rose's New Jersey robbery 
conviction to be a ñcrime of violenceò and a strike toward his ñthree strikesò conviction in 
the instant matter. 
 

Rose, 172 A.3d 1121 (Pa. Super. 9/29/17) 
appeal pending, No. 3 EAL 2018 (filed 1/4/18) 
 
 
SENTENCE: GUIDELINES 
 
 In this case, defendant's vehicle was originally used for its intended purpose: to 
transport two friends and himself to a bar. However, the character of the vehicle changed 

http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-44-2009mo.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S76021-16o%20-%2010314787119743160.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-44-2009mo.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Superior/out/E02002_10.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-35-2013pco%20-%201016256031812852.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-35-2013pco%20-%201016256031812852.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/OPINION%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010326305024380041.pdf?cb=1
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to a deadly weapon the instant defendant backed his vehicle out of the bar's parking lot, 
accelerated forward at its maximum rate of acceleration, and struck the victim with 
sufficient force to cause death. To conclude otherwise would result in the untenable 
position that an automobile is different than a litany of other everyday objects, which when 
used with a wicked purpose, can cause serious bodily injury or death.  Therefore, we hold 
that a motor vehicle is a deadly weapon for purposes of the deadly weapon enhancement 
provision within the sentencing guidelines.  Disapproving: Burns, 390 Pa. Super. 426, 568 
A.2d 974 (1/17/90), appeal denied (6/12/90). 
 
 Buterbaugh, 91 A.3d 1247 (Pa. Super. 5/13/14) (en banc) 
 Solomon, 151 A.3d 672 (Pa. Super. 11/22/16) (driving SUV directly at police 
officer), appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 168 A.3d 1265 (4/19/17) 
[EDITORôS NOTE: The Superior Court panel in Solomon cited to both the definition of 
deadly weapon at Section 303.10(a) of the Sentencing Guidelines and to the definition 
found at 18 Pa.C.S. § 2301.  Since 1997, the Sentencing Guidelines no longer use the 
Section 2301 definition of a deadly weapon.] 
 
ISSUE TO BE DECIDED: 

At the time of the accident, defendant was using his car as a mode of 
transportation. Defendant was drunk and distracted at the time of the incident, thus his 
performance of this task was reckless. Nevertheless, he had no intention to use the 
automobile as a deadly weapon. In light of the surrounding circumstances, there is no 
indication that defendant actually used the car for any reason other than conveying 
himself and his passengers, even though the victim suffered permanent injuries resulting 
therefrom. 

The Deadly Weapon Enhancement is not applicable to defendant's sentence. 
 

Smith, 151 A.3d 1100 (Pa. Super. 11/29/16) 
appeal granted, No. 36 MAP 2017 (granted 7/26/17) (argued 3/6/18) 
 
 
 The burglary was complete at the moment Tavarez unlawfully entered the 
residence with the intent to commit the crime of robbery therein. Tavarez possessed a 
firearm when he entered the residence; however, there was no showing that he used the 
firearm to gain entry into the residence or to threaten the victims while entering the 
residence. Tavarez did not encounter the victims until he and his co-conspirators went 
upstairs to rob them. Thus, while Tavarez plainly used a firearm during the commission 
of the robbery, and properly received a ñuseò enhancement for that offense, the record 
does not support a finding that he employed the firearm ñin a way that threatened or 
injuredò the victims ñduring the commission of the [burglary].ò  204 Pa. Code  
§ 303.10(a)(2) (emphasis added). Accordingly, we conclude that the trial court abused its 
discretion in applying the deadly weapon ñusedò enhancement rather than the 
ñpossessedò enhancement to Tavarez's burglary conviction. 
 

Tavarez, 174 A.3d 7 (Pa. Super. 10/31/17) 
appeal pending, No. 71 MAL 2018 (filed 1/29/18) 

http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=12818272810360971346&q=568+a2d+974&hl=en&as_sdt=4,39
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-E03002-13o%20-%201018077822221460.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A26016-16o.pdf?cb=2
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A26016-16o.pdf?cb=2
http://www.pacode.com/secure/data/204/chapter303/s303.10.html
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/CT/HTM/18/00.023.001.000..HTM
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/CT/HTM/18/00.023.001.000..HTM
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/CT/HTM/18/00.023.001.000..HTM
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/CT/HTM/18/00.023.001.000..HTM
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S58029-16o.pdf?cb=3
http://www.pacode.com/secure/data/204/chapter303/s303.10.html
http://www.pacode.com/secure/data/204/chapter303/s303.10.html
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/OPINION%20-%20VACATED-REMANDED%20-%2010330187526220969.pdf?cb=1
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SENTENCE: INCHOATE OFFENSES 
 
 The default maximum sentence for attempt, conspiracy or solicitation to commit 
murder is 20 years.  However, if ñserious bodily injury resultsò from the defendantôs 
conduct, the maximum sentence is increased to 40 years. 18 Pa.C.S. § 1102(c).  The 
determination of whether or not there was serious bodily injury must be made at trial by 
the jury in order for the enhanced maximum sentence to be available.  Apprendi v. New 
Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (6/26/00).  A separate finding by 
the jury that the defendant caused serious bodily injury during an aggravated assault is 
not sufficient to invoke the enhanced maximum sentence for attempted murder. 
 
 Barnes, 167 A.3d 110 (Pa. Super. 7/10/17) (en banc) 
 
 
SENTENCE: INTERMEDIATE PUNISHMENT 
 
 75 Pa.C.S. § 3804(d) provides: 

§ 3804. Penalties. 
. . . 
(d) Extended supervision of court.--If a person is sentenced pursuant 
to this chapter and, after the initial assessment required by Section 
3814(1), the person is determined to be in need of additional 
treatment pursuant to Section 3814(2), the judge shall impose a 
minimum sentence as provided by law and a maximum sentence 
equal to the statutorily available maximum. A sentence to the 
statutorily available maximum imposed pursuant to this subsection 
may, in the discretion of the sentencing court, be ordered to be 
served in a county prison, notwithstanding the provisions of 42 
Pa.C.S. § 9762 (relating to sentencing proceeding and place of 
confinement). 

 A sentencing court has no discretion or authority to impose a sentence for a DUI 
violation prior to the completion of the assessment required by 75 Pa.C.S. § 3814. This 
section requires, in certain circumstances including those presented herein (where 
defendant had a prior DUI conviction within ten years), a full drug and alcohol 
assessment, to be completed prior to sentencing. For the benefit of the offender and the 
public, the legislature set forth a specific and precise sentencing scheme that requires, in 
Sections 3804 and 3815, that the treatment recommendations developed through the 
assessment be implemented as part of the offender's sentence. A sentence imposed 
without the requisite presentence assessment does not comply with the Vehicle Code's 
mandatory sentencing scheme for DUI offenders. 
 
 Taylor, 628 Pa. 547, 104 A.3d 479 (11/20/14) 
  Link to: Eakin, J. dissenting 
 

http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=18&div=0&chpt=11&sctn=2&subsctn=0
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=4053038751252355308&q=530+us+466&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=4053038751252355308&q=530+us+466&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-E03001-16o.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/CT/HTM/75/00.038.004.000..HTM
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/CT/HTM/75/00.038.004.000..HTM
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/CT/HTM/75/00.038.014.000..HTM
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/CT/HTM/75/00.038.014.000..HTM
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/CT/HTM/75/00.038.014.000..HTM
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/CT/HTM/42/00.097.062.000..HTM
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/CT/HTM/42/00.097.062.000..HTM
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=38&sctn=14&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=38&sctn=4&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=75&div=0&chpt=38&sctn=15&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-34-2014mo%20-%201020177032833646.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-34-2014do%20-%201020177032833650.pdf?cb=1
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The payment of drug and alcohol assessment fees, while borne by the defendant, 

must be imposed in a manner consistent with the offenderôs ability to pay.  Incarceration 
for the nonpayment of costs is explicitly permitted only upon a finding that the defendant 
is financially able to pay. 

To the extent that a trial court may require payment of costs following a guilty plea 
but prior to sentencing, the court shall henceforth comply with Pa.R.Crim.P. 706 before 
incarcerating a defendant due to an asserted inability to pay. While Rule 706 by its 
language applies only in the sentencing context, it is repugnant to the administration of 
criminal justice to hold that its protections would not extend to the defendant who has 
pleaded guilty but has yet to be sentenced. 
 

Dennis, 164 A.3d 503 (Pa. Super. 5/22/17) 
 
 
 75 Pa.C.S. § 3804(d) is not applicable when the sentencing court exercises its 
discretion to sentence an eligible defendant to County Intermediate Punishment. 
 
 Popielarcheck, 151 A.3d 1088 (Pa. Super. 12/6/16) 
appeal granted, No. 41 WAP 2017 (granted 8/29/17) 

Watson, 157 A.3d 926 (Pa. Super. 3/8/17) 
appeal pending, No. 134 WAL 2017 (filed 4/6/17) 
Petition held pending decision in Popielarcheck (order dated 11/3/17) 
 
 
SENTENCE: JUVENILE 
 
 The Eighth Amendment forbids a sentencing scheme that mandates life in prison 
without possibility of parole for juvenile homicide offenders. Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 
460, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 183 L.Ed.2d 407 (6/25/12). 

Even when the sentence is a matter of judicial discretion, there is a presumption 
against sentencing a juvenile offender to life in prison without the possibility of parole.  
The United States Supreme Court did not outlaw a sentence of life in prison without the 
possibility of parole for all juveniles convicted of first-degree murder; it is only a 
disproportionate (illegal) sentence for those offenders who may be capable of 
rehabilitation. Therefore, the presumption against the imposition of this punishment is 
rebuttable by the Commonwealth upon proof that the juvenile is removed from this 
generally recognized class of potentially rehabilitable offenders.  To overcome the 
presumption against the imposition of a sentence of life without parole for a juvenile 
offender, the Commonwealth must prove that the juvenile is constitutionally eligible for 
the sentence beyond a reasonable doubt.  There is no right to a jury trial for this 
determination. 
 

Batts, ___ Pa. ___, 163 A.3d 410 (6/26/17) 
  Link to: Wecht, J. concurring 
  Link to: Baer, J. concurring and dissenting 

https://www.pacode.com/secure/data/234/chapter7/s706.html
http://www.pacode.com/secure/data/234/chapter7/s706.html
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A01001-17o%20-%2010310854617475280.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/CT/HTM/75/00.038.004.000..HTM
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A29001-16o.pdf?cb=2
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A33002-16o%20-%2010301904616308849.pdf?cb=1
http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/11pdf/10-9646.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-118-2016mo%20-%2010315068219847919.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-118-2016co%20-%2010315068219848281.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-118-2016cdo%20-%2010315068219849089.pdf?cb=1
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A maximum sentence of life imprisonment is permissible and is mandatory. 

 
Battles, 169 A.3d 1086 (Pa. Super. 8/21/17) 
Seskey, 170 A.3d 1105 (Pa. Super. 8/25/17) 

 
 
 Miller does not apply to a murderer 18 years old or older. 
 
 Furgess, 149 A.3d 90 (Pa. Super. 9/28/16) (19 year old murderer) 
 Rodriguez, 174 A.3d 1130 (Pa. Super.11/15/17) (18 year old murderer) 
appeal pending, No. 788 MAL 2017 (filed 11/17/17) 

Montgomery, ___ A.3d ___ (Pa. Super. 3/14/18) (en banc) (22 year old murderer) 
BUT SEE (ISSUE TO BE DECIDED): 
Commonwealth v. Avis Lee, No. 1891 WDA 2016 (en banc reargument granted 3/9/18) 
 
 
SENTENCE: MANDATORY MINIMUM 
 
 Certain mandatory minimum sentences in Pennsylvania were triggered by factual 
determinations which were not elements of the offense of conviction (e.g., the quantity of 
a controlled substance).  Pennsylvania statutory law postponed the determination of the 
applicability of the mandatory minimum sentence to the sentencing proceeding, with the 
determination made by the judge, pursuant to a preponderance of the evidence standard. 
 In Alleyne v. United States, 570 U.S. 1, 133 S.Ct. 2151, 186 L.Ed.2d 314 (6/17/13), 
the United States Supreme Court held that any fact which triggers a mandatory minimum 
sentence must be found by a jury (or at a bench trial) pursuant to the standard of proof 
applicable to an element of an offense, proof beyond a reasonable doubt.  Harris v. United 
States, 536 U.S. 545, 122 S.Ct. 2406, 153 L.Ed.2d 524 (6/24/02) (plurality opinion) was 
explicitly overruled. McMillan v. Pennsylvania, 477 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 2411, 91 L.Ed.2d 
67 (6/19/86) was implicitly overruled. 
 Several mandatory sentence statutes in Pennsylvania had been drafted in reliance 
upon McMillan v. Pennsylvania.  The portions of those statutes that did not provide for 
jury trial determinations of the facts triggering mandatory minimum sentences became 
unconstitutional.  In Commonwealth v. Hopkins, 632 Pa. 36, 117 A.3d 247 (6/15/15), the 
Supreme Court of Pennsylvania held that the mandatory sentencing provision found at 
18 Pa.C.S. § 6317  (Drug Free School Zones), was invalid in its entirety and could not be 
cured by granting to the defendant a determination of facts by a jury. 
In light of Commonwealth v. Hopkins (invalidating 18 Pa.C.S. § 6317) the following, 
additional mandatory minimum sentencing provisions are likely unconstitutional. 

18 Pa.C.S. § 6111(h) (2nd offense ï straw purchaser of firearm) 
18 Pa.C.S. § 6314 (Drug trafficking to minors) 
18 Pa.C.S. § 7508 (Drug trafficking ï quantity of substance) 
 Fennell, 105 A.3d 13 (Pa. Super. 11/21/14) 
  appeal denied, 632 Pa. 691, 121 A.3d 494 (8/12/15) 
42 Pa.C.S. § 9712 (Visible possession of firearm) 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Opinion%20-%20Affirmed%20-%2010321621822911130.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Opinion%20-%20Affirmed-Vacated-Remanded%20-%2010322294022998849.pdf?cb=1
http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/11pdf/10-9646.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S64016-16o%20-%2010282616111923512.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/OPINION%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010331961326979762.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010346540133893073.pdf?cb=1
http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/12pdf/11-9335_b8cf.pdf
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=8039199293870837752&q=536+us+545&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=8039199293870837752&q=536+us+545&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=14074842437230094280&q=477+us+79&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=14074842437230094280&q=477+us+79&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-78-2014mo%20-%201022512454891568.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/CT/HTM/18/00.063.017.000..HTM
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-78-2014mo%20-%201022512454891568.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=18&div=0&chpt=63&sctn=17&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=18&div=0&chpt=61&sctn=11&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=18&div=0&chpt=63&sctn=14&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=18&div=0&chpt=75&sctn=8&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A30016-14o%20-%201020186032836716.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=12&subsctn=0
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 Valentine, 101 A.3d 801 (Pa. Super. 10/3/14) 
  Link to: Gantman, P. J. concurring 
  appeal denied, 633 Pa. 749, 124 A.3d 309 (9/23/15) 
42 Pa.C.S. § 9712.1 (Drug offenses committed with firearms) 
 Newman, 99 A.3d 86 (Pa. Super. 8/20/14) (en banc) 
  Link to: Mundy, J. concurring   
  appeal denied, 632 Pa. 693, 121 A.3d 496 (8/7/15) 
42 Pa.C.S. § 9713 (Crimes committed on public transportation) 
 Valentine, 101 A.3d 801 (Pa. Super. 10/3/14) 
  Link to: Gantman, P. J. concurring 
  appeal denied, 633 Pa. 749, 124 A.3d 309 (9/23/15) 
42 Pa.C.S. § 9718(a)(1) (Crimes against children) 
 Wolfe, 636 Pa. 37, 140 A.3d 651 (6/20/16) 
  Link to: Baer, J. concurring 
  Link to: Todd, J. dissenting 
  Link to: Dougherty, J. dissenting 
 BUT SEE (upholding constitutionality of 42 Pa.C.S. § 9718(a)(3)): 

   Resto, ___ Pa. ___, ___ A.3d ___ (2/21/18) (plurality opinion) 
    Link to: Todd, J. concurring 
    Link to: Dougherty, J. concurring 
    Link to: Baer, J. dissenting 
    Link to: Mundy, J. dissenting 
 42 Pa.C.S. § 9718.4 (Failure to comply with registration) 
  Pennybaker, 636 Pa. 506, 145 A.3d 720 (8/31/16) 
   revôg per curiam, Pennybaker, 121 A.3d 530 (Pa. Super. 7/28/15) 

42 Pa.C.S. § 9719 (Offenses while impersonating law enforcement) 
 
 
 Alleyne not retroactively available to PCRA petitioners.  
 

Washington, 636 Pa. 301, 142 A.3d 810 (7/19/16) 
  Link to: Todd, J. concurring 
  Link to: Dougherty, J. concurring 

Ciccone, 152 A.3d 1004 (Pa. Super. 12/13/16) (en banc) 
 Link to: Bender, J. dissenting 

appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 169 A.3d 564 (6/5/17) 
 
 
 Alleyne was decided 5 days after defendantôs motion to modify sentence was 
denied.  Defendant filed a timely PCRA petition seeking relief based upon Alleyne. 
Because defendantôs sentence was rendered illegal [by the decision in Alleyne] before 
his judgment of sentence became final and he presented his claim in a timely petition for 
post-conviction relief, he is entitled to have his illegal sentence remedied. 
 
 DiMatteo, ___ Pa. ___, 177 A.3d 182 (1/18/18) 
  Link to: Baer, J. concurring 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S52026-14o.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S52026-14co.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=12&subsctn=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-E01002-14o%20-%201019151762532003.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-E01002-14co%20-%201019151762532006.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=13&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S52026-14o.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S52026-14co.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=18&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=18&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-24-2016mo%20-%201027033347366536.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-24-2016co%20-%201027033347366585.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-24-2016do%20-%201027033347366631.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-24-2016do1%20-%201027033347366653.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=18&subsctn=0
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=18&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Opinion%20Announcing%20Judgment%20of%20the%20Court%20%20Reversed%20%2010343732333258786.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Concurring%20Opinion%20%20Reversed%20%2010343732333258992.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Concurring%20Opinion%20%20Reversed%20%2010343732333259035.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Dissenting%20Opinion%20%20Reversed%20%2010343732333258920.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Dissenting%20Opinion%20%20Reversed%20%2010343732333259078.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=18&subsctn=4
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/353WAL2015pco%20-%201027936408779167.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A19034-15o%20-%201023014525142493.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=19&subsctn=0
http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/12pdf/11-9335_b8cf.pdf#_blank
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-73-2016mo%20-%201027387338380368.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-73-2016co%20-%201027387338380371.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-73-2016co1%20-%201027387338380379.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-E01011-16o.pdf?cb=2
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-E01011-16do%20-%2010291710514687098.pdf?cb=1
http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/12pdf/11-9335_b8cf.pdf
http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/12pdf/11-9335_b8cf.pdf
http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/12pdf/11-9335_b8cf.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Majority%20Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010339412331847944.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Concurring%20Opinion%20%20Affirmed%20%2010339412331847947.pdf?cb=1
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 Sentencing guidelines remain constitutional.  
 
 Ali, 112 A.3d 1210 (Pa. Super. 3/5/15)  
revôd on other grounds, 637 Pa. 371, 149 A.3d 29 (11/22/16) 

Link to: Baer, J. dissenting 
 
 

Recidivism (prior criminal record) is not subject to Apprendi or to Alleyne. 
 

Akbar, 91 A.3d 227 (Pa. Super. 4/30/14) (42 Pa.C.S. § 9714) 
revôd on other grounds, 631 Pa. 291, 111 A.3d 168 (3/4/15) (per curiam) 

Reid, 117 A.3d 777 (Pa. Super. 6/9/15) (42 Pa.C.S. § 9714) 
Bragg, 133 A.3d 328 (Pa. Super. 2/5/16) (42 Pa.C.S. § 9714) 

affôd per curiam, ___ Pa. ___, 169 A.3d 1024 (8/22/17) 
Furness, 153 A.3d 397 (Pa. Super. 12/22/16) ) (42 Pa.C.S. § 9714) 

appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, 170 A.3d 1034 (9/8/17) 
 Motley, 177 A.3d 960 (Pa. Super. 1/19/18) (42 Pa.C.S. § 9714) 
 
 
SENTENCE: MERGER 
 

Repeated interruptions of the trial court, by defendant, over a short time frame, 
permitted the imposition of six separate sentences for contempt of court. 

Distinguishing: Williams, 753 A.2d 856 (Pa. Super. 5/31/00), appeal denied, 567 
Pa. 713, 785 A.2d 89 (9/29/00) (cursing and middle finger were so inextricably intertwined 
that they must be considered to have been one unified act of contemptuous misconduct). 

 
Robinson, 166 A.3d 1272 (Pa. Super. 7/19/17) (collecting contempt cases) 

appeal denied, ___ Pa. ___, ___ A.3d ___ (1/17/18) 
 
 
SENTENCE: PROBATION AND PAROLE 
 
 North Carolina law makes it a felony for a registered sex offender ñto access a 
commercial social networking Web site where the sex offender knows that the site permits 
minor children to become members or to create or maintain personal Web pages.ò  
Packingham was prosecuted for posting on his own Facebook page after he had obtained 
the dismissal of a traffic ticket. 
 It is necessary to make two assumptions to resolve this case. First, given the broad 
wording of the North Carolina statute at issue, it might well bar access not only to 
commonplace social media websites but also to websites as varied as Amazon.com, 
Washingtonpost.com, and Webmd.com. The Court need not decide the precise scope of 
the statute. It is enough to assume that the law applies (as the State concedes it does) to 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A25028-14o%20-%201021301883194862.pdf?cb=1#_blank
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-66-2016mo%20-%2010289445414459828.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/J-66-2016do%20-%2010289445414459840.pdf?cb=1
https://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=4053038751252355308&q=530+us+466&hl=en&as_sdt=3,39
http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/12pdf/11-9335_b8cf.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S48002-13o%20-%201017938552186708.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=14&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/238EAL2014%20-%201021288103190351.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S21017-15o%20-%201022434144858780.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=14&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-A01004-16o%20-%201025350606096460.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=14&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/Order%20-%20Affirmed%20-%2010321706622927108.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S75036-16o%20-%2010292857314779981.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=14&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/Opinion%20%20VacatedRemanded%20%2010339637331934444.pdf?cb=1
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=14&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/Assets/opinions/Superior/out/a17005_00.pdf
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S40023-17o%20-%2010317757121326360.pdf?cb=1
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social networking sites ñas commonly understoodòðthat is, websites like Facebook, 
LinkedIn, and Twitter. 
 Second, this opinion should not be interpreted as barring a State from enacting 
more specific laws than the one at issue. Specific criminal acts are not protected speech 
even if speech is the means for their commission. Though the issue is not before the 
Court, it can be assumed that the First Amendment permits a State to enact specific, 
narrowly tailored laws that prohibit a sex offender from engaging in conduct that often 
presages a sexual crime, like contacting a minor or using a website to gather information 
about a minor. Specific laws of that type must be the State's first resort to ward off the 
serious harm that sexual crimes inflict. (Of importance, the troubling fact that the law 
imposes severe restrictions on persons who already have served their sentence and are 
no longer subject to the supervision of the criminal justice system is also not an issue 
before the Court.) 
 Even with these assumptions about the scope of the law and the State's interest, 
the statute here enacts a prohibition unprecedented in the scope of First Amendment 
speech it burdens. Social media allows users to gain access to information and 
communicate with one another about it on any subject that might come to mind. By 
prohibiting sex offenders from using those websites, North Carolina with one broad stroke 
bars access to what for many are the principal sources for knowing current events, 
checking ads for employment, speaking and listening in the modern public square, and 
otherwise exploring the vast realms of human thought and knowledge. These websites 
can provide perhaps the most powerful mechanisms available to a private citizen to make 
his or her voice heard. 
 
Packingham v. North Carolina, ___ U.S. ___, 137 S.Ct. 1730, 198 L.Ed.2d 273 (6/19/17) 
 
 

Parole is nothing more than a possibility, and, when granted, it is nothing more 
than a favor granted upon a prisoner by the state as a matter of grace and mercy shown 
by the Commonwealth to a convict who has demonstrated a probability of his ability to 
function as a law-abiding citizen in society. When the court sentences an offender to a 
maximum term of imprisonment of less than two years, the common pleas court retains 
authority to grant and revoke parole. 42 Pa.C.S. § 9776; Finley, 135 A.3d 196, 199 (Pa. 
Super. 4/5/16). When the defendant is eligible for parole, the trial court's decision to grant 
parole is a discretionary act, and it is subject to appellate review under an abuse of 
discretion standard.  

The record does not support Becker's assertion that the denial of her parole by the 
trail court was manifestly unreasonable. First, we note, Becker's gender and concomitant 
pregnancy are incidental to her well-chronicled heroin addiction. As such, the basis of the 
Becker's parole denial, as stated by the trial court, was the substantial risk that she would 
use heroin, not her unique status. In coming to its decision, the trial court expressed 
concern for the health of Becker's unborn child. However, the trial court did not discuss 
prisoner access to women's healthcare, prenatal care, child welfare resources or other 
associated services that might indicate its decision was motivated entirely by Becker's 
status. Rather, it focused on Becker's prior use of heroin and the dangers it posed to her 
and others. Specifically, the trial court reiterated its concern with ñ[Becker] using drugs 

https://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/16pdf/15-1194_08l1.pdf
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=42&div=0&chpt=97&sctn=76&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/J-S17026-16o%20-%201026088386784907.pdf?cb=1
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and . . . harming herselfò and the potential for relapse. N.T. Parole Hearing, 8/22/16, at 7, 
15ï17, 69 (ñ[S]he has a bad history [of heroin abuse][,] and history dictates when she 
gets out [of prison], she usesò). 

The trial court's concerns are well founded. The trial court originally sentenced 
Becker to two years' probation, during which she failed to comply with her probation 
requirements, did not seek drug treatment or counseling, did not maintain a stable 
residence and absconded from monitoring. While on probation, Becker admittedly used 
five bags of heroin intravenously per day; her heroin use continued until May 5, 2016. 
Thus, the trial court had to determine whether Becker's approximately 3½ month 
abstention from heroin use, incarceration and subsequent counseling and drug treatment 
mitigated the considerable risk that Becker would use heroin again and/or posed a public 
safety risk. We discern no abuse of discretion by the trial court regarding the denial of 
Becker's parole.4 

4In addition to the trial court's scrutiny of Becker's heroin addiction, 
the potential for relapse in heroin addicts, and public safety, the trial 
court also considered Becker's heroin use during pregnancy and the 
many effects of heroin exposure to an unborn child. Given these 
considerations, it would not have been manifestly unreasonable for 
the trial court to deny parole in order to ensure the safety of Becker's 
unborn child, nor is there any evidence such a decision would be 
based on partiality, bias or ill will. 

 
Becker, 172 A.3d 35 (Pa. Super. 10/10/17) 

 
 

While on state parole, defendant was arrested on federal charges.  He did not post 
bail on his federal charges.  A state parole detainer was lodged.  For a period of 209 days, 
defendant was incarcerated pursuant to both the federal charges and the state parole 
detainer.  Defendant ultimately received a federal sentence of 246 months imprisonment.  

Here, defendant was detained on both the Board's and federal detainersðwhere 
he did not satisfy bail for the federal chargesðfor 209 days and then received a new 
federal sentence of 246 months, or approximately 7,480 days. The federal sentence 
obviously is longer, and thus the general holding of Gaito v. [Parole Board], 488 Pa. 397, 
412 A.2d 568 (3/20/80), applies to this case. The Board properly denied credit under 
Gaito. 

61 Pa.C.S. § 6138(a)(5.1) addresses only the sequence of sentences, not the 
allocation of credit between those sentences.  The doctrine of primary jurisdiction 
addresses whether the federal court or the state court retains custody of a defendant.  
The doctrine does not address credit for time served.  Baasit v. [Parole Board], 90 A.3d 
74 (Pa. Cmwlth. 4/11/14) is disapproved. 

 
Smith v. [Parole Board], ___ Pa. ___, 171 A.3d 759 (10/18/17) 
 Link to: Saylor, C.J. dissenting 
 Link to: Todd, J. dissenting 
 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Superior/out/OPINION%20-%20AFFIRMED%20-%2010327299725108115.pdf?cb=1
http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=3897368213354629277&q=412+a.2d+568&hl=en&as_sdt=2,39
http://scholar.google.com/scholar_case?case=3897368213354629277&q=412+a.2d+568&hl=en&as_sdt=2,39
http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/legis/LI/consCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&ttl=61&div=0&chpt=61&sctn=38&subsctn=0
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Commonwealth/out/1281CD13_4-11-14.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/MAJORITY%20OPINION%20-%20REVERSED-REMANDED%20-%2010328400625656546.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/DISSENTING%20OPINION%20-%20REVERSED-REMANDED%20-%2010328400625656769.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/DISSENTING%20OPINION%20-%20REVERSED-REMANDED%20-%2010328400625656792.pdf?cb=1
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[EDITORôS NOTE: The Supreme Court vacated another Commonwealth Court decision 
which was based upon the now-disapproved Baasit case. See Banks v. [Parole Board], 
136 A.3d 1102 (Pa. Cmwlth. 4/27/16), vacated, ___ Pa. ___, 176 A.3d 228 (11/29/17)] 
 
 
SENTENCE: RESENTENCING VINDICTIVENESS 
 
 A trial judge's decision to restructure a defendant's sentence on remand does not 
trigger a presumption of judicial vindictiveness under North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 
711, 89 S.Ct. 2072, 23 L.Ed.2d 656 (6/23/69), when the aggregate sentence is less than 
that originally imposed and there are no sound reasons to suspect vindictiveness on the 
part of the sentencing court. 
 
 Kelly v. Neubert, 898 F.2d 15 (3rd Cir. 3/14/90)  

Barnes, 167 A.3d 110 (Pa. Super. 7/10/17) (en banc)  
(original sentence vacated based upon merger) 

  Link to: Ransom, J. concurring 
 
 
SENTENCE: RESTITUTION 

 
30 years after the original imposition of sentence, the court may change the payee 

from the victim to the victimôs estate. 
 
 Biauce, 162 A.3d 1133 (Pa. Super. 5/15/17) 
 

 
On September 11, 2001, Tim Wiley reported that his truck had been broken into 

and that a Nokia cell phone, approximately $15.00 in cash, a wrist watch and a black vinyl 
attaché bag were stolen. The total estimated value was in excess of $200.00. As Sergeant 
Glenn K. Manns was leaving the scene, Wiley reported seeing a man carrying his attaché 
bag and a cell phone in that vicinity. The suspect, later identified as Kelly, was arrested. 
As Sergeant Manns attempted to handcuff him, Kelly resisted and escaped. Sergeant 
Manns pursued Kelly and called for backup. Kelly dropped the cell phone, which was later 
identified as belonging to Wiley. Kelly was ultimately apprehended and officers recovered 
from him two other stolen cell phones belonging to a second victim and a stolen CD player 
belonging to a third victim, Krista Cowan. 

Defendant entered a nolo contendere plea to three counts of Receiving Stolen 
Property. The court held a restitution hearing, after which it ordered Kelly to pay restitution 
in the amount of $2,269.80 as a condition of probation. Of that amount, $1,938.41 
represented the cost for repair to Cowanôs truck and $330.67 represented the value of 
the CD player. 

On appeal Kelly argues the restitution order is improper in that his plea of nolo 
contendere to receiving stolen property was with regard to the CD player. Therefore, Kelly 
claims that since he was not criminally responsible for the damage to the truck, requiring 

http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Commonwealth/out/1281CD13_4-11-14.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Commonwealth/out/1452CD15_4-27-16.pdf?cb=1
http://www.pacourts.us/assets/opinions/Supreme/out/FormReport%201323%20%20Allocatur%20Summary%20Disposition%20Order%20%2010333474529163990.pdf?cb=1













































